European ***** of Contemporary Journal * Education

Has been issued since 2012. E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3). Issued 4 times a year MIAR ICDS 2017 – 9,301

EDITORIAL BOARD

Dr. Yury Tyunnikov – Sochi State University, Sochi, Russian Federation (Editor-in-Chief)

Dr. Rushan Ziatdinov – Keimyung University, Daegu, Republic of Korea (Deputy Editor-in-Chief)

Dr. Aufenanger Stefan – University of Mainz, Mainz, Germany

Dr. Bendikova Elena – Matej Bel University, Banská Bystrica, Slovakia

Dr. Birova Jana - Comenius University, Bratislava, Slovakia

Dr. Boticki Ivica - University of Zagreb, Croatia

Dr. Jasinskas Edmundas – Lithuanian Sports University, Lithuania

Dr. Esi Marius-Costel – Stefan cel Mare University of Suceava, Romania

Dr. Fedorov Alexander – Anton Chekhov Taganrog State Pedagogical Institute, Taganrog, Russian Federation

Dr. Malisa Mark – College of Saint Rose School of Education, Albany, USA
 Dr. Malinauskas Romualdas – Lithuanian Academy of Physical Education,
 Kaunas, Lithuania

Dr. Ševkušić Slavica – Institute of Educational Research, Belgrade, Serbia **Dr. Simanavičiene Žaneta** – Kaunas University of Technology, Lithuania

Journal is indexed by: Cross Ref (USA), Directory of Open Access Journals (UK), EBSCOhost Electronic Journals Service (USA), Electronic scientific library (Russian Federation), Global Impact Factor (Australia), Index Copernicus (Poland), Journal Index (USA), Open Academic Journals Index (Russian Federation), Scopus (Netherlands), Web of Science (USA).

All manuscripts are peer reviewed by experts in the respective field. Authors of the manuscripts bear responsibility for their content, credibility and reliability. Editorial board doesn't expect the manuscripts' authors to always agree with its opinion.

Postal Address:	13	67/4,	Stara Va	ijnorska
str., Bratislava	_	Nove	Mesto,	Slovak
Republic, 831 04				

Release date 15.09.18. Format $21 \times 29.7/4$.

Headset Georgia.

Website: http://www.aphr.ru E-mail: ejce@inbox.ru

Order Nº 224.

Founder and Editor: Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o.

....

uropean Journal of Contemporary Education

2018

Is.

© European Journal of Contemporary Education, 2018

CONTENTS

The Problems of Contemporary Education

Competitive Learning Using a Three-Parameter Logistic Model S. Coronado, S. Sandoval-Bravo, P. Luis Celso-Arellano, A. Torres-Mata	448
Stereotypes of Teenagers' Images in Audiovisual Media Texts about Schools and Universities	
A. Fedorov, A. Levitskaya, O. Gorbatkova, A. Mamadaliev	458
Inclusion of Techno-Pedagogical Model in Mathematics Teaching-Learning Process A. García-Santillán, V.S. Molchanova	465
Analysis of Scientific and Educational Space of the Arctic Zone of the Russian Federation and its Contribution to Social and Economic Development A.M. Gorokhov, K.S. Zaikov, N.A. Kondratov, M.Yu. Kuprikov, N.M. Kuprikov, A.M. Tamickij	485
Scales SACERS: Results of the Study of the Educational Environment of Moscow Schools	
E.V. Ivanova, I.A. Vinogradova	498
The Practice of Implementing Bologna Process in the Education Sector in the Russian Federation: Trends and Consequences	
E.E. Kabanova, E.A. Vetrova	511
Internet Communication as a Factor of Psychological Challenges among Student Youth T.I. Kulikova, D.V. Maliy, N.A. Stepanova, S.A. Filippova	521
Investigation of the Relationship between Teaching and Learning Conceptions and Epistemological Beliefs among Student Teachers from Hashemite University in Jordan	
A.M. Mahasneh	531
Civil Values Awareness Formation in High School Students within the Educational Process	
I.V. Romanova, L.N. Ponomarenko, A.N. Kibishev, M.M. Susloparova	541
Investigation of Organizational Silency Levels by Teachers According to Some Demographic Variables	
G. Saygili	554
Approaches to Teaching Geometry in Kazakhstan Schools Using Information Computer Resources for Educational Purposes	
N.K. Ashirbayev, Y.Z. Torebek, N.K. Madiyarov, M.A. Abdualiyeva	566
Developing Cognitive Independence of Future Informatics Teachers by Multimedia Tools	
N.V. Yakymchuk, V.V. Kazachenok	581

The History of Education

Public Education System in the Caucasus Region in the 1850s: Unification and Regulation of Educational Process	
T.A. Magsumov, S.F. Artemova, O.V. Ustinova, E.V. Vidishcheva	598
Highland Schools in the Caucasus: Historical Background O.V. Natolochnaya, N.V. Miku, T.E. Zulfugarzade, A. Médico	608
Student Clubs in Siberia at the beginning of the XX century (Adapted from Materials of the Journal «Siberian Student»: 1914–1916) Y.V. Putilina, V.N. Rodina, O.V. Kirilova, K.V. Taran	615
Development of Primary Public Education System in Serbia in 1832–1882 G. Rajović, M. Zuev, A.G. Vazerova, M. Trailovic	623



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 448-457 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.448 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



The Problems of Contemporary Education

Competitive Learning Using a Three-Parameter Logistic Model

Semei Coronado ^{a, *}, Salvador Sandoval-Bravo ^a, Pedro Luis Celso-Arellano ^a, Ana Torres-Mata ^a

^a Centro Universitario de Ciencias Económico Administrativas, Universidad de Guadalajara, Mexico

Abstract

The purpose of this paper is to analyze the test applied at the eighth Statistics II tournament to students from the University Center for Economic and Administrative Sciences of the University of Guadalajara, for the purpose of determining whether it promotes competitive learning among students. To achieve this, Item Response Theory (IRT) is used, specifically in the form of a threeparameter logistic model. The findings show that approximately 20 % of the participating students performed at a level ranging from outstanding to satisfactory, while the rest had a performance that fell between regular and poor. The findings also indicate that participating students were motivated by academic competition and the opportunity to improve their skills in the area of statistics. Moreover, we concluded that the tournament's assessment instruments need to be substantially improved in terms of design and the content of the items.

Keywords: competitive learning, Item response theory, Logic model.

1. Introduction

Meaningful learning techniques are intended to teach learners to solve problems or master certain topics and areas of knowledge (Hierro et al., 2014). Academic competitions, for their part, encourage better performance among students (Regueras et al., 2009). In this sense, Cantador & Conde (2010) and Lawrence (2004) conclude that skills and knowledge tournaments stimulate healthy and fair competition among students and generate higher implicit motivation in them.

Since the tournament constitutes an academic challenge, students require what is known as competitive learning (Johnson, Johnson, 2002; Kim, Sonnenwald, 2002; Owens, Straton, 1980),

* Corresponding author

E-mail addresses: semei.coronado@academicos.udg.mx (S. Coronado),

salvsanb@cucea.udg.mx (S. Sandoval-Bravo), pcelso@cucea.udg.mx (P. Luis Celso-Arellano), anatorres@cucea.udg.mx (A. Torres-Mata)

which essentially consists of outperforming the other tournament competitors academically by obtaining a better result on the test. In this sense, competitions revolving around academic abilities and knowledge significantly improve participants' performance, through intellectual challenges and active experience, thus promoting confidence and motivation in the students who take part in the event, even those who are seen as weaker (Carpio Cañada et al., 2015; Fasli, Michalakopoulos, 2015; Lawrence, 2004; Verhoeff, 1997).

The Department of Quantitative Methods (DQM) of the University of Guadalajara (UdG) organizes an annual Statistics II Tournament (ST_II) for the purpose of promoting academic competition and, implicitly, competitive learning in the area of statistics among interested students enrolled at the University Center for Economic and Administrative Sciences (CUCEA). The event consists of two rounds, and the model examined in this paper refers to the test used in the first round.

Among the extensive literature that considers the application of tests of abilities and knowledge in university settings, the so-called Item Response Theory (IRT) can be found. This theory, among other things, serves to analyze curricular content, adequate item design, the recognition of teaching-learning problems and the identification of students with low or high academic ability (Awopeju, Afolabi, 2016; Balmori et al., 2011; DiBattista, Kurzawa, 2011; Ingale et al., 2017; Mitra et al., 2009; Rao et al., 2016; Romero et al., 2015).

In our opinion, there is no literature that analyzes multiple-choice tests used in academic competitions at the university level. For this reason the present study is relevant, as it examines this evaluation instrument using IRT theory to identify the type of students who participate in ST_II and determine whether the event fulfills the objectives proposed by the DQM, which include the promotion of competitive learning, the application of problem-solving skills and the general development of students' statistical abilities.

The paper is structured as follows: section 2 explains the methodology and data used; section 3 shows the results; finally, section 4 presents conclusions.

2. Data and methodology

Data

The Statistics II course is taught at CUCEA in eleven of the thirteen undergraduate programs offered at that particular university campus. The DQM has organized ST_II every year since 2009, with the intention of enhancing the statistical abilities of the university's graduates by having them solve practical problems that require them to apply what they have learned during the course, while promoting academic competition among the students (DMC, 2017).

Statistics courses are taught by a group of specialized professors that make up the Academy of Statistics, which belongs to the DQM. A committee of professors from this Academy is in charge of organizing the event, both the logistics and the academic aspects, including content selection and the design and development of test questions. The 2017 edition of ST_II consisted of two rounds; the first round was open to interested students who were taking the Statistics II course. The test applied in this first round consisted of 20 multiple-choice questions. The test is not included in this paper for reasons of confidentiality, as requested by the DQM.

The test corresponding to the first round was taken by 99 students of an eligible population of 1,666, which represents 5.94 % of the total. The finalists of this first round were the 20 students obtaining the highest score on the multiple-choice test. These students were chosen for the second round, and the students with the highest scores in this second round were awarded prizes such as scholarships, university books, graphing calculators and financial calculators sponsored by different organizations.

The test examined in this paper was the one applied in the first round of the ST II; considering the size of the population, the sample size is quite acceptable. As mentioned above, the test consists of 20 multiple-choice questions, each with five options: one right answer and four distractors. The contents included sampling theory, parameter estimation, and hypothesis testing for large and small samples. For more information about this test. go to http://metodos.cucea.udg.mx/estadistica.php.

Multiple-choice tests, like all evaluation instruments, have advantages and disadvantages. The advantages include the evaluation of critical comprehension and knowledge and the memorization of simple concepts; they can assess whether algorithms and procedures are performed accurately in solving problems or in ordinary calculations; they reduce the probability of guessing right (probability declines as the number of distractors rises). When it comes to disadvantages, syntax errors are the most frequent, as they generate confusion and misinterpretation both in the formulation of questions and in the answers and distractors (Best, Kahn, 2006; DiBattista, Kurzawa, 2011; Miller et al., 2009; Zamri Khairani, Shamsuddin, 2016).

Methodology

In educational research, one of the fundamental purposes is to quantify variables that will estimate the performance achieved in the teaching-learning process. This variable is known as a latent or treatment variable, and it quantifies a non-observable underlying characteristic. In our case, it will measure the ability level of ST_II contest participants in the Statistics 2 course. To analyze this variable, IRT (Baker, Kim, 2017) is used to analyze the magnitude and characteristic values of this latent variable.

Different papers mention the advantages of using IRT. These advantages include the following: greater emphasis can be placed on the distinctive characteristics of the questions rather than on the essential properties of the tests; tests can be modeled in a non-linear way, with one, two or even three parameters, in order to establish with greater certainty which model lends itself best to the distribution of the available data; the scale of the latent variable (ability level) is in the $(-\infty,\infty)$ interval, although it can easily be transformed into another scale; it has the quality of being invariant; and finally, the values of the parameters calculated for the questions and the participating students are independent with respect to the sample used (Aiken, 1979, 2003; Finch, French, 2015; Furr, Bacharach, 2013; Hambleton et al., 1991; Hambleton, Jones, 1993; Muñiz, 2010; Zamri Khairani, Shamsuddin, 2016).

Taking this into consideration, we used IRT to study the test corresponding to the first round of ST_II, specifically with the Rasch logistic model (RM), developed by Rasch in 1980. An important quality of IRT models is that they show the relationship between the variable of interest (in our case the latent variable that measures the students' ability to do statistics) and the probability of answering a certain item right, which can be represented with RM. The RM models operate under three basic assumptions: 1) the function that relates the latent variable and the probability of answering the question right is monotonous and increasing, 2) there is only one latent variable, and this one feature is measured by the entirety of the questions on the test, and 3) there is no correlation between the results of the questions, i.e., the latent variable is locally controlled and independent of each question(Finch, French, 2015).

RM models require the binary codification of each answer to a question (obviously, 1 for right and zero for wrong). Our research looks at three models: 1) the one-parameter logistic model (1PLM), 2) the two-parameter logistic model (2PLM), and 3) the three-parameter logistic model (3PLM). All three models, 1PLM, 2PLM, and 3PLM, can be defined as a three-parameter logistic model (3PLM) (Ark et al., 2016).

$$P(x_{ij} = 1 | \theta_j, a_i, b_i, c_i) = c_i + (1 - c_i) \frac{e^{a_i(\theta_j - b_i)}}{1 + e^{a_i(\theta_j - b_i)}}$$
1)

where $P(x_{ij} = 1 | \theta_j, a_i, b_i, c_i)$ is defined as the probability of student *j* answering right (1), as opposed to the alternative of answering question *i* wrong (0); a_i represents the slope, given the curvature of the model used; b_i indicates the difficulty of the question; c_i represents the possibility of guessing the right answer to question *i*; and finally θ_j indicates the ability shown by student *j*.

3. Results

The ST_II test consisted of twenty multiple-choice questions, with 5 possible alternatives per item; one of them was the right option and the remaining four were distractors. Figure 1 below shows the percentages of right answers compared to wrong answers given by the students that participated in the first round.



European Journal of Contemporary Education, 2018, 7(3)





Figure 1 shows a decline in the percentage of right answers from item 1 to 11; after the halfway point, only 4 questions had a higher percentage of wrong answers than of right answers. In summary, 45 % of the items were answered right and 55 % wrong.

Table 1 shows the descriptive statistics results of the applied test. It shows positive asymmetry, i.e., the number of participants with poor scores exceeds the number of participants with good scores.

Table 1. Descriptive statistics

Mean	9.03
Median	8
Mode	6
Standard deviation	3.86
Sample variance	14.89
Kurtosis	-0.73
Asymmetry	0.48
Minimum	3
Maximum	19

Note: prepared by the author based on the results of R

The participants' scores ranged from 3 to 19 right answers, i.e., their grades ranged between 15 and 95 on a scale of 0 to 100. The 20 participants with the highest scores were chosen for the second round, and their scores ranged between 13 and 19 right answers (grades between 65 and 95). The students selected for the second round made up 20.20 % of the total, while 79.80 % were disqualified. Figure 2 shows the percentages of grades obtained by the students who passed to the second round.



Fig. 2. Percentages of grades obtained by students who passed to the second round Note: prepared by the author based on the results of R

There are several criteria to select the model (1PLM, 2PLM, 3PLM) with the best fit for the data; for example, the Aikaike (AIC) criterion, the Bayesian criterion (BIC), the likelihood ratio test (LRT), Relative Efficiency (RE), a latent variable simulation through the estimation of the Kernel density function, the information function test, and the goodness-of-fit test. Each of these criteria was applied to determine the model that best fit the data; the results are available from the authors upon request. The criterion that was selected for the model was the BIC, since it suits our purposes better than the Aikaike criterion (AIC). However, there are other criteria that measure the goodness-of-fit of the different models, and a definitive conclusion cannot be reached as to which of them is the best (Finch, French, 2015).

Table 2 shows the statistical information that allowed us to choose the model that best fit the set of available data. It is worth mentioning that 3PLM has a higher BIC statistic than 1PLM, and an AIC below that of 1PLM. It also had better behavior in the results of the aforementioned decision criteria, and on this basis it was decided to apply 3PLM. The information was processed using Latent Trait Models under IRT software (Rizopoulos, 2017), in addition to the free-use statistical package R.

Table 2. AIC and BIC statistical values for the ST_II test

Model	AIC	BIC
1PLM	2382.06	2436.56
2PLM	2360.90	2464.70
3PLM	2348.87	2455.27

Note: developed by the author based on the R results

The results of the 3PLM coefficients are shown in Table 3, ordered from the lowest to the highest level of difficulty. The results for the test's b_i coefficients are ordered from the easiest question (question 3) to the most difficult (question 15). This information coincides with the percentages of right and wrong answers shown in Figure 1. The b_i coefficients can have both positive and negative values; thus, the values close to zero represent questions of moderate difficulty; negative values indicate relatively easy items (below average), while positive values indicate relatively difficult items (above average). However, it can be concluded that the test has a high to average level of difficulty.

The fourth column of Table 3 represents the probability of an average student answering question i right. We can see that this value increases as the question's level of difficulty decreases (Rizopoulos, 2006).

Items	c_i	b_i	P(x=1 z=0)
3	0.02	-0.33	0.67
12	0.00	-0.21	0.61
4	0.00	0.05	0.48
20	0.30	0.12	0.61
17	0.23	0.26	0.51
19	0.27	0.26	0.54
13	0.26	0.39	0.49
8	0.71	0.55	0.78
18	0.12	0.65	0.30
2	0.22	0.68	0.37
14	0.24	0.95	0.33
16	0.32	1.09	0.38
1	0.60	1.16	0.63
6	0.30	1.22	0.35
7	0.12	1.36	0.17
5	0.35	1.68	0.37
10	0.12	1.99	0.13
11	0.12	2.27	0.12
9	0.17	2.62	0.18
15	0.23	3.04	0.24

Table 3. 3PLM coefficients and Answer Probability

Note: prepared by the author based on the results of R

The discrimination coefficient (parameter *a*) that was obtained from the model was 2.10 for each of them, which indicates that the characteristic curve for each of the items has a steep slope, as detailed below.

Table 3 shows that the item with the highest c_i coefficient is item 8, with a b_i value of 0.55 and a *P* value of 0.78. On the other hand, there are two items with a c_i coefficient equal to zero, items 12 and 4; another item near zero is item 3, with a c_i value of 0.02. According to Figure 1, these items were answered wrong by slightly more than 40 % of the students, and item 3 by slightly less than 40 % of the students; however, these are easy items according to the b_i coefficient. Items 7, 9, 10, 11 and 15 had the highest percentages of wrong answers; however, they are relatively difficult items according to the b_i coefficient of 3PLM. A review of the individual scores shows that they were answered right by all the students who advanced to the second round of the tournament.

Figure 3 shows the characteristic curves for each ST_II test question, ordered from lowest to highest level of difficulty. We can observe that the ICC of item 8 shows that students with average ability have a nearly 74 % chance of answering it right. The same goes for item 1, where students with below-average ability have a 60 % chance of answering it right. These graphs show that 90 % of the items on the ST_II test are relatively easy.

The application of the entire information test in the (-10, 10) interval (Baker, 2001; Rizopoulos, 2017) yielded an information total of 25.04; the same test in a (0,10) interval yielded an information total of 20.17, which equals 80.55 %, implying that 19.45 % of the students have an ability level below zero. This behavioral pattern made evident by the test can be seen in Figure 4, in which the total information curve has an approximately symmetrical pattern, skewed slightly toward the left. In this sense, we can conclude that the ST_II test is actually aimed at the highest-performing students of CUCEA in the area of statistics, i.e., those attracted to a challenging and motivating academic competition; this leads to the conclusions that the ST_II adequately meets the

objectives proposed by the DQM in terms of actively promoting meaningful and competitive learning among students.

We conducted a Kernel Density Function test to calculate variable θ (ability) for our data set, which resulted in an estimated value tending toward zero, with an asymmetrical behavior skewing positive, which closely resembles the behavior observed on the total information curve in Figure 4.

The calculated ability level of the 20 students selected for the second round ranged between 0.72 and 3.33, and the rest of the participants scored between -2.00 and 0.47. Of the latter group, 65.67 % have below-average ability, which suggests that the ST_II test does select the most capable students for the second round of the contest.



Fig. 3. Characteristic curves by question Note: prepared by the author based on the results of R



Fig. 4. Test Information Function and Kernel Density (left and right) Note: prepared by the author based on the results of R

4. Conclusion

This research is the first study to use IRT to look at the application of a multiple-choice test in a university-level statistics competition that promotes active and competitive learning among students. However, a literature review finds similar studies using IRT for partial and departmental exams from a wide range of undergraduate courses (Awopeju, Afolabi, 2016; Balmori et al., 2011; DiBattista, Kurzawa, 2011; Escudero et al., 2000; Gajjar et al., 2014; Ingale et al., 2017; Marie, Edannur, 2015; Mitra et al., 2009; Rao et al., 2016; Romero et al., 2015).

Given the results of our research, we can conclude that the exam taken by students in the ST_II competition is designed for well-prepared students with above-average abilities for statistics. The students chosen for the final round achieved grades between 65 and 95. IRT theory distinguishes between the different types of ability that students show on a particular test, while also considering whether the question options (distractors and right answers) were well designed (McDonald, 2017) since they can significantly influence the results and conclusions derived from the data (DiBattista, Kurzawa, 2011).

The ST_II competition is an attempt by the DQM to promote active and competitive learning, as well as to provide high-level academic challenges for CUCEA students. Student participation fell below expectations, since only a small portion of the eligible students took part. However, we were able to show that those who did participate constitute a small core of students who are genuinely interested in competing intellectually in statistics, and are implicitly motivated by the course they are taking.

Furthermore, we suggest that the professors who designed the ST_II test undertake ongoing training in the design of questions that assess academic performance, since our research showed that most of the items are similar to the problems and exercises found in statistics textbooks, which are not necessarily ideal for this type of event. We also suggest a general evaluation of the teaching activities to ensure that they are aligned with the objectives and contents of the ST_II: this will help to devise a robust and well-designed set of questions for future events (Zamri Khairani, Shamsuddin, 2016).

5. Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the DQM and the Academy of Statistics at CUCEA for providing the information needed to conduct this research.

References

Aiken, 1979 – Mexico Aiken, L.R. (1979). Relationship between the item difficulty and discrimination indexes. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 39, 821–824. Retrieved

from: https://doi.org/ 10.1177/001316447903900415

Aiken, 2003 – Aiken, L.R. (2003). Test psicológicos y evaluación (11th ed.). Naucalpan: Pearson Education.

Ark et al., 2016 – Ark, L. A., Bolt, D. M., Wang, W., Douglas, J. A., & Wiberg, M. (2016). *Quantitative Psychology* (Vol. 167). Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-56294-0

Awopeju, 2016 – Awopeju, O.A., Afolabi, E.R.I. (2016). Comparative analysis of classical test theory and item response theory based item parameter estimates of senior school certificate mathematics examination. *European Scientific Journal*, *12*(28), 263–284. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2016.v12n28p263

Baker, 2001 – Baker, F. B. (2001). The basics of item response theory. Evaluation. ERIC. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2011.03893.x

Baker, Kim, 2017 – *Baker, F.B., Kim, S.H.* (2017). The basics of item response theory using R. Springer International Publishing. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-54205-8

Balmori et al., 2011 – *Balmori, S.Y., Delgadillo, G.H., Méndez, R.I.* (2011). Evaluación de un examen parcial de bioquímica. *REB. Revista de Educación Bioquímica*, 33(4), 3–7.

Best, Kahn, 2006 – *Best, J.W., Kahn, J.V.* (2006). Research in education. Pearson (10th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson Education.

Cantador, Conde, 2010 – *Cantador, I., Conde, J.* (2010). Effects of competition in education: a case study in an elearning environment. In *IADIS international conference e-Learnig*, pp. 11–18. Retrieved from: http://arantxa.ii.uam.es/~Cantador/doc/2010/elearning10.pdf

Carpio et al., 2015 – Carpio Cañada, J., Mateo Sanguino, T.J., Merelo Guervós, J.J., Rivas Santos, V.M. (2015). Open classroom: enhancing student achievement on artificial intelligence through an international online competition. Journal of Computer Assisted Learning, 31(1), 14–31. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12075

DiBattista, Kurzawa, 2011 - *DiBattista*, *D., Kurzawa*, *L*. (2011). Examination of the quality of multiple-choice items on classroom tests. *Canadian Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, 2(2), 1–23. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.5206/cjsotl-rcacea.2011.2.4

Escudero et al., 2000 – *Escudero, E.B., Reyna, N.L., Morales, M.R.* (2000). The level of difficulty and discrimination power of the basic knowledge and skills examination (EXHCOBA). *Revista Electrónica de Investigación Educativa*, 2(1), 1–16.

Fasli, Michalakopoulos, 2015 – Fasli, M., Michalakopoulos, M. (2015). Learning through game-like simulations. *Innovation in Teaching and Learning in Information and Computer Sciences*, 5(2), 1–11. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.11120/ital.2006.05020005

Finch, French, 2015 – Finch, H., French, B. (2015). Latent variable modeling with R. New York, NY: Routledge.

Furr, Bacharach, 2013 – *Furr, M.R., Bacharach, V.R.* (2013). Psychometrics: an introduction. Sage Publications (Second). Sage Publications, Inc.

Gajjar et., al 2014 – Gajjar, S., Sharma, R., Kumar, P., Rana, M. (2014). Item and test analysis to identify quality multiple choice questions (MCQS) from an assessment of medical students of Ahmedabad, Gujarat. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine*, 39(1), 17. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-0218.126347

Hambleton et al., 1991 – *Hambleton, R.K., Swaminathan, H., Rogers, H.J.* (1991). Fundamentals of item response theory. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.2307/2075521

Hierro et al., 2014 – Hierro, L.Á., Atienza, P., Pérez, J.L. (2014). Una experiencia de aprendizaje universitario mediante juegos de torneo en clase. *REDU. Revista de Docencia Universitaria*, 12(4), 415–436. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.4995/redu.2014.5634

Ingale et al., 2017 – Ingale, A.S., Giri, P.A., Doibale, M.K. (2017). Study on item and test analysis of multiple choice questions amongst undergraduate medical students. International Journal of Community Medicine and Public Health, 4(5), 1562–1565. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.18203/2394-6040.ijcmph20171764

Johnson, Johnson, 2002 – Johnson, D.W., Johnson, R.T. (2002). Learning together and alone: overview and meta-analysis. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 22(1), 95–105. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1080/0218879020220110

Hambleton, Jones, 1993 – Hambleton, Jones, R.W. (1993). Comparison of classical test theory and item response theory and their applications to test development. *Educational*

Measurement: Issues and Practice, 12(3), 38–47. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1097/ 01.mlr.0000245426.10853.30

Kim, Sonnenwald, 2002 – *Kim, S.L., Sonnenwald, D.H.* (2002). Investigating the relationship between learning style preferences and teaching collaboration skills and technology. *Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting*, 39, 64–73. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1002/meet.1450390107

Lawrence, 2004 – Lawrence, R. (2004). Teaching data structures using competitive games. *IEEE Transactions on Education*, 47(4), 459–466. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1109/TE.2004.825053

Marie, Edannur, 2015 – Marie, S.M.J.A., Edannur, S. (2015). Relevance of item analysis in standardizing an achievement test in teaching of physical science. Journal of Educational Technology, 12(3), 30–36.

McDonald, 2017 – *McDonald, M.* (2017). The nurse educators guide to assessing learning outcomes. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning.

Miller et al., 2009 – *Miller, M.D., Linn, R., & Gronlund, N.* (2009). Measurement and assessment in teaching (10th ed.). upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.

Mitra et al., 2009 – *Mitra, N., Nagaraja, H., Ponnudurai, G., & Judson, J.* (2009). The levels of difficulty and discrimination indices in type a multiple choice questions of pre-clinical semester 1 multidisciplinary summative tests. *International E-Journal of Science, Medicine & Education,* 3(1), 2–7.

Muñiz, 2010 – *Muñiz, J.* (2010). Las teorías de los test: teoría clásica y teoría de respuesta a los items. *Papeles Del Psicólogo*, 31(1), 57–66.

Owens, Straton, 1980 – Owens, L., Straton, R.G. (1980). The development of a cooperative, competitive, and individualised learning preference scale for students. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 50, 147–161.

Rao et al., 2016 – Rao, C., Kishan Prasad, H., Sajitha, K., Permi, H., Shetty, J. (2016). Item analysis of multiple choice questions: assessing an assessment tool in medical students. *International Journal of Educational and Psychological Researches*, *2*(4), 201. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.4103/2395-2296.189670

Regueras et al., 2009 – *Regueras, L.M., Verdú, E., Munoz, M.F., Perez, M.A., de Castro, J.P., & Verdú, M.J.* (2009). Effects of competitive e-learning tools on higher education students: a case study. *IEEE Transactions on Education*, 52(2), 279–285. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1109/TE.2008.928198

Rizopoulos, 2006 – *Rizopoulos, D.* (2006). ltm: an R package for latent variable modeling and item response theory analyses. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 17(5), 1–25. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v017.i05

Rizopoulos, 2017 – *Rizopoulos, D.* (2017). Package 'ltm'. Retrieved from: https://github.com/drizopoulos/ltm

Romero et al., 2015 – Romero, G. M.O., Rojas, P.A.D., Domínguez, O.R.L., Pérez, S.M.P., & Sapsin, K.G. (2015). Difficulty and discrimination of the items of the exams of reasearch methodology and statistics. *Edumecentro*, 7(2), 19–35.

Verhoeff, 1997 – Verhoeff, T. (1997). The Role of competitions in education. Future world: Educating for the 21st century. Retrieved from: http://olympiads.win.tue.nl/ioi/ioi97/ ffutwrld/competit.html

Zamri, Shamsuddin, 2016 – Zamri Khairani, A., Shamsuddin, H. (2016). Assessing item difficulty and discrimination indices of teacher-developed multiple-choice tests. In S. Fun Tang & L. Logonnathan (Eds.), Assessment for Learning Within and Beyond the Classroom, pp. 417–426. Springer Science & Business Media. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-0908-2_6



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 458-464 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.458 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Stereotypes of Teenagers' Images in Audiovisual Media Texts about Schools and Universities

Alexander Fedorov^{a,*}, Anastasia Levitskaya^b, Olga Gorbatkova^a, Anvar Mamadaliev^{c,d}

^a Rostov State University of Economics, Russian Federation

^b Taganrog Institute of Management and Economics, Russian Federation

^c International Network Center for Fundamental and Applied Research, Washington, USA

^d Volgograd State University, Volgograd, Russian Federation

Abstract

Having analyzed over a thousand of audiovisual media texts, the authors of the article conclude that in the Soviet, Russian and Western cinema stereotypes of teenagers as positive characters can be divided into the following main groups: 1) positive leaders (high achievers); 2) "nerds" (overly diligent students), 3) average performers. Naturally, the Soviet cinematography had to be more or less ideologically filled with communist values, while in the West and in modern Russian cinema, individual, family and / or group values come to the fore.

Stereotypes of teenagers as villains/ evil characters can be, in the opinion of the authors, represented by the following groups: 1) offenders and criminals; 2) narrow-minded/struggling students; 3) "silver spoons" (representatives of the rich "golden youth"). There are nuances, too. For example, in the Soviet cinema heirs of wealthy families were replaced by handsome egoists from the intellectual background, and there were far fewer juvenile offenders than in the American and European media texts. The Soviet cinema (with the exception of a few *perestroika* pictures) did not emphasize schoolchildren's sexuality.

In general, the analysis of stereotypes of teenage images in audiovisual media texts on the theme of the school and university shows that, despite the national, sociocultural and ideological differences, the stereotypes of these images have more similarities than differences.

Keywords: character, stereotype, media text, film, school topic, students, university.

* Corresponding author

E-mail addresses: 1954alex@mail.ru (A. Fedorov), a.levitskaya@tmei.ru (A. Levitskaya), gorbatckova.olga@yandex.ru (O. Gorbatkova)

1. Introduction

In this article, we address stereotypes of teenage images in audiovisual media texts on the topic of school and university. As in our previous work (Fedorov et al., 2017), we rely on technologies developed by C.Bazalgette (Bazalgette, 1995), A. Silverblatt (Silverblatt, 2001: 80-81), W.J. Potter (Potter, 2001) and U. Eco (Eco, 1998; 2005).

2. Materials and Methods

The material of our research is comprised of audiovisual media texts on the theme of school and university. The main method is character analysis. To identify the main stereotypes of characters, we have studied 1107 audiovisual media texts (feature films, TV series, music videos) related to the subject of the school and university.

3. Discussion

Researchers have repeatedly tackled the topic of stereotypical images of teenage images (with emphasis on gender aspects) in media texts (Álvarez-Hernández et al., 2015; Atkinson et al., 2011; Bachen, Illouz, 1996; Behm-Morawitz, Mastro, 2008; Bleakley et al., 2008; Brown, et al., 2005; Celestin, 2011; Cushion et al., 2011; Driesmans et al., 2016; Halffield, 2017; Halffield, 2017; Jupp et al., 2011; Larken McCord, 2008; Zheltukhina et al., 2017; McDonald, 2008; O'Neill, 2016; Pai, Schryver, 2011; Rufer, 2014; Santiago, 2013; Seif, 2017; Signorielli, 1997; Stern, 2005). In particular, it was noted that the media of the second half of the XX century – the beginning of the 21st century portray young people in an unbalanced way, that is, rather negatively than positively, and negative image stereotypes (juvenile crime, alcohol/ drug addiction, etc.) lead to increased public fears, which do not correspond to the real state of affairs. In doing so, *Guardian*, for example, is likely to rely on facts, whereas articles about young people in *The Daily Mail* or The Sun appeal to emotions. In contrast to media representation, facts state that, for example, 70 % of stab wounds are not related to juvenile delinquency (Jupp et al., 2011: 23-25), and the overwhelming majority of young men and women are law-abiding, keen on education, sports and creative activities, whereas media prefer to highlight stories related to youth crime. Moreover, modern media texts often create the image of adolescent egoists who do not relate to parents and civil/social obligations (Stern, 2005: 23-28). This kind of selective media information about teenagers leads to stereotyping of their images to crime, cruelty, laziness, imbalance, disrespectful attitude towards elders and peers, etc. (Jupp et al., 2011: 23-25).

At the same time the influence of romantic media stories about the ideal relationship of adolescents in recent years is becoming weaker (Driesmans et al., 2016), although, of course, the cliche of a "good girl", young, pure, innocent, and kind, waiting for her prince charming may be found in media texts XXI century as well (Álvarez-Hernández et al., 2015; Santiago, 2013).

Another lop side of modern media is the emphasis on young gays and lesbians, which again gives a disproportionate impression of the percentage ratio between heterosexual and homosexual teenagers. At the same time, in a certain part of the media texts, heterosexuals (both adults and young) are presented as conservative characters who neither accept nor support the spread of homosexual relationships (Seif, 2017: 40).

As for the role of media in activation of young people's sexuality, the research shows that sexually coloured media texts (incl. melodramas, comedies, television shows, music videos, etc.) create the illusion of the widespread prevalence of hypersexual activity and experiences of adolescents, and judging by these media texts, sex occupies 90% of the life sphere (Ward, 2003: 347). As for visual media hypersexualization of characters, it is important to note that it is more pronounced in female images, including complete nudity or close-ups of body parts (Álvarez-Hernández et al., 2015). It is clear that the sexist media messages perceived by the teenage audience to some extent influence the development of the personality of teenagers, and their social roles in the future.

In the part of gender analysis of media texts, researchers note (Halffield, 2017: 60) that in recent years comedy series / films have been creating their stories in such a way that rude treatment of girls, including sexual violence, can be perceived as an everyday routine that does not deserve any legal or ethical evaluation. Gender stereotypes of media images of teenage bodies (especially vivid in social networks) can appear both idealized and sexualized (Pai, Schryver, 2011:

31-32). Being able to create photos/videos and instantly upload them on the Internet, a teenager today is no longer a passive receiver but a sender of media messages as well. Some of the most common teenage messages are "selfie": exploring their body abilities, some teenagers take pictures of themselves not only in defiant, sexual poses, but also in situations dangerous to their lives (on the roofs, on top of trains, etc.). For the record, in the Soviet cinema a naked teenage body, of course, was tabooed, and first appeared in the drama *Tomorrow Was the War* (1987), where a high school student is featured examining her breast in front of the mirror.

Alcohol consumption plays a significant role in media stereotyping of teenagers. In modern audiovisual media texts, young people who consume alcohol are rarely positioned negatively. As a rule, these are attractive guys and girls, whose use of alcohol in no way leads to dependence on it, on the contrary, serves as a trigger to start fun adventures and pleasures. In many TV shows, films, commercials, alcohol consumption is seen as acceptable (often glamorous), which does not cause any problems. Moreover, studies have shown (Atkinson et al., 2011) that even condemning the image of (non-extreme) intoxication and the associated inappropriate behavior of a teenager can still send a signal to a teenage audience that such a phenomenon is generally accepted and normal. The alcohol theme in media texts with the participation of teenagers is gender-specific: while female characters may drink a half-glass of champagne (female drunkenness usually causes condemnation), for male teens alcohol is often served as a truly "man's" activity (Atkinson et al., 2011).

Media stereotypes of teenage images are also manifested in relation to ethnic and national characteristics. For example, black adolescents are regularly associated with negative news and stories (crime, violence, aggression, etc.) (Cushion et al., 2011: 87-90). As for particular national examples, we may mention the media image of a French teenager in American media texts: on the one hand, French characters appear elegant, romantic, seductive, temperamental, artistic, cook well, observe etiquette and follow fashion, and on the other hand - unfriendly, arrogant, imperious, confrontational, selfish, immoral, do not respect rules, procedures or time limits; eat sweets but stay slim; can speak English, but prefer not to (Ferber, 2008: 20).

4. Results

Teenagers as positive characters, their values, ideas, clothing, vocabulary, body language, dwelling.

Positive leaders: students with humanistic (in Soviet media texts – socialist) values, as a rule, neatly dressed, attractive in appearance, artistic/expressive verbal and non-verbal communication. As a rule, they come from ordinary families (live in comfortable apartments or houses), they lead "average" students, organizing various charity and useful things. They study well, do not drink or smoke, do not use abusive language and, of course, oppose any drugs. They are self-confident altruists, who are accustomed to set serious (often socially significant) goals and achieve them (male characters usually win at school academic or sports competitions, and female – in music or dance contests). They can resist any attempt of negative influence. They are fit, dressed simply, but neatly, they have nice looks and voice. There might occur romantic relationships' problems, of course, but they are eventually resolved in the best way.

Examples in Soviet cinema: *Timur and his Team* (1940, 1976), *Vasek Trubachev and his Comrades* (1955), *Practical Joke* (1976), *Troublemaker* (1978), etc.

Examples in Russian cinema: *Students* (2005), *High School Students* (2006-2010), *Freshman* (2016), *Save Pushkin* (2017), etc.

Examples in Western cinema: *College Swing* (USA, 1938), *Grease* (USA, 1978), *Elections* (USA, 1999), *The Emperor's Club* (USA, 2002), *Freedom Writers* (USA-Germany, 2007), etc.

"Nerds" (very diligent, hard-working students): the main type of activity is excellent study and self-analysis. These intelligent kids from ordinary families (though they may sometimes have a single parents or their parents may be quite eccentric) are not interested in power over people (although they hope for their future professional success). They do not use alcohol and drugs, but often experience sexual problems, are sometimes reserved, shy (sometimes due to the fact that they are bi/homosexual), carelessly dressed and, as a rule, clumsy. Usually they do not use rude language and obscene gestures. In the finale of some media texts, they are transformed as "Cinderella": radically changing their appearance and way of life, they become a subject of admiration by peers. Examples in Soviet cinema: Scarecrow (1983), Leader (1984), Temptation (1987), etc.

Examples in Russian cinema: *High School Students* (2006-2010), *Scarecrow-2* (2009), *Physics or Chemistry* (2011), etc.

Examples in Western cinema: *Allons z'enfants* (France, 1981), *Mask* (USA, 1985), *Noce blanche* (France, 1989), *Jack* (USA, 1996), *Física o química* (Spain, 2008-2011), *Song for a Raggy Boy* (Ireland-UK-Denmark-Spain, 2003), etc.

Average students: have typical teenage interests and problems related to school, family, and love experience, they are law-abiding, heterosexual, sociable (quite often they find a common language with both parents and teachers), they are handsome, have pleasant voices and good manners; live in good (by the standards of the particular society) living conditions.

Examples in Soviet cinema: Red Tie (1948), The Story of the First Love (1957), Wild Dog Dingo (1962), Someone is Ringing, Open the Door /The Girl and the Buglar (1965), I Loved You ... (1967), Man-to-Man Talk (1968), The Transitional Age (1968), Woodpeckers don't have headaches (1974), One Hundred Days After Childhood (1975), etc.

Examples in Russian cinema: What a Wonderful Game (1995), American (1997), Let's Make Love (2002), The Disappeared Empire (Love in the USSR) (2007), Physics or Chemistry (2011), Chastnoe Pionerskoe/I Give you my Word (2012), 14+ (2015), The Good Boy (2016), etc.

Examples in Western cinema: *Goodbye, Mr. Chips* (USA, 1939), *Maddalena ... zero in condotta* (Italy, 1940), *Future Stars/Futures vedettes* (France, 1955), *Picnic at Hanging Rock* (Australia, 1975), *Física o química* (Spain, 2008-2011), *Freedom Writers* (USA-Germany, 2007), etc.

Teenagers as "villains"/negative characters/antagonists, their values, ideas, clothing, vocabulary, body language, dwelling.

Offenders and criminals: the main type of occupation – various types of offenses (including domestic violence), crimes (including murder, drug trafficking, which is more common for male characters), smoking, alcohol and/or drugs consumption, sex. In Western media texts such characters are often African American or Latin. They are selfish, cruel and self-confident. Their appearance and vocabulary can be of any type, but basically they use rough vocabulary, have sharp voices and use obscene gestures. In many cases, they are defiantly dressed and have a sporty physique (male characters), wear a bright makeup and are slim (female characters), although there are different options for appearance and clothing. In relation to education, there are two main options: complete ignoring/skipping classes and/or aggressive behavior during classes, or, conversely, such characters study well, skillfully concealing their secret vices, criminal inclinations and psychological manipulation. Basically, they are teenagers from poor families (in this case they often live in horrible living conditions), but there are also characters with rich parents.

Examples in Soviet cinema: *My friend*, *Kolka!* (1961), *The Republic of ShKID* (1966), *Minors* (1976), *The Last Chance* (1978), *Recognize Guilty* (1983), *Plumbum, or the Dangerous Game* (1986), etc.

Examples in Russian cinema: *Teacher-in-Law* (2007), *School* (2010), *Physics or Chemistry* (2011), *Student* (2016), Alex Sparrow's music video *I Love You* (2017), etc.

Examples in Western cinema: Crime School (USA, 1938), The Blackboard Jungle (USA, 1955), School: Confidential! (USA, 1958), Delinquent School Girls (USA, 1975), La liceale seduce i professori (Italy, 1979), Class of 1984 (Canada, 1982), Class of Nuke 'Em High (USA, 1986), Zombie High School (USA, 1987), Class of 1999 (USA, 1990), Kids (USA, 1995), One Eight Seven (USA, 1997), Devil in the Flesh (USA, 1998), La journee de la jupe, France (Belgium, 2008), Jennifer's Body (USA, 2009), Polytechnique (Canada, 2009), The Perfect Student (USA, 2011), Hello Herman (USA, 2012), etc.

Narrow-minded/struggling students: the dominant activity is a primitive pastime (including surfing the entertainment sector of the Internet), boredom in class, absenteeism, a habit of being a laughingstock in class and at home. They are usually lazy, not self-confident, possess scant knowledge and skills. Clothing and vocabulary in this case can be any, but the appearance is rather unattractive, and the body either overweight or awkward. Their social origin is differentiated, although for the most part these teenagers are from underprivileged families.

Examples in Soviet cinema: *We'll Live To Monday* (1968), *The Big Break* (1972), *Asthenic Syndrome* (1989), etc.

Examples in the Russian cinema: *Everybody Dies but Me* (2008), *Physics or Chemistry* (2011), *Corrections Class* (2014), *The Teacher* (2015), etc.

Examples in Western cinema: *La professoressa di scienze naturali* (Italy, 1976), *La liceale nella classe dei ripetenti* (Italy-France, 1978), *Les sous-doués* (France, 1980), *Screwballs* (Canada, 1983), *Loose Screws* (USA-Canada, 1985), *One Eight Seven* (USA, 1997), *La journee de la jupe* (France – Belgium, 2008), etc.

"Silver spoons" (representatives of the rich "golden youth"): their main activity is dominance, which can include offence (for example, domestic violence) and even crimes. To a greater extent these people come from wealthy white families (possessing chic mansions and expensive cars), are interested in power over people and sex, rather than using alcohol and drugs (the latter may take place, but in moderate doses). They are selfish, sarcastic, ironic and selfconfident, expensive and fashionably dressed and, as a rule, handsome, speak with pleasant voices. Sometimes they can use rough vocabulary and obscene gestures. They study mostly very well, but despite excellent studies, sometimes hide secret vices and psychological manipulations.

Examples in Soviet cinema: *Certificate of maturity* (1954), *We'll Live to* Monday (1968), The *Practical Joke* (1976), *Temptation* (1987), *Dear Elena Sergeevna* (1988), *The Jester* (1988), *Darling Ep* (1991), etc.

Examples in Russian cinema: School No. 1 (2007), Yulenka (2008), Barvikha (2009), Seniors (2006-2010), Golden. Barvikha-2 (2011), Physics of Chemistry (2011), Chastnoe Pionerskoe- 3 / I Give you my Word-3 (2017), etc.

Examples in Western cinema: *Gross Misconduct* (Australia, 1993), *Apt Pupil* (USA-Canada-France, 1997), *Física o química* (Spain, 2008-2011), *Election* (USA, 1999), *The Emperor's Club* (USA, 2002), *Jennifer's Body* (USA, 2009), *Dans la maison* (France, 2012), *Dismissed* (USA, 2017), etc.

5. Conclusion

In Soviet, Russian and Western cinema stereotypes of teenagers as positive characters can be divided into the following main groups: 1) positive leaders (high achievers); 2) "nerds" (overly diligent students), 3) average performers. Naturally, the Soviet cinematography had to be more or less ideologically filled with communist values, while in the West and in modern Russian cinema, individual, family and / or group values come to the fore.

Stereotypes of teenagers as villains/ evil characters may be, in our opinion, represented by the following groups: 1) offenders and criminals; 2) narrow-minded/struggling students; 3) "silver spoons" (representatives of the rich "golden youth"). There are nuances, too. For example, in the Soviet cinema heirs of wealthy families were replaced by handsome egoists from the intellectual background, and there were far fewer juvenile offenders than in the American and European media texts. The Soviet cinema (with the exception of a few *perestroika* pictures) did not emphasize schoolchildren's sexuality.

In general, the analysis of stereotypes of teenage images in audiovisual media texts on the theme of the school and university shows that, despite the national, sociocultural and ideological differences, the stereotypes of these images have more similarities than differences.

6. Acknowledgements

This research was funded by the grant of the Russian Science Foundation (RSF, project No. 17-18-01001) at the Rostov State University of Economics. Project theme: "School and university in the mirror of Soviet, Russian and Western audiovisual media texts". Head of the project is professor A.V. Fedorov.

References

Álvarez-Hernández et al, 2015 – Álvarez-Hernández, C., González de Garay-Domínguez, B., Frutos-Esteban, F.J. (2015). Gender representation in contemporary Spanish teen films (2009-2014). Revista Latina de Comunicación Social, n 70, 934-960.

Atkinson et al., 2011 – Atkinson, A., Elliott, G., Bellis, M., Sumnall, H. (2011). Young people, alcohol and the media. Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 86 p.

Bachen, Illouz, 1996 – Bachen, C.M., Illouz, E. (1996). Imagining Romance: Young Peoples's Cultural Models of Romance and Love. *Critical Studies in Mass Communication*, vol. 13, n 4, 279-308.

Bazalgette, 1995 – Bazalgette, C. (1995). *Key Aspects of Media Education*. Moscow: Association for Film Education.

Behm-Morawitz, Mastro, 2008 – *Behm-Morawitz, E., Mastro, D.E.* (2008). Mean girls? The influence of gender portrayals in teen movies on emerging adults' gender – based attitudes and beliefs. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, vol. 85, n 1, 131-136.

Bleakly et al., 2008 – *Bleakley, A., Hennessy, M., Fishbein, M., Jordan, A.* (2008). It Works Both Ways: The Relationship Between Exposure to Sexual Content in the Media and Adolescent Sexual Behavior. Media Psychology, 11-4, pp. 443-461,

Brown et al., 2005 – Brown, J.D., Halpern, C.T., L'Engle, K.L. (2005). Mass media as a sexual super peer for early maturing girls. Journal of Adolescent Health, n 36, 420–427. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2004.06.003

Cap, Black, 2014 – *Cap*, *O.*, *Black*, *J*. (2014) Portrayal of Teachers in Popular Media: Pushing the Frontier of Collaboration with Media Business in Pedagogy and Technology. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, n 2, 139-145. http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/jss.2014.25028

Celestin, 2011 – *Celestin, M.* (2011). Empowering and Engaging Teen Girls through Media from the Perspective of a Practitioner and Producer. Boston, 34 p.

Cushion et al., 2011 – Cushion, S., Moore, K., Jewell, J. (2011). Media representations of black young men and boys. Report of the REACH media monitoring project. London. www.communities.gov.uk/archived/general-content/corporate/researcharchive/

Driesmans et al., 2016 – Driesmans, K., Vandenbosch, L., Eggermont, S. (2016). True love lasts forever: The influence of a popular teenage movie on Belgian girls' romantic beliefs. *Journal of Children and Media*, 10 (3).

Eco, 1998 – *Eco, U.* (1998). *Lack of Structure. Introduction to Semiology.* St. Petersburg: Petropolis, 432 p.

Eco, 2005 – *Eco, U.* (2005). *The Role of the Reader. Studies on the Semiotics of the Text.* St. Petersburg: Symposium, 502 p.

Farhi, 1999 – *Farhi, A.* (1999). Hollywood Goes to School: Recognizing the Superteacher Myth in Film. *Clearing House*, 72.3, 157-159.

Fedorov et al., 2017 – *Fedorov, A.V., Levitskaya, A.A., Gorbatkova, O.I.* (2017). School and university in the mirror of audiovisual media texts: basic approaches to the research problem. *Media education,* N° 2, 187-206.

Ferber, 2008 – Ferber, L. (2008). Pardon Our French: French Stereotypes in American Media. *The Osprey Journal of Ideas and Inquiry*. Vol. 7. http://digitalcommons. unf.edu/ojii_volumes/7

Halffield, 2017 – *Halffield, C.* (2017). She brought it on herself: A Discourse Analysis of Sexual Assault in Teen Comedy Film. DePauw University, 66 p.

Hochhalter, 2013 – Hochhalter, J.M. (2013). Latina/o Representation on Teen-Oriented Television: Marketing to a New Kind of Family. The University of Texas at Austin, 114 p.

Jupp et al., 2011 – *Jupp, E., Gaitskell, J. et al.* (2011). Unbalanced negative media portrayal of youth. *Hertsmere Young Researchers,* 29 p.

Kirby, 2015 – *Kirby, D.* (2015). The Influence of Teacher Media Images on Professional Teacher Identities, 297 p.

Larken McCord, 2008 – Larken McCord, M. (2008). "So Very," "So Fetch": Constructing Girls on Film in the Era of Girl Power and Girls in Crisis. Georgia State University, 98 p. http://scholarworks.gsu.edu/wsi_theses/13

McDonald, 2008 – *McDonald, H.* (2008). Representations of Teenagers in Television Teen Dramas. Media Studies, n 35. www.curriculum-press.co.uk

Mou, Peng, 2009 – *Mou, Y., Peng, W.* (2009). Gender and Racial Stereotypes in Popular Video Games. https://www.igi-global.com/chapter/gender-racial-stereotypes-popular-video /20128

O'Neill, 2016 – O'Neill, P. (2016). Adolescence, Character, Space Investigating the 1980s Hollywood Teen Genre: Adolescence, Character, Space. Kingston University, 223 p.

Pai, Schryver, 2011 – Pai, S., Schryver, K. (2011). Children, Teens, Media, and Body Image. A Common Sense Media Research Brief. NY: Common Sense Media Common Sense Media, 47 p. Potter, 2001 – Potter, W.J. (2001). Media Literacy. Thousand Oaks – London: Sage Publication, 423 p.

Rufer, 2014 – *Rufer, L.J.* (2014). *Magic at the Movies: Positive Psychology for Children, Adolescents and Families*, 95 p. http://repository.upenn.edu/mapp_capstone/68

Santiago, 2013 – Santiago, M. (2013). Little women: study of female representation in teen films and how those representations have affected gender perceptions. Orlando: University of Central Florida, 56 p.

Seif, 2017 – *Seif, R.* (2017). The Media Representation of Fictional Gay and Lesbian Characters on Television: A Qualitative Analysis of U.S. TV-series regarding Heteronormativity. Ph.D. Dis. Retrieved from http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:hj:diva-36233.

Signorielli, 1997 – Signorielli, N. (1997). Reflections of Girls in the Media: A Content Analysis. A Study of Television Shows and Commercials, Movies, Music Videos, and Teen Magazine Articles and Ads. Menlo Park, CA.; Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation, 8 p.

Silverblatt, 2001 – *Silverblatt, A.* (2001). *Media Literacy*. Westport, Connecticut – London: Praeger, 449 p.

Steinke et al., 2008 – *Steinke, J., Long, M, Johnson, M.J., Ghosh, S.* (2008). Gender Stereotypes of Scientist Characters in Television Programs Popular Among Middle School-Aged Children. Chicago, 39 p.

Stern, 2005 – *Stern, S.R.* (2005). Self-Absorbed, Dangerous, and Disengaged: What Popular Films Tell Us About Teenagers. *Mass Communication & Society*, 8(1), 23–38.

Stoddard, 2012 – *Stoddard, J.* (2012). Film as a 'thoughtful' medium for teaching history. *Learning Media and Technology*. 37: 3, pp. 271-288.

Ter Bogt et al., 2010 – *Ter Bogt, T.F.M., Engels, R.C.M.E., Bogers, S., Kloosterman, M.* (2010). "Shake It Baby, Shake It": Media Preferences, Sexual Attitudes and Gender Stereotypes Among Adolescents. *Sex Roles, n* 63, 844–859. DOI 10.1007/s11199-010-9815-1

Ward, 2003 – *Ward, L.M.* (2003). Understanding the role of entertainment media in the sexual socialization of American youth: A review of empirical research. *Developmental Review*, n 23, 347–388.

Wu, 2010 – *Wu*, *Y*. (2010). Model minority stereotypes of Asian American women in American media: perceptions and influences among women of diverse racialethnic backgrounds. Kansas State University, 110 p.

Zhang, 2015 – Zhang, L. (2015). Stereotypes of Chinese by American College Students: Media Use and Perceived Realism. *International Journal of Communication*, n 9, 1–20.

Zheltukhina et al., 2017 – *Zheltukhina, M.R., Klushina, N.I., Ponomarenko, E.B., Vasilkova, N.N., Dzyubenko, A.I.* (2017). Modern media influence: mass culture – mass consciousness – mass communication. *XLinguae*. 10(4): 96-105.



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 465-484 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.465 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Inclusion of Techno-Pedagogical Model in Mathematics Teaching-Learning Process

Arturo García-Santillán^{a,*}, Violetta S. Molchanova^{b, c}

^a UCC Business School Universidad Cristóbal Colón, Mexico

- ^b International Network Center for Fundamental and Applied Research, USA
- ^c Volgograd State University, Russian Federation

Abstract

The aim of this work is to know the perception of the high-school student towards the teaching process of the Financial Mathematics under the modality assisted by the technology. The EAPHMF Scale designed by García-Santillán and Edel (1988) was used, which collects data associated with the student's perception of the variables that make up the techno-pedagogical model. Fifty two students were surveyed in a private institution. The results show that, as a whole the variables of the techno-pedagogical model favor the student's perception toward financial Mathematics being the ones that most contribute, the workshop-type class followed by the design of financial simulators. Furthermore, in the intervention process, an improvement in the evaluation of learning was observed.

Keywords: techno-pedagogical model, ICT, perception, financial mathematics, spreadsheet.

1. Introduction

During the 21st century, the use of technology has extended to every human activity around the world. Certainly, the automatization of productive sectors, to name an example, has been favored with the inclusion of information technologies. Another area that has been benefited – related to the object of study – is education. Namely, the teaching-learning processes of different graduate programs and special fields offered in the educational system worldwide, and specifically in Mexico, include ICT in their formation processes, seeking to develop more and better competencies in individuals.

From the 1970s, some researchers like Feierabend (1960) dedicated their study to measure the attitude of students towards Mathematics, but these studies were not done in detail (García, Juárez, 2011). In 1976, Fenemma and Sherman took on the task of measuring anxiety towards

* Corresponding author

E-mail addresses: agarcias@ucc.mx, arturogarciasantillan@yahoo.com.mx (A. García-Santillán) v.molchanova_1991@list.ru (V.S. Molchanova)

Mathematics in men and women. Other studies were added to the body of knowledge in such period, trying to measure different factors that students usually present towards Mathematics, such as confidence, mathematical interaction and computers, commitment, motivation or usefulness, among others (Galbraith, Hines, 2000). Nonetheless, from such studies, research about this area has notably increased, especially since students perceive Mathematics as a difficult, boring and abstract subject, as stated by Gil, Guerrero and Blanco (2006).

In recent years, teaching-learning processes have changed due to the presence of information technologies, and Mathematics has not been an exception because ICT have been included in learning formation models assisted by technology, an example of that are the proposals by García-Santillán and Edel (2008) and García-Santillán et al. (2010) about a techno-pedagogical model that has aided students in improving the understanding of subjects in financial Mathematics by visually – with financial simulators – taking the image of concepts they considered abstract to a more technological view, specifically regarding financial simulators.

The later are the resulting elements of the setup of the afore-mentioned model since these financial simulators are designed by the students as product evidence of the techno-pedagogical model. In support of this, some authors have shown the great accomplishments obtained by students in the Mathematics teaching processes aided by ICT, since they can simulate scenarios and present different economic situations to be solved (Domínguez et al., 2008 quoted in Maz et al., 2012).

Along those lines, ICT provide different tools that can be used for the teaching of Mathematics: the use of spreadsheets, simulators and virtual platforms, among others; these tools can change the student's perception towards this subject and have improved students' final grades (Benítez et al., 2011).

On this regard, Williamson and Kaput (1999) pointed out that everything related to computational means is linked to the virtual culture, because it is there where the fifth cognition stage is developed, that is where new forms of mathematical representation can be created, which can be manageable and changing. The former causes the development of processing and storing capacity for each step and rules within the system, which derives in the virtual culture.

It is clear that technology does not come to solve the existing problems in the Mathematics teaching-learning process, but it is indeed a fact that technology is an aiding or assistance tool for a transformation in Mathematics education (Gómez-Chacón, 2010). The important role of ICT is precisely the transformation of said education processes for visual representation and creation of scenarios in mathematical problems modeling and solving.

In the field of Mathematics, solving a problem that involves too many variables or elements that constitute theorems is certainly complex and developing them manually has been the traditional teaching school. This argument can sustain the justification about the importance of technology use in the teaching process, since the aim of its use is exactly being able to show the way of simplifying the complexity of a certain situation.

Technology can also assist in the area of environment, as it intervenes with symbolic systems too; technology has an important role that goes from designing to aiding the teaching didactic system (Gómez-Chacón, 2010).

Student considers more attractive to be able to interact with several possible scenarios of problem solving because thought connects to the visual algorithm and hence, makes the student think while interacting with cognition. In such manner, he/she learns by using visual and graphic representations with algorithms through graphic calculators and computers which eases the learning of Mathematics (Hitt, 1998).

Lupiánez and Moreno (2001) state that the main use of computer and calculators is using the calculation system, through computerized formulas. They argue that with the use of computers vectors, matrixes, numeric solutions and trigonometric operations, among others, can be appreciated. Even if it is true that technology can benefit the learning process, its regular use can be detrimental since the student can forget what he/she can do with paper and pencil. Technology must be used carefully, to enrich the process of developing cognitive skills and not as a substitution (Lupiánez, Moreno, 2001).

Likewise, Santos (2001) points out that technology is essential for the teaching and learning of Mathematics, as it eases the making of calculations in an efficient and precise manner. In his study, he mentions that students focus more because they pay attention when making decisions, helps them ponder and reason each scenario to be solved using calculators and computers. It is obvious that Mathematics has a steady presence in our environment, hence examples and situations that can be shown to students are a way of proving its application on different moments of daily-life and the areas it can encompass (Godino et al., 2003).

With the support of these arguments, the main focus of this study is to identify the factorial structure of latent variables that allow measuring the student's perception towards the Mathematics teaching process supported by a techno-pedagogical model. As a result, it is pertinent to question: how does the undergraduate student perceives the Mathematics teaching-learning process assisted by ICT? And similarly: what is the factorial structure of the techno-pedagogical model that contributes more to the explanation of the study phenomenon?

To provide answers for these questions and achieve the main purpose of this research, the theoretical model posed by García-Santillán and Edel (2008) will be replicated, considering the variables of the scale that measures attitude and perception towards Financial Mathematics (EAPHMF) and thus, the construct is presented next:



Fig. 1. Study conceptual model EAPHMF (García-Santillán, Edel, 2008)

Where: VC: Virtual communities; DFS: Design of financial simulators; MHWC: Content of Mathematics history and workshop class; SSP: Spreadsheet programing; ITP: IT platforms.

Source: Images taken from Google.Mathematics traditional teaching process URL: http://blogconamat.blogspot.mx/2012/05/objetan-ensenanza-tradiconal-de.html

Therefore, in order to measure perception towards Financial Mathematics (FM) and the inclusion of Information and Communication Technologies in the teaching processes, it is necessary to discuss the theory and empirical evidence of both constructs.

2. Literature review

The variables implied are framed in the following theories and empirical evidence: Mathematics History promotes a change in the attitude towards the subject, according to the statement Furinghetti and Somaglia (1998), the students still holds the belief that Mathematics is abstract and is only found in the mind of professors and that practically everything has been discovered in this area; the author also mentions that for them, it is a boring subject lacking imagination. However, Bell (1985: 54) postulated that Mathematics is one of the disciplines that loses the most when its history is excluded from the teaching process.

In the study by González-Urbaneja (2004), the author presents very significant theoretical arguments. Along the document, it extracts important arguments from great mathematicians, pedagogues and historians that have provided theoretical basis to this variable of Mathematics history as didactic resource, mentioning: *Poincaré, Klein, Toeplitz, Köthe, Bell, Courant, Puig Adam, Lakatos, Kline, Santaló...... (sic).*

It is important to identify the origin that builds the historic roots of Mathematics, as Courant has referred in the prologue of "*The History of the Calculus and its conceptual development*" (Boyer, 1949). For instance, Fauvel (1991), based on the opinion of Gellert (2000), states that it is necessary to use Mathematics history in the teaching-learning-evaluation (TLE) process of the subject, by using comparative studies between: the methodology used in the moment and context of the student and analogously, in a different cultural context (Pizzamiglio, 1992; Bidwell, 1993; Murugan 1995).

Likewise, Clinard (1993) and Fauvel (1991) support the argument of including "Mathematics History" as an important component in T-L-E processes of this subject, but also for the teacher, since it allows him/her to visualize Mathematics from another perspective. Clearly, the great absent of Mathematics teaching process has been its own history, that is, its birth and how it has evolved until today.

It is interesting to know the controversies and conflicts between the great scientists for the development of this discipline. Also, it must not be forgotten than these debates caused regression and stagnation too, until the progress known nowadays was achieved (Vidal, Quintanilla, s/f).

The benefit obtained by this methodologic resource is remarkable; actually, in a study carried out by Chávez and Salazar (2006), the authors assert to have incorporated this technique in an algebra subject with excellent results, among which the following stand out: development of oral and written expression skills, attitude change in students (interest, collaboration and disposition).

On the other hand, Salinas (2010) made an experiment in which Mathematics history (MH) is applied with the purpose of observing geometry students to know their attitude towards MH topics, besides observing if this didactic resource encourages the student to introduce him/herself in the deductive sense of geometry.

Nowadays, one of the strongest tendencies in education is the one that presents the Mathematics teaching process with the use of technologies (Hitt, 1998; Lupiánez, Moreno, 2001; Goldenberg, 2003). In that area, the use of computer spreadsheets has allowed a noticeable advancement because it has enabled the development of financial projections automatically, just by using a set of values. In this respect, Moursund (1999, 2003 and 2007) has stated repeatedly that for solving problems from a business context, exact and social sciences, as well as other knowledge disciplines, the spreadsheet offers a beneficial environment for the modeling of said problems.

In the teaching of financial Mathematics, other significant mechanism for learning is the creation of a virtual community, that is, an space in IT platform where people (who will learn) and instruments (means to learn) can be integrated; hence, in the words of Pazos et al. (2001), "virtual communities" are considered as web-based environments that group people related to a specific subject, who besides the distribution lists (first node of the virtual community) share documents, resources, among others.

In the same idea, Hunter (2002) declares that virtual communities have been created to analyze or solve problems and they support the construction of knowledge jointly with its members, in such manner that students would have a higher involvement, active participation, autonomy, interdependence and responsibility, all of that regarding the learning process, culminating in a collaborative and cooperative work. In the same way, Mendoza (2015) carried out a research which shows the formative potential of students in virtual communities. On said study, data revealed that students showed higher skills in the learning process, which lead them to improve their grades, besides leaving them satisfied with the learning experience.

By including the TLE process of financial Mathematics, the variables: simulation and simulators as tools that are created in the "Workshop class", it is pertinent that said tools are

shared to other people, institutions or any other interested in obtaining them, that is, creating a virtual community, where they can be shared.

On that matter, the perspective of Salinas (2003) is relevant as he states that there is a higher probability of achieving virtual learning communities when there are individual interests and affinities among the students who are taking the same subject.

For the former, it is necessary to have a special infrastructure and a platform to create virtual classrooms (VC), being Moodle one of the best options, since it has a pleasant environment. Moodle pretends to be a platform to create virtual courses of any subject, as well as being an excellent tool that complements educational community, without space and time limits (Dougiamas, Taylor, 2002, 2003; Costello, 2014).

It is important to highlight that in the learning-teaching process, perception plays an important role because a large part of interest in learning depends on the attributes of each student and therefore, the teacher must take into account the influence of this factor in the teaching-learning process.

From a pedagogic point of view, the teaching-learning process of this subject can be configured around the theories of Bruner and Ausubel (Roca, 1991), these authors affirm that learning is produced by the interaction of the previous mental schemes of the subject, as well as the new information from the environment, where new information in the knowledge and learning process does not substitute previous knowledge of the student, but it is an interaction with the ones already present.

To sum up, the variables involved in the techno-pedagogic model have been fundamental in several studies, such as the case of Mathematics History as methodological resource in the teaching-learning process (Fauvel, 1991; Russ, 1991; Pizzamiglio, 1992; Moreno, Waldegg, 1992; Clinard, 1993; Toumasis, 1995; Barbin, 1997; Nuñez, Servat, 1998; Ernest, 1998; Fauvel, Manen, 1997; Furinghetti, 1997; Chávez, Salazar, 2006 and Salinas, 2010), the construction of simulators as didactic tool for the teaching process and the case of Excel spreadsheet (Barbin, 1997; Goldenberg, 2003; Lewis, 2006; Mousround, 2007; Niess, 1998; García-Santillán et al., 2008).

Virtual environments as tool for the transference of learning is based on the work by Rheingold (1996, 2001), Hagel and Armstrong (1997), Jonassen et al. (1998), Salinas (2003), for the integration of virtual learning communities and its use in the learning processes (Hagel, 1999; Tarín, 1997; Jonassen et al. 1998; Wallace, 2001; Rheingold, 2001; García-Aretio, 2003; Salinas, 2003; Cabero Almenara, 2004, 2005) and finally, computer platforms as conducting element in the process of distance education (Dougiamas, Taylor, 2002, 2003; Bernabé, Adell, 2006; Costello, 2013).

After the afore-mentioned analysis, the research question is ratified: *How does the undergraduate student perceives the Mathematics learning-teaching process that uses ICT?* As well as, what is the factorial structure of the techno-pedagogical model that better contributes to explaining the study phenomenon?

Consequently, the hypothesis is: Hi_1 = There is a factorial structure of latent variables that explain the undergraduate student's perception towards the Financial Mathematics teaching process that uses technology.

3. Method

It is a non-experimental study, descriptive and with factorial analysis of main components. The sample selection is non-probabilistic since it was selected by convenience. The selection criteria consisted on including students of all the bilingual programs at the Business School who were enrolled in the third semester who would take Financial Mathematics as subject. The request for the empiric study and authorization was made by the Business School Dean. The study subjects are shown on Table 1.

Career program	Students per program	Μ	W	Μ	\mathbf{W}
Company Management and	10 = 19 %	2	8	3.85 %	15.38 %
Direction					
Accounting and Finances	14 = 27 %	6	8	11.54 %	15.38 %
Economy	9 = 17 %	5	4	9.62 %	7.69 %
International Markets and	19 = 37 %	7	12	13.46 %	23.08 %
Business					
Total	52	20	32	38.00 %	62.00 %

 Table 1. Studied population

As observed in Table 1, 62 % are female, which is a larger number of participants in this study against 38 % of male students. All of them are enrolled at the programs of Company Management and Direction, Accounting and Finances, Economy, International Markets and Business.

The distinctive characteristic of this study group is that they belong to the area of Business *school* (bilingual system) during the first five semesters of their college program and later, they study the specialization during the rest four semesters. There is even the option of double certification with a US college (*South Eastern Louisiana University*), for that, they are required to study the last two years in the USA.

3.1. Instrument

The scale designed by García-Santillán y Edel (2008) and modified in García-Santillán et al. (2010) was used; it collects information about the student's perception towards variables related to Mathematics History, spreadsheet programming, simulators' design, computer platforms and virtual communities. The instrument is designed in a Likert scale that ranges from 1, totally disagree to 5, totally agree (Table 2).

Table 2. Dimensions	and indicators	of the EAPHMF scale
---------------------	----------------	---------------------

Variable	Code	Items
-Mathematics history and workshop class	MHWC	1,2,5,6,7,9,10,11,12,13,14,15,17
-Spreadsheet programming	SSP	3,8,16,20,21,22,23,26,
-Design of financial simulators	DFS	18,24,25,27,28
-Computer platforms	СР	4,19
-Virtual communities	VC	29,30,31

The internal consistency reported in the original scale design was α =.902 and standardized α =.905 however, the consistency obtained for this study was α =.775 (31 items), α =.791 (typified elements) and α =.770 (grouped in five dimensions), which is an average internal consistency in relation to the theoretical statements recommended by some authors (Hair et al., 1979).

Cases	N	%	Cronbach´s Alpha	Cronbach´s Alpha based in typified elements	Number of elements
Valid	52	100.0			
Excluded	0	.0	.775	.791	31
Total	52	100.0			
			.770		5

a. Elimination by list based on all the procedure variables

The descriptive statistics from the five dimensions are shown on Table 3 (mean, deviation variation standard and coefficient), where it can be seen that the CP dimension presents a higher

variation between its mean and standard deviation (15.54 %) against SSP, which presents the lower variation (8.14 %).

		Typical	N of	VC= St Dev./µ
Dimensions	Mean	deviation	analysis	
MHWC	49.9615	4.31578	52	8.64%
SSP	31.0385	2.52797	52	8.14%
DFS	19.6923	2.20106	52	11.18%
СР	7.7885	1.21003	52	15.54%
VC	12.2500	1.15258	52	9.41%

Table 3. Descriptive Statistics

3.2. Procedure for data analysis

For the statistical analysis the program Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 23 was used and the multivariate statistical procedure of exploratory factor analysis (EFA) with main component extraction was carried out, since the information will be summarized in a minimal quantity of factors with prediction purposes in order to answer the main question of the study and achieve the set goal, after the hypotheses have been contrasted.

4. Data analysis and discussion

In order to corroborate the model factor structure of the Scale EAPHMF by García-Santillán and Edel (1988), a EFA is done using the main components method (with Varimax rotation). The results from the measures shown on table 4 are statistically optimal. The sample adequacy KMO (.684), Bartlett's test of Sphericity (Chi²71.924, *df* 10 p <0.01), the MSA values (which range from .626 to .851) are theoretically acceptable (>.5) and the positive correlations with a low determinant (.227). These EFA measures allow surpassing significantly the validity and pertinence of the data matrix and continue with the analysis.

	MHWC	SSP	DFS	PI	VC	KMO	MSA	Bartlett´s test (Chi ² df 10)
MHWC	1.000						.675 ^(a)	
SSP	.509	1.000					.626 ^(a)	71.924
DFS	.356	.725	1.000			.684	. 710 ^(a)	(a = .000)
CP	.111	.445	.321	1.000			.705 ^(a)	
VC	.144	·394	·379	.179	1.000		.851 ^(a)	

Table 4. Bartlett's test of sphericity KMO, MSA, Correlation and significance

a Determinant = .227

Afterwards, two important steps in the development of the factorial technique take place, the first of them is the analysis of main components with latent root criterion > than 1 with the 31 items grouped in the five dimensions. The second is using the same main components method, but now under the factor criterion (31 items of the scale) with Varimax rotation and Kaizer normalization, as to try to minimize the number of variables that present high saturations and being able to simplify the interpretation of each of the obtained factors.

In table 5, there is the calculation of main components using the Eigenvalues criterion > 1, where it can be seen that the analysis shows a single component with an Eigenvalue of 2.515, which represents 50.30 % of the total variance of the five dimensions in the conceptual study model from Figure 1 (MHWC, SSP, DFS, CP and VC). A second and third component attain a value > than 1 and remain under this criterion (.901 and .824), which combined would provide 84.80 % of the variance.

Extraction sums of squared						
Component		loadin	igs	Rotation sums of squared loadings		
		% of				
	Total	Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %
1	2.515	50.299	50.299	1.086	21.716	21.716
2	.901	18.025	68.325	1.062	21.235	42.951
3	.824	16.470	84.795	1.045	20.896	63.847
4	.531	10.629	95.424	1.032	20.644	84.491
5	.229	4.576	100.000	·775	15.509	100.000

Table 5. Total Variance

Extraction method: principal component analysis.

In the second procedure the factor matrix was rotated, for that, the 5 grouped dimensions were analyzed (Table 6) and afterwards, the 31 items of the scale (Table 6.1), both with the criterion of factorial loadings > .5 and ranked by factor type.

			Component		
Dimensions	1	2	3	4	5
DFS	.919				
MHWC		.971			
СР			.977		
VC				.975	
SSP					•795

Table 6. Rotated component matrix (a)

Extraction method: Principal component analysis. Rotation method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization.

a The rotation has converged in 5 iterations.

On Table 6, it can be seen that the five factors corresponding to each of the model dimensions (with the 31 grouped items), present high saturations in the following order: Computer Platforms (.977), Virtual Communities (.975), Mathematics History and Workshop Class (.971) and Design of Financial Simulators (.919), although with a lower saturation in comparison to the others, but still with an acceptable factorial loading we find the dimension of Spreadsheet Programming (.795).

Table	6.1.	Rotated	component	matrix	(a))
-------	------	---------	-----------	--------	-----	---

			Compone	nt	
Items	1	2	3	4	5
SSP-22	.814				
SSP-23	.766				
DFS-27	.723				
SSP-26	.683				
DFS-24	.599				
DFS-28	.528				
DFS-25		.691			
CP-19		.633			
MHWC-17		.593			
SSP-8			.833		
MHWC-7			.817		
DFS-18			.529		
MHWC-10				.581	
				-	
			472 🗖		

VC-31	.563
MHWC-12	.559
MHWC-6	.658
MHWC-1	.654
SSP-3	.653

European Journal of Contemporary Education, 2018, 7(3)

Extraction method: Principal component analysis. Rotation method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. a The rotation has converged in 10 iterations.

The saturations presented by the indicators that have been grouped in each of the five components obtained provide very significant information, given that the integration of each component provides routes or indications of how is the student's perception regarding the technopedagogic model proposed for the teaching of the Financial Mathematics subject.

Therefore, next there is the interpretation of the rotated matrix, with which the extracted latent indicators are identified according to the procedure of rotated component extraction by factors criterion, where the ones with higher saturation (>.5) are extracted.

Table 7.	Rotated	component matrix	(a)	Factor 1
		1	· ·	

Code	Factor 1 (Y_i)
SSP-22	Program the formulas in Excel and work with them in the workshop class aids my learning.
SSP-23	Designing financial tools in an Excel spreadsheet complements my learning.
DFS-27	I really like to learn FM if I can transform the formulas seen during class in financial simulators.
SSP-26	I feel that Excel programming strengthens my learning in FM.
DFS-24	The design of simulators provides added value to my teaching-learning of FM.
DFS-28	It is an incentive when the teacher promotes competition for the best design of simulators.

In factor 1, the six items with saturations > .5 are related to spreadsheet programming and design of simulators, which leads us to think that the student perceives that Excel programming to design financial tools strengthens his/her learning together with the teacher's incentive of promoting competition for the best simulator.

Table 7.a. Rotated component matrix (a) Factor 2

Code	Factor 2 (Y_2)
DFS-25	Excel programming and design of simulators help me not to reject the
	teaching-learning of FM.
CP-19	Use of ICT in the learning process of FM generates more interest in me.
MHWC-17	FM generates more interest and expectation when I relate it to real cases and
	present them in class.

For factor 2, the importance of ICT is noted again, since programming of mathematical formulas that are analyzed in each class session are turned into financial tools in a workshop class, that is, the student designs financial simulators that will also help him/her in professional life, which generates more interest to take the subject under a modality aided by ICT. Also, the use of previously designed financial simulators allows the creation of diverse scenarios to simulate decisions in several possible contexts.

Code	Factor 3 (Y_3)
SSP-8	The terms and symbols used in Mathematics are never difficult for me to
	understand and handle because the teacher encourages me to create new ways
	to code them.
MHWC-7	The FM course helps to teach how to think and I can propose some alternatives
	of solution.
DFS-18	I learn better when the FM subject is taught using other didactic techniques.

Table 7.b. Rotated component matrix (a) Factor 3

The result for factor 3 highlights once again the relevance of ICT, given that the student is motivated by the implementation of alternative ways of learning, different from traditional sessions in the Mathematics teaching process. In the same manner, students are incentivized by been able to code to computer language, the symbols and terms used in the formulas, which helps them propose solution alternatives to the cases been solved in class.

Table 7.c. Rotated component matrix (a) Factor 4

Code	Factor 4 (Y_4)
MHWC-10	It is motivating to carry out a workshop class.
VC-31	I think that using the Web to share knowledge is a good alternative for our education.
MHWC-12	Knowing the history of FM helps me become more interested in the course.

The history of Mathematics and the workshop class is seen again in the fourth factor, which points to the student's interest to take the subject of Mathematics while integrating the historical aspects of the evolution of said discipline.

In addition, it is possible to see the student's interest for sharing experiences with other students through virtual communities, which undoubtedly will add to his/her learning.

Table 7.d. Rotated	component matrix (a) Factor 5
--------------------	-------------------------------

Code	Factor 5 (Y_5)
MHWC-6	I enjoy FM when the teacher explains how a problem can be solved in different
	manners.
MHWC-1	FM is enjoyable and stimulating for me when the teacher explains its history.
SSP-3	I think I could study harder FM with the use of the spreadsheet.

In the fifth and last factor, the history of Mathematics and spreadsheet programming are present once more, which leads us to think that the student favorably perceives the role of the teacher, when he/she explains the way a particular exercise has been solved historically, meaning how some Mathematics calculations have evolved with time regarding its resolution path. Even the complexity level can increase as long as spreadsheet is used, since this tool would help solving very complex cases.

The five factors that make up the structure of variables that represents the perception towards Mathematics are indicators of a practical and statistical significance, this means that subject teachers can take them into consideration when making teaching-learning strategies in a way that student is more interested in Mathematics and at the same time, help to reduce the desertion rate of the subject.

5. Discussion and Conclusion

Once the results were analyzed, it can be concluded that there is a structure of variables showing the perception that students from the Business School of Cristóbal Colón University have towards the subject of Financial Mathematics. The results allows seeing that teaching is more dynamic thanks to Information Technologies, which have opened the way to a different teaching manner, this leads to a change in the student's perception towards certain topics.

In the case of Mathematics, each of the proposed variables contributes to increase the student's perception towards this discipline and thus, there is a change of perception when classes are done as workshops, including History of Mathematics.

Regarding the History of Mathematics in the teaching process, it is possible to mention a quote by Bell (1985).... *No subject loses more than when it is divorced from its history, as it happens in Mathematics*. The former leads us to think about the importance of this element in relation to the teaching didactic of this discipline.

Furthermore, the use of simulators has a positive effect in student's learning and it can be inferred that by using such tools, classes become more attractive.

The same happens for spreadsheet programming, virtual platforms and communities, meaning that when using tools offered by Information Technologies there is a change of the students' attitude towards this discipline. Besides, if Mathematics History is integrated to the program, the student better understands the importance of the subject in daily life (Bell, 1985; González-Urbaneja, 2004).

These results match the ones stated by Pazos et al. (2001) and Salinas (2003), who claim that virtual communities are spaces of ideas interchange that favors learning; Goldenberg (2003) mentions that CIT can be used in Mathematics to avoid giving a poor impression of this subject. Moursund (2003) maintains that spreadsheet programming offers a fundamental environment for problem solving and the representation of numeric data. Also, the results match the ones by Fauvel (1991) and Clinard (1993) and Furinghetti (1997), who support the argument of including Mathematics History as an important component in the T-L-E processes, since it helps increase the appreciation of the importance, usefulness and value of Mathematics.

In relation to the afore-mentioned, it is necessary for the teacher of this subject to include in its curricula, topics and activities using the CIT and including the variables from the technopedagogic model, in such a way that learning is improved but above all that it is oriented to change the student's perception towards Mathematics in order to attain a favorable perception towards Financial Mathematics.

6. Proposal of the techno-pedagogic model

Next there is a step by step description of the techno-pedagogic model proposal for the teaching process of Financial Mathematics, applicable in college education scenarios. It is relevant to highlight that this subject is taken for the study plan of college careers from the economic-administrative area because of its connotation and application field.

6.1. Development of traditional class

In a traditional Mathematics teaching session, each of the topics that are part of the subject's curricula are approached. To explain a class taught in the traditional way, we will take as example the topic of arithmetic gradient (G_a) and geometric gradient (G_g) to solve a hypothetical case. First, the teacher presents the formulas regularly used for the development of the intended case that will be solved, trying to explain its composition and the meaning of the elements that make up each theorem.

Arithmetic gradient	
To know current value	To know future value
$VA = \left[\left(Rp_1 + \frac{G_a}{i/m} \right) \left[\frac{(1 + i/m)^n - 1}{i/m} \right] - \frac{n * G_a}{i/m} \right] (1 + i/m)^n $ (1)	$M_{ga} = (Rp_{I} + \frac{G_{a}}{i/m}) \left[\frac{(1 + i/m)^{n} - 1}{i/m} \right] - \frac{n * G_{a}}{i/m} $ (2)
Geometric gradient	

$$Si \quad (1+\frac{i}{m})^{T} Gg: \quad Mg_{g} = R_{I} \left[\frac{(1+\frac{i}{m})^{n} - (1+Gg)^{n}}{\frac{i}{m}^{n} - Gg} \right], \quad A = R_{I} \left[\frac{(1+\frac{i}{m})^{n} - (Gg)^{n}}{(1+\frac{i}{m})^{n} (1+\frac{i}{m}^{n} - Gg)} \right]$$

$$Si \quad (1+\frac{i}{m}) = Gg \qquad Mg_{g} = nR_{I} (1+\frac{i}{m}^{n})^{n-I} \qquad A = \frac{nR_{I}}{1+\frac{i}{m}^{n}}$$
(2)

To know the current and future value, the formulas to be used are different, that is, they depend on the progression reason (G_g) matching the factor (1 + i/m).

Where: M_{ga} or VF_{ga} : Future value or amount of a series of fees with arithmetic or geometric gradient (of the sum of payments); M_{gg} or VF_{gg} : Future value or amount of a series of fees with arithmetic or geometric gradient (of the sum of payments); A or Rp: Annuity or periodic rent (even fee or annuity); VA_{ga} : Current value of the set of periodic rents; *i*: nominal interest rate; *m*: Capitalization (for its type, monthly, bimonthly, etc. the rate is divided: an example of it, if there is a monthly capitalization rate of 12 % = (12 %/12); *n*: Time; G_a = is the arithmetic gradient; G_g = is the geometric gradient; Rp_i = Annuity or periodic rent number 1.

Once the professor explains the theorem and its application fields, exercises are done in the traditional Mathematics teaching class. As an example of this, let's assume that it is required to know the amount that has been accumulated in an investment fund established by 10 monthly deposits that grow at a G_g : 5.5 % rate, being the amount of the first deposit \$1,000.00 with a 12 % monthly capitalization rate. From the formula:

Si
$$(1 + i/m)^{I} Gg: Mg_{g} = Rp_{I}(1 + i/m) \left[\frac{(1 + i/m)^{n} - (1 + Gg)^{n}}{i/m} - \frac{(1 + Gg)^{n}}{g} \right]$$

Where: $Rp_1 =$ \$1,000.00; $G_g = 5.5$ %; n = number of fees 10; i/m = .20/12 = 0.01666667 which is the same as 1.66666667% (capitalization rate in *m* periods per year).

It is solved as:

$$Mg_{g} = 1,000.00_{1}(1+.20/12) \left[\frac{(1+.20/12)^{10} - (1+0.055)^{10}}{20/12} \right] Mg_{g} = 1,000.00_{1}(1.01666667) \left[\frac{(1.17973879) - 1.70814446}{0.01666667 - 0.055} \right] Mg_{g} = 1,000.00_{1}(1.01666667) \left[\frac{-0.52840567}{-0.03833333} \right] Mg_{g} = 1,000.00_{1}(1.01666667) \left[13.7844969 \right] Mg_{g} = 1,000.00_{1}(14.0142386) Mg_{g} = \$14,014.24$$

If the fees where past due with *Gg*, it is derived from the formula:

Si
$$(l + i/_m)^{l} Gg: Mg_g = Rp_I(l + i/_m) \left[\frac{(l + i/_m)^n - (l + Gg)^n}{i/_m - Gg} \right]$$
 Then: $Mg_g = Rp_I \left[\frac{(l + i/_m)^n - (l + Gg)^n}{i/_m - Gg} \right]$

Same data: Rp_1 = \$1,000.00; G_g = 5.5 %; n = number of fees 10; i/m = .20/12 =0.016666667 (capitalization rate in m periods per year).

$$Mg_{g} = 1,000.00_{I} * \left[\frac{(1+.20/12)^{10} \cdot (1+0.055)^{10}}{20/12} \right] Mg_{g} = 1,000.00_{I} * \left[\frac{(1.17973879) \cdot 1.70814446}{0.01666667 \cdot 0.055} \right]$$
$$Mg_{g} = 1,000.00 * \left[\frac{-0.52840567}{-0.03833333} \right] Mg_{g} = 1,000.00 \left[13.7844969 \right] Mg_{g} = \$13,784.50$$

In the same class dynamic, it is calculated inversely, that is, the exercise about the current value of *Rp* is done, so that in order to obtain an amount of \$14,014.24 what must be the amount of

the first of 10 periodic fees (n=10) that increase by 5.5 % with an interest rate of 20 % monthly capitalization?: Now it is solved in its format of prepaid and past due fees, from the formula:

Si
$$(1 + \frac{i}{m})^{T} Gg$$
: $Mg_{g} = Rp_{1}(1 + \frac{i}{m}) \left[\frac{(1 + \frac{i}{m})^{n} - (1 + Gg)^{n}}{\frac{i}{m} - Gg} \right]$

Prepaid are calculated

$$\$14,014.24 = Rp_{1}(1+.20/12) \left[\frac{(1+.20/12)^{10} \cdot (1+0.055)^{10}}{20/12} \right] \quad \$14,014.24 = Rp_{1}(1.0166667) \left[\frac{(1.0166667)^{10} \cdot (1+0.055)^{10}}{.0166667 \cdot 0.055} \right]$$

$$\$14,014.24 = Rp_{1}(1.01666667) \left[\frac{-0.52840567}{-0.03833333} \right] \quad \$14,014.24 = Rp_{1}(1.01666667) \left[13.7844969 \right]$$

$$Rp_{1}g = \frac{\$14,014.24}{14.0142386} \quad Rp_{1} = \$1,000.00$$

Past due are calculated:

In order to obtain an amount of \$13,784.50, what must be the amount of the first of 10 periodic fees (n=10) that increase by 5.5 % with an interest rate of 20% monthly capitalization?:

$$\$13,784.50 = Rp_{1} \ast \left[\frac{(1+.20/2)^{10} \cdot (1+0.055)^{10}}{20/2} \right] \$13,784.50 = Rp_{1} \ast \left[\frac{(1.17973879) \cdot 1.70814446}{0.01666667 \cdot 0.055} \right] \$13,784.50 = Rp_{1} \ast \left[\frac{13,784.50}{13,784.50} - Rp_{1} \right] \$13,784.50 = Rp_{1} \ast \left[\frac{13,784.50}{13,7844969} - Rp_{1} \right] \$13,784.50 = Rp_{1} \ast \left[\frac{13,784.50}{13,7844969} - Rp_{1} \right] \$13,784.50 = Rp_{1} \ast \left[\frac{13,784.50}{13,7844969} - Rp_{1} \right] \$13,784.50 = Rp_{1} \ast \left[\frac{13,784.50}{13,7844969} - \frac{13,784.50}{13,7844969} - \frac{13,784.50}{13,7844969} \right]$$

If we now want to know the term, we need to solve for it in the formula from the amount of a series of prepaid fees with geometric gradient:

$$Mg_{g} = Rp_{1}(1 + \frac{i}{m}) \frac{(1 + \frac{i}{m})^{n} - (1 + Gg)^{n}}{\frac{i}{m} - Gg} \text{ So, we have what } \frac{Mg_{g}}{Rp_{1}(1 + \frac{i}{m})} = \frac{(1 + \frac{i}{m})^{x} - (1 + G_{g})^{x}}{\frac{i}{m} - G_{g}}$$

The denominator of the right set goes multiplying to the left, thus obtaining:

$$\frac{Mg_g}{Rp_l(1+\frac{i}{m})} * (\frac{i}{m} - G_g) = \left[(1+\frac{i}{m})^x - (1+G_g)^x \right]$$

The gradient goes as sum to the left, now we need to fulfill the following equation:

$$(1+G_g)^x - (1+\frac{i}{m})^x - \left[\frac{Mg_g}{Rp_i(1+\frac{i}{m})} * (\frac{i}{m} - G_g)\right] = 0$$

In summary, we might think in the traditional system this procedure seems tedious or a nuisance for the student, which creates an apparent rejection towards the teaching-learning process. Also, it is very common for the student not to memorize the steps of each formula and that causes him/her to forget them, hence the proposed techno-pedagogic model, which measured the perception of 52 students, is perceived the students as highly accepted for their college training process, but how is the techno-pedagogic model visualized for the teaching of Financial Mathematics?

We must remember that the variables from the EAPHMF scale, which are: contents of Mathematics history, workshop class, use of spreadsheet, design of financial simulators and virtual learning communities. From these variables, the course is planned contextualizing first the topics of Financial Mathematics, a brief outline of its history and how these topics were gestated. The class is organized in teams of three or four participants, encouraging teamwork in each of them. It is proposed that in the spreadsheet each of the mathematical theorems are programmed. Its transformation to programming is done at all times by the student aided by the teacher. Programming goes from basic Excel to advanced Excel and/or in Visual Basic, or in any other program that allows programming for the development of calculations and interacting in virtual platforms with other participants from other parts of local and/or global context. Each exercise is contextualized in its current reality, meaning that scenarios are created as they happen in daily life, attempting to adapt each topic to a requirement or specific activity of people or company's financial activities.

6.2. Session with the Techno-pedagogic model for the teaching of Financial Mathematics

Next there is a sequence of the process using the same data: Rp1 = \$1,000.00; Gg = 5.5 %; n = number of fees 10; i/m = .20/12 = 0.01666667 (capitalization rate in *m* periods per year). Then, we proceed to programming and for that, the templates must be designed considering all the variables of the formula used for the calculations, then the exit sell needs to be programmed in Excel, an example is: Mgg past due yearly fee =(F4)*(((1+F7)^F6)-(1+F5)^F6)/(F7-F5) and Mgg prepaid yearly fee =(F4)*(((1+F7)^F6)-(1+F5)^F6)/(F7-F5).

🔁 Microsoft Excel - Simulador Karla, Marco, Ricardo 📃 💷												
	В	С	D	E	F	G	н	1	J	К	L	M
1												1
2		GRADIENTES GEOMÉTRICOS (Valor futuro y fondos de ahorro)										
з												
4		Rp1 =			1,000.00		Anualidad Vencida			Anualidad		
5		Gg =			5.50%		Mgg=	13,784.50		Mgg=	14,014.24	
6		n =			10.00		Gg =	0.06	Gg =		0.06	
7		i=			1.67%		n =	10.00		n =	10.00	
8		Mgg (anualid	lad vencida)=		13,784.50		i=	1.67%		i=	1.67%	
9		Mgg (anualio	lad anticipad	a)=	14,014.24		Rp1 =	1,000.00		Rp1 =	1,000.00	1
10												
11		Fond	do de ahorro	(anualidad ve	ncida)			Fondo	de ahorro (ai	nualidad antic	ipada)	1
12		Abono	Anualidad	Interés	Saldo			Abono	Anualidad	Interés	Saldo	
13		1	1,000.00		1,000.00			1	1,000.00	16.67	1,016.67	
14		2	1,055.00	16.67	2,071.67			2	1,055.00	34.53	2,106.19	
15		3	1,113.03	34.53	3,219.22			3	1,113.03	53.65	3,272.87	
16		4	1,174.24	53.65	4,447.11			4	1,174.24	74.12	4,521.23	
17		5	1,238.82	74.12	5,760.06			5	1,238.82	96.00	5,856.06	
18		6	1,306.96	96.00	7,163.02			6	1,306.96	119.38	7,282.40	
19		7	1,378.84	119.38	8,661.25			7	1,378.84	144.35	8,805.60	
20		8	1,454.68	144.35	10,260.28			8	1,454.68	171.00	10,431.28	
21		9	1,534.69	171.00	11,965.97			9	1,534.69	199.43	12,165.40	
22		10	1,619.09	199.43	13,784.50	Comprobación		10	1,619.09	229.74	14,014.24	Comprobación
23												
24												
25												
26												
27												
28												
20												
21												
32												
33												
14	N N Co	ontonido /1	2 /2 /4 /5	6 /7 /0	/0 /10 /11	12 /12 1	A 15 16	/ \$ 1				
			2 / 5 / 4 / 5							a 🔛 🗠 🕫	🗶 🕅 😅 🛼	AU 02:15
		экуре	д Арпсасі	Microso		🔀 M	icrosof					😋 🗤 03:15 p.m.

Fig. 2. Excel spreadsheet for gradients Source: own

Other example of Excel programming with a higher complexity level would be as follows:

X Microsoft Excel - sira_vf	2.0.xism	And the second second	Street Wood And	second in some								ALL AND DATA MANY X STATE
Inicio	Tipos de Interés	Anualidades	Amortizaciones	Gradientes	Contacto	Volver						
	Tom											
	Uasa		_									
	20%	Anual	0	rdinario 🤇 🔇	2							
			_									
	Diaria	Semanai	Quincenai	Mensual	Anual							
	0.0555556%	0.3888889%	0.8333333% 1.6	666667% 20.0	000000%							
Det	£ 1,000,00	1				ODADIEN	E CEONÉT					
крі	\$ 1,000.00		Deta	lle del cálculo	016666667	GRADIEN		O EN				
	5.50%	à		1+Gp	1.055							
Tasa de Interé	s 1.66666667%	Mensual		/m)_Gg -0.0	038333333							
		• •		x(i/m))An 1.	179738755							
	$[(1+4)^{n}-0]$	$[+G\alpha)^n$	(1	+Gg))An 1.	708144458	Ma = Rt	$(1+\frac{i}{m})^n$ -	$-(1+Gg)^n$				
$Mg_g = Rp_1(1 + (i$	$(m)) \frac{(1+m)}{(\frac{1}{m}-G)}$	ry og / rg)	Re	(1:(i/m) 10	16.666667	$mg_g - Rp$	$\left(\frac{i}{m}-\right)$	-Gg)				
Managera	\$ 14.014.24	1				Magneta	\$ 13,784.5	ີ				
mission -		,				and a part of the						
		PREPAGABLE					POSPAG	ABLE				
Mas	Genera inte	ereses desde el p	rimer dia	Montos		Rp Rp	n.1	i/m N	Ind			
HICS	кр		=Rp	(1+(i/m)^n 14.014.24		\$ 12,875.35		5	13,784.50			
	\$ 1,000.00	10	0.0166666667 \$	1,179.74		\$ 1,000.00		9 0.016666667 \$	1,160.40			
2	\$ 1,055.00	9	0.016666667 \$	1,224.22	Contract the same	\$ 1,055.00	New LIGHT COUTE	8 0.016666667 \$	1,204.15	Control I I I I I I		
	λ 🖸 ∑	SF, (ê 🏮 🕅 🛛	2 🚺 🖄	Sadience Anthreaco	vruturo / uradience Antin	etto_vPRESENTE	o oeumetrico - oradient	te geometrico_VF /	ES	* * * * * *	11:37 a.m. .al 21/08/2014

Fig. 3. Excel spreadsheet for gradients Source: own

This sort of templates vary depending on the design that each student gives to the simulator, in the same template a series of icons are imbedded and when clicked an instruction is opened for the filling of data. For instance, in the simulator shown on Figure 3, the icons \diamondsuit appear and when they are clicked, a menu is opened to use the tool.

Guide for the use of Financial Simulator.

- 1. Use the Arithmetic Gradient formula for Future Value.
- 2. Introduce in the box "Rate" the given interest rate.
- 3. Choose if the rate is yearly, monthly.
- 4. Choose the type of interest, if it is ordinary or exact (remember that for an exact

calculation there are 365 days and for an ordinary calculation, 360 days)

5. If you click on the symbol \diamondsuit a help message will be opened to present which data must be introduced in each field.

Other simulator model made in Java programming by the students who have taken the Financial Mathematics subject with the use of the techno-pedagogic model is shown next:



Fig. 4. Financial simulator in Java programming (own)

Final considerations

The field of Mathematics is very wide, in fact, it could be said that it is present in every activity of human beings, its use and application in daily life has aided scientific and technological development. Likewise, it has also represented an obstacle for a large part of the population during their academic training, which goes from basic education to graduate or post-graduate levels, since its apparent rejection can be said to be due to being poorly understood by those who are students at the time.

Regarding Mathematics, some reflections can be taken from an interesting interview done by Villafrades (2016) to professor Dúwamg Alexis Prada M., a known figure in the teaching of Mathematics, specifically in the subjects of algebra, differential calculus, integral calculus, multivariate calculus, differential equations, analytic geometry, geometry and trigonometry, Mathematics applied to microbiology, Mathematics for biologists, topology for mathematicians.

For professor Dúwamg, Mathematics is a beautiful language that starts from the abstract to make inferences in several branches of knowledge, thus, allowing the approach of study phenomena by using models and theorems, and therefore, contributing to the explanations required from all society activities.

This reflection is relevant when we speak about the importance of being able to contextualize each of the models used for the teaching of Mathematics, because beyond presenting it in its abstract form, it is advisable to relate it to real and tangible cases that are present in the context, searching for a logical explanation.
The knowledge disciplines of Economy and Finances are, among others, a very demanding field of Mathematics application, hence the importance of understanding that Mathematics are present in daily life, in everything we see around us, it will always be present at a time or activity when we need a calculation, even if we do not use complex formulas or specific algebra equations.

"In the language of mathematics, equations are like poetry: They state truths with a unique precision, convey volumes of information in rather brief terms, and often are difficult for the uninitiated to comprehend. And just as conventional poetry helps us to see deep within ourselves, mathematical poetry helps us to see far beyond ourselves-if not all the way up to heaven, then at least out to the brink of the visible universe."

Michael Guillen – Five equations that changed the world:

The power and poetry of Mathematics

7. Acknowledgement

Our eternal gratitude goes to Jésica J. Ramos-Hernández for all her support. To UCC Business School for its support to carry out this work and finally our gratitude goes to the reviewers for all suggestions to improve the paper.

References

Barbin, 1997 – *Barbin, E.* (1997). Histoire et enseignement des mathematiques: Pourquoi? Comment? *Bulletin AMQ*, 37(1), 20-25.

Bell, 1985 – Bell, E.T. (1985). Historia de las Matemáticas. Fondo de Cultura Económica, México.

Benítez et al., 2011 – *Benítez, M.D., Cruces, E.M., Sarrión, M.D.* (2011). El papel de la plataforma virtual de enseñanza en la docencia presencial de asignaturas de Estadística. *Revista de Formación e Innovación Educativa Universitaria,* 4(1), 1-12.

Bernabé, Adell, 2006 – *Bernabé, I., Adell, J.* (2006). Moodle como entorno para el desarrollo de actividades WebQuest en la enseñanza superior. Departamento de Educación Universitat Jaume I. *Moodlemoot Spain*.

Bidwell, 1993 – Bidwell, J. (1993). Humanize Your Classroom with the History of Mathematics. The Mathematics Teacher. An Official Journal of the National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, 86(6), 461-64.

Boyer, 1949 – Boyer, C. (1949). History of the Calculus and its conceptual development. Courier Corporation, New York.

Boyer, 1986 – Boyer, C. (1986). Historia de las Matemáticas. Alianza Universidad Textos (AUT/94), Madrid.

Chávez, Salazar, 2006 – *Chávez B.E., Salazar S.J.* (2006). El papel y algunas condiciones para la utilización de la Historia de la Matemática como recurso metodológico en los procesos de enseñanza-aprendizaje de la Matemática. Ponencia presentada en el I Congreso de la Enseñanza de la Matemática, UNED, España. Retrieved from: http://www.uned.ac.cr/MemEncMate/ponencias procesoE.htm (Consulted on April, 2017).

Clinard, 1993 – Clinard, M. (1993). "Enseignement et histoire des mathematiques". Plot. Bulletin des Regionales APMEP de Poitiers, Limoges et Orleans- Tours. (64-65), 8-11.

Costello, 2013 – Costello, E. (2013). Opening up to open source: looking at how Moodle was adopted in higher education. *Open Learning: The Journal of Open, Distance and e-Learning*, 28(3), 187-200.

Dougiamas, Taylor, 2002 – Dougiamas, M., Taylor, P.C. (2002, July). Interpretive analysis of an internet-based course constructed using a new courseware tool called Moodle. In *2nd Conference of HERDSA. The Higher Education Research and Development Society of Australasia.* pp. 7-10.

Dougiamas, Taylor, 2003 – Dougiamas, M.: Taylor, P.C. (2003) Moodle: Using Learning Communities to Create an Open Source Course Management System. Proceedings of the EDMEDIA 2003 Conference, Honolulu, Hawaii. Retrieved from: https://dougiamas.com/archives/edmedia2003/

Ernest, 1998 – *Ernest, P.* (1998). The history of Mathematics in the classroom. *Mathematics in School*, 27, (4), 25-31.

Feierabend, 1960 – *Feierabend, R.L.* (1960). Review of research on psychological problems in mathematics education. *Cooperative Research Monograph*, 3, 3-46.

Fauvel, 1991 – Fauvel, J. (1991). Using History in Mathematics Education. For the Learning of Mathematics, 11, (2), 3-6.

Fauvel, van Maanen, 1997 – *Fauvel, J., van Maanen, J.* (1997). The role of the history of mathematics in the teaching and learning of mathematics. *ZDM*, 29(4), 138-140.

Fennema, Sherman, 1976 – *Fennema, E., Sherman, J.A.* (1976). Fennema-Sherman mathematics attitudes scales: Instruments designed to measure attitudes toward the learning of mathematics by females and males. *Journal for research in Mathematics Education*, 7(5), 324-326.

Furinghetti, 1997 – *Furinghetti, F.* (1997). History of mathematics, mathematics education, school practice: Case studies in linking different domains. *For the learning of mathematics*, 17(1), 55-61.

Furinghetti, Somaglia, 1998 – *Furinghetti, F., Somaglia, A.* (1998). History of Mathematics in school across disciplines. *Mathematics in school*, 27, (4), 48-51.

García Aretio, 2003 – García Aretio, L. (2003). Comunidades de aprendizaje en entornos virtuales: La comunidad iberoamericana de la CUED. La tecnología educativa en la educación superior, 171-199.

Garcia-Santillán, Edel, 2008 – Garcia-Santillán, A., Edel, R. (2008). Education-learning of the financial mathematics from the computer science platforms (Simulation with ICT). Main Theme: Application of ICT (information and communications technologies), in education-learning process. In *Annual Meeting Nova Southeastern University "Beyond the Classroom" Fischler School of Education & Human Service. NOVA EDUC*, pp. 17-19.

García-Santillán et al., 2010 – *García-Santillán A., Edel, R., Escalera, M.* (2010). "La enseñanza de la matemática financiera: Un modelo didáctico mediado por TIC". Universidad de Málaga ISBN-13:978-84-693-9739-8. Registro en la Biblioteca Nacional de España N^o 11/4918. Retrieved from: http://www.eumed.net/libros/2010f/867/index.htm

García González, Juárez López, 2011 – García González, M.S., Juárez López, J.A. (2011). Revisión del constructo actitud en Educación Matemática: 1959-1979. UNION Revista Iberoamericana de Educación Matemática, (26), 117-125.

Galbraith, Haines, 2000 – *Galbraith, P., Haines, C.* (2000). Mathematics-computing Attitudes Scales. Monographsin Continuing Education. London: City University.

Gil et al., 2006 – *Gil, N., Guerrero, E., Blanco, L.* (2006). El dominio agectivo en el aprendizaje de las Matematicas. *Revista Electronica de Investigación Psicoeducativa*, 4(1), 47-72.

Godino et al., 2003 – Godino, J. D., Batanero, C., Vicenç, F. (2003). Fundamentos de la enseñanza y el aprendizaje de las matemáticas para maestros. Universidad de Granada. Retrieved from: http://www.pucrs.br/famat/viali/tic_literatura/livros/fundamentos.pdf

Goldenberg, 2000 – *Goldenberg, E.P.* (2000). Thinking (and talking) about technology in math classrooms. *Issues in Mathematics Education*, 1-8.

Gómez-Chacón, 2010 – *Gómez-Chacón, I.M.* (2010). Actitudes de los estudiantes en el aprendizaje de la matemática con tecnología. *Enseñanza de las ciencias: revista de investigación y experiencias didácticas*, 28(2), 227-244.

González-Urbaneja, 2004 – *González-Urbaneja*, *P*. (2004). La historia de las matemáticas como recurso didáctico e instrumento para enriquecer culturalmente su enseñanza. *Suma: Revista sobre enseñanza y aprendizaje de las matemáticas*, (45), 17-28.

Hagel, Armstrong, 1997 – Hagel, J., Armstrong, A.G. (1997). Net Gain: Expanding Markets through Virtual Communities. *The McKinsey Quarterly*, (1), 140.

Hair et al., 1979 – *Hair, J., Anderson, R., Tatham, R.* (1979). Multivariate Data Analysis: With Readings. Tulsa, Oklahoma: PPC Books.

Hitt, 1998 – *Hitt, F.* (1998). Visualización matemática, representaciones, nuevas tecnologías y currículum. *Revista educación matemática*, *10*(2), 23-45. Retrieved from: http://www.revista-educacion-matematica.org.mx/descargas/Vol10/2/03Hitt.pdf

Hunter, 2002 – *Hunter, J.* (2002). Design and support strategies for learning in virtual communities of practice (Doctoral dissertation). University Athabasca, Alberta.

Jonassen et al., 1999 – Jonassen, D.H., Peck, K.L., Wilson, B.G. (1999). Learning with technology: A constructivist perspective. Columbus, OH: Prentice Hall.

Lewis, 2006 – *Lewis, P.* (2006). Spreadsheet Magic. Retrieved from: http://www.edu teka.org/HojaCalculo2.php [Consulted on March 24th, 2013].

Lupiánez, Moreno, 2001 – Lupiánez, J., Moreno, L. (2001). Tecnología y representaciones semióticas en el aprendizaje de las matemáticas. In P. Gómez; L. Rico (Eds.), *Iniciación a la investigación en didáctica de la matemática. Homenaje al profesor Mauricio Castro*, pp. 291-300. Granada: Editorial Universidad de Granada. Retrieved from: https://goo.gl/mEzTii

Maz et al., 2012 – *Maz, A., Bracho, R., Jiménez, N., Adamuz, N.* (2012). El foro en la plataforma Moodle: un recurso de la participación cooperativa para el aprendizaje de las matemáticas. *Revista de Educación Mediática y TIC*, 2 (1), 30-47.

Mendoza-Cárdenas, 2015 – *Mendoza-Cárdenas, E.* (2015). Potencial Formativo de las Comunidades Virtuales de Aprendizaje en la Enseñanza de la Estadística. *Revista Iberoamericana para la Investigación y el Desarrollo Educativo ISSN: 2007-2619*, (10). Retrieved from: http://eprints.uanl.mx/8259/1/m6_2.pdf

Moreno, Waldegg, 1992 – *Moreno, L., Waldegg, G.* (1992). Constructivismo y educación matemática. *Educación Matemática*, 4(02), 7-15.

Moursund, 1999 – *Moursund*, *D*. (1999). Project-Based Learning Using Information Technology. Retrieved from: https://goo.gl/fbbBjf

Moursund, 2003 – Moursund, D. (2003). Editorial: The Spreadsheet. *Revista Learning & Leading with Technology*, 26, (5). Retrieved from: http://www.iste.org/LL

Murugan, 1995 – Murugan, U. (1995). Using history of Mathematics in the senior primary phase. *Pythagoras*, 38, 7-13.

Niess, 1998 – *Niess, M.L.* (1998). Using Computer Spreadsheets To Solve Equations. *Learning & Leading with Technology*, 26(3), 22-24.

Núnez, Servat, 1998 – *Núnez, J., Servat, J.* (1998). Los recursos históricos en la educación matemática: el tratado de Alarifes de Diego López de Arenas. *Educación Matemática*, 10(2) 121-132.

Pazos et al., 2001 – Pazos, M., Pérez, A., Salinas, J. (2001). Comunidades virtuales: de las listas de discusión a las comunidades de aprendizaje. Retrieved from: http://www.uib.es/depart/gte/eduteco1/edutec/comunic/TSE63.html

Pizzamiglio, 1992 – *Pizzamiglio, P.* (1992). Ruolo didattico della storia della Matematica. Parte I. La storia della Matematica a servizio della didattica. *IMSI*, 15(5), 287-300.

Rheingold, 1996 – *Rheingold, H.* (1996). La comunidad virtual. Una sociedad sin fronteras, Barcelona, Gedisa.

Rheingold, 2001 – *Rheingold, H.* (2001). Mobile virtual communities. *The feature, 9.* Retrieved from: http://www.rheingold.com (Consulted on January 21st, 2013).

Roca, 1991 – Roca, J. (1991). Percepción: Usos y teorías. Esports, 25(9), 9-14.

Russ, 1991 – Russ, S. (1991). The Experience of History in Mathematics Education. For the Learning of Mathematics, 11(2), 7-16.

Salinas, 2003 – Salinas, J. (2003). Comunidades virtuales y aprendizaje digital. *CD-ROM Edutec*, 54(2), 1-21. Retrieved from: http://www.edutec.es

Salinas, 2010 – Salinas, J. (2010). El uso de la historia de las matemáticas para el aprendizaje de la geometría en alumnos del bachillerato. In M.M. Moreno, A. Estrada, J. Carrillo, & T.A. Sierra, (Eds.), *Investigación en educación matemática XIV* (pp. 557-568). Sociedad Española de Investigación en Educación Matemática, SEIEM.

Santos, 2001 – Santos, M. (2001). Potencial didáctico del software dinámico en el aprendizaje de las matemáticas. Avance y perspectiva, 20, 247-258. Retrieved from: https://goo.gl/esgppM

Tarín, 1997 – *Tarín, L.* (1997). El aprendizaje en las organizaciones: de la formación a las organizaciones que aprenden. *Alta dirección*, 191, 8-16.

Toumasis, 1995 – *Toumasis, C.* (1995). Let's put history into our Mathematics classroom. *Mathematics in School*, 24(2), 18-19.

Vidal Cortés, Quintanilla Gatica, s/f – Vidal Cortés, R., Quintanilla Gatica, M. (s/f). La historia de la matemática y su incorporación en el aula. Una síntesis de algunas propuestas. Retrieved from: https://goo.gl/JiymR5 Villafrades Torres, 2016 – *Villafrades Torres, R.* (2016). Interview with Dúwamg Alexis Prada Marín. Las matemáticas y su importancia en nuestra vida. Retrieved from: https://goo.gl/gfvP7K

Wallace, 2001 – Wallace, P. (2001). La psicología de Internet. Barcelona, Paidós.

Williamson, Kaput, 1999 – Williamson, S., Kaput, J. (1999). Mathematics and virtual culture: an evolutionary perspective on technology and Mathematics education. *Journal of Mathematical Behavior*, 17(21), 265-281. Retrieved from: https://link.springer.com/article/ 10.1023/A:1003590914788



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 485-497 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.485 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Analysis of Scientific and Educational Space of the Arctic Zone of the Russian Federation and its Contribution to Social and Economic Development

Alexander M. Gorokhov ^a, Konstantin S. Zaikov ^b, Nikolai A. Kondratov ^b, ^{*}, Michail Yu. Kuprikov ^c, Nikita M. Kuprikov ^d, Alexander M. Tamickij ^b

^a Russian Academy of national economy and public administration associated with the President of Russian Federation, Moscow, Russian Federation

^bNorthern (Arctic) Federal University named after M.V. Lomonosov, Arkhangelsk, Russian Federation

^c Moscow Aviation Institute (National research university), Moscow, Russian Federation

^d Moscow Aviation Institute (National research university), ANO SIC «Polar Initiative», Moscow, Russian Federation

Abstract

Strategic documents on Russia's development define a transition to a knowledge economy and balanced spatial development, based on innovation and highly skilled human resources. At the present stage of the world economy development, various forms of ties in the scientific, educational, cultural and production spheres that form the scientific and educational space of the territory make a significant economic effect on the restoration and formation of the intellectual potential of the regions. The article describes the scientific and educational space of the Arctic zone of Russia. Specific examples show that in the subjects of the Russian Federation, science and education are unevenly developed. Formation of the scientific and educational space in the Russian Arctic continues. The analysis of this process is of great scientific and practical interest. The meaning of the study is to draw the attention of research organizations and industrial enterprises located both in the Russian Arctic and outside it to the possibility of common use of human, organizational and technical resources within clusters and other forms of interaction. The results of this study may be used by scientific and educational organizations, enterprises of the real sector of the economy, federal and regional executive authorities of the Arctic for the management solutions of the scientific and educational process, training personnel for the real sector of the economy, monitoring the current and prospective staffing needs of the Russian Arctic territories.

* Corresponding author E-mail addresses: n.kondratov@narfu.ru (N.A. Kondratov) **Keywords:** scientific and educational space, the Arctic zone of the Russian Federation, development strategy, innovations.

1. Introduction

Throughout the history of mankind, knowledge has been one of the factors of the economic development. The availability of qualifying resources is considered when choosing the location of enterprises in most sectors of the economy. New means of processing, transmitting and delivering information, communication networks and distance education have made procedures that seemed revolutionary 20 - 30 years ago routines. The terms "knowledge economy", "innovation economy", "knowledge society" and "information society" are used to determine the economy with a decisive role of knowledge and the introduction of research results is a source of social and economic development and technological progress.

In the Concept of Social and Economic Development of the Russian Federation for the period up to 2020, the transition to an innovative economic development and balanced spatial development is defined as a target. Intellectual potential is among the key factors of the transition: "The formation of an innovative economy means the transformation of the intellect, the creative potential of a man into the leading factor of economic growth and national competitiveness" (Koncepciya, ... 2008). At the moment, Russia at the beginning of the way to organizing the system that is supposed to stimulate the innovative development of the country. Education and organizing scientific research is of decisive importance. Meanwhile, Russia accounts for less than 2 % of global spending on research and development (R&D) at purchasing power parity. In terms of R&D expenditures, Russia spends 17 times less than the US, 12 times less than the EU, 6 times less than China, and 1.5 less than India. In terms of public R&D expenditures per capita (US \$ 86), Russia spends 4–5 times less compare to the leaders, and as for private expenses (\$ 40), it is 15–20 times. The effectiveness of Russian research organizations is much lower than in the leading countries (the US, Japan, China and the Republic of Korea). The share of innovative products in the total output is 8–9 %. The weak interaction of innovative development and research sector and the real sector of the economy remains. Almost no transfer of knowledge and technologies between the defense-industrial and civil sectors of the economy is observed. This hinders the use of high technology products of dual purpose (Leonidova, 2010). The accumulated organizational, financial and economic problems require an immediate solution.

2. Relevance

The Arctic issues of the first third of the 21st century remain in demand in the scientific, economic, social, humanitarian and political spheres. The Arctic is facing important changes that are global, long-term and multidirectional. They are developing against the backdrop of a lack of our knowledge of their nature and consequences. Is is especially true for the climate change and its resulting threat of the spatial development transformation of the vast Arctic macro-region.

Russia has made a significant contribution to the scientifically-based development of natural resources in the Far North and the Arctic. In the USSR, the development of the Arctic territories was started 30–40 years earlier than in other circumpolar countries. The expeditions organized in the USSR contributed to the solving the fundamental development tasks of the Earth and were used for the scientific and operational support of economic and defense activities in the Arctic.

After the collapse of the Soviet Union, due to the reduction of funding, staff shortages and depreciation of production funds, Russia lost the primacy in research made in the interests of social and economic development of the Far North. Expedition projects were frozen, funding for exploration and mining programs was cut, the renewal of the research fleet was stopped for a long time, and the infrastructure of scientific centers and weather stations – the key links in the weather monitoring in the Arctic – declined (Zaikov et al., 2016).

Restoration of the social and economic potential of the Arctic is the main goal of the Russian Arctic strategy adopted in 2013 (Strategiya razvitiya, 2013). The document is focused on increasing and concentrating competitive scientific knowledge, investments and production potential in the most promising areas, in centers that form the focus of social and economic efficiency in the Arctic zone of the Russian Federation (hereinafter – the Arctic zone, AZRF). The innovative scenario of the Strategy presupposes the modernization of the scientific and technical institutional environment, the development of knowledge-intensive infrastructure, the creation of production

for deep processing of natural resources aimed at obtaining products with high added value. According to this scenario, the pace of development of the Russian Arctic is supposed to be higher than the national average due to the megaprojects in the resource use, transport and communication spheres and high-skilled Arctic labor (Zajkov et al., 2017). It could be said that effective development of the Arctic zone of Russia is possible due to the integration of educational, scientific, technical and technological potentials into a single scientific and educational space (hereinafter – "SES").

3. Materials and methods

The methodological bases of the study are the works of Russian and foreign scientists in the field of study of the features of the territorial organization of science and education in Russia and the materials of surveys of heads of enterprises and educational institutions in the subjects of the Russian Arctic.

As a scientific term and an objective entity, space is an object of study for natural, humanitarian, economic and social sciences. The term "space" is associated with the definition of "territory". "The general scientific interpretation of the concept of "space"... is formulated within the framework of philosophy ... Space ... is understood as the universal form of being, inseparable from ... time ..." (Chistobaev, Gladkij, 2003). Theoretical aspects of spatial development are considered in the writings of British economists A. Smith and D. Riccardo. The scientific foundations of the spatial organization of the economy, the principles and factors of the location of productive forces are discussed by I. Thünen, A. Weber, F. Perroux, A.G. Granberg and P.A. Minaker. A significant stage in the study of spatial development was the work on determining the competitiveness factors of the countries by M. Porter, published at the turn of the 20th - 21st centuries. A definition by A.I. Chistobayev: "The dynamic social sphere, or socio-geographical space, considered as a time-space combination of social objects, phenomena and processes in conjunction with environment is especially distinguished ... So, the concept of "geographic space" integrates the territory and its social and economic content" (Mashbic, 1998). Geographical space is most often treated as a philosophic concept, as an objective, a universal and cognitive form of existence of geographic formations and objects within the geosphere (Chistobaev, Gladkij, 2003).

It should be noted that the universally recognized definition of SES does not exist. Such kind of issues are often addressed at the level of interstate and interregional categories. V.F. Baynev, V.A. Danilov, V.K. Shapovalov and D.A. Yagofarov prioritized the theoretical and applied aspects of the educational space. Its tasks are the formation and transfer of primary knowledge and the formation of a harmoniously developed personality. "In fact, the educational space is all the physical and legal persons of the region, the whole region, but in a certain aspect – in relation to education" (Novikov, 2000).

In the Russian scientific literature, the tasks of the scientific space include (Leonidova, 2010): - fundamental and applied scientific research;

- use and evaluation of scientific knowledge for the purpose of social and economic development and improving the safety of the population;

- coordination of research programs for the development of a unified educational and scientific policy;

- promotion of knowledge as a method of solving global social, economic and environmental problems.

The scientific and educational spaces are determined by geographic, natural and climatic features of the territory, depending on the level of their development, the composition of the population, its educational needs, culture, traditions and income level. Both types of spaces function at different levels: from local (municipal) to global and transboundary levels and have social functions. The degree of formation of these spaces is used to assess the state and trends of competitive development of countries and their regions (Leonidova, 2010).

The authors separate "educational space", "scientific space" and "scientific and educational space" for the purposes of the study. In relation to the theme of the article, different aspects depend on the perspective and disciplines they are subjected to. We consider SES from the position of its significance for the sustainable social and economic development of the Russian Arctic.

SES is a multi-level system. Levels are defined by the semantic context and the identification of elements related to each other, and include (Leonidova, 2010):

- educational bodies: general education, secondary vocational education (SVE), and higher professional education (HPE);

- research institutions;

- state bodies for the educational and scientific policy;

- enterprises – research customers, interacting with the SVE and HPE institutions, providing opportunities for internships and employment of graduates;

- innovation institutions (technology parks, business incubators, and implementation centers);

- cultural and educational institutions (museums and libraries).

The components of SES are characterized by specific approaches to training, scientific research, use of immovables and equipment localized on a certain territory. Such an understanding is primary and simplistic, because at the same time, the degree of interconnectedness of the elements and their cooperative effects are not determined. The elements are united by the commonality of their location. Transition to a higher level of SES research makes it important to analyze and consider specific factors, links and mechanisms of interaction between subjects that cause a synergistic effect from the development of the scientific and educational space. This level of development demonstrates the existence of clusters.

The main principles of SES are (Leonidova, 2010):

- coherence of actions of educational institutions of all levels located in the region;

- the continuity of education, ensuring the coordination of forms, types and technologies of instruction;

- a combination of theoretical and applied training (the applied bachelor study programs), focused on the current and future needs of the regional development;

- interrelation of educational and methodological support of training and research developments;

- the use of corporate principles in the regional educational space.

We define SES a highly organized type of environment consisting of interrelated components of the educational and scientific spaces, serving their infrastructure and elements of the production sector involved in the science and education, and using its results in the interests of sustainable social and economic development of a particular territory.

The study of SES in the Russian Arctic was carried out by the North (Arctic) Federal University named after M.V. Lomonosov (NArFU) in 2015–2016. The purpose of the study was to analyze the scientific and educational spaces in the Russian Arctic and to contribute to the information-analytical and methodological support of decision-making for the development of the state policy of Russia in the field of training and research activity in the Arctic.

In the study, we used the structural and functional approach and considered SES a multilevel system dependent on social, economic and demographic processes in the Arctic on national and international levels. In our opinion, the dependence is mutual.

The study of the SES in the Russian Arctic was carried out through the SES monitoring in the subjects of Russia that have a legal status of the land areas of the Arctic Zone of the Russian Federation in the Decree of the President of Russia (O suhoputnyh territoriyah, 2014). The study involved 203 educational institutions. 30 of them have Arctic study programs. Among these 30 institutions: 5 universities and 1 branch university are located on the territory of the Russian Arctic. The target group of the study: students of the Arctic graduate and undergraduate programs at the universities located in the Russian Arctic: the NArFU and the Northern State Medical University (NSMU, Arkhangelsk), the Murmansk Arctic State University (MASU) and the Murmansk State Technical University (MSTU). 3000 respondents participated in the questionnaire: 1500 1-year students and 1500 4–5-year bachelor or master students. The goal of the interviewers was to find the representatives for the target group, to invite them to participate in the survey, to complete it and to collect results.

To reduce the intersubjectivity in developing recommendations for executive bodies on scientific and personnel policy in the Russian Arctic in 2015–2016, several roundtables and seminars had been held within the framework of international and All-Russian scientific conferences in the NArFU: "Monitoring and Evaluation of the Development of the Arctic Territories", "Training for the Arctic: From Problems to Solutions", "The Arctic – National

Megaproject: manpower and scientific support", and international scientific forum "The Arctic: Present and Future – 2016".

4. Discussion

Analyzing the SES in the subjects of the Russian Arctic, we can conclude that it is not homogeneous. This is determined by different number of universities, scientific institutions, centers of applied research and consumers of their services. The Russian Arctic includes both entire subjects of the Russian Federation and their parts. This determines the localization of universities, scientific research and R&D, application of management technics, financing and other forms of state support.

Figure 1 shows the number of educational institutions with the Arctic study or research programs. Figure 2 shows Russian universities with the Arctic study programs.



Fig. 1. The number of educational institutions with the Arctic study programs in the subjects of the Russian Federation



number of students in Arctic programs



The total number of students trained within the Arctic study programs in educational institutions of Russia is 61 424 people. 54% are trained on a budgetary basis and 46% on a full-paid basis (See Figure 3).



Fig. 3. The number of students trained within the Arctic study programs in the subjects of the Russian Federation

The number of degree programs with the Arctic components is 227 (Figure 4).



Fig. 4. The number of degree programs with the Arctic components

In the Figure 4, bachelor's degree is the level with the maximum number of the Arctic programs and disciplines compare to the other training levels and the maximum number of students. The bachelor's degree programs are related to construction (4,521 students), oil and gas business (3,700 students), electricity (2095 students), metallurgy (2028 students), applied hydrometeorology (1342 students), pedagogics and jurisprudence (less than 1000 students). If we apply the same criterion to the specialist degree programs, we get the following list of the Arctic component: mining (4977 students), programs with applied geodesv (2858 students), medicine and pediatrics (2342 and 988 students respectively), and navigation (946 students). Master's degree programs with the Arctic component: metallurgy (805 students), oil and gas business (554 students), construction (196 students), ecology and environmental management (161 students), IT (153 students), and economics (128 students). Postgraduate courses with the Arctic focus: geosciences, biological sciences, medicine, geology, exploration and mining, shipbuilding and water transport. They are distinguished by the largest number of profiles and the number of students.

The monitoring showed that only 3.5 % of students within the Arctic study programs were trained under the target admission contracts, 4.3 % of students studied under target enrollment contracts in the universities located in the Russian Arctic. 3.2 % were trained under such admission contracts at the universities located outside the Russian Arctic. Low rates are usually perceived as an alarm. They indicate that educational institutions have little interaction with enterprises on target admission, incl. applied scientific, graduate and undergraduate programs.

According to official statistics, the number of universities, students, scientific institutions and employees differ in the subjects of the Russian Arctic (Table 1).

Subject of the Russian	MO	NAO	ChAO	YaNAO	AO	КК	RS(Ya)	KR
Number of higher	2	0	0	0	3	10	7	3
Number of branch higher							,	<u> </u>
educational institutions	16	0	2	16	8	29	18	11
Number of graduate and undergraduate students	20,4	0	0,5	5,6	25,7	96,1	30,4	24,5
R&D institutions	29	4	1	4	28	52	24	24
Number of staff engaged in R&D	2342	62	24	109	1045	7543	2250	1981

Table 1. Number of universities and scientific organizations and their quantity in the subjects of the Russian Arctic (incl. the subjects located outside the Russian Arctic)

Note: MO – the Murmansk oblast, AO – the Arkhangelsk oblast, KR – the Komi Republic, RS(Ya) – the Republic of Sakha (Yakutiya), KK – the Krasnoyarsk krai, NAO – the Nenets Autonomous District, ChAO – the Chukchi Autonomous District, YaNAO – the Yamal-Nenets Autonomous District.

The data in Table 1 proves the absence of higher educational institution in autonomous districts. The Nenets Autonomous District only has a branch institution of the NArFU. Therefore, training "on the ground" in order to meet the needs of local extractive industries is almost absent. In these subjects, a small number of R&D institutions are represented, compare to the other parts of the Arctic zone.

Even more noticeable is the differentiation of the Arctic territories in terms of the SES quantitative parameters. Table 2 presents calculated density indices of the scientific and educational space in relation to the area of the Russian Arctic.

Table 2. The density of some of the SES indexes of the subjects of the Russian Federation in relation to the territories of the Russian Arctic

Subject of the Russian Federation	Number of higher educa- tional institutions and their branches per 1000 km ²	Number of graduate and undergraduate students per 1000 km ²	Number of R&D institutions per 1000 km²	Number of staff engaged in R&D per 1000 km²
The Murmansk oblast	0,138	140,78	0,200	16,16
The Arkhangelsk oblast	0,029	62,21	0,068	2,53
NAO	0,000	0,00	0,023	0,35
ChAO	0,003	0,69	0,001	0,03
YaNAO	0,021	7,28	0,005	0,14
The Krasnoyarsk krai	0,016	40,60	0,022	3,19
The Republic of Sakha (Yakutia)	0,008	9,86	0,008	0,73
The Komi Republic	0,034	58,78	0,058	4,75

Table 2 represents the differentiation level of the scientific and educational space varies hundreds of times. E.g., between the autonomous districts and the Murmansk Oblast. It can be concluded that SES in the subjects of the Russian Arctic exists in the Murmansk oblast, the Arkhangelsk oblast, the Komi Republic and the Sakha (Yakutia). In all autonomous districts, it does not exist.

In order to analyze the next SES level, it is necessary to determine the conditions and mechanisms of interaction between the subjects.

72 % of the Arctic educational programs developed by the SVE and HPE institutions (not discussed here) use the resources of enterprises and other institutions (9%); management practices (73.6 %); and cooperation agreements (23.3 %) (Table 3).

Table 3. The Arctic educational programs in network interaction with companies

University	Number of the Arctic study programs	Number of the Arctic study programs that use the resources of the basic departments	Number of the Arctic study programs that use internship agreements	Number of the Arctic study programs that use other types of contracts and agreements
NArFU	8	13	132	21
Murmansk State Technical University	-	-	35	10
North-East Federal University named after M.K. Ammosov (NEFU)	-	-	139	-
MASU	-	-	-	10

Universities research in the interests of the employer. 45 % of the research topics are in the natural sciences, 41 % – technical, and 14 % – humanities. Nevertheless, a survey of the Russian Arctic enterprises revealed dissatisfaction with the cooperation in the training: enterprises are partners in 22 % of scientific projects (more than 40 % of scientific projects are completed together with the other universities (network projects) and 38 % – with the RAS institutions), 36% of the projects in higher education institutions are linked to megaprojects.

One of the effective forms of interaction between the education and enterprises is a network of applied programs. In the Russian Arctic, 12 universities work on the Arctic programs like that. The other form of interaction is the creation of a basic department. The NArFU branch in Severodvinsk and the enterprises "Arktika" and "Sevmash" organized basis departments of the ship and power engineering and ship life-cycle management with more than 700 students. The Shipyard "Krasnaya Kuznitsa" and "Zvezdochka" Ship Repair Center" support the NArFU Department of Informatics and Computer Technology (246 students). The Arkhangelsk pulp and paper mill (APPM) (Novodvinsk, Arkhangelsk oblast) and Sukhonsky pulp and paper mill (Sokol, Vologda oblast) created a basic department for chemistry students. The program "Technosphere security" is supported by the Federal Fire Service of the Arkhangelsk oblast that contributes to the activities of the Fire and Rescue Department of the university. It seems appropriate to organize the basic departments on hydrometeorology. In addition to the applied aspects of training, various cooperation (incl. expeditions) between the federal university and the territorial agency of Roshydromet could contribute to the assessments of climate change. This will also help the enterprises located both in the Arctic zone and to the south, improve the quality of hydrometeorological support for navigation along the Northern Sea Route, and ensure public safety (Caturov, Klepikov, 2012).

Clusters are the next level of the SES formation. The possibility of scientific and innovative economy based on clusters is proved by the experience of Northern Europe (Severnaya Evropa, 2008). Sweden, Norway and Finland are developing public-private partnerships with industrial enterprises, scientific, educational and public organizations, using international cooperation. The Nordic experience is worthwhile to study and to adopt to the Russian conditions, especially since it is successful (Zajkov et al., 2017). Clusters are being created in various territories of our country. They are based on the integration of educational and scientific organizations, medium and small businesses and resource corporations. Examples are the territorial and branch complex "Export and Import of Education", established in Tomsk in 2014, and a scientific and educational cluster with the participation of the Kazan Federal University.

The state systematically updates the scientific policy in the Arctic zone, bringing it in line with global trends in the development of education and fundamental and applied scientific research. These measures could be used to form clusters on the basis of universities, research centers and on the international basis. The last observation follows from the interdisciplinary nature of scientific research in the Arctic region. Scientific research and applied developments are created in the thematic groups of the University of the Arctic, the International Arctic Science Committee, the Spitsbergen scientific center, the BEAR working groups, the Arctic Council, and the Northern Dimension (Zaikov et al., 2016; The Arctic Council, 2016). Support of scientific and innovative activities is a goal for the RF Government Decree No. 218 April 9, 2010 "On measures of state support for the development of cooperation between Russian educational institutions of higher education, state scientific institutions and organizations implementing complex projects for the creation of high-tech production, within the framework of the subprogram "Institutional development of the research sector" of the state program "Development of science and technology 2013-2020" (Zajkov et al., 2017). Some clusters of the Russian Arctic are presented in Table 4.

Cluster	Subject	Key specialization	Number of participants	Number of employees, thousand people	Year	Developm ent level
Innovative territorial forestry cluster of the Arkhangelsk oblast "PomorInnovaLes"	The Arkhangelsk oblast	Forestry and woodworking, pulp and paper industry	31	20110	2014	Medium
Shipbuilding innovative territorial cluster of the Arkhangelsk oblast	The Arkhangelsk oblast	Shipbuilding	23	50417	2012	Medium
Tourist cluster of the Murmansk oblast	The Murmansk oblast	Tourism (entertainment, vacations, arts, sports)	116	-	2015	Initial
Tourist cluster "Severnaya Mozaika"	The Republic of Sakha (Yakutia)	Tourism (entertainment, vacations, arts, sports)	13	88	2011	Initial
Cluster of furniture, woodworking and related industries	The Re- public of Sakha (Yakutia)	Forestry and woodworking; pulp and paper production	11	78	2009	Initial

Table 4. Some clusters of the Russian Arctic

Clusters include educational, scientific organizations and enterprises of the real sector of the economy. The forestry cluster of the Arkhangelsk oblast includes logging, woodworking and pulpand-paper enterprises of the Arkhangelsk region, OJSC "Northern Maritime Shipping Company", OJSC "Arkhangelsk Commercial Sea Port", JSC "Solombala Machine-Building Plant", the SVE and HPE institutions (NArFU and Novodvinsk industrial school), R&D institutions (The Northern Forestry Research Institute, Arkhangelsk branch of "Roslesinforg" and JSC "Arkhgiprobum"). In 2012 the Arkhangelsk shipbuilding cluster was included in the federal list of innovative territorial clusters. This is the only example among the subjects of the Russian Arctic. The cluster was established in Severodvinsk and is based on the objects of the federal and regional scientific and industrial infrastructure (the SVE and HPE institutions, various research organizations (incl. the RAS institutes), centers for collective use of scientific equipment, and machine-building enterprises). Industrial enterprises design and manufacture devices for oil extraction on the Arctic shelf, testing the energy equipment adapted to the Arctic conditions and used in shipbuilding. Educational and scientific institutions together with the enterprises focus on knowledge-intensive research topics offered by enterprises, develop career-oriented activity, guarantee a workplace for students and graduates during and after training.

Currently, the "Pedagogical Cluster of the Arkhangelsk oblast", the "Social Cluster of the Arkhangelsk oblast" (together with NArFU), and a cluster for the extraction and processing of biological resources in the Arkhangelsk Region are under construction. Professional and educational clusters are considered a form of SES integration. In Yakutia, multidisciplinary research and educational complexes play an important role in the structure of technoparks, venture companies, universities and agencies for coordination of innovation activities. Since 2011, the program "Scientific, Technical and Innovative Development of the Republic of Sakha (Yakutia) 2012-2019" has been in action to form a scientific and innovative system that ensures sustainable social and economic development of the area (Zajkov et al., 2017). The Ministry of Health of Russia had been contributing to the creation of medical clusters in the Russian Arctic since 2015 (Order

No. 844 November 26, 2015 "On the Organization of Work on the Formation of Scientific and Educational Medical Clusters"). E.g., scientific and educational medical clusters of the North-Western Federal District "Severny" (with the NSMU participation) and the Siberian Federal District cluster "Sibirsky". A similar cluster was created on the basis of the Far Eastern Federal District ("Vostochny").

5. Conclusion

We should note the strategic long-term documents for the development of the Arctic zone of the Russian Federation, the Strategy for Scientific and Technological Development of the Russian Federation (approved by the President of Russia in 2016) and etc. define the tasks of transforming science and technology into a driving force of economic development. In other words, it is a transition to a knowledge economy, a balanced spatial development based on innovations, developed infrastructure and highly skilled labor.

The analysis of the monitoring results revealed the inequality of SES in the subjects of the Russian Arctic. It is possible to define the leaders (the Murmansk oblast and the Arkhangelsk oblast) and the outsiders (all autonomous districts) in terms of the SES development. The Arctic educational programs in the subjects of the Russian Arctic function due to the interaction of universities and their branches with companies that operate in the Arctic.

The assessment of the SES of the subjects of the Russian Arctic could be displayed with the help of a strategic management system and the SWOT-analysis in particular. The result of its application for the purposes of our study is presented in Table 5.

Competitive advantages (strengths)	Opportunities of the external environment
 special demand for skilled labor at existing enterprises and high-tech industries; the interest of state authorities in the implementation of cluster policy in the Arctic; presence of federal universities that develop educational standards and programs with the Arctic focus and a set of the "Arctic" competencies on the territory of the Russian Arctic; availability of specialized training programs (educational standards); obtaining the "Arctic" professional competencies and improving skills with the use of distance technologies; exchange (incl. international) of competencies, technologies, innovations, etc.; development of a consortium of the Arctic scientific and educational institutions. 	 diversification of the Arctic economy of Russia in accordance with the priorities of the world Arctic development; the emergence of new productions on the territory of the Russian Arctic, incl. high- tech; involvement of economic entities in the Arctic cluster network; creation of cluster-forming centers at the universities – integration points of the scientific and educational potential of the region; development of production sites and business incubators; additional activation of scientific and educational initiatives with the prospect of creating interregional clusters; attraction of investments to the region, incl. state programs and public-private partnerships in various sectors; renovation of the production based on R&D infrastructure projects.
Internal constraints (weak sides)	External environmental challenges
 high level of differentiation of SES quantitative characteristics in the subjects of the Russian Arctic; 	 deterioration of the foreign policy and economic situation in the Russian Federation;

Table 5. SWOT- analysis of the SES in the subjects of the Russian Arctic

_	professional and qualitative imbalance of	_	outflow of highly qualified personnel;
	supply and demand in the labor market;	_	lack of investment in the cluster
_	lagging behind the training of scientific and		development of the Arctic;
	pedagogical workers from the requirements	_	low innovative activity of business in the
	of entrepreneurs;		areas – parts of the Russian Arctic.
_	decline in the working-age population;		-
_	low activity and interaction of the Arctic		
	scientific research institutions in Russia.		

The long-term development of the Russian Arctic continues in the support zones and it will be of a project nature (Pilyasov, 2011). Therefore, it seems advisable to more actively include higher education institutions in the development of equipment and technologies, considering ongoing and promising large-scale mega-projects, as well as plans for the development of support zones and zones of priority state support in the Arctic (Golovchin, Solov'eva, 2012). Today, the universities located in the Russian Arctic keep almost a half of their Arctic programs due to the use of business resources (Petrov et al., 2018).

Cluster policy is of great importance for SES in the Russian Arctic. It is expressed in integration of education, science and industrial enterprises of various profiles: from engineering to the social ones. Such activities are carried out to satisfy the needs of the basic industries in highly qualified personnel capable of ensuring long term sustainable social and economic development of the Russian Arctic, based on innovation and progressive technological solutions (Zamjatina, Piljasov, 2018; Govorova, 2018).

6. Appreciation

We would like to tell a lot of thanks for financial support of our research to Federal Program "Research and development in priority areas of development of the scientific and technological complex of Russia for 2014 – 2020". The agreement № 14.571.21.0011 from 23.10.2017.

References

Koncepciya, 2008 – Koncepciya dolgosrochnogo socialno-ekonomicheskogo razvitiya Rossijskoj Federacii do 2020 goda (utverzhdena Rasporyazheniem Pravitelstva RF ot 17 noyabrya 2008 goda № 1662) [The concept of long-term social and economic development of the Russian Federation until 2020 (approved by the Order of the Government of the Russian Federation of November 17, 2008 No. 1662)] [Electronic resource]. URL: http://docs.cntd.ru/document /902130343 (accessed: 12.07.2017).

Leonidova, 2010 – *Leonidova, G.V.* (2010). Teoriya i praktika formirovaniya nauchnoobrazovatel'nogo prostranstva [Theory and practice of the scientific and educational space formation]. Vologda: ISERT RAS.

Zaikov et al., 2016 – Zajkov, K.S., Kalinina, M.R., Kondratov, N.A., Tamitskij, A.M. (2016). Strategicheskie prioritety nauchnyh issledovanij Rossii i zarubezhnyh gosudarstv v arkticheskom regione. [Strategic priorities of scientific research in Russia and foreign countries in the Arctic region] *Arktika: ekologiya i ekonomika*, 3: 29-37.

Strategiya razvitiya, 2013 – Strategiya razvitiya Arkticheskoj zony Rossijskoj Federacii i obespecheniya nacionalnoj bezopasnosti na period do 2020 goda (utverzhdena Prezidentom Rossii v 2013 godu) [The strategy for the development of the Arctic zone of the Russian Federation and ensuring national security for the period until 2020 (approved by the President of Russia in 2013)]. [Electronic resource]. URL: http://government.ru/info/ (accessed: 22.02.2014).

Zajkov et al., 2017 – Zaikov, K.S., Kalinina, M.R., Kondratov, N.A., Tamitskij, A.M. (2017). Innovacionnyj vektor ehkonomicheskogo razvitiya severnyh i arkticheskih territorij Rossii i stran Severnoj Evropy [Innovative vector of economic development of the northern and arctic territories of Russia and the countries of Northern Europe]. *Ekonomicheskie i socialnye peremeny: fakty, tendencii, prognoz,* Vol. 10, 3: 59–77.

Gladkij, Chistobaev, 2003 – *Gladkij, Yu.N., Chistobaev, A.I.* (2003). Regionovedenie. [Regional studies]. Moscow: Gardariki.

Mashbic, 1998 – *Mashbic, Ya.G.* (1998). Kompleksnoe stranovedenie. [Complex regional geography]. Smolensk: Izd-vo SGU.

Novikov, 2000 – *Novikov, A.M.* (2000). Rossijskoe obrazovanie v novoj ehpohe. [Russian education in a new era]. Moscow: Nauka.

O suhoputnyh territoriyah, 2014 – O suhoputnyh territoriyah Arkticheskoj zony Rossijskoj Federacii. Ukaz Prezidenta Rossii ot 2 maya 2014 g. № 296 [On the land territories of the Arctic zone of the Russian Federation. Decree of the President of Russia May 2, 2014 No. 296]. [Electronic resource]. URL: http://www.kremlin.ru/acts/bank/38377 (accessed: 22.07.2014).

Caturov, Klepikov, 2012 – *Caturov, Yu.S., Klepikov, A.V.* (2012). Sovremennoe izmenenie klimata Arktiki: rezultaty novogo ocenochnogo doklada Arkticheskogo Soveta (2012). [Modern climate change in the Arctic: results of the new assessment report of the Arctic Council]. *Arktika: ekologiya i ekonomika*, 4(8): 76–81.

Severnaya Evropa, 2008– Severnaya Evropa. Region novogo razvitiya [A region of new development] (2008) / ed. Yu.M. Deryabin, N.M. Antoshina. Moscow: Ves' mir".

The Arctic Council, 2016 – *The Arctic Council*. [Electronic resource]. URL: http://www.arctic-council.org (acessed: 22.07.2016).

Pilyasov, 2011 – *Pilyasov, A.N.* (2011). Prognoznoe razvitie rossijskoj Arktiki: transformaciya prostranstva, vneshnie svyazi, uroki zarubezhnyh strategij [Forecast development of the Russian Arctic: the transformation of space, external relations, lessons from foreign strategies]. *Arktika: ekologiya i ekonomika*, 2: 10–17.

Golovchin, Solov'eva, 2012 – Golovchin, M.A., Solov'eva, T.S. (2012). Uroven' razvitiya nauchno-obrazovatelnogo prostranstva v regionah Rossii. [The level of development of the scientific and educational space in the regions of Russia]. *Ekonomicheskie i socialnye peremeny: fakty, tendencii, prognoz*, 5 (23): 197–205.

Petrov et al., 2018 – *Petrov, A.N., Zbeed, S.O., Kavin, F.A.* (2018). Arkticheskaja ekonomika znanij: geograficheskie aspekti proizvodstva novih znanij i tehnologij v Arktike. [Arctic knowledge economy: geographical aspects of new knowledge and technology production in the Arctic]. *Arctica i Sever*, 30: 5–22.

Zamjatina, Piljasov, 2018 – *Zamjatina, N.Yu., Piljasov, A.N.* (2018). Novaja teorija osvoenija (prostranstva) Arktiki i Severa: polimashtabniy mezhdisplinarniy sintez. [New theory of Arctic and North development (space): multi-scale interdisciplinary synthesis]. *Arctica i Sever,* 31: 5–27.

Govorova, 2018 – *Govorova, N.V.* (2018). Chelovecheskij kapital – kljuchevoy aktiv hozjajstvennogo osvoenija arkticheskih territorij. [Human capital is a key asset of economic development of the Arctic territories]. *Arctica i Sever,* 31: 52–61.



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 498-510 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.498 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Scales SACERS: Results of the Study of the Educational Environment of Moscow Schools

Elena V. Ivanova ^a, Irina A. Vinogradova ^a,*

^a Moscow City University, Moscow, Russian Federation

Abstract

The relevance of the study is determined by a need to identify areas for assessment in the quality of education, plus options for evaluating these educational qualities through an assessment of their educational environment. The of the study is to examine options for the application of international SACERS scales. This is in order to assess the educational environment of Russian schools in general, and also to identify the educational environment of schools in the Moscow region. Methods of research: The leading method for the study of this issue is through observation via the use of SACERS scales. Results of the study: The authors of the study have proved - as well as experimentally demonstrated - the potential for using the SACERS scales as a tool for assessing the educational environment of Moscow schools. The features of this specific educational environment were also revealed. Practical significance: The data obtained using the SACERS scales reveal the content characteristics of an educational environment, set the criteria for its development and can become the basis for designing the educational environment of other specific educational organisations. Assessment of the educational environment, using the SACERS scales and its data, can be used in the method of assessment and management of the quality of education.

Keywords: quality of education, educational environment, assessment of the educational environment, SACERS scales.

1. Introduction

The priority and ultimate aim of Russia's state policy in the sphere of education is the provision of, and access to, quality education for all citizens regardless of their place of residence or social status.

In this regard, the question arises: What do we mean by the term 'quality of education'?

The quality of education is evaluated by assessing a complex series of characteristics which involve the educational activity and training of the trainee, plus measurement of the degree of

* Corresponding author E-mail addresses: vinogradov.ir@yandex.ru (I.A. Vinogradova) compliance with federal state educational standards, educational standards, federal state requirements and (or) the needs of the individual, or legal entity, in whose interests educational activities are carried out. Also included is the degree of achievement of the planned results educational program (Federal Law...).

Counting the quality of education as an integral characteristic, we are talking, foremost, about the quality of the result, the quality of the conditions, the quality of the process, and the quality of the management of education.

The concept of 'quality of education' involves varied content, depending upon whether drawn from the position of the state, the educational organization, or students. At the state level, education is qualitative if it allows implementation of the chosen strategy for the development of the economy and society. At educational organisation level it involves the correspondence of the results of training to the requirements of FGOS. Then at the level of the consumers of educational services (trainees, parents) it is primarily about the conformity of the results of training to the requirements of employers and the labour market. For employers the quality of education, initially, is related to the level of professional competence shown by the graduates.

Diversity in the methods of interpretation when dealing with issues involving the quality of education make it difficult to achieve a high level of accuracy. Therefore, to best enable the development of a successful education strategy, a coordinated assessment of the quality of education is necessary. This should take into account the interests of all stakeholders (trainees, parents, educational organisations) in order to reveal any shortcomings that may exist in educational activity and implementation.

The results of studies of the policies of educational institutions are of great interest in, and importance to, the understanding of the quality of educational services, particularly to the leaders of educational organisations and in their implementation of managerial strategies (The Policy of Educational...). Furthermore, survey data collected from school principals shows that receiving the approval of the school populace is more influenced by popularity / prominence among the city's general population (k = 0.86, with the maximum k - 1), a high percentage of graduates who go on to enrol at university (k = 0.82), high ratings among trainees and their parents (k = 0.82), the appointment of renowned managers and educators (k = 0.80), the number of graduates with a high score of USE (k = 0.80), the quality of facilities and equipment essential to the needs of a modern educational institution (k = 0.79), high achievements of students in Olympiads and other competitions (k = 0.77), diversity in profile training programs (k = 0.74), the variety of additional training programs (k = 0.73), and school transport accessibility (k = 0.70).

The data contained in the survey of heads of educational organisations suggests full agreement with the criteria and indicators that refer to the contribution made by educational organisations to the quality education of Moscow schoolchildren. These concern the pass results attained by students of different levels of diagnostics; development of the talents of students; the effectiveness of pre-school groups; prevention of transgressions and misdemeanours; work carried out with students who require special educational needs; the effectiveness of the city's sociocultural resources in training; professional skills and the further development of professional skills; the development of large scale participation in amateur sports (Development and Methodology ...).

The listed criteria for the quality of education should be considered in the following context and conditions: first, dynamics, and secondly, with regard to the quality of the resources provided and with which the educational results were achieved.

These contexts are consistent with the results of research carried out by G.A. Yastrebova, A.R. Bessudnova, M.A. Pinskaya and S.G. Kosaretsky. In their works it was shown that the academic achievements of students - which are taken into account when drawing up the ratings of schools - consistently differ in educational establishments due to different personnel, different material support and a differing social composition of schoolchildren (Yastrebov et al., 2013).

In a number of foreign works (Bourdieu, Passeron, 1970; Coleman, 1966) and also domestic studies (Agranovich, 2008; Konstantinovsky, Voznesenskaya, 2011; Pinskaya et al., 2011; Bochenkov, Valdman, 2013; Bolotov, Valdman, 2013; Yastrebov et al., 2014; Derbishinir, Pinskaya, 2016), researchers have examined the quality of education in connection with the problems of socioeconomic inequality. These studies point to the illegitimacy of determining the effectiveness of an individual organisation, or an entire educational system, outside of their social and economic context (Yastrebov et al., 2014). The inclusion of contextual data in the quality management system

of education allows us to develop an effective and balanced policy that allows emerging problems to be responded to and adequately addressed (Yastrebov et al., 2014).

In many countries (Australia, United Kingdom, USA, Chile), the overall performance of an individual school is assessed by taking into account contextual information (data on the age, ethnicity and socio-economic composition of students). This strategy was used by Russian scientists in the study of the educational infrastructure index of Russian regions (Index of educational...). The quality of the modern educational infrastructure is seen as "a complex of interconnected systems, facilities, activities, resources and means that make up and / or provide the basis for the functioning of the entire education system and each educational organisation" (Index of educational...).

The data obtained from study of the educational infrastructure of the subjects of the Russian Federation at the pre-school, general school, secondary school, supplementary and professional levels of education show that the most developed elements are: the material and technical equipment available to additional and professional areas of education; the regional educational network of pre-school and additional education, plus staffing of additional education services. The index of general education in the country is one of the lowest rated. At the same time, the research notes an uneven development of the varied elements that make up the educational infrastructure. The widest dispersion of regional values is observed in: staffing of professional and pre-school education; the provision of conditions and facilities with which to deliver quality education for disabled students – particularly at the level of general and additional education; and finally the presence of a regional educational network at vocational education level (Index of educational...).

Based upon the requirements of the FGOS – with regard to conditions for the implementation of educational programs at preschool and general education levels – a qualitatively-built educational infrastructure pre-supposes the provision of personnel for information-methodological and psychological-pedagogical methods, plus the necessary material and technical support of educational organisations. Such resources hugely enhance the possibility of obtaining a quality education.

The problems associated with efforts to improve the quality of education through assessment are reflected in a large number of publications. These include various monitoring and diagnostic studies on the evaluation of school achievements. Tools for testing educational achievements involve; teaching programs for training / further training in assessment, plus assessing the conditions for the implementation of basic educational programs in educational organisations; tools for secondary / in-depth analysis of the results of evaluation of educational achievements; research on the use of data obtained from various assessments for the management of the educational process and educational systems; the self-assessment procedures of the individual school or educational establishment; making use of various options for external evaluation of school activities; portfolios of pupils and teachers, the methodology of the intra-class evaluation, etc. (Data bank...).

According to the Federal Law 'On Education in the Russian Federation', the following measures are core criteria by which to assess the quality of the educational activity of an organisation:

Openness, plus access to information about the organisation; the comfort and conditions in which educational activities are carried out; goodwill, politeness, competence of employees; plus satisfaction with the quality of educational activities provided by the organisation (Federal Law ...).

FGOS of the basic general education contains a reference that suggests the control and assessment of the quality of education should be conducted by the following: The heads of the organisations which carry out educational activities; their deputies, who, within their competence, are responsible for the quality of the rudimentary educational program of basic general education; employees of organisations that evaluate the quality of education, including public organisations, associations and professional communities that provide public expertise within organisations that carry out educational activities; heads and specialists at government bodies of the Russian Federation that exercise public administration in the sphere of education, state control (supervision) in these same areas; managers and specialists of state executive bodies that ensure the development of order, control and the measuring materials for the final certification of graduates (Federal state...). Thus, this document establishes a multi-level system for the quality

control of education. This involves not only issues of control not just at state and regional levels, but also by the educational organisation itself, plus the public associations involving teachers and the parents of students.

The draft concept of the all-Russian system for assessing the quality of general education presents a model for an effective system of assessment that takes into account all levels (federal, regional, municipal, school) (Concept and plan of events...). At the municipal level, the quality of conditions provided to the educational organisation at all levels of education is assessed through monitoring the accessibility and variability of education in the educational institutions of the municipality. Add to this the monitoring of educational conditions of schools for the implementation of basic educational programs.

2. Relevance

In the analytical work of Russian scientists, great emphasise is placed upon the role of international cooperation in the field of improving the quality of education. References are made to convergence of views on evaluation criteria and study of the processes of analysing education in different countries. V.A. Bolotov and I.A. Waldman have great appreciation for, and experience of, such cooperation and have noted that: "International studies of the quality of education are instigating a revision of the national curriculum, influencing the introduction of new standards, affecting change in teacher training programs. The participation of the Russian Federation in international monitoring of the quality of education has contributed to the formation of a culture of pedagogical measurements, the reform of the content of education and the creation of federal state educational standards for the emerging generation (FGOS), the development of new textbooks, and the updating of teacher development programs" (Bolotov, Valdman, 2014).

In this regard, as an assessment of the quality of education through the assessment of the educational environment, we take into consideration the SACERS (School-Age Care Environment Rating Scale) (Environment Rating...).

3. Materials and methods.

The SACERS (scales) were employed as the main method for study of the educational environment for this modification (Ivanova, Vinogradova, 2017).

The SACERS are a diagnostic tool and part of the Environmental Rating Scale program. This includes: ITERS (Infant / Toddler Environment Rating Scale) – scales for the assessment of the environment and care for toddlers (Environment Rating...), ECERS (Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale) (Remorenko et al., 2007; Shiyan et al., 2016), plus FCCERS (Family Child Care Environment Rating Scale) – which are scales of environmental assessment in family education (Environment Rating...).

The SACERS are a tool for assessment of the educational environment of a school - at primary and basic general education level – during a whole day. The scales were developed in the USA, have subsequently been used in countries such as Canada, Vietnam, South Korea, Chile and Sweden) and further been translated and largely applied in schools in Germany and France (Harms et al., 1996; Tietze et al., 2007). The main objective of the SACERS scales is to create an appropriate educational environment for children of primary and secondary school age, one which will make a child's time at school a more comfortable and safe experience.

The SACERS are constructed on the basis of criteria for the quality of education of school-age children, childcare programs (Albrecht, 1991), the evaluation of the quality of programs for school-age children (ASQ) (O'Connor 1991) and the evaluation of early-learning programs (Abbott-Shim, Sibley, 1987). They are further based upon research results (Baillargeon, Betsalel-Presser, Joncas, & Larouche, 1993; Betsalel-Presser, Joncas, 1994; Jacobs, White, Baillargeon, & Betsalel-Presser, 1991; White 1990; Galambos, Garbarino, 1983; Vandell & Corasaniti, 1988; Vandell, Henderson, & Wilson, 1988; Seligson, Allenson, 1993) (Environment Rating...).

The SACERS method consists of seven scales:

1. Scale for 'Space and Furnishing'. This scale assumes an assessment of the available inner space and of the location of the premises, space for gross mobile activity, space for privacy, premises for staff, plus physical assets such as furnishing for learning and recreational activities, etc.

2. Scale for 'Health and Safety'. This scale assumes an assessment of the educational environment for the following indicators: physical and psychological health and safety during activities, catering, etc.

3. Scale for 'Activities'. This scale is represented by indicators that characterise the organisation of extracurricular activities and additional educational services: these features encompass visual arts and technology, design, music and dancing; theatrical activities, science and teaching, research activities, etc.

4. Scale for 'Interaction'. This scale reflects the parameters related to interaction and communication in the system between the three parties involved: 'Learner-Teacher', 'Learner-Learner', 'Teacher-Teacher', 'Teacher-Parent'.

5. Scale for 'Program Structure'. The indicators of this scale are assessed: the schedule and daily routine, variability of supplementary education programs, etc.

6. Scale for 'Staff Development'. This scale contains indicators that assess the activities of teachers and also the opportunities available to aid their professional development.

7. Scale for 'Special Needs'. This scale involves indicators that illustrate the creation of conditions for interaction and the education of students with disabilities.

The presented scales enable assessment of the educational environment of the educational organisation. This includes a set of educational conditions (excluding financial ones) that are required for the implementation of both the basic programs of primary, plus basic general, education.

48 indicators are used to build up accurate scale data. Each of these indicators are evaluated on a 7-point scale and these, in turn, reveal the level of development of the educational environment ('unsatisfactory', 'minimal', 'good', 'excellent').

The assessment is based upon observation, clarifying questions with the employees of the educational organisation.

The value of the SACERS scale as a tool for studying the educational environment is determined by the fact that it is:

- an instrument of development, not just an assessment of the educational environment;

- based upon the criteria for the amplification of the development of school-age children, the fulfilment of the needs of their development in the conditions of the school;

- a valid, reliable tool for evaluating the educational environment, as used in many countries (Germany, France, USA, Sweden, etc.);

- comparable with the scores of the quality of education in pre-school educational organisations ECERS-R (Early Children Education Rating Scale), tested in Russian kindergartens / playschools (Remorenko et al., 2007; Shiyan et al., 2016).

- a system that enables international comparative studies (Ivanova, Vinogradova, 2017).

During the processing of the study data of the educational environment - using the SACERS scale – it is determined:

- the index of the quality of the educational environment of the educational organisation – which is the total value for all indicators of the scale, divided by the number of these indicators). The quality index makes it possible to rate the level of development of the educational environment from 'unsatisfactory' (1 point) to 'excellent' (7 points);

- quality index for individual components of the educational environment (space and furnishing, health and safety, activities, interaction, learning process, staff development, special needs);

- the quality profile of the educational environment within the educational organisation – which represents the average values for 48 indicators and enables the identification of 'well-being zones' and the deficiencies in the development of the educational conditions of each particular educational organisation.

Design study of the educational environment using the SACERS scales.

Translation and preliminary adaptation of SACERS scales, correlation with SanPiN, FGOS NOO and OOO, OOP, NOO and OOO. Pilot study into the structural divisions of educational organisations in Moscow, plus the Moscow Region (N = 26) (2015-2016) (Ivanova, Vinogradova, 2017).

Indicators of the reliability and validity of the SACERS scales are:

1) Consistency of expert assessments. An analysis of the divergence of expert estimates showed that 78 % of the discrepancies are below 0.20, whilst the remaining 22 % of discrepancies range from 0.20 to 0.41. The data may indicate sufficient consistency amongst experts in their 'reading' (interpretation) of the scores and results obtained via SACERS.

2) Differential ability of indicators: interior space and furnishings – 96 %; health and safety – 72 %; active activities / pastime – 95 %; interaction – 95 %; educational process – 94 %; staff development – 99 %; special needs – 99 %. The total discrimination ability of the scales was 93 %.

2. Training of experts: teachers, psychologists, directors and deputy directors of educational organisations, teachers from the higher education institutions of Moscow within the framework of advanced training courses, 'Expert evaluation of the educational environment of the school'.

3. Study of the educational environment using SACERS (modified version) (N = 33) (2016-2017). This sample has been developed from the educational organisations of the city of Moscow, implementing programs of primary and basic general education.

In processing the data obtained, the following descriptive statistical methods were used: mean, variance, standard deviation, median, plus confidence interval. For comparison of independent groups, the Student's T-criterion for independent samples was employed.

4. Discussion

Let's turn to the results of the study of the educational environment of Moscow schools, using SACERS (scales). In the course of the study, the quality index of the educational environment was calculated, and was 4.42 points. This value matches the average level of development of the educational environment and indicates a satisfactory potential of the educational organisation – in terms of creating educational conditions.

The quality index of the educational environment in the study group ranges from 2.2 to 6.8. These estimates vary quite significantly, something with might indicate considerable differences between the studied schools. This can be caused by unequal opportunities offered in the educational environment of the particular schools of the sample.

The values of the quality of the components of the educational environment (Space and Furnishings, Health and Safety, Activities, Interaction, Program Structure, Staff Development, Special Needs) are presented in the table 1.

Analysis of the range of mean values of the components of the educational environment (<X> min, <X> max, G(X)) has revealed a tendency for a wide spread of these values. This indicates significant differences in the educational conditions at the schools included in the sample. The greatest variation (standard deviation from 2.03 to 2.38 points) is demonstrated by those components of the educational environment where there are lower mean scales ('Space and Furnishing', 'Health and safety', 'Activities', 'Special Needs') (Table 1).

Scales	<x>min</x>	<x>max</x>	<x></x>	б(Х)
Space and Furnishing	3,85	4,29	4,07	2,03
Health and Safety	3,89	4,50	4,20	2,38
Activities	3,57	4,15	3,86	2,27
Interaction	4,84	5,34	5,09	1,94
Program Structure	4,47	5,07	4,77	1,85
Staff Development	5,00	5,76	5,38	1,80
Special Needs	3,99	4,90	4,44	2,22

Table 1. The values of the quality of the components of the educational environment

The system for assessing the educational environment – on the basis of the international SACERS (scales) - provides a more discerning view of the level of development of the individual components of this environment, plus a profile of its quality. It is on this basis that zones of well-being and risk are defined.

The profile of the quality of the educational environment is shown in Figure 1.



Fig. 1. Quality profile of the educational environment of Moscow schools

The overall picture of the well-being zones, plus the deficiencies of the educational environment presented in Table 2.

Tablaa	Zanag	fuellhoin	a and dat	ioionoioo	in the	advantianal	ontinonmon	t of Mogoow	rachaola
Table 2.	Zones (JI wendem	g anu uei	iciencies	in the c	euucationai	environmen	It of Moscow	SCHOOIS

Zones of well-being	Deficiencies				
Furnishings for Routine Care	Space for Privacy, Room Arrangement				
Access to Host Facilities, Free Choice	Arts and Crafts, Language /Reading Activities,				
	Science /Nature Activities, Cultural Awareness.				
Staff-child Interactions, Peer Interaction,	Departure				
Interaction Between Staff and Parents					
Discipline	Personal Hygiene				
Use of Community Resources	Furnishings for Relaxation and Comfort				
Staff Development	Schedule				
Peer Interactions	Individualization				

The basis for designing the educational environment of an educational complex can be the predicted values of the components of this educational environment, compiled from the sample as a whole (Figure 2).



Fig. 2. Prognostic range of quality of the components of the educational environment

Discussion of the results of the study of the educational environment of Moscow schools, using the SACERS (scales) will be carried out with respect to the results obtained in the educational organisations of Germany (Table 3) (Tietze et al., 2007).

Comparison of these results with those obtained from Russian schools is currently not possible due to none yet existing.

Table 3.	. The values	of the o	quality o	f the	components	that for	rm the	educational	environmen	nt of
educatior	ıal organisati	ions in l	Russia ai	nd Gei	rmany					

Scales	Russia				Germany				
	<x>min</x>	<x>max</x>	<x></x>	б(Х)	<x>min</x>	<x>max</x>	<x></x>	б(Х)	
Space and	3,85	4,29	4,07	2,03	2,42	6,5	4,72	0,77	
furnishing									
Health and safety	3,89	4,5	4,2	2,38	2,00	6,71	4,18	1,10	
Activities	3,57	4,15	3,86	2,27	1,88	6,63	4,40	0,93	
Interaction	4,84	5,34	5,09	1,94	3,11	6,88	5,66	0,79	
Program Structure	4,47	5,07	4,77	1,85	3,25	7,00	5,21	0,87	
Staff development	5,00	5,76	5,38	1,8	3,00	7,00	5,40	0,83	
Special Needs	3,99	4,90	4,44	2,22	3,83	7,00	6,10	0,88	

As can be deduced from Table 3, for six components of the educational environment, the indicators for Moscow schools (with the exception of the 'Health and Safety' scale) are less important than they are to educational organisations in Germany.

Regarding the quality data of the components of the educational environment of Moscow schools in this table (Table 3), the following points can be highlighted:

- low scores on the 'Space and furnishing' scale when compared with other scales (4.07 points), are explained, as a rule, by the typical design of school buildings. (Inconvenience related to location of the premises, which makes it difficult to move, restricts the ability to carry out a wide enough variety of activities, plus unable to provide sufficient visibility of premises).

The data obtained indicates that the main problems related to space provision within Moscow schools are: the lack of educational space, an inability to transform space for multiple uses - organisation of various forms of curricular and extracurricular activities. It is important to reconsider the organisation of the school space in order to ensure their multi-functionality and transformability into small, medium and large areas, on the basis of the 'student-group-class-flow' principle;

- the value of the indicator on the 'Health and Safety' scale (4.2 points) can be explained by the following: Educational organisations currently have no opportunity to organise meals based upon the individual needs of each child (this is most clearly demonstrated in the organisation of food for allergic children); the organisation of the activities of medical personnel (the presence of a medical worker, as a rule, is limited to two days a week) and the management of all questions relating to the health of the trainees; a limited number of systematic measures to protect health and to promote healthy lifestyles;

- lower rates on the 'Activities' scale (3.86 points) in Moscow schools compared to educational organisations in Germany (4.40 points) (Table 3), due to the lack of specialised facilities, limited resources for the implementation of the proposed programs (a variety of materials, equipment in the premises, etc.), lack of free access to materials outside of those sessions especially organised with the teacher;

- values on the scale of 'Interaction' (5.09 points). Values on this scale correspond to a 'good' level. High scores indicate the good potential of Moscow schools, in terms of interaction between students and teachers, teachers and trainees, plus teachers and parents;

- the data on the 'Program Structure' scale (4.77 points) shows positive trends in ensuring the variability of supplementary education programs and extra-curricular activities, plus the use of the sociocultural space of the city. (This latter, referring to the participation of schools in the projects 'Museums, Parks, Manors', 'History and culture of the churches of the capital', and also ensuring that the connection between generations will not be interrupted, etc.). In this scale deficiency was indicated in the area of 'schedule and schedule of the day'. The values on this scale indicate a lack of flexibility in the schedule, the predominance of class-curricular forms of learning activity, the inadequacy of activities that ensure energetic interaction between students, especially in the open air;

- the highest values were attained on the 'Staff Development' scale (5.38 points), which is largely due to favourable conditions created in the Moscow education system – specifically involving the professional development of teachers;

- data on the scale of 'Special Needs' (4.44 points) indicates a lack of special conditions for students with disabilitiese. Comparison with German educational institutions (6.1 points) on this scale shows that it is the largest, relative to other scales (Table 3). This may indicate that in the educational institutions of the Moscow region, as a rule, the tasks and characteristics of inclusive education are poorly taken into account.

When considering the reliability of the differences in the group of Moscow schools with those of educational organisations in Germany, we established opinion based upon the Student's T-criterion (Table 4).

Table 4.	The	average	values	of the	gaming	competencies	and the	difference	in their	values –
according	; to the	e Studen	t's T-cri	iterion	in the ed	ucational orga	inisations	of Russia a	and Germ	any

Scales	Educationa	l Organizations	Student's T-criterion
	Russia	Germany	
Space and Furnishing	4,07	4,72	- 1, 720
Health and Safety	4,2	4,18	, 043
Activities	3,86	4,40	-1, 280
Interaction	5,09	5,66	- 1, 563
Program Structure	4,77	5,21	- 1, 236
Staff Development	5,38	5,40	-, 057
Special Needs	4,44	6,10	- 3,994***

Here: *** - p < 0, 001 при f =64

As can be seen from Table 4, the results obtained from the data of educational organisations in Germany are significantly higher - compared to data obtained in Moscow schools – on the scale of 'Special Needs' (t = -3.994 for p <0.001). As a rule, in Moscow, most schools create the minimum educational conditions required for students with disabilities (for example, only school entrance and toilets are adapted for such children). Not all teachers possess the necessary knowledge to satisfy students with special needs. There is no provision of the specialist equipment necessary in order to train and rehabilitate children with disabilities, therefore such children cannot receive educational services on an equal basis with their peers. Participation in general school activity by the children of this group is very limited.

The results do show that shortcomings caused by objective reasons are compensated for by a high level of professional training of teachers, plus the organisation of interaction between all participants in the educational process.

Let's turn to the analysis of the quality profile of the educational environment (Figure 1).

The highest values (6.0 points) were obtained from the scale indicators of 'Attendance' and 'Discipline'. This reflects the general trend observed, where the main focus of school activity has shifted towards control-disciplinary influences upon students.

High scores were found in the 'Access to Host Facilities' (5.31 points). This is a combination of schools of different orientations in educational complexes that have been allowed to expand the range of programs offered. For example, in some educational organisations, the number of afterclass activities and additional educational services reaches 200. However, attention should be paid to the availability of specially equipped premises, as the provision of a sufficient amount of materials and equipment for the implementation of all areas of extracurricular activities and additional educational services is an indicator of the zone risk. Therefore, the values observed in the indicators for 'Arts and Crafts', 'Language / Reading Activities', 'Science / Nature Activities,' are in the range from 3.0 to 3.8 points. Risks are determined not only in terms of the availability of the variety of facilities, equipment and materials for these types of activities – which might allow work to take place in a group, individually - but also by the opportunities to enjoy free access to them during the period of time that students are in school attendance.

The lowest values were obtained from the 'Space and Furnishing' scale, specifically in terms of 'Room Arrangement' (2.97 points) and 'Furnishings for Relaxation and Comfort' (2.90 points). These data indicate deficits in the provision of well-equipped specialised spaces for a variety of activities, insufficient spaces in general, as well as spaces for self-use by children, more private spaces for homework, or other independent study. Deficiency Zone relates to space and furnishing for relaxation and comfort. In educational organisations we often observe a limited number of comfortable spaces, there is no 'softness' of space, or accessibility to any for students. So, for example, there is no 'free' or continual access to 'soft' spaces such as of game rooms, spaces for musical entertainment or assembly halls.

As for the indicator 'Schedule' (3.14 points), the electronic system 'Moscow Electronic School' is widely distributed to Moscow schools. This provides constant access to the schedule and changes therein. Deficiencies are determined in the content and flexibility of the schedule, the representation of various forms of lesson and after class activities (excursions and travel activities - including outdoors in favourable weather conditions, etc.).

During the course of the study it was revealed that, on the 'Special Needs' scale, the high values of indicators are rarely observed. This is particularly evident in the indicators for: 'Provision for Exceptional Children', 'Individualization', 'Multiple Opportunities for Learning and Practical Skills'.

The difficulties of creating equal educational conditions for students with HIA are also connected with the organisation of the internal space in large schools. The administration of such schools is faced with the need to re-equip the environment for the needs of children with special educational requirements. In these instances the layout of most buildings, the equipment of classrooms, laboratories and workshops, relaxation zones for students, recreation of the pedagogical staff, and the equipping with technical means of training and rehabilitation of children does not always correspond to the special educational needs of this category of students.

The obtained data reveals the content characteristics of the educational environment, sets the criteria for its development and can become the basis for designing the educational environment, determines the direction of development and pointers towards constructing the trajectory of its changes (Vinogradova, Ivanova, 2018).

5. Conclusion

1. SACERS scales can be considered as an effective tool for assessing the educational environment of Moscow schools because:

- the content of the indicators reflect the basic requirements of the regulatory framework of Russian schools. Moreover, each scale replicates certain aspects of the educational environment, while indicators within the scales help differentiate the actual and desired (required) state of the educational space;

- SACERS have a distinctive and high competence. The total discrimination ability of the scales was 93%;

- they enable a more accurate identification of the quantitative and qualitative characteristics of the educational environment, which are often difficult to measure and to express through the quantitative indicators used in the rating system;

- SACERS facilitate a differentiated view of the existing conditions. This helps to reveal potential for improvement within an educational organisation. On this basis it becomes possible to solve the management task of systematically eliminating deficiencies and determining the vectors for the development of the educational environment - yet excludes the possibility of using this tool as a means of control.

2. During the study of the educational environment using the SACERS (scales), the following features were revealed:

- the quality index of the educational environment of Moscow schools was 4.42 points. This value is the average level of development of the educational environment and indicates the potential for the educational organisation to improve - in terms of creating better educational conditions;

- the spread of figures relating to the quality index of the educational environment (in the study group ranging from 2.2 to 6.8 points) is quite wide. This indicates a significant difference between the schools studied, a factor that may be due to the unequal opportunities of the educational environment of the schools in the sample;

- low values of the indicators on the 'Activities' scale (3.86 points), compared to other scales, are due to the lack of specialised facilities, limited resources for the implementation of the proposed supplementary education programs, plus the lack of free access to materials outside of specially organised sessions with teachers;

- low values on the 'Space and Furnishing' scale in comparison with other scales (4.07 points) are explained, as a rule, by the typical design of school buildings;

- values on the scales for 'Interaction' (5.09 points) and 'Staff Development' (5.38 points) indicate the positive potential of Moscow schools, in terms of interaction between students and teachers, teachers and students, plus teachers and parents. They also point to favourable conditions created in the system of Moscow education in terms of the professional development of teachers.

3. Analysis of the values of each individual indicator made it possible to identify:

- that the highest values in the scales were obtained from the 'Attendance' and 'Discipline' indicators. This reflects the general trend observed in schools, whereby the main focus of activity is shifted towards control-disciplinary influences upon students;

- that the high scores on the 'Access to Host Facilities' indicators point towards a unification of Moscow schools of different orientations into educational complexes that are allowed to expand the range of these programs;

- that the lowest values were obtained in terms of 'Room Arrangement' (2.97 points) and 'Furnishing for Relaxation and Comfort' (2.90 points). The data for these areas indicate deficiencies in the provision and equipping of specialised spaces for a variety of activities, plus lack of space and furnishings for relaxation and comfort;

- that funds are defined in the content and flexibility of the schedule (based upon the analysis of the values of the 'Schedule' indicators), as well as the representation of various forms of the lesson and after-hour activities (excursions, motor activities, including outdoors in favourable weather conditions, etc.);

- that high value scores are rarely observed in the indicators for the areas covered by 'Provision for Exceptional Children', 'Individualization', 'Multiple Opportunities for Learning and Practical Skills'.

- 4. Prospects for the use of SACERS scales:
- creation of a system of external independent audit;
- design of the educational environment, based upon data obtained using scales;
- conducting cross-cultural research.

Acknowledgments

The publication was prepared in the framework of the research work 'Development of a Model for Optimising the Development of the Educational Conditions of Moscow Schools to Ensure Equal Access to Quality Education Using the International Scale, SACERS', carried out at the Institute of System Projects of the State Unitary Enterprise 'Moscow City University'.

References

Federal Law... – Federal Law "On Education in the Russian Federation" [Electronic resource] // Information and Legal Support "Garant". URL: http://base.garant.ru/70291362/ (Accessed: 15.05.18).

The Policy..., 2015 – The Policy of Educational Institutions According to the Results of a Survey of their Leaders. Information Bulletin (2015). Moscow, 7 (89), 60 p.

Development and Methodology ... – Development and Methodology of the Rating. Moscow Rating 2018 [Electronic resource]. URL: mos.ru (Accessed: 15.05.18).

Yastrebov et al., 2013 – Yastrebov, G.A., Bessudnov, A.R., Pinskaya, M.A., Kosaretsky, S.G. (2013). Problema kontekstualizatsii obrazovatel'nykh rezul'tatov: shkoly, sotsial'nyi sostav uchashchikhsya i uroven' deprivatsii territorii [The problem of the contextualization of educational results: schools, the social composition of students and the level of deprivation of territories]. *Voprosy obrazovaniya*, 4: 188-246. [in Russian]

Bourdieu, Passeron, 1970 – *Bourdieu, P., Passeron, J. C.* (1970) La reproduction éléments pour une théorie du système d'enseignement. Paris: Editions de Minuit.

Coleman, 1966 – Coleman, J. S. (1966). Equality of Educational Opportunity. *Integrated Education*, 6 (5): 19–28.

Agranovich, 2008 – *Agranovich, M.L.* (2008). Indikatory v upravlenii obrazovaniem: chto pokazyvayut i kuda vedut? [Indicators in the management of education: what is shown and where are they leading?]. *Voprosy obrazovaniya*, 1: 120-145. [in Russian]

Konstantinovsky, Voznesenskaya, 2011 – *Konstantinovsky, D.L., Voznesenskaya E.D.* (2011) Education and life trajectories of youth: 1998-2008. Moscow. [in Russian]

Pinskaya et al., 2011 – Pinskaya, M.A., Kosaretsky, S.G., Frumin I.D. (2011). Shkoly, effektivno rabotayushchie v slozhnykh sotsial'nykh kontekstakh [Schools that work effectively in complex social contexts]. Voprosy obrazovaniya, 4: 148-177. [in Russian]

Bochenkov, Valdman, 2013 – Bochenkov, S.A., Waldman, I.A. (2013). Interpretatsiya i predstavlenie rezul'tatov EGE: problemy i vozmozhnye resheniya [Interpretation and presentation of the results of the USE: problems and possible solutions]. Voprosy obrazovaniya, 3: 5-24. [in Russian]

Bolotov, Valdman, 2013 – *Bolotov, V.A., Valdman I.A.* (2013). Vidy i naznachenie programm otsenki rezul'tatov obucheniya shkol'nikov [Types and purpose of evaluation programs for schoolchildren]. *Pedagogika*, 8:15-26. [in Russian]

Yastrebov et al., 2014 – Yastrebov, G.A., Pinskaya, M.A., Kosaretsky, S.G. (2014). Ispol'zovanie kontekstnykh dannykh v sisteme otsenki kachestva obrazovaniya: opyt razrabotki i aprobatsiya instrumentariya [Use of contextual data in the system of assessing the quality of education: experience in the development and testing of tools]. *Voprosy obrazovaniya*, 4: 58-95. [in Russian]

Derbischinir, Pinskaya, 2016 – *Derbischinir, N.S., Pinskaya M.A.* (2016). Upravlencheskie strategii direktorov effektivnykh shkol [Managerial Strategies for Directors of Effective Schools]. *Voprosy obrazovaniya*, 3: 110-129. [in Russian]

Index of educational ... – Index of educational infrastructure of Russian regions 2016-2017 [Electronic resource]. URL: http:// ioe.hse.ru (Accessed: 15.05.18).

Data bank... – Data bank on the work carried out in Russia at the federal and regional levels in the field of evaluation and management of the quality of education [Electronic resource]. URL: http://www.rtc-edu.ru/resources/databank (Accessed: 15.05.18).

Federal state – Federal state educational standard of basic general education (approved by the order of the Ministry of Education and Science of the Russian Federation of December 17, 2010 No. 1897) [Electronic resource]. URL: ivo.garant.ru/#/document/55170507/ paragraph /285:3 (Accessed: 15.05.18).

Concept and plan of events... – Concept and plan of measures of the All-Russian system for assessing the quality of general education (OSOKOO) for 2014 – 2016. URL.: hse.ru>data/2014/03/06...Концепция...05.04.2018.pdf (accessed: 15.05.18).

Bolotov, Valdman, 2014 – *Bolotov, V.A., Valdman, I.A.* (2014). Aktual'nye zadachi po razvitiyu sistemy otsenki kachestva obrazovaniya v strane i regione [Actual tasks for the development of the system for assessing the quality of education in the country and region] [Electronic resource]. URL: http://www.rtc-edu.ru/resources/publications (Accessed: 15.05.18). [in Russian]

Environment Rating... – Environment Rating Scales Institute [Electronic resource]. URL.: ersi.info (Accessed: 15.05.18).

Ivanova, Vinogradova, 2017 – Ivanova, E.V., Vinogradova I.A. (2017). Otsenivanie uslovii realizatsii osnovnoi obrazovatel'noi programmy nachal'nogo i osnovnogo obshchego obrazovaniya s ispol'zovaniem mezhdunarodnoi shkaly SACERS [Evaluation of the conditions for the implementation of the basic educational program of primary and basic general education using the international scale SACERS]. Vestnik Moskovskogo gorodskogo pedagogicheskogo universiteta. Seriya: Pedagogika i psikhologiya, 4 (42): 66-79. [in Russian]

Remorenko et al., 2017 – *Remorenko, I.M., Shiyan, O.A., Shiyan, I.B., Shmis, T.G., Le-van, T.N, Kozmina, Y.Y., Sivak, E.V.* (2017). Klyuchevye problemy realizatsii FGOS doshkol'nogo obrazovaniya po itogam issledovaniya s ispol'zovaniem «Shkal dlya kompleksnoi otsenki kachestva obrazovaniya v doshkol'nykh obrazovatel'nykh organizatsiyakh (ECERS-R)»: «Moskva-36» [Key problems of implementation of FGOS preschool education based on the results of the study using the "School for Comprehensive Assessment of the Quality of Education in pre-school educational organizations (ECERS-R) ":" Moscow-36 "]. *Sovremennoe doshkol'noe obrazovanie. Teoriya i praktika*, 2: 16-31. [in Russian]

Shiyan et al., 2016 – Shiyan, I.B., Zadadaev, S.A., Le-van, T.N., Shiyan, O.A. (2016). Aprobatsiya shkal otsenki kachestva doshkol'nogo obrazovaniya ECERS-R v detskikh sadakh goroda Moskvy [Approbation of scales of an estimation of quality of preschool education ECERS-R in kindergartens of a city of Moscow]. Vestnik Moskovskogo gorodskogo pedagogicheskogo universiteta. Seriya: Pedagogika i psikhologiya, 2 (36): 77-92. [in Russian]

Harms et al., 1996 – *Harms, T., Jacobs, E., White D.* (1996). School Age Care Environment Rating Scale. New York.

Tietze et al., 2007 – *Tietze, W., H.-G. Roβbach, H. -G., Stendel, M., Wellner, B.* (2007). Hort-und Ganztagsangebote Skala (HUGS). Berlin-Düsseldorf-Mannheim. 66 p.

Ivanova, Vinogradova, 2017 – Ivanova, E.V., Vinogradova I.A. (2017). Vozmozhnosti issledovaniya obrazovatel'noi sredy shkoly s ispol'zovaniem shkaly SACERS [Opportunities for studying the educational environment of the school using the SACERS scale]. God ekologii v Rossii: pedagogika i psikhologiya v interesakh ustoichivogo razvitiya: sbornik statei nauchno-prakticheskoi konferentsii (4-5 dekabrya 2017, Moskva) Cons: M.O. Mdivani, V.I. Panov, Y.G. Panyukova. Moscow: 236-240. [in Russian]

Vinogradova, Ivanova, 2018 – Vinogradova, I.A., Ivanova E.V. (2018). Model' razvitiya uslovii realizatsii osnovnoi obrazovatel'noi programmy nachal'nogo i osnovnogo obshchego obrazovaniya s ispol'zovaniem mezhdunarodnoi shkaly SACERS [Model for the development of conditions for the implementation of the basic educational program for primary and basic general education using the international SACERS scale]. *Nauchno-metodicheskii elektronnyi zhurnal «Kontsept»*, V4: 12-20. [in Russian]



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 511-520 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.511 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



The Practice of Implementing Bologna Process in the Education Sector in the Russian Federation: Trends and Consequences

Elena E. Kabanova ^{a, *}, Ekaterina A. Vetrova ^a

^a Russian state social university, Russian Federation

Abstract

The article presents studies that contribute to the ongoing discussion on the higher education reform in Russia in accordance with the Bologna Process.

Currently, many higher education institutions of the country have implemented a two-tier system of education, where the first-tier of higher education is bachelor's degree program with the average period of study equal to 4 years, the second-tier of higher education is master's degree program designed for training for 2 years. The specialist degree program remained only in the technical universities. Recently, bachelors make up the main percentage of university graduates. Not many young people enter the master's degree program, mostly those students who plan to devote their future activities to science.

The number of studies, currently available in literature, confirming the effectiveness of the transition of higher education to training students under the bachelor's degree program, as well as the demand for these graduates on the labor market, is not high. Are employers ready to employ graduates with bachelor's degree?

In this article, firstly, the attitude of employers to the transition to the two-tier system of higher education was studied. Secondly, the employers' loyalty level to a potential employee with a bachelor's degree was determined. Third, the analysis was carried out to reveal the employment of graduates from higher educational institutions with bachelor's, specialist, and master's degrees. Also, the article presents the dynamics in the number of students with the bachelor's, specialist, and master's degree graduated over the recent five years. Limitations of career growth of graduates with the bachelor's degree were analyzed, and the opportunities to overcome their employment problem were suggested.

In consequence of the conducted study of the transition of Russian higher education to a twotier education system, recommendations are formulated to promote the recognition of the bachelor's degree program graduates in the labor market.

* Corresponding author E-mail addresses: cool90@list.ru (E.E. Kabanova), eavetrova@yandex.ru (E.A. Vetrova) The outcomes of the study gain the knowledge about the higher education reform in the Russian Federation, which is conducted in accordance with the Bologna Process, as well as give an idea of the employers' attitude towards graduates of the bachelor's degree program.

Keywords: Bologna Process, education level, bachelor's degree program, specialist degree program, master's degree program, employment of graduates, career, education quality, labor market, higher education.

1. Introduction

In the current context in Russia, higher education, career, and professional growth are the priority life values.

Fifteen years ago, due to joining of Russia to the Bologna Process, the higher education in the country had received a new course of its development and renewal. There were many disputes and discussions in the scientific community, whether moving towards a two-tier education was expedient. However, there is still no consensus on the feasibility of Russia's entry into the European Higher Education Area, and the answer to the question, what are positive and negative results that Russian higher education has received in the course of these changes.

An important criterion for assessing the education quality is the demand for specialists having graduated from higher education institutions. This is the issue we will try to deal with and find out how employers treat bachelor's program graduates of higher education institutions, whether or not they trust the new education standards.

At present, after the transition of Russia to a two-tier higher education system, the employment problem of graduates of higher education institutions with bachelor's degree, became quite relevant and requires the solution at the highest level.

Analysis of recent publications on the problem. The issues of higher education reform in accordance with Bologna Declaration, the transition to two-tier education system of bachelor's and master's degree programs, as well as employment of graduates are reflected in the works of Russian scientists, such as A.Yu. Aleksandrov (2013), E.V. Andryushina, N.O. Lutsenko (2014), I.E. Zadorozhnyuk (2012), S.V. Vikhareva et al., (2010), N.R. Kamynina, A.O. Grudzinsky (2017), R.V. Kupriyanov, (2014), S.I. Plaksy (2014), A.A. Plisova (2017), A.A. Solovov (2016), N.V. Bagrova (2017), M.E. Pankratova, N.Y. Rasheva (2014), M.V. Vinichenko et al. (2016), M.V. Maksimenko, N.N. Kryzhevskaya (2018), A.A. Ilyashenko (2017).

2. Materials and Methods

The goal of the present research is revealing the effect of education transition to a two-tier education system on the quality of training, as well as determining the credibility of the employer to graduates who have studied under the bachelor's degree program.

The research deals with the following issues:

1. Definition of the purpose of Russia's accession to the Bologna Process;

2. Analysis of the all-Russian survey of companies, hiring graduates of higher educational institutions with bachelor's, specialist, and master's degrees, conducted by Career.ru portal in 2011;

3. Analysis of sample observation of employment of graduates of higher education institutions, conducted by the Federal State Statistics Service (Rosstat) in 2016.

The empirical base includes the results of the research performed by the author on the basis of the data obtained through the all-Russian survey of 500 companies hiring young professionals conducted by Career.ru in 2011 and selective observation of the employment of graduates who received higher education in 2010-2015, conducted in 2016 by the Federal Service for State Statistics.

In accordance with the Order of the Federal State Statistics Service No. 169 dated April 1, 2016 "On approval of the Main Methodological and Organizational Provisions for Conducting a Sample Survey of Employment of Graduates of Vocational Education Institutions" (Prikaz Federal'noi sluzhby..., 2016) The Federal Service for State Statistics for the first time conducted a selective observation of the employment of graduates who received secondary vocational and higher education (hereinafter – selective observation).

"The selective observation was carried out in compliance with the Resolution of the Government of the Russian Federation of November 27, 2010 No. 946" On the organization in the Russian Federation of a system of federal statistical observations on socio-demographic problems

and monitoring of economic losses from mortality, morbidity and disability of the population. " The observation was an additional module for a selective survey of the workforce and was carried out monthly from April to September 2016.

Units of observation are persons with the following educational levels: higher education (bachelor's degree, specialty, master's degree, top-level training), secondary vocational (including former primary vocational) and graduated from the educational organization in 2010-2015. Persons who received for the period from 2010 to 2015. two or more educations are taken into account once for the higher level education (if two educations of the same level are received, then on the latter level).

The sample was formed on the basis of the primary information file of the All-Russia Population Census of 2010 and the Population Census in the Crimean Federal District of 2014, which contains information on the permanent population, i.e. population permanently residing in the territory of the corresponding district, city, settlement.

The sample of graduates was 36 thousand people, or about 0.3 % of the total number of graduates in 2010-2015. The volume of the sample array during the observation was more than 100 thousand households visited by the interviewers. The survey was conducted in those households in which the graduates who graduated from educational organizations in 2010-2015 lived.

The results of selective observation were extended to the general population according to current calculations, having the same characteristics as graduates of educational organizations. The methodology for weighing and disseminating sample survey data is based on assigning an appropriate individual weight to each individual unit of observation. The procedure for calculating weights is to compare each sample of the Russian Federation with a sample (the number of citizens surveyed) stratified by gender, five-year age groups, the type of settlement (urban, rural) with the general population according to current calculations stratified according to the same characteristics.

Based on the results of the observation, official statistical information has been generated reflecting the employment and degree of consolidation of graduates in the acquired profession (specialty) of secondary professional or higher education. The attached tables contain the following data:

• on the graduates of educational organizations in 2010-2015. and the process of their employment;

- on the results of employment and work activity of graduates in the first job;
- on the current situation of graduates in the labor market in 2016;
- about the current employment of graduates in 2016» (Prikaz Federal'noi sluzhby..., 2016).

The purpose of selective observation is the possibility to obtain official statistical information reflecting the employment and degree of consolidation of graduates in the received profession (specialty) of higher education.

The geographical scope of the selective observation of the employment of graduates of vocational education institutions is defined throughout the whole of the Russian Federation.

For carrying out respondents' survey, a questionnaire for selective observation of employment of educational institution graduates, who have received higher education, was approved in accordance with the order of Rosstat.

The authors also used general scientific methods of investigating the empirical level: observation, description, comparison and theoretical level: generalization, analysis.

The results of the study were obtained by analyzing the relationship between the level of education: baccalaureate, specialty, magistracy and the relevance of graduates of each level of education in the labor market.

The authors used the counting method for the Pearson's criterion χ^2 . The results were significant at the level of reliability (p < 0.85).

3. Results

Since 2003, after signing the Bologna Declaration, the Russian higher education system was faced with the task of implementing the basic principles of the Bologna Process.

"To ensure this transition, the Ministry has developed and approved the State Educational Standards (SES) of higher vocational education (HVE), which reflected the principles of the Bologna Process" (Kupriyanov et al., 2014).

In 2005, the Ministry of Education and Science of the Russian Federation has developed a plan of actions to implement the provisions of the Bologna Declaration in the system of higher vocational education of the Russian Federation until 2010. "Goals of higher vocational education system development in accordance with the Bologna Declaration" were defined as follows:

1. Developing higher vocational education system based on two main tiers – bachelor's and master's degree programs;

2. Studying and implementing the European Credit Transfer and Accumulation System (ECTS);

3. Introducing the Supplement to Diploma for higher professional education, compatible with the European Diploma Supplement;

4. Creating and providing the comparable system of recognition in the Russian Federation of foreign documents on education, and recognition of Russian documents on education in the member states of Bologna Declaration;

5. Addressing the problem of education quality and development of comparable methodologies and criteria to assess the education quality;

6. Promoting the development of academic mobility of students and university teachers" (Prikaz Ministerstva obrazovaniya..., 2005).

It is believed that the main goal of all countries involved in the Bologna Process was creating the European Higher Education Area (EHEA). This task was achieved in 2010 through the efforts of all the participants, and it was announced about the creation of the EHEA. In 2017, 48 countries have become EHEA associates.

It should be noted that great hopes were laid on the EHEA in terms of gaining more attractiveness in the world educational community. National educational systems of European countries have gained the opportunity to extent their knowledge through the unique knowledge of the partner countries, which became possible due to the increased mobility of students and teachers.

"Another thought that is important to understand for the evaluation of the Bologna Process: EHEA is not a geographical concept. This is an aggregate of ideas and technologies associated with education, which were formulated by a number of European countries and developed jointly by all EHEA member states" (Kamynina, Grudzinsky, 2017).

Russian higher education took a tack on two-tier education system. The task was set to eliminate training at the level of specialist degree program, while implementing education at the levels of bachelor's and master's degree programs.

In order to determine the attitude of employers to the transition to a two-tier system of higher education, Career.ru portal has conducted a nationwide survey among 500 companies hiring graduates of higher educational institutions having bachelor's, specialist, and master's degree. The survey was conducted from 18 to 25 July 2011.

Answers to the question posed to companies whether bachelor's degree of their potential employee was sufficient to perform professional duties, were as follows: yes - 79, no - 21 %.

Table 1 shows the answers to the question posed to companies involved in different fields of activity: "Is bachelor's degree of potential employee sufficient to perform professional duties?"

Table 1. Answers to the question posed to companies involved in different fields of activity (Bachelor's degree graduates...)

Field of company's activity	Yes, %	No, %
Banks, finance, and insurance	92	8
Human resource management	90	10
IT/Internet	85	15
Service-to-business	83	17
Wholesale selling	82	18

Production	81	19
Retail network	80	20
Construction and real estate	54	46

Companies from banking and financial sector were more loyal to the graduates of higher educational institutions with a bachelor's degree. Among them, 92 % of companies were ready to hire graduates with bachelor's degree. Also, 90 % of companies involved in human resource management would have given preference to bachelors. The survey results indicate worse situation with respect to companies engaged in construction and real estate, from which just 54 % were ready to hire bachelors. At that, it was noted that the larger the company, the less demand they manifest for undergraduates with bachelor's degree.

During the survey, it was also revealed that 25 % of employers, who hired graduates of higher education institutions, gave negative assessment to the transition to a two-tier system of higher education, 64 % rated the transition neutrally, while only 11 % gave positive assessment.

"Currently higher education is perceived as a mandatory requirement of the employer, as a necessary but insufficient condition for obtaining a job in an effective segment of the labor market. Often, higher education is required even where it was previously not mandatory" (Solovov, 2016).

In the course of the survey on the employment of the university graduates, the respondents were asked questions related to different periods, namely training in an educational institution, the graduation from the educational institution, searching a job in the labor market after graduation, and the employment at the first job and current job.

Table 2 shows the data of a sample survey of employment of university graduates conducted in 2016 (Vyborochnoe nablyudenie...).

		Including:					
	Total		Among them			Among them	
		Total	Those Those		Total number	Those who	Those
	of	number of	who	who were	of	were	who
	graduates	employed	were	not	unemployed	looking for	were not
	graduates	graduates	looking	looking	graduates	a job	looking
			for a job	for a job		-	for a job
			Total p	opulation			
Total							
number of	6,476.9	5,860.2	3,965.1	1,895.2	616.7	296.9	319.8
graduates				-			
		Including the	ose who has	received hig	her education		
Higher education based on specialist and master's degree program	5,430.1	4,967.4	3,337.1	1,630.4	462.7	225.7	237.0
Higher education based on bachelor's degree program	1,046.8	892.8	628.0	264.8	154.0	71.2	82.8

Table 2. Employment of graduates depending on their level of education for the period of 2010-2015 (thousand people)

Based on the data of the comparative table, it can be concluded that the categories of graduates considered in terms of the level of education of the specialty and the master's degree from 2010 to 2015 were employed by 4,967,400 people. 462.7 thousand people did not find a job.

At the same time, among bachelor's degree program graduates 892.8 thousand people were employed, whereas 154 thousand people were not employed.

Thus, we see that in the labor market the demand for specialty graduates and master's degree graduates is higher than that of bachelor's degree. Employers, in most cases, do not trust graduates with the bachelor's degree, they treat them as the graduates with incomplete higher education, believing that these graduates have insufficient theoretical knowledge and low level of practical skills in specialization. Nevertheless, salary expectations of the graduates are often overstated.

The problem of incoherence of the knowledge and skills, mastered by higher education graduates, with the requirements of employers is becoming increasingly acute.

To compare, it is necessary to provide data of selective observation of university graduates employment in 2016 in terms of percentage (Table 3).

Table 3.	Employment of graduates	depending on	their level of e	education for t	he period o	of 2010-
2015 (%)	(Vyborochnoe nablyudenie.)				

		Including:					
	Total		Among them		T 1	Among them	
	number of graduates	Total number of employed graduates	Those who were looking for a job	Those who were not looking for a job	Total number of unemployed graduates	Those who were looking for a job	Those who were not looking for a job
			Total populati	on			
Total number of graduates	100	88.9	63.1	25.8	11.1	4.9	6.2
		Including th	ose who has rec	eived educat	ion		
Higher education based on specialist and master's degree program	100	91.5	61.5	30.0	8.5	4.2	4.4
Higher education based on bachelor's degree program	100	85.3	60.0	25.3	14.7	6.8	7.9

Analysis of Table 3 shows that 91.5 % graduates of specialist degree and master's degree programs, as well as 85.3 % of bachelor's degree program are employed, while 8.5 % of specialty and master's degrees, as well as 14.7 % of bachelor's degree programs graduates are not employed. The increase in the percentage of employment was influenced by the active search for job.

The percentage of unemployed graduates with respect to the level of bachelor's education is almost twice as high, the percentage of unemployed graduates in terms of education level of the specialty and magistracy, this result is statistically significant, since selective studies were conducted at the federal level, and the probability of accidental occurrence of the above mentioned indicators is small.

When comparing the indicators of the All-Russian survey among 500 companies hiring graduates of higher educational institutions in terms of the level of education of the bachelor's degree, specialty, master's degree conducted by Career.ru in 2011 with selective observations of the employment of graduates who received higher education by the Federal State Statistics Service in 2016 year, we can conclude that for five years there were very small positive changes (about 5 %) in the demand of employers for graduates of higher education Bachelor program.
"It seems that the key problem is how, while modernizing education, to preserve national and cultural traditions in this process. The modernization processes of the educational system should not violate cultural traditions. Historical experience in modernization of education accumulated by the world practice suggests that this process is necessarily accompanied not only by acquisitions but also by very significant losses" (Pankratova, Rasheva, 2014).

There is reason to believe that at this development stage of domestic higher education, it is necessary to develop new standards, not borrowed in the West, bat national ones, oriented to our mentality and economy, standards that will satisfy potential employers.

"For the full-fledged development of Russia, its revival in the future as a leader in the field of education, it is necessary to stop implementing Western models into the existing system, while continuing to integrate into the global and regional educational space" (Andryushina, Lutsenko, 2014).

Next, we consider the dynamics in the number of students studied according to the bachelor's, specialist, and master's degree programs in the five-year period from 2011 to 2016. Taking into account the demographic situation during the period from 1995 to 2000, called by sociologists the "demographic hole", when the birth rate decreased by 7.1% in the whole country, the number of students in higher education institutions decreased by 26.5% from 2011 to 2016. The economic crisis of 2012 also played a certain role.

The Higher School of Economics, at the support of the Ministry of Education and Science of the Russian Federation, as well as with the help of the Federal State Statistics Service, conducted a study on the development of general, secondary vocational, and higher education in the Russian Federation. The statistical book "Education in Figures: 2017" presents the number of students enrolled in higher educational programs (Table 4).

	2011/12	2012/13	2014/15	2015/16			
Total	6,490.1	6,075.4	5,209.0	4,766.5			
Including based on the	Including based on the programs:						
Bachelor's degree programs	1,425.4	2,271.8	3,516.1	3,530.9			
Specialist degree program	4,929.3	3,634.8	1,465.9	904.9			
Master's degree program	135.4	168.8	227.0	330.7			

Table 4. The number of students enrolled in higher educational programs in 2011-2016 (at the beginning of the academic year, thousands of people) (Borodina et al., 2017).

The number of students who choose the bachelor's degree program increased in 5 years by 59.6 %, master's degree programs – by 59.0 %, whereas the number of students enrolled in the specialist degree program has decreased by 5.5 times.

This statistical information confirms the actual transition to the two-tier system in higher education. Enrollment of students to the specialist degree program is carried out mainly in technical universities.

"The desire of higher education institutions to bring the training of bachelors as close as possible to the training of specialists, traditionally perceived by employers, causes the mechanical transfer of disciplines from the previously existing specialist degree programs to the new bachelor's degree programs. At the same time, the variable parts of the program also acquire a professional orientation, often narrowly of subjective nature. The volume of disciplines for general education available in the curriculum of the specialty program is reduced and transferred at best to optional study, which is justified by the reduction of the standard terms of training according to new standards. However, even such professional orientation of the programs continues causing the employer's alertness to the bachelor's qualification (degree) (Aleksandrov, 2013).

It is necessary to pay attention to the fact that business is interested in competent professionals, and therefore it is necessary to determine the points of contact, when developing higher education standards in Russia. It is necessary tuning in to information coming from the labor market to determine what kind and how many graduates are needed for the effective development of the economy. It is necessary to attract enterprises for practical training of students, where they could gain practical experience and take decision concerning possibility of continuing education by the master's degree program.

"We can just add that if such an indicator as "employability competence" was introduced with respect to the university, it would help improving its competitiveness in the labor market" (Zadorozhnyuk, 2012).

4. Discussion

Transition to a two-tier education system caused restrictions on career growth of graduates with bachelor's degree. In June 2016, the Federal Law "On the civil service in the Russian Federation", Chapter 2, Article 12, paragraph 3 was amended as follows: "For vacancy filling of civil service position jobs in categories of "Heads", "Assistants (Advisers)", and "Specialists" of the highest and main groups of civil service position jobs, the availability of higher education not below the level of the specialist and master's degree is obligatory" (Federal'nyi zakon..., 2004).

In accordance with this amendment, a graduate, enrolled in the bachelor's degree program, cannot occupy policy-making post, thus the opportunity for his career growth is limited legally. As a result, to advance in a career, graduate with the bachelor's degree will need to enter the master's degree program (provided that the graduate of the bachelor's degree program has diploma with honors).

"Fulfilling life of people in the XXIst century will require more and more comprehensive education, far beyond the capabilities of secondary school. At that, it is not the labor market that should dictate the scale, diversity, quality, and effectiveness of education. They are determined by the whole logic of the need to build human potential, self-actualization of people as citizens, as parents, as cultural subjects, as well as by diversity of life, rather than just the economy (Plaksiy, 2014).

5. Conclusion

Since its inception, the Bologna Process has brought together 48 countries. However, many European countries have recognized the imperfection of the Bologna Process. Today the Russian diploma neither actually nor legally has force in Europe. Moreover, in April 2018, the UK has blocked the decision on mutual recognition of education documents with regard to Russia.

Since 2011, Russia has carried out the transition to a two-tier education system under the bachelor's and master's degree programs at higher education institutions. In turn, employers are still wary of graduates with bachelor's degree.

In this situation, the possibility of transition to targeted education and coordination of training programs with the business will be a necessary direction in the education reform, which will provide an opportunity to solve the employment problem of graduates of higher education institutions trained under the bachelor's degree program.

References

Aleksandrov, 2013 – *Aleksandrov, A.Y.* (2013). Organizacija uchebnogo processa v vuze v uslovijah perehoda na novye obrazovatel'nye standarty [Organization of educational process in higher educational institution in the context of transition to new educational standards]. *Vestnik Chuvashskogo Universiteta*, 2: 111–115. [in Russian]

Andryushina, Lutsenko, 2014 – *Andryushina, E.V., Lutsenko, N.O.* (2014). Gosudarstvennaja politika RF v oblasti obrazovanija [State policy of the Russian Federation in the field of education]. *Vlast'*, 7: 77–81. [in Russian]

Bagrova, 2017 – *Bagrova N.V.* (2017). Actual Problems of Russian Education: Ways of Their Solution and Modernization of Education. *Contemporary Problems of Social Work*, 4(12): 84–89.

Bakalavra voz'mut... – Bakalavra voz'mut na rabotu 79 % kompanij [Bachelor's degree graduates will be hired by 79 % of the companies]. [Electronic resource]. URL: https://career.ru/article/10851 (accessed: 11.06.18)

Borodina et al., 2017 – Borodina, D.R., Gokhberg, L.M., Zhikhareva, O.B. (2017). Obrazovanie v tsifrakh: 2017: kratkii statisticheskii sbornik [Education in figures: 2017. Brief statistical collection]. Nac. issled. un-t «Vysshaja shkola jekonomiki». M.: NIU VShJe, 80 p. [in Russian]

Federal'nyi zakon..., 2004 – Federal'nyi zakon ot 27 iyulya 2004 g. № 79-FZ «O gosudarstvennoi grazhdanskoi sluzhbe Rossiiskoi Federatsii» [Federal Law of July 27. 2004. No. 79-FZ «On the civil service in the Russian Federation»].

Ilyashenko, 2017 – Ilyashenko, A.A. (2017). Process razvitija vysshego ekonomicheskogo obrazovanija v stranah Zapadnoj Evropy i Rossii v ramkah Bolonskogo processa [The process of development of higher economic education in the western Europe and Russia in the framework of the Bologna process]. *Ekonomika i sotsium*, 2(33): 1333–1341. [in Russian]

Kamynina, Grudzinsky, 2017 – Kamynina, N.R., Grudzinsky, A.O. (2017). Russia in the Bologna Process: The goal is increasing the higher education competitiveness. *Vysshee obrazovanie v Rossii*, 8/9(215): 22–31. [in Russian]

Kupriyanov et al., 2014 – Kupriyanov, R.V., Vilensky, A.A., Kupriyanova, N.E. (2014). Rossija v Bolonskom processe: cel' – povyshenie konkurentosposobnosti vysshego obrazovanija [Bologna Process in Russia: Specifics and difficulties of implementation]. Vestnik Kazanskogo Tehnologicheskogo Universiteta, 20(17): 412–416. [in Russian]

Maksimenko, Kryzhevskaya, 2018 – Maksimenko, M.V., Kryzhevskaya, N.N. (2018). Samostojatel'naja podgotovka obuchajushhihsja v sisteme dvuhurovnevogo vysshego obrazovanija [Independent training of the two-level higher education learning in the system]. *Kant*, 1(26): 67-70. [in Russian]

Pankratova, Rasheva, 2014 – *Pankratova, E.M., Rasheva, N.Yu.* (2014). Problemy integracii rossijskogo vysshego obrazovanija v evropejskoe obrazovatel'noe prostranstvo i puti ih reshenija [Problems of integration of russian higher education into the european educational space and ways to solve them]. *Juridicheskie zapiski*, 1: 132–137. [in Russian]

Plaksiy, 2014 – *Plaksiy, S.I.* (2014). Vysshee obrazovanie: vyzovy i otvety [Higher education: challenges and responses]. M.: Nac. in-t. biznesa, 604 p. [in Russian]

Plisova, 2017 – Plisova, A.A. (2017). Organizacija informacionnogo vzaimodejstvija so studentami v ramkah informacionno-obrazovatel'noj sredy vuza [The Organization of Information Interaction with the Students Within the Educational Environment of the University]. *Uchenye zapiski Rossijskogo gosudarstvennogo social'nogo universiteta*, 6(145): 124–131. [in Russian]

Prikaz Federal'noi sluzhby..., 2016 – Prikaz Federal'noi sluzhby gosudarstvennoi statistiki ot 1 aprelya 2016 g. № 169 «Ob utverzhdenii Osnovnykh metodologicheskikh i organizatsionnykh polozhenii po provedeniyu vyborochnogo nablyudeniya trudoustroistva vypusknikov uchrezhdenii professional'nogo obrazovaniya» [The order of Federal state statistics service of april 1. 2016. No. 169. «On the authorization of the major methodological and organizational provisions on carrying out sample survey of employment of graduates of vocational education institutions»].

Prikaz Ministerstva obrazovaniya..., 2005 – Prikaz Ministerstva obrazovaniya i nauki RF 15 fevralya 2005 g. Nº 40 «O realizatsii polozhenii Bolonskoi deklaratsii v sisteme vysshego professional'nogo obrazovaniya Rossiiskoi Federatsii» [The order of the Ministry of education and science of the Russian Federation of february 15. 2005. No. 40. «On implementation of provisions of the Bologna Declaration in the higher professional education system of the Russian Federation»].

Solovov, 2016 – Solovov, A.A. (2016). Podgotovka bakalavrov: problema vostrebovannosti vypusknikov na rynke truda [Training of bachelors: The problem of demand for graduates in the labor market]. *Vestnik Samarskogo universiteta. Istorija, pedagogika, filologija*, 3(1): 58-64. [in Russian]

Vikhareva et al., 2010 – Vikhareva, S.V., Vozhennikova, N.V., Smirnova, O.G. (2010). Studenty i rabotodateli o dvuhurovnevoj sisteme podgotovki i kachestve universitetskogo obrazovanija [Students and employers about the two-level system of preparation and quality of university education]. *Inzhenernoe obrazovanie*, 6: 10–17. [in Russian]

Vinichenko et al., 2016 – Vinichenko, M.V., Frolova, E.V., Kabanova, E.E., Kozyrev, M.S., Evstratova T.A. (2016). The Youth Employment Problems. *Journal of Advanced Research in Law and Economics*, 2(16): 378–388.

Vyborochnoe nablyudenie... – Vyborochnoe nablyudenie trudoustroistvo vypusknikov 2016 g. Federal'naya sluzhba gosudarstvennoi statistiki (Rosstat) [Sample survey of employment of 2016 graduates. Federal State Statistics Service (Rosstat)]. [Electronic resource]. URL: http://www.gks.ru/free_doc/new_site/ population/trud/itog_trudoustr/index.html (accessed: 14.06.18).

Zadorozhnyuk, 2012 – Zadorozhnyuk, I.E. (2012). Trudoustrojstvo i trudoustraivaemost': sovremennye tendencii [Employment and employability: Modern trends]. *Vysshee obrazovanie v Rossii*, 8(9): 163–164. [in Russian]



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 521-530 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.521 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Internet Communication as a Factor of Psychological Challenges among Student Youth

Tatyana I. Kulikova ^a, ^{*}, Dmitriy V. Maliy ^a, Natalia A. Stepanova ^a, Svetlana A. Filippova ^a

^a Tula State Lev Tolstoy Pedagogical University, Russian Federation

Abstract

Continuous surfing the Internet has become one of the students' lifestyle markers. Some modern researchers argue that as a result of long and regular Internet networking, young people sooner or later begin to experience psychological challenges. The analysis of international and Russian psychological studies on the issue of Internet communication has made it possible to identify the main personal challenges young people may deal with. The paper presents the results of an empirical study of psychological challenges facing by young people who resort to Internet communication. The study involved young people aged 18 to 22 years old, taking advantage of the Internet communication, 45 people in total. All of the subjects are students of various Russian universities. The empirical study has been conducted in the virtual interaction mode. The general hypothesis maintains that, taking into account the exponential growth of information in general, the Internet as a modern communication environment contributes to the emergence of psychological challenges at youth, in particular: manifesting negative emotional states (experiencing depression); reducing the level of self-confidence and self-esteem; generating uncertainty; and exhibiting symptoms of Internet addiction and formation of obsessive need to virtual communication. The study has showed that, representing a huge communication zone for people, the Internet has its pros and cons. Using various possibilities of the worldwide network leads to structural and functional changes in the mental activity of an individual.

Keywords: Internet communication, psychological challenges, student youth.

1. Introduction

Over the past decade, the role of the Internet as a channel of communication, through which both personal and business networking take place, has been increasing. Many social processes are reflected in the virtual space; the interaction of individuals in the Internet happens almost more

* Corresponding author

E-mail addresses: tativkul@gmail.com (T.I. Kulikova), maliydmitriy@yandex.ru (D.V. Maliy), stepanova_na@inbox.ru (N.A. Stepanova), Wega-04@yandex.ru (S.A. Filippova)

often than in reality (communication in social networks, forums, personal and business correspondence by e-mail, etc.). As a communication channel the Internet has many advantages, among which there is efficiency, informativeness, accessibility, and ability to remain anonymous.

A.E. Voyskunskiy describes three basic types of needs that people meet using the Internet: communicative, cognitive and gaming (Voyskunskiy, 2002).

Communicative need is satisfied through using e-mail services, chats, forums, etc. A significant part of the modern social activity of young people is realized within the framework of interaction in Internet communities and, above all, social networking services such as *VKontakte*, *Odnoklassniki*, *My World*, and *Facebook*. Today more than 85 % of Internet users are registered in social networks. A typical user of social networks is a young person aged 18-24 years old (96 %). Russian Internet users actively take advantage of the network as a means for free expression of thoughts and feelings (Kulikova, 2018).

Cognitive need is provided by the web navigation tools, reading news and analytical reviews, searching for specific information or browsing the current news, remote education forms, and so on. Satisfaction of the cognitive need, i.e. the need for information – various websites, blogs, forums, diaries – allows us to obtain any information: for example, either official sites or travelogue posts. Using official sites and search engines, Internet users learn the news about events in the world, in their country, in their hometown. With the help of the software program "online translator" they can quickly translate any desired text from any international language into their native language and vice versa.

As for examples of meeting the gaming need, we can list individual and group games with a computer or with real partners via the Internet. The gaming need is provided by a wide range of games – from simple to complex scenario-based interactive gaming structures involving the participation of online communities. In fact, all services are games. Any social network itself is also a game. It defines rules for access to players, and there is a connection with real life.

Researchers of Internet networking usually divide ways to communicate on the Internet in terms of their interactivity. The most interactive communication media are messengers *WhatsApp*, *Viber*, *ICQ* and *MUDs*; the least interactive ones are e-mail services, guest books, forums and teleconferences. When posting on forums and e-mailing, communication occurs in the mode of a delayed response (offline) unlike chatting via the messengers *WhatsApp*, *Viber*, *ICQ* and *MUDs*, where people exchange their information in real time (online). Forms of network communication also differ in the number of users involved into the communication process (mono-, dia- and polylogue ones). Forum communication occurs on a certain topic matter, while chatting does not always have its own topic, and even if there is one, it is rarely observed (Kulagina, Tarasova, 2014).

Basic psychological studies on the Internet communication are aimed mainly at exploring types of communication, such as chats and forums (I.S. Shevchenko, I.V. Romanov, T.A. Naumova, I.V. Andreev, G.S. Chichkova, A.A. Meleshnikov, A.V. Kuznetsova). However, we are more interested in the psychological challenges of young people that arise as a result of a long and regular Internet communication.

The word "communication" comes from the Latin word *'communicatio'* that means *'message'* or *'transfer'*. S.V. Borisnev points out that communication should be understood as a process of transferring, receiving and assimilating information under conditions of group, personal or mass communication, determined by social circumstances, using various communication channels (Borisnev, 2003). Communication, mediated by a computer (electronic, computer, virtual, network, Internet-communication), is communicative interaction of people with the help of computer devices and networks (local, Internet, etc).

At the end of the last century, P. Wallace offered the term '*Internet psychology*' to refer to the range of scientific interests studying the psychological aspects of the activities mediated by modern information systems. The main research directions in this area are focused on studying the influence of Internet activity on the cognitive abilities of a person and studying the dependence on the Internet, or Internet addiction, intensively discussed in medical, psychological and pedagogical literature (Voiskunskiy, 2002).

The term '*Internet addiction*' proposed by Dr. A. Goldberg in 1996 describes uncontrollable, painful thrust to the Internet. Computer addiction is an issue that clinical psychologists deal with. K. Young starts the discussion on this topic in 1994 when puts a questionnaire on the site, which has resulted in the identification of 400 addicts out of 500 subjects. K. Young discovers that

Internet addiction is often associated with depression. Depressive patients who have difficulty with communication or social adaptation often resort to the help of the Internet to overcome the difficulties to interpersonally interact in reality (Young, 2000). It has been also found that the Internet-dependent often feel nervousness while being "offline", and students suffer from academic failure and deterioration of relations.

Later, researchers I. Goldberg, D. Greenfield, C. Surratt and others have been dealing with the Internet addiction (Shabalin, 2001).

Current research in neurophysiology, neuropsychology and genetics show that the risk of dependence formation is caused by insufficient activity of the dorsal part of the cerebral frontal medial cortex: metabolic disturbances of dopamine, which is part of the "reward curcuits" (Bridgett et al., 2015; Lynn et al., 2014; Berrige, Kringelbach, 2015). There is a differentiated predisposition to the development of various dependencies (Buckholtz et al., 2010). Computer game developers use neuropsychological (dopamine) mechanisms to help to keep the person in the game, for example, supporting the player in a constant state of pleasure anticipation resulting from the levels progress.

From a psychological point of view, to generate varying dependencies there should be originally dependent personality, tracing the genesis of which, you can delve into infant and early age (Bowlby, 1988). Thus the content of dependence (food, game or emotional) is a secondary phenomenon.

The social context with respect to various addictions is ambiguous: social perception of teenagers' alcoholization, smoking and misuse of drugs is unequivocally negative; there are legal and social mechanisms limiting the spread of these forms of addictions among young people. In relation to non-chemical dependencies, the society is more tolerant, which prevents the implementation of early prevention, and an obvious need for help arises when negative consequences for the individual are already critical.

For a person who is dependent on the Internet, the following behavioral reactions are inherent: "an active reluctance to get distracted even for a short time from web browsing; forgetting about household chores, studies or job duties, important personal and business meetings while web browsing; unwillingness to accept criticism of such lifestyle; preparedness to put up with the destruction of the family, the loss of the social circle due to the Internet absorption; neglecting their own health, reduction of the sleep duration; preparedness to be satisfied with random and monotonous food irregularly swallowed up with full concentration on the computer screen..." (Pokrovskiy, 1989). The constant use of a computer leads to a person's stressful state. No less significant is the fact that the non-systematic use of computers damages the social, psychological and interpersonal status of an individual (Morozova, 2010).

American psychologists at Carnegie Mellon University have conducted a study, the results of which showed that the more time Internet users spend on the Net, the more they are exposed to emotional disturbances. According to the researchers, information overload can be an obvious cause of stress (Kulikova, Maliy, 2015).

J. Suler emphasizes the effect of deliverance, within which two options are possible: to release negative emotions and satisfaction of destructive needs (insulting others, hacking websites) or to realize the possibility to be frank and not to close in some very personal aspects (Suler, 1996).

Online communication is very attractive. The following advantages for youth exist: there is no evaluation of the partner according to external data; there is no need to quickly form a thought; it is possible to communicate "on behalf of other person". Such communication may even bring a person to a new level (Ovcharova, 2000). Though, everything is good in moderation. When this excessive passion develops into an addiction, it leads to negative effects on the mental and physical life of a person.

Conducted by S. Filippova and E. Shelispanskaya, research showed a high severity of psychological distress, a tendency to neurotic states: obsessive-phobic, anxious, depressed. The presence of the expressed neurotic tendencies are found in *more* than half of the participants in the experiment. It was found that psychological well-being is related to the perception of the body: neurotic girls identified anxious-obsessive tendencies towards their own corporeality. The authors emphasize that the excessive fixation of female students on the problem of corporeality is due to the influence of the information environment: in particular, the importance of Internet communication in the life of modern youth (Filippova, Shelispanskaya, 2017). What is

typical for them that is the need for self-presentation in the network bordering on narcissism, the need to follow fashionable trends (diet, fitness, body modifications) with a low degree of awareness of personal motives and life goals.

2. Materials and methods

All of the above mentioned defines the objective of our study that is to empirically identify and classify psychological challenges of young people using the Internet as a means of communication. We consider the psychological challenge as a psychological contradiction within the personality, which does not violate the mental norm, but creates discomfort, tension, complicates the functioning and adaptation of the individual. The empirical basis of the study involves young people aged 18 to 22 years old, taking advantage of the Internet communication, 45 people in total. All of the subjects are students of various Russian universities. The topical case study has been conducted in the virtual interaction mode.

We assume that there are causal relationships between the time students spend on the Internet, the types and severity level of psychological challenges, in particular: manifesting negative emotional states (experiencing depression); reducing the level of self-confidence and self-esteem; generating uncertainty; exhibiting symptoms of Internet addiction and formation of obsessive need to virtual communication.

Theoretical and methodological basis of the study are as follows:

-theoretical approaches to understanding structure and nature of the communication process (B.G. Ananyev, G.M. Andreeva, A.A. Bodalev, V.N. Myasishchev, A.V. Petrovskiy);

-theoretical concepts of the factors determining the nature of communication, and the possibilities for enhancing the success of communication (E. Berne, R. Bandler and J. Grinder, Ch. Teutsch and J. Teutsch);

-theoretical approaches to define specific features of Internet communication, patterns of interaction in virtual space (A. Burova, A. Zichkina, V. Nesterov and E. Nesterova).

Analyzing international and Russian psychologists' research works makes it possible to identify the main personal challenges of young people who resort to Internet communication, and determines the choice of diagnostic techniques:

-depression scale (adaptation by T.I. Balashova). The questionnaire is developed for differential diagnosis of depressive states and conditions close to depression for screening diagnostics in mass studies and for preliminary diagnostics;

-test-questionnaire on self-conception (V.V. Stolin). As a starting point, it makes a distinction between the content of the "Self-image" (self-knowledge or self-image, including in the form of evaluating the certain features manifestation) and self-relation;

-test on self-confidence (V.G. Romek). The test responds to an understanding of confidence as a stable generalized positive attitude toward one's own skills and abilities (including their effectiveness);

-questionnaire on attitudes towards the Internet (E. Gubenko). The questionnaire can be used to measure the overall indicator (common scale) of the problematic use of the Internet.

When choosing the methods, we have tried to take into account the positive evaluation of the applicability and reliability of the methods, according to a number of international and Russian researchers; accessibility of methods for the study participants; possibility of a qualitative and quantitative analysis of the results obtained.

3. Results and discussion

To determine the time students spend on the Internet, we conducted a survey of respondents about how much time they spend on the Internet-communication on weekdays and at the weekend. The results of the survey are presented in the Figure 1.



Fig. 1. Respondents' distribution by time spent on the Internet

According to the respondents' "confessions", the student youth spends a significant part of their "useful" time on the Internet. The majority of respondents (46.2%) indicate that on weekdays they spend on an average one to three hours per day on the Internet. Almost 15.4% of students communicate chatting online more than five hours a day. On weekends, as a rule, the amount of time spent on the Internet increases. It is established that 30.8% of students devote from 3 to 5 hours to the Internet on Saturday and Sunday (or on holidays). 19.8% of the respondents are online more than five hours a day.

According to the results of the method "Depression scale" (adaptation by T.I. Balashova), it is found that 36.2% of the participants in the general sample of young people have a state without depression / low level (average coefficient of feature severity is 3.0 stens), whereas the average and high levels are detected in 35.2% and 28.6% of participants, respectively, with feature severity 4.0 and 7.0 stens. We consider the average level as a depressive state, which can be expressed by episodes of hypothymia and apathy. The results show that relaxation, self-assurance, and all other positive reactions occur only during their time on the Internet. When young people return to the real world with all its conflicts, experiences and challenges, they are overcome by despondency and depression.

According to the results of the method "Test-questionnaire on self-conception" (V.V. Stolin), we have found out that in the group of subjects there are no respondents with a low level of global self-realization, that is, the respondents have not revealed a negative attitude towards themselves. The prevalent number of subjects has a pronounced favorable attitude to their "Self" and is aware of its value. This indicator correlates with the level of self-esteem. Nevertheless, it has been revealed 30.8% of respondents with low self-esteem in the group (average coefficient of feature severity is 2.0 stens), which indicates an internal conflict between the real and ideal "Self". The level of self-esteem leads to success, as well as to high achievements in all spheres of life, and, conversely, a low level of self-esteem precedes many disappointments and failures.

According to the test by V.G. Romek, self-confidence level results indicate that low rate on the scale of "self-confidence" has been revealed at 35.2% of the respondents among the subjects (average coefficient of feature severity is 2.0 stens). Despite the fact that excessive self-confidence is often not encouraged by young people, low scores determine the inability of test subjects to make complex decisions on their own, to independently control their actions and their results.

Low rate on the scale of "social courage" has been identified at 40.6% of the subjects (average coefficient of feature severity is 2.0 stens). Social courage consists of such components as social intelligence, self-confidence, and ability to take risks. In order to show social courage people need to overcome fear by their willful action. Therefore, the constituent elements of the manifestation of social courage are fear, will and willingness to act (Esaulova, 2017). Acting as a certain psychological barrier, fear restrains a person without allowing a certain action to be performed; and courage manifests itself in the fact that, despite feeling the fear, we can perform the action.

In the context of this study, it should be said that subjects with a low score on this scale experience difficulties in real communication, they are much less likely to enter social contacts, and virtual communication seems to them as an alternative to face-to-face communication (Karpova,

2013). Social perception in the network interaction can be distorted under the influence of conscious manipulation of users with a certain reputation (image adjustments, exaggeration of achievements). Thus, through the Internet, a distorted reality is created, which is broadcast to the individual consciousness; the state of psychological distress is the result of dissonance when comparing the real "Self" with networked self-presentations. Fear of nonconformity forces them to become isolated in themselves, avoiding social contacts, and also to imitate the desired image in the network.

The Internet makes it possible to create an alternative and rather safe environment in which the person is deprived of frustrating factors, and, consequently, the need for development. In some ways the Internet performs the functions of psychological defenses, contributing to the displacement, avoidance, substitution, denial and other forms of avoiding contact with real conflicts and difficulties.

The results of the questionnaire on attitudes towards the Internet (E. Gubenko) allow us to state that 12.0% of the subjects tend to use the Internet to achieve social comfort, i.e. to have the opportunity to communicate with other people and develop their own social network, as well as to achieve a feeling of peace and security due to belonging to a virtual social environment, even though it is virtual (average coefficient of feature severity is 3.0 stens).

It should be noted that high indicators on a scale of "social comfort" show a lack of subjects' faith in their forces (61.6%), an underestimation of their capabilities, including those in the field of interpersonal communication (average coefficient of feature severity is 9.0 stens). Such people are largely characterized by a low ability to control their own lives, to make responsible decisions and to understand themselves.

High level of the rate on the scale "loneliness" (average coefficient of feature severity is 7.0 stens) in a subjects group (30.8%) indicates the feeling of loneliness in the real world and, as a result, involvement into virtual communication as a way to supplement the deficit of interpersonal communication in real life.

In 26.4% of the subjects, low level of self-control has been revealed (average coefficient of feature severity is 3.0 stens), i.e. the inability to control one's behavior in the context of the conflicting social environment influence, in particular, exposure to impulsive outbursts and strong dependence on external influences, which shows the involvement of young people in the active use of the Internet as a means of networking and communication.

For the convenience of interpreting the data obtained during our experiment, we present the results in the summary Table 1.

Subjects	Subjects distribution by levels, in %			
indicators	high	average	low	
Depression	28.6	35.2	36.2	
Self-esteem	42.8	26.4	30.8	
Self-confidence	26.4	38.4	35.2	
Social courage	24.2	35.2	40.6	
Social comfort	61.6	26.4	12.0	
Loneliness	30.8	42.8	26.4	
Self-control	35.2	38.4	26.4	

Table 1. Summary table of subjects' distribution by levels of the analyzed indicators

In order to establish the focus and tightness of the correlation between the signs of psychological challenges at student youth, the R-Pearson correlation was performed; the calculation was carried out using the software program *Statistica*. For the convenience of interpreting the data obtained during our experiment, we present the results in the Table 2.

Symptoms	D	SE	SC	SCr	SCmf	L	SCtr	Ii
Depression (D)	×	-0.42	-0.79	0.12	0.79	0.64	-0.60	0.64
Self-esteem (SE)		×	0.57	0.47	0.55	-0.33	0.40	0.55
Self-confidence (SC)			×	0.70	0.33	0.16	0.30	0.40
Social courage (SCr)				×	0.44	0.57	0.33	0.57
Social comfort (SCmf)					×	0.57	-0.64	-0.44
Loneliness (L)						×	0.26	0.57
Self-control (SCtr)							×	0.55
Integral indicator (Ii)								×

Table 2. Correlation matrix of signs of student youth's psychological challenges (level of statistical significance p < 0.05)

Analyzing data in Table 2, we can see certain causal relationships between the investigated individual symptoms of psychological challenges among student youth. First of all, there is an inverse correlation between the state of depression and loneliness experiencing. The correlation coefficient in this case is $\mathbf{r} = 0.64$.

Also there is a direct relationship between criterion of social comfort and the level of social courage ($\mathbf{r} = 0.71$). Thanks to the Internet, they do things that they would have never decided in real life. According to the study by T.V. Kondrat'yeva, young people experience psychological discomfort – a "computer hunger", if at least one day they do not have access to a computer (Kondrat'yeva, 2000).

We should also highlight a direct relationship between criterion of self-confidence and criterion of social courage ($\mathbf{r} = 0.70$). Confirmation of this fact can be found in a comparative study of the modification of the lifestyle of the Russians, conducted under the leadership of A.A. Vozmitel', a leading Russian scholar in the field of lifestyle research. It has turned out that the percentage of 'microenvironments' in which all people are confident in the future has decreased by 8 times (compared with the Soviet period). The proportion of microenvironments consisting of compassionate people has reduced by 40%. On the contrary, an amount of people have increased by more than 4 times, in the immediate surroundings of whom all are concerned solely with personal well-being (Vozmitel', Osadchaya, 2010). The general vector of changes shows that "better to work" is gradually replaced by "better to consume".

To establish the tightness of the correlation between the time students spend on the Internet and signs of psychological challenges, Pearson's pair correlation was also calculated (Figure 2).

As a result of determining the tightness of the correlation between the time students spend on the Internet and signs of psychological challenges, the following has been established:

1) there is a strong direct correlation between the time spent on the Internet (**T**) and the integral indicator of students' psychological challenges (**Ii**), namely, the *more* time students spend on Internet communication, the *more* their psychological challenges become more evident. The correlation coefficient in this case is $\mathbf{R} = 0.75$ at $\alpha = 0.05$, SEM = 0.19, CI = (0.64, 1.38), which indicates a strong correlation;

2) there is a strong direct correlation between the time spent on the Internet (**T**) and the sense of depression (**D**) and experiencing loneliness (**L**). In the first case, the correlation tightness is $\mathbf{R} = 0.47$ at $\alpha = 0.05$, SEM = 0.19, CI = (0.39, 1.22), and, in the second one, it is $\mathbf{R} = 0.53$ at $\alpha = 0.05$, SEM = 0.19, CI = (0.39, 1.08);



Fig. 2. The tightness of the correlation between the time students spend on the Internet and signs of psychological challenges (*level of statistical significance* p < 0.05)

3) there is an inverse correlation between the time spent on the Internet (**T**) and the criteria of social courage (**SCr**) and self-control (**SCtr**). The correlation coefficient in the first case was $\mathbf{R} = -0.44$ at $\alpha = 0.05$, SEM = 0.19, CI = (0.35, 1.2), and in the second case, $\mathbf{R} = -0.69$ at $\alpha = 0.05$, SEM = 0.19, CI = (0.48, 1.13).

4. Conclusion

The data obtained in the course of the empirical study make it possible to draw conclusions that the subjects:

-have the tendency to experience depression;

-lack in the ability to make serious decisions, to take responsibility for their own life;

-show low self-confidence, which indicates difficulties in communication in real life;

-note the feeling of loneliness in real life and, as a result of it, large engagement in the process of active use of the Internet as a way to communicate, including making acquaintances, coupled with the presence of obsessive thoughts about the Internet.

During the theoretical analysis of psychological literature on the issue of Internet networking and communication, the main approaches to studying communication challenges and basic definitions of communication have been identified. It has been concluded that communication is an important factor to form a mature personality, in particular, in the period of early adolescence. The study has showed that young men and women who prefer virtual communication demonstrate a high level of depression and situational anxiety; their self-esteem is significantly understated; the ability to independently make important decisions in their lives and responsibility for their results is not sufficiently formed; subjects who choose the Internet as the main means of communication do not understand enough the connection between their actions and significant events in life, do not consider themselves capable of controlling their development and believe that most of these events are the result of an accident or other people's actions.

Thus, it is possible to say that the Internet is a phenomenon of social reality, which has its pros and cons. In addition to the vast amount of information, the Internet is a huge area for people to communicate. Internet communication has its specific features and characteristics. Using various possibilities of the worldwide network leads to structural and functional changes in the mental activity of the individual.

References

Voiskunskiy, 2002 – *Voiskunskiy, A.E.* (2002). Issledovaniya Interneta v psikhologii. Internet i rossiyskoye obshchestvo [Internet research in Psychology. The Internet and Russian society]. Moscow: Gendalf.

Kulikova, 2018 – Kulikova, T.I. (2018). Internet-sreda kak faktor razvitiya sotsial'noy kompetentnosti sovremennogo podrostka [Internet environment as a factor in the development of social competence of modern teenager]. *Tsifrovoye obshchestvo kak kul'turno-istoricheskiy kontekst razvitiya cheloveka* [Digital society as a cultural and historical context of human development]: Collection of scientific articles and the proceedings of the International conference "Digital society as a cultural and historical context of human development." Kolomna: GSGU.

Kulagina, Tarasova, 2014 – Kulagina, Ya.M., Tarasova, I.Yu. (2014). Vliyaniye Interneta na sovremennuyu molodezh [Influence of the Internet on modern youth]. Aktualnyye voprosy obshchestvennykh nauk: sotsiologiya, politologiya, filosofiya, istoriya [Topical issues of social sciences: sociology, political science, philosophy, history]: Collection of scientific articles. The XXXV Intern. scientific-practical conf. No. 3(35). Novosibirsk: SibAK.

Borisnev, 2003 – Borisnev, S.V. (2003). Sotsiologiya kommunikatsii [Sociology of communication]. Moscow: Yuniti-Dana.

Young, 2000 – Young, K.S. (2000). *Diagnoz: Internet-zavisimost* [Diagnosis: Internet Addiction]. *Mir Interneta*, *2*, 24–29.

Shabalin, 2001 – Shabalin, V.V. (2001). Zavisimoye povedeniye shkolnikov [Dependent behavior of schoolchildren]. Saint-Petersburg: Sova.

Bridgett et al., 2015 – Bridgett, D.J., Burt, N.M., Edwards, E.S., Deater-Deckard, K. (2015). Intergenerational transmission of self-regulation: A multi-disciplinary review and integrative conceptual framework // Psychological Bulletin. 141 (3): 602–54.

Lynn et al., 2014 – *Lynn, M.T., Muhle-Karbe, P.S., Brass, M.* (2014). Controlling the self: the role of the dorsal frontomedian cortex in intentional inhibition. *Neuropsychologia*. 65: 247-54.

Berrige, Kringelbach, 2015 – Berrige, K.C., Kringelbach, M.L. (2015). Pleasure systems in the brain. *Neuron.* 86 (3): 646–64.

Buckholtz et al., 2010 – Buckholtz, J.W., Treadway, M.T. Cowan, R.L., Woodward N.D., Li, R., Ansarri, M.S., Baldwin, R.M., Schwartzman, A.N., Shelby, E.S., Smith, C.E., Kessler, R.M., Zald D.H. (2010). Dopaminergic network differences in human impulsivity. Science. 329 (5991): 532.

Bowlby, 1988 – *Bowlby, J.* (1988). A secure base: Parent-child attachment and healthy human development. New York, NY, US: Basic Books.

Pokrovskiy, 1989 – *Pokrovskiy, N.E.* (1989). Labirinty odinochestva [Labyrinths of loneliness]. Moscow: Progress.

Morozova, 2010 – *Morozova, O.N.* (2010). Osobennosti Internet-kommunikatsii: opredeleniye i svoystva [Features of Internet communication: definition and properties]. *Vestnik Leningradskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta im. A.S. Pushkina,* 5(1). [Electronic resource]. Access mode: http://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/osobennosti-internet-kommunikatsii-opredeleniei-svoystva

Kulikova, Maliy, 2015 – *Kulikova, T.I., Maliy, D.V.* (2015). Correlation between passion for computer games and school performance of younger schoolchildren. Psychology in Russia: State of the Art, 3(8), 124–136. doi: 10.11621/pir.2015.0310

Suler, 1996 – Suler, J. (1996). Computer and Cyberspace Addiction. V.1.8. [Electronic resource]. Access mode: http://www.rider.edu/~suler/psycyber/cybaddict.html

Ovcharova, 2000 – Ovcharova, R.V. (2000). Tekhnologii prakticheskogo psikhologa obrazovaniya: Uchebnoye posobiye dlya studentov vuzov i prakticheskikh rabotnikov [Technologies of the practical psychologist of education: Textbook for students and practitioners]. Moscow: Shopping center "Sphere".

Filippova, Shelispanskaya, 2017 – *Filippova, S.A., Shelispanskaya, E.V.* (2017). Fenomen neudovletvorennosti sobstvennym telom v yunosheskom vozraste: psikhologicheskiye prichiny i vozmozhnosti korrektsii [The phenomenon of dissatisfaction with one's own body in adolescence: psychological causes and opportunities for correction]. *Psikholog.* 4. 21–31.

Esaulova, 2017 – Esaulova, K.S. (2017). Predstavleniya lyudey raznogo vozrasta o sotsial'noy smelosti v real'nom obshchenii i internet-kommunikatsii [Representation of people of all ages about the social courage in real communication and Internet communication]: Dis. ... kand. psikh. nauk [Cand. thesis ... cand. psychol. sciences]. Moscow.

Karpova, 2013 – Karpova, D.N. (2013). Internet-kommunikatsiya: novyye vyzovy dlya molodezhi [Internet communication: new challenges for young people]. MGIMO Review of International Relations, 5(32). 208–212.

Kondratyeva, 2000 – *Kondratyeva, T.V.* (2000). Vozdeystviye iskusstvennogo intellekta na lichnost [The Impact of Artificial Intelligence on Personality]. *Chelovek v sisteme sotsiokulturnykh otnosheniy* [Individual in the System of Socio-Cultural Relations]. Collection of scientific articles. Moscow, 3, 101.

Vozmitel, Osadchaya, 2010 – Vozmitel, A.A., Osadchaya, G.I. (2010). Obraz zhizni v Rossii: dinamika izmeneniy [Lifestyle in Russia: dynamics of changes]. *Sotsiologicheskiye issledovaniya*, 1, 20.



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 531-540 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.531 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Investigation of the Relationship between Teaching and Learning Conceptions and Epistemological Beliefs among Student Teachers from Hashemite University in Jordan

Ahmad M. Mahasneh ^a,*

^a Hashemite University, Jordan

Abstract

This study aimed to analyzing the relationship between student teachers teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs. The study sample is composed of 250 undergraduate student teachers attending the faculty of Educational Science. The Conceptions of Teaching and Learning Questionnaire (CTLQ) and Epistemological Beliefs Scale (EBS) were the sources of data collection. The study results showed significant gender-based differences in teaching and learning conceptions based on student teachers' gender. A significant relationship was also found between student teachers' teaching and learning conceptions and their epistemological beliefs.

Keywords: teaching and learning conceptions, epistemological beliefs, student teachers.

1. Introduction

Gaining an insight into the learning and teaching conceptions held by teachers may well be of interest to both teachers and educational institutions. Since the teachers' conceptions are not wholly the result of conscious decisions, encouraging them to reflect deeply may trigger responses engendering modification of the conceptions (Ho; Watkins, Kelly, 2001). From the institute's perspective, such an overview could be a valuable data resource if, for instance, curricula were under review and likely to become more student-centered. Teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning are defined by Chan and Elliott (2004) as "the beliefs held by teachers about their preferred ways of teaching and learning" (p. 819) including what teaching and learning actually mean, and the teacher-pupil relationship.

The two distinct and opposing conceptions in teaching and learning are known as the traditional and the constructive, the traditional conception being based on teacher-centered methods where he/she is the knowledge source and the student merely the passive recipient.

* Corresponding author

E-mail addresses: dahmadmahasneh1975@yahoo.com (A.M. Mahasneh)

The theories propounded by Piaget and Vygotsky form the basis of the Constructivist conception, which is diametrically opposed to the Traditional, in stressing the significance and value of active, practical experience and participation by the learner in his/her knowledge-building, and the positive impact of a child's interaction with peers or adults is stressed by both Vogostsky and Miller (1997).

Therefore, the basic tenets of constructivism are as follows: the child is not a passive recipient of knowledge, but an active participant in his/her knowledge-building, physically and intellectually, contributing meaningfully and positively by assimilating and incorporating new knowledge with that already held. According to Clements and Battista (1990), each individual's conception of the world is inevitably based on his/her childhood environment, social interaction, and life experiences, which all contribute to the view of learning as a social process whereby the child's intellectual growth may be either stimulated or stunted by the intellectual environment. This is in direct contrast to constructivism, which is centered on developing critical thinking and an ethos of cooperation and teamwork, where the learning environment is stimulating and pro-active (Chan, Elliot, 2004; Cheng et al., 2009).

There is an abundance of literature examining the various ways in which teachers and students view learning, the studies undertaken for a variety of reasons and purposes, but according to Chan, Tan, and Khoo (2007), Meirink, Meijer, Verloop, and Bergen (2009), Saban (2003), Saban, Kocbecker, and Saban (2007), many are conducted on the basic premise that teachers' beliefs regarding teaching and learning conceptions are two distinct subjects which can be considered separately, without the one having any bearing on the other.

The primary focus of studies by Saban (2003) and Saban et al. (2007) for example, is the beliefs held by teachers regarding teaching while relegating their beliefs regarding learning to a mere offshoot of the research.

On the other hand, the deep layers of teacher cognition have become the focus of abundant studies oriented toward its psychological aspects, initially investigating the epistemological beliefs of teachers and correlating them with the teachers' actual teaching behavior, which is revealed in many studies to be their prime concern (Chai et al., 2009; Hofer, Pintrich, 1997; Maggioni, Parkinson, 2008; Wong et al., 2009). However, as noted by Hofer and Pirnrich (1997) our understanding of students' and teachers' beliefs, thoughts, and thinking about knowledge will be advanced by exploration of developing epistemological theories, which aid greater comprehension of the complex process of teaching and learning in classrooms.

Researchers have long been aware of the popularity of student teachers' conceptions of learning and teaching as a study topic, due in no small measure to its impact on not only learning strategies and outcomes, but also on students' motivation. Studies by Pillay, Purdie & Boulton-Lewis (2000), Purdie and Hattie (2002), Purdie, Hattie and Douglas (1996), also illustrate the effect of these conceptions on learning outcome quality.

Another popular topic creating an abundance of studies is the exploration of consistency between teachers' approaches to teaching and their teaching and learning conceptions (Chan et al., 2007; Hewson, Kerby, 1993; Koballa et al., 2005) while other researchers have identified specific attributes attached to these conceptions such as being nested (Koballa et al., 2000; Tsai, 2002), culture dependent (Chan et al., 2007; Tsai, 2004), domain-specific (Eren, 2009; Tsai, 2004), and suggested relationships including those with epistemological beliefs (Chan, Elliott, 2004; Otting et al., 2010) and self-efficacy beliefs (Eren, 2009).

A number of cognitive variables can impact the processes of both teaching and learning, among the most important of which are epistemological beliefs and teaching and learning conceptions. Epistemological beliefs are defined as expressions of belief in the nature of knowledge and its acquisition or learning. A definition of personal epistemological belief is given by Schommer, who describes it as a five-dimensional system (knowledge organization, certainty of knowledge, source of knowledge, control and speed of knowledge acquisition) whereby each dimension may be used individually or in combination, with these beliefs exerting a strong influence on both individual and general cognitive and meta-cognitive thought processes (Schommer, 1990, 1994).

According to Chan and Elliot (2004), Cheng, Chan, Tang and Cheng (2009), recent studies have illustrated a mutual effect between epistemological beliefs and teaching and learning conceptions, whereby each is influenced by the other. As explained by Schommer (1990, 1994), epistemological beliefs can be regarded as individual traits, since they reflect a person's particularities relating to the nature and acquisition of knowledge. While Hofer (2001) regards epistemological beliefs as comprising the following when defining knowledge: its construction, method of evaluation, where it is based, and how it transpires.

Although epistemological beliefs may be considered a unit or entity, they do at the same time comprise a belief system with five independent dimensions, including such as: the source of knowledge, its structure/organization, its stability, and speed and control of learning (Schommer, 1990) notes that the differing individual levels of epistemological beliefs are related to the individual's level of sophistication, worldliness, educational background etc., therefore an educated person is more likely to believe that knowledge is neither certain nor absolute, that it is neither perfect nor complete, that an unknown mass has yet to be discovered, and that only a small portion of it is constant. Such individuals will naturally bring a critical approach to what they read, whereas the epistemological beliefs of those from a more limited background will be naïve, believing most knowledge to be assured and constant, that some knowledge will be of recent discovery, but that the main body of knowledge is immutable, consequently these individuals are credulous and gullible, believing and being influenced by whatever they read (Aypay, 2011a; 2011b; Deryakulu, 2002; Schommer, 1990, 1994).

Schommer (1990) purport that the differences in individuals' epistemological beliefs will therefore impact their success and achievement particularly in the academic field, since those with a background in critical thinking and evaluation of knowledge, familiar with time-management, prioritizing, and other learning/study strategies will be more aware of the extent to which they are absorbing and understanding the new knowledge.

A number of researchers including Brownlee, Purdie & Boulton-Lewis, (2001), Hofer and Pintrich (1997), Tolhurst (2007), pinpoint the ways in which epistemological beliefs influence variables, such as individuals' methods of handling the new knowledge, levels of comprehension, interpretation, use of inference and deduction, study strategy choices, thought processes and problem-solving, and the time and effort expended in learning. Additionally, Hofer and Pintrich, (1997, 2002), provide insight into epistemological beliefs as a branch of philosophy dedicated to exploring the spectrum of human knowledge, its origin, nature, methods and limits. The importance of these beliefs lies in their broad sphere of influence, since they are core values or concepts whose function is associated with the majority of beliefs and knowledge. In his study, Perry (1970)presents the hypothesis that during development of students' epistemological beliefs, they progress through definite strata: (1) dualism, (2) multiplism, (3) relativism, and (4) commitment. Schommer (1994) presented an expansion of Perry's work and illustrated four dimensions within four perspectives of epistemological beliefs, ranging between naïve and sophisticated.

The beliefs of higher-scale, sophisticated learners accept that a minimal amount of knowledge is invariable, some knowledge is yet to be revealed, and an immense body of knowledge is evolving. These beliefs are in direct contrast to those of naïve learners, that an immense body of information is certain, some knowledge remains to be discovered, and a minimal amount of knowledge is changing.

The purpose of the present research is to perform an analysis of the correlations between student teachers' epistemological beliefs and their teaching and learning conceptions in the Jordanian higher education context.

Study questions

This study aimed to answer the following questions:

Questions One: What are the teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs held by the student teachers?

Question Two: Are there any significant differences in teaching and learning conceptions of student teachers based on gender?

Questions Three: Is there a significant relationship between teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs?

2. Study Methodology

Participants

The participants consisted of 250 student teachers at the Faculty of Educational Science, Hashemite University. Of the participants, 66 were male (26.4 %) and 184 female (73.6 %). Of the student teachers 66 (26.4 %) were first year, 58 (23.2 %) second year, 39 (15.6) third year, and 87 (34.8) fourth year, participants' ages ranging from 18 to 22 years (M=20.12; SD=2.66).

Data collection tools

In the current study, two data collection tools were used: Teaching and Learning Conceptions Questionnaire (TLCQ) which was developed by Chan and Elliot (2004), includes 30 items measuring two different conceptions, teaching and learning. The first conception, constructivist method comprises 12 items, and traditional method 18 items. The TLCQ was scored on a five point Likert scale ranging from (1) never to (5) always. Chan and Elliot (2004) calculated that the internal consistency of the questionnaire using Cronbach alpha was 0.84. For the purpose of the current study, the questionnaire was translated into the Arabic language and referred to three faculty members for language accuracy verification. The author calculated that the internal consistency of the questionnaire using Cronbach alpha was 0.85 for constructivist conception, and 0.81 for traditional conception.

The second tool was the Epistemological Beliefs Scale (EBS) which was developed by Chan and Elliot (2004), includes 30 items measuring four subscales for epistemological beliefs (1) innate/fixed ability (13) items, (2) learning effort/process (6) items, (3) authority/expert knowledge (6) items, and (4) certainty knowledge (5) items. The EBS was scored on a five point Likert scale ranging from (1) strongly disagree never to (5) strongly agree. Chan and Elliot (2004) calculated the internal consistency of the instrument using Cronbach alpha was 0.84. For the purpose of the current study the scale was translated into the Arabic language and referred to three faculty members to check for language accuracy. The author calculated the internal consistency of the instrument by using Cronbach alpha was 0.82, 0.85, 0.77, and 0.81 for innate/fixed ability, learning effort/process, authority/expert knowledge, and certainty knowledge respectively.

The participants answer the Teaching and Learning Conceptions Questionnaire (TLCQ) and Epistemological Beliefs Scale (EBS) during approximately 40 minutes of their regular class time.

Data analysis

The mean and standard deviation for each of the subscales of teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs were obtained. Independent sample t-test was used to determine whether there are a significant differences in the subscale of teaching and learning conceptions based on gender, the t-test determine whether there is a significant differences between the means in two unrelated groups, the Pearson correlation coefficient was used to determine whether there is a significant relationship among the subscales of teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs, and multiple regression analysis was used to show the predictability of epistemological beliefs to teaching and learning conceptions. The SPSS (v. 20) was used for all these statistical procedures.

3. Results

Question One: What are the teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs held by the student teachers?

To achieve this objective, illustrative statistics including means and standard deviation were used to explain the student teachers teaching and learning conceptions. Table 1 presents means and standard deviation for each dimension.

Table 1. Means and standard deviation of teaching and learning conceptions

Dimensions	Means	Standard Deviation
Constructivist Conception	3.43	0.99
Traditional Conception	3.04	0.67

The results showed mean scores of student teachers' teaching and learning conceptions ranging from 3.04 to 3.43. Constructive conception dimensions had the highest mean value (M=3.43, SD=0.99), followed by traditional conception (M=3.04, SD=0.67).

To determine the means of each dimensions of epistemological beliefs, Table 2 presents means and standard deviation for each dimension.

Table 2. Means and standard deviation of epistemological beliefs

Dimensions	Means	Standard Deviation
Innate/Fixed Ability	2.87	0.57
Learning Effort/Process	3.33	0.83
Authority/Expert Knowledge	2.92	0.63
Certainty Knowledge	3.04	0.86

The means scores and standard deviation were used to explain the student teachers' epistemological beliefs. The results showed that the mean scores of student teachers' epistemological beliefs ranging from 2.87 to 3.33. Learning effort/ process dimensions had the highest mean value (M=3.33, SD=0.83), followed by certainty knowledge (M=3.04, SD=0.86), and then by authority/expert knowledge (M=2.92, SD=0.63). The lowest mean scores wherefore the innate/fixed ability (M=2.87, SD=0.57).

Question Two: Are there any significant differences in teaching and learning conceptions of student teachers based on gender?

To determine whether significant differences exist between student teachers' teaching and learning conceptions according to student gender. Table 3 presents t-test, means and standard deviation for each dimension.

Table 3. t-test results of teaching and learning conceptions based on gender

Dimensions	Gender	Mean	S.D	t	Sig
Constructivist	Male	2.59	0.87	-9.289	0.00
Conception	Female	3.74	0.84		
Traditional	Male	2.77	0.83	-3.846	0.00
Conception	Female	3.14	0.58		

The results showed significant differences student teachers' gender in teaching and learning conceptions. For the constructive conception dimension, female students' mean score (M=3.74, SD=0.84) was higher than that of male students (M=2.59, SD=0.87), and for the traditional conception dimensions the female students' mean score (M=3.14, SD=0.58) was higher than that of male students (M=2.77, SD=0.83). The t value of the constructivist conception was (-9.298), and the t value of traditional conception was (-3.846).

Question Three: Is there a significant relationship between teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs?

To answer this question, Pearson correlation coefficient was used between teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs. Table 4 provides the detailed results of this correlation analysis.

Table 4. Correlation matrix of teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs

Dimensions	1	2	3	4	5	6
Constructivist	1					
Conception						
Traditional	0.64*	1				
Conception						
Innate/Fixed	0.58*	0.72^{*}	1			
Ability						

Learning	0.79*	0.66*	0.68*	1		
Effort/Process						
Authority/Expert	0.55^{*}	0.69*	0.74*	0.64*	1	
Knowledge						
Certainty	0.56*	0.71*	0.62*	0.66*	0.62*	1
Knowledge						

(1 - Constructivist Conception, 2 - Traditional Conception, 3 - Innate/Fixed Ability,

4 – Learning Effort/Process, 5 – Authority/Expert Knowledge, 6 – Certainty Knowledge). *(P<0.01)

The results showed a statistically significant relationship between teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs. The Pearson correlation value ranges from 0.55 to 0.79 between constructive conception and dimensions of epistemological beliefs, and the Pearson correlation value ranging from 0.66 to 0.72 between traditional conception and dimensions of epistemological beliefs.

Multiple regression analysis:

Table 5 shows the results of the stepwise regression analysis using epistemological beliefs as predicted teaching and learning conceptions.

Epistemological beliefs	Teaching and learning conceptions	R	R ²	F	β	Т	sig
Innate/Fixed Ability					.584	11.328	0.00
Learning Effort/Process	Constructivist	0.795	0.633	105.555	.792	20.452	0.00
Authority/Expert Knowledge	Conception				.556	10.536	0.00
Certainty Knowledge					.563	10.720	0.00
Innate/Fixed Ability					.728	16.713	0.00
Learning Effort/Process	Traditional Conception	0.814	0.663	120.686	.662	13.905	0.00
Authority/Expert Knowledge	-				.691	15.043	0.00
Certainty Knowledge					.715	16.109	0.00

Table 5. Hierarchical regression of epistemological beliefs and teaching and learning conceptions

As shown in Table 5, the results indicate that the epistemological beliefs are significant predictors of constructivist conception: $R^2 = 0.633$, F = 105.555, P<0.005. These results were supported by the close to moderate correlation between four variables (r=0.795), approximately 63.3 % of the variance in student constructivist conception was accounted for by epistemological beliefs. Epistemological beliefs are significant predictors of traditional conception: $R^2 = 0.663$, F = 120.686, P<0.005. These results were supported by the close to moderate correlation between four variables (r= 0.814), approximately 66.3 % of the variance in student traditional conception was accounted for by epistemological beliefs.

4. Discussion

There have been many past studies covering a wide range of cultural and academic contexts, to examine the factors contributing to the relationship in higher education institutions between teachers' instructional practice, and their teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs. This present study is an investigation into the teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs of undergraduate student teachers in the Jordanian higher education context.

The results of question one showed that the constructive conception dimension had the highest mean value (M=3.43), followed by traditional conception (M=3.04), while the epistemological beliefs learning effort/process dimensions had the highest mean value (M=3.33), followed by certainty knowledge (M=3.04), and then by authority/expert knowledge (M=2.92). The lowest mean scores for the innate/ fixed ability (M=2.87).

The results of question two showed that there are significant differences in teaching and learning conceptions based on student teachers' gender. For the constructive conception dimensions female students' mean score (M=3.74) was higher than of male students (M=2.59) and the t value was (-9.289). In other words, that there was a statistically significant difference between male and female student teachers' with respect to constructive conception dimensions of teaching and learning conceptions, in favor of the female students, who held more sophisticated beliefs about constructive conception than their male counterparts. This means that female students' beliefs about learning provides them with ample opportunities to explore, discuss and express their ideas, demonstrating that good teachers always encourage students to think and find answers for themselves. For the traditional conception dimensions the female students' mean score (M=3.14)was higher than that of male students (M=2.77) and the t value was (-3.846). In other words, there was a statistically significant difference between female student teachers and their male counterparts with respect to traditional conception dimensions of teaching and learning conceptions, in favor of female students, due to their more sophisticated beliefs about traditional conception than male students. This illustrates that female students' beliefs about learning is based on students remembering what the teacher has taught, and see the major task of teachers as the passing on of knowledge and information.

The results of question three showed positive significant relationship between all subscales of the teaching and learning conceptions and all subscales of the epistemological beliefs. This is an indication that the mean scores of both teaching and learning conceptions and epistemological beliefs were increasing concurrently. Green (1971), postulates that the organization of these conceptions into isolated clusters consequently permits the clustering of central beliefs.

The fact that this present study illustrates the student teachers holding teaching and learning conceptions as well as epistemological beliefs simultaneously, lead the researcher to expect their formation into a coherent network, the phenomenon explained by Green's explanation of the contradictory beliefs cluster.

A study by Chan and Elliot (2004) indicates the possibility of epistemological beliefs influencing learning conceptions, while Sheppard and Gilbert (1991) also found that conceptions about learning and the development of learners' epistemological beliefs may be influenced by both the teachers' theories of teaching, and the perceptions of learners with regard to learning approaches.

The findings demonstrated by the present study indicate the possibility of a causal relationship linking the three dimensions of epistemological beliefs: learning effort, expert knowledge and certainty of knowledge, and their influence on conceptions of teaching and learning, and indicate that students who evaluate their personal learning efforts and expertise positively and are less teacher-dependent, hold constructivist conceptions of teaching and learning, whereas those students believing in the certainty of knowledge and reliant on teacher expertise tend to hold traditional conceptions of teaching and learning.

The Hashemite University practices a constructivist philosophy of education consistent with the significant relationships that we have established between the learning/effort process dimension of the epistemological beliefs and constructivist conception of teaching and learning. This concept appears to be recognized and appreciated by the student body awareness of the great importance our university attaches to self-directed and collaborative learning, and the advantages of focusing on solving authentic tasks in a problem-based learning environment. In their study, Hofer and Pintrich (1997), explain that individual beliefs concerning the nature of knowledge and the nature of knowing are termed epistemological beliefs, recognizing that beliefs about the nature of knowledge are inextricably related to beliefs about the nature of learning.

Chan and Elliot (2004) established links between epistemological beliefs and teaching and learning conceptions, finding significant pathways linking the three epistemological beliefs factors, fixed/innate ability, authority/expert knowledge and certainty of knowledge, and the traditional teaching and learning conception, and additionally, found a pathway linking the constructivist conception of teaching and learning with the learning effort/process epistemological beliefs factor.

5. Conclusion

The resultant findings of this present study are equally important for both students and faculty members, since the instructors need to realize the probability of the teaching process becoming an effective variable in the students epistemological beliefs, opening doors to new vistas and stimulating novel alternative solutions and ideas from the students, while similarly, instructors may benefit by helping them to explore the teaching and learning conceptions of the students in their classes, thus encouraging positive student attitudes towards their classes.

A comparison of the epistemological beliefs of the instructors and students, as well as an exploration of the students' personal characteristics as opposed to focusing solely on their educational characteristics, might make a positive contribution to a wider, deeper understanding of the topic in further studies.

Further research could also explore the relationship between teachers' personal characteristics such as their work ethic commitment, self-efficacy and motivation, and the contemporary changes in conceptions of learning and teaching. The researcher therefore recommends a mixed-method approach, combining qualitative and quantitative study designs.

6. Limitation

Notwithstanding these promising findings, there are a couple of noteworthy limitations. Firstly, the study sample for the present study was drawn solely from an undergraduate student teachers population. Valuable future research into the psychometric qualities of the teaching and learning and epistemological beliefs scales could well encompass other populations such as secondary school students, for example. The second limitation of the current study is seen as its only being able to infer correlation, but not causal relationship. Finally, this study conducted in the Hashemite University because a researcher as work in it.

References

Aypay, 2011a – Aypay, A. (2011a). Öğretme ve öğrenme anlayışları ölçeği'nin Türkiye uyarlaması ve epistemolojik inançlar ile öğretme ve öğrenme anlayışları arasındaki ilişkiler. Kuram ve Uygulamada Eğitim Bilimleri, 11(1), 7–29. [in Turkish]

Aypay, 2011b – Aypay, A. (2011b). Epistemolojik inançlar ölçeğinin Türkiye uyarlaması ve öğretmen adaylarının epistemolojik inançlarının incelenmesi. Eskişehir Osmangazi Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, 12(1), 1–15. [in Turkish]

Brownlee et al., 2001 – *Brownlee, J., Purdie, N., Boulton-Lewis, G.* (2001). Changing epistemological beliefs in pre-service teacher education students. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 6, 247–268.

Chai et al., 2009 – *Chai, C.S., Teo, T., Lee, C.B.* (2009). The change in epistemological beliefs and beliefs about teaching and learning: a study among pre-service teachers. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 37(4), 351–362.

Chan, Elliot, 2004 – *Chan, K.W., Elliot, R.G.* (2004). Relational analysis of personal epistemology and conceptions about teaching and learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 20, 817–831.

Chan et al., 2007 – *Chan, K., Tan, J., Khoo, A.* (2007). Pre-service teachers' conceptions about teaching and learning: a closer look at Singapore cultural context. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 35(2), 181–195.

Cheng et al., 2009 – *Cheng, M.H., Chan, K.W., Tang, S.Y.F., & Cheng, A.Y.N.* (2009). Preservice teacher education students' epistemological beliefs and their conceptions of teaching. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25, 319–327.

Clements, Battista, 1990 – *Clements, D.H., Battista, M.T.* (1990). Constructivist learning and teaching. *Arithmetic Teacher*, 38 (1), 34–35.

Deryakulu, 2002 – Deryakulu, D. (2002). Denetim odağı ve epistemolojik inançların öğretim materyalini kavramayı denetleme türü ve düzeyi ile ilişkisi. Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 22, 55–61.

Eren, 2009 – *Eren, A.* (2009). Examining the teacher efficacy and achievement goals as predictors of Turkish student teachers' conceptions about teaching and learning. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 34(1), 69–87.

Green, 1971 – Green, T. (1971). The activities of teaching New York: McGraw-Hill.

Hewson et al., 1993 – *Hewson, P.W., Kerby, H.W.* (1993). Conceptions of teaching science held by experienced high school science teachers. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Association for Research in Science Teaching, Washington, DC.ERIC ED 364426.

Ho et al., 2001 – *Ho, A., Watkins, D., Kelly, M.* (2001). The conceptual change approach to improving teaching and learning: An evaluation of a Hong Kong staff development programmer. *Higher Education*, 42, 143–169.

Hofer, 2001 – *Hofer, B.K.* (2001). Personal epistemology research: Implications for learning and teaching. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13, 353–383.

Hofer, Pintrich, 1997 – Hofer, B., Pintrich, P.R. (1997). Development of epistemological theories: beliefs about knowledge and knowing and their relations to learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 67, 88–140.

Hofer, Pintrich, 2002 – *Hofer, B., Pintrich, P.* (2002). Epistemology: The psychology of beliefs about knowledge and knowing. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

Koballa et al., 2005 – Koballa, T.R., Glynn, S.M., Upson, L. & Coleman, D.C. (2005). Conceptions of teaching science held by novice teachers in an alternative certification program. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 16, 287–308.

Koballa et al., 2000 – Koballa, T.R, Graber, W., Coleman, D.C., Kemp, A.C. (2000). Prospective gymnasiumteachers' conceptions of chemistry learning and teaching. *International Journal of Science Education*, 22(2), 209–22.

Maggioni, Parkinson, 2008 – Maggioni, L., Parkinson, M.M. (2008). The role of teacher epistemic cognition, epistemic beliefs, and calibration in instruction. *Educational Psychology Review*, 20(4), 445–461.

Meirink et al., 2009 – *Meirink, J.A., Meijer, P.C., Verloop, N., Bergen, C.M.* (2009). Understanding teacher learning in secondary education: The relations of teacher activities to changed beliefs about teaching and learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *25*(1), 89–100.

Miller, 1997 – *Miller, P.H.* (1997). Theories of developmental psychology (5thed.). New York: W.H. Freeman and Company.

Otting et al., 2010 – Otting, H., Zwall, W., Tempelaar, D., Gijselaers, W. (2010). The structural relationship between students' epistemological beliefs and conceptions of teaching and learning. Studies in Higher Education, 35(7), 741–760.

Perry, 1970 – *Perry, W.G.* (1970). Forms of intellectual and ethical development in the college years: A scheme. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.

Pillay et al., 2000 – Pillay, H., Purdie, N., Boulton-Lewis, G. (2000). Investigating crosscultural variations in conceptions of learning and the use of self-regulated strategies. *Education Journal*, 28(1), 65–84.

Purdie, Hattie, 2002 – Purdie, N., Hattie, J. (2002). Assessing students' conceptions of learning. *Australian Journal of Educational and Developmental Psychology*, 2, 17–32.

Purdie et al., 1996 – Purdie, N., Hattie, J., Douglas, G. (1996). Student conceptions of learning and their use of self-regulated learning strategies: Across-cultural comparison. Journal of Educational Psychology, 88(1), 87–100.

Saban, 2003 – Saban, A. (2003). A Turkish profile of prospective elementary school teachers and their views of teaching. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *19*(8), 829–846.

Saban et al., 2007 – Saban, A., Kocbecker, B.N., Saban, A. (2007). Prospective teachers' conceptions of teaching and learning revealed through metaphor analysis. *Learning and Instruction*, 17, 123–139.

Sheppard, Gilbert, 1991 – Sheppard, C., Gilbert, J. (1991) Course design, teaching method, and student epistemology. *Higher Education*, 22, 229–249.

Schommer, 1990 – *Schommer, M.* (1990). Effects of beliefs about the nature of knowledge on comprehension. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 498–504.

Schommer, 1994 – *Schommer, M.* (1994). Synthesizing epistemological belief research: Tentative understandings and provocative confusions. *Educational Psychology Review*, 6(4), 293–319.

Tsai, 2002 – *Tsai, C.-C.* (2002). Nested epistemologies: science teachers' beliefs of teaching, learning and science. *International Journal of Science Education*, 24(8), 771-783.

Tsai, 2004 – *Tsai, C.-C.* (2004). Conceptions of learning science among high school students in Taiwan: A phenomenographic analysis. *International Journal of Science Education*, 26(14), 1733–1750.

Tolhurst, 2007 – *Tolhurst, D.* (2007). The influence of learning environments on students' epistemological beliefs and learning outcomes. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 12(2), 219–233.

Wong et al., 2009 – Wong, A.K., Chan, K., Lai, P. (2009). Revisiting the relationship of epistemological beliefs and conceptions about teaching and learning of pre-service teachers in Hong Kong. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researchers*, 18(1), 1–19.



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 541-553 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.541 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Civil Values Awareness Formation in High School Students within the Educational Process

Irina V. Romanova ^a, Larisa N. Ponomarenko ^a, ^{*}, Andrey N. Kibishev ^a, Maria M. Susloparova ^a

^a Vyatka State University, Kirov, Russian Federation

Abstract

The paper covers some conceptual ideas, experience and certain results of forming civil awareness in high-school students of senior grades during the education process. Novelty of the presented paper lies in a comprehensive approach to the issue of the civil awareness formation in high-school senior graders. In this respect the article focuses on the idea of integrating the notion of civil values into the educational process. Such values are called upon to bridge the gap between education and upbringing. The article brings forward the essence and structure of civil values awareness in senior-graders. The paper demonstrates the formation model of the afore-mentioned civil values awareness in students of senior grades. The authors have defined the set of pedagogical conditions required to effectively form civil values awareness in senior-graders, and have developed the evaluation criteria of the extent to which the civil values awareness is developed. Based on the criteria a diagnostic method has been created to evaluate the level of the formed civil values awareness. In the course of research conventional theoretical methods as well empirical methods were used, the preferred one of which was a pedagogical experiment. The authors pointed out the educational process itself is the driving force behind the effective formation of the civil values awareness in the senior-graders, and the process is based on the system of universal human values, national values, and democratic values, which in their turn make the civil values awareness category meaningful. Moreover, the study proved the idea that civil values awareness among the senior-graders is formed in an integrated way both in educational and upbringing activities as well as in extracurricular activity.

Keywords: values awareness, students of senior grades, pedagogical model, pedagogical conditions, educational activities

^{*} Corresponding author E-mail addresses: vsu_pon-ko@mail.ru (L.N. Ponomarenko)

1. Introduction

A proven foundation of objectives and values orientation in education is the key element to the success of reorganization and reforms in the field of education. The issue of inclusion of civil values into the educational doctrine for the contemporary high school became quite a pressing one in Russia's condition of emerging civil society. In this regard, the future citizen requires the ability to follow democratic principles and solve problems, coming to a just and socially acceptable solution. Thus, the objective of civil education at the present stage becomes helping senior-grade students obtain experience of democratic conduct, creation of conditions for self-determination. The necessary prerequisite for the senior-graders' self-determination is the formation of civil values awareness. This awareness should be based on mutual spiritual creativity among adults and children directed at comprehension of the civil society's democratic ideals.

Currently we can observe two main trends in the study of values awareness. On the one hand, there have been attempts at creating generalized theories of structure and functioning of a person's behavioral value regulators. In the framework of this study various characteristics of values awareness are developed: (by A.G. Zdravomyslov, M.S. Kagan (Kagan, 1997), V.A. Yadov); the formation mechanism (works by L.M. Arkhangelsky, V.V. Vodzinskaya); hierarchy (S.S. Bubnova, I. G. Dubov). Regulatory role of values awareness in a person's life is researched by M.I. Bobneva, I. Yu. Istoshin.

On the other hand, the study of values awareness is taking on the applied nature, which fact is reflected in papers dedicated to the issues of youth and education. Both the structure and dynamics of value orientation among various youth groups, differentiated by their social, regional, and age characteristics, have been studied (by K.G. Gurova (Gurova, 2000), V.T. Lisovsky (Lisovsky, 2000) et al.); methods of forming values awareness in students under varying conditions and as a part of different academic disciplines (I.V. Redina (Redina, 1999), U.F. Yashchenko (Yashchenko, 1996) et al.). It is possible to set aside a separate group of studies dedicated to the formation of a certain set of values among the youth: spiritual values (by T.I. Petrakova); labour values (by P. R. Ignatenko); professional values (A.Ya. Boev) at al.

Value orientations are the object of numerous studies by foreign scientists (P. White (White, 1996), K. Lucier, A. Maslow (Maslow, 1999), K. Mosher, G. Allport (Allport, 1998), M. Rokeach, V. Frankl, et al.).

To understand the specifics of the civil values awareness formation process in high school students, it was important for us to comprehend modern concepts of civic education and upbringing (L.I. Amanbaeva, T.V. Bolotina (Bolotina, 2002), O.V. Lebedeva (Lebedeva, 2004), A.S. Gayazov, M.A. Shkrobova (Shkrobova, 2001), I.D. Frumin).

At present, Russian pedagogy has developed methodological grounds for the study of the civil values awareness formation in high school students. However, this problem in its entirety as a consistent phenomenon in its historical, social, psychological and technological aspects has not been viewed as the subject of a special study yet. The aspect that is important in the theoretical and practical sense, which reveals the role of the educational process as a specifically organized, purposeful interaction of educators and pupils in the formation of civil values awareness in senior-graders, remains insufficiently researched.

Thus, the following objectives of our study have been set: 1) to develop a pedagogical model for the formation of civil values awareness in high school students in the educational process and to determine the criteria and levels of the formation of civil values awareness of high school students; 2) identify and substantiate a set of pedagogical conditions for the effective formation of civil values awareness in high school students in the educational process.

2. Materials and Methods

The theoretical and methodological basis of our research is: at the general philosophical level - the doctrine of the individual as the subject of the value assimilation of reality (A.G. Zdravomyslov, V.P. Tugarinov), the cultural and historical theory of value development (G.P. Vyzhletsov, M.G. Kagan); at the general scientific level - the theory of the education axiology (N.A. Astashova (Astashova, 2001), V.A. Karakovsky, N.D. Nikandrov); at the scientific and pedagogical level - personal and activity approaches (K.A. Abulkhanova-Slavskaya (Abulkhanova-Slavskaya, 1991), B.G. Ananyev, A.N. Leontiev, S.L. Rubinstein), the essence and laws of an

individual's value orientations, the psychological and pedagogical mechanisms of their formation (L.M. Arkhangelsky, A.V. Kiryakova (Kiryakova, 1996), L.I. Bozhovich,); ideas of a person-centered approach (E.V. Bondarevskaya, I. S. Yakimanskaya), works on the issue of civil and legal education (A.F. Nikitin, V.A. Sukhomlinsky, G.N. Filonov, N.I. Eliasberg); technology of education of integrative personal properties in a democratic school (O.S. Gazman, A.N. Tubelsky), the methodology of pedagogical research (Yu. K. Babansky, B. S. Gershunsky (Gershunsky, 2003), V.I. Zagvyazinsky).

The research methods have been quite comprehensive in their nature and included the following: theoretical ones: the analysis of publications on the research matter; analysis and systematization of the existing experience on civil awareness development accumulated in the domestic and international pedagogy; empirical ones: a pedagogical experiment, observation from within, polling, interviewing, expert evaluation, testing, analysis of senior-graders' creativity; methods of mathematical and statistical analysis of experiment-obtained data. The reliability of the results was confirmed by calculations based on the Wilcoxon and Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney criteria.

The study was done in several stages within the period from 2000 to 2005 years. The senior grades students of Kirov secondary schools (Nº 34, 36) took part in the experiment. In addition, the experimental base included the State Center for Children and Youth Tourism and Excursions; the scientific and research association "TRIZ" at the Museum of the public education history in Kirov. The study involved 2 groups of students, 285 pupils in the experimental group and 97 pupils in the control group, the total number of 382 students.

Stage one – the research and theoretical one (2000-2001) – was dedicated to the theoretical analysis of the studied problem. Stage two – the experimental one (2002-2004) – was focused on developing the program of the formative experiment. As per the study's objective we developed and tested "Kirov: Past, Present, and Future" teaching aid in the experimental group. As a part of extracurricular educational activities the teaching unit "The Future Of Russia Is In The Hands Of Her Citizens" was developed and tested. The formative experiment was accompanied by diagnostic procedures that monitored the dynamics of the development of civil values awareness of high school students. Stage three – the theoretical and analytical one (2004-2005), we analyzed the obtained data, made general conclusions, evaluated the hypothesis proven level as well as the extent to which the objectives were reached.

Based on the works of the following researchers as A.V. Kiryakova, D.A. Leontiev, S.L. Rubinstein, V.A. Yadov, we have defined the values awareness category as a sustainable attitude to the value of material and spiritual goods, values and ideals making a person strive to reach them and guiding him/her in his/her behavior and actions.

The content of education is determined by the content of the value orientations adopted in the pedagogical system. Content analysis of the value systems proposed by educators made it possible for us to single out those values that define a citizen's relationship to the things sacred to the State and the Nation – State/National values. Also, from the total system of values we isolated values tied to the formation of a person's relationship to values of civil society, and namely, the democratic values. By universal human values we mean moral guidelines that regulate people's lives. This study resulted in the idea that the educational process itself is the driving force behind the effective formation of the civil values awareness in the high school students, when the process is based on the system of universal human values, national/state values, and democratic values, which in their turn make the civil values awareness category meaningful. The civil value guidelines are such concepts as love for the Motherland, national culture, social justice, humane treatment of man, human rights, etc. The theoretical analysis of the researched matter has led to the validation of the definition of the civil values awareness category as a person's value attitude to the democratic ideals of the civil society, expressed in their awareness, felt as a need, acceptance on a positive emotional level, development in various types of socially important activity.

Based on the theory of a personality as a subject of reality values comprehension, the education axiology theory, individual's activity approach, and the technology of a person's integrated properties development in democratic school we have developed a pedagogic model to help form civil values awareness in senior-grade students. The model has the following structural units (Figure 1):



Fig. 1. The model of civil values awareness formation in high school students

1) the Objective unit: on the basis of the society's social demand and the achievements of the pedagogical science, strategic objectives of the educational process are developed, while the aforesaid process is aimed at forming a citizen's personality as of a bearer of democratic ideals of civil society. In accordance with the set objectives, democratic principles of the educational management are defined (a person's self-esteem, humanism, harmonization, dynamism, emotional openness, hierarchy);

2) the Informative unit: democratic ideals of civil society constitute a system of value guidelines, including universal human, national, public and democratic values. An individual's civil values awareness is a complex integrative unity, whose core is made up of the following structural components: the cognitive component, implying the awareness of socially important values and their transformation into a certain inner plan; the motivational component, which is responsible for experiencing the democratic ideals of civil society as necessities; the emotional component, which presupposes positive and willing acceptance of the democratic ideals of civil society; the activities component, which we understand as the absorption process of the democratic ideals of civil society through various civilly important activities;

3) the Technology unit is built with keeping in mind the objectives, concepts, content and structure of civil values awareness and includes pedagogical conditions of efficient civil values awareness formation in students of senior grades, organizational stages of educational activities focused on students' embracing the democratic ideals of the civil society (values presentation to a student, recognition of civil values by an individual, an individual's acceptance of civil values guidelines; realization of civil values awareness through actions and behavior), along with the corresponding pedagogical techniques (projection, imitation, critical thinking, dialogue);

4) the Result evaluation unit: based on the results of the diagnosis of the degree of civil value awareness formation in a senior grade student, certain corrections and adjustments to the educational process are made to further the improvement of the educational process.

The civil values awareness formation process is meant to result in senior-graders' civil competence, which in its turn embraces: the civil knowledge and skills, necessary for the students to socialize in the society, and to do it successfully; students' active citizen view of the position in the society through their active motivated participation in socially-meaningful political school life, their partaking in the community life, country life, and their well-established perception of the Motherland as the subjective and objective Value.

The model of the civil values awareness formation in an individual senior-grade student is based on the idea that students can master the universal human, democratic and National/State values within the educational process under the following conditions:

1) setting the civil element out within the contents of the curriculum components and incorporating their axiological potential both implying reference to values-related aspects of civic education, which are important for the teacher and his/her students;

2) development of self-governance in high school students, which self-governance presupposes such organization of in-school life, as to create preconditions for students' independent creative activity, boosting self-development of a student's personality;

3) involvement of students in specially organized by the teacher values-oriented activities, makes it possible for the teacher to promote students' civil self-determination by letting the students to live through situations, that require making a civil choice. Such activities expand and enrich students' civil and moral experiences;

4) use of civil values awareness formation model as the basis. Based on the pedagogical model, an algorithm of civil values awareness formation in senior-graders is formed. The algorithm includes the following components: analytical, diagnostic, and preparatory. The algorithm encompasses the initial stage of civil values awareness formation functioning as well as the stage of civil values awareness formation development in personalities of senior high school students. The algorithm is characterized by the specifics of the educational institution and depends on the values awareness of students, teachers and values guidelines of the social media, under the influence of which the educational institution exists.

The civil values awareness is formed in both the didactic and educational process, including in-class and extracurricular educational activities (Civil education...), therefore the forming experiment assumed such an organization of the educational process, in which the educational, extracurricular and out-of-school activities act united (Table 1).

Table 1. The content of the educational process directed at the civil values awareness formation in students of senior grades

	Education	al activity	Į	Extracurricular activity	Out-of-school activity
History	Foreigi	1	Social studies	Unit	Extra classes in
	languag	ge			the Kirov
Unit	Unit "The City	v I Love",	Unit	"The Future Of	full-
"History of	internatio	onal	"The Economy	Russia Is In The Hands	time/correspondence
the Vyatka	Internet-pr	ojects	of the Kirov	Of Her Citizens"	school of local history
Land"	DEEP, C	DD	region"	designed	of the TRIZ Association
	inter-sub	ect links		as a part of	
Pr	oject	Project "	Tourism Industry	advisory hours	
"Old Vyatka" Development In The Kirov		system			
	-	Region"			

The experiment was performed in several stages: stage I – ascertaining experiment, stage II – formative experiment, stage III – evaluating experiment.

At the ascertaining stage, on the basis of the analysis of the values awareness evaluation techniques developed by Russian and international researchers (M. Rokeach, A.P. Vardomatsky, M.A. Kotik, B.A. Leontiev), it was demonstrated that the only way to evaluate the level to which the hierarchy of the values guidelines system had been formed, and to evaluate the values' content was to use the above-mentioned techniques comprehensively. We took this conclusion into account when we formulated the evaluation technique to determine the level of civil values awareness formation in senior students and, as such to evaluate the real attitude of senior students to democratic ideals. We view the structural components of the civil values awareness as the criteria by which we can evaluate the degree to which an individual's civil values awareness is formed. For every criterion we have set out three development levels, and namely: reproductive, initiative, and creative ones (see Table 2).

		Degree						
Criterion	Reproductive (low)	Initiative (medium)	Creative (high)					
Cognitive	 no knowledge of basic legal norms; no skills in realization of individual and social rights and obligations; sporadic acts of independence in the search for information 	 1) knowledge of some basic legal norms; 2) certain skills in realization of individual and social rights and obligations; 3) skills in obtaining information from all available sources 	 1) knowledge of basic legal norms, understanding of the need for law-abiding acting; 2) ability to practically use human rights defense mechanisms; 3) ability to analyze and critically evaluate information 					
Motivational	 sporadic interest to the Homeland's history and culture, knowledge of some historic facts; no need for taking part in social and political activities; no desire for Army service in male senior graders 	 1) sustained interest to the Homeland's history and culture as well as those of home region, active partaking in the studying of home region's history under the guidance of a teacher; 2) partaking in social and political activities of the school and the community under the guidance of a 	 explicit interest to the Homeland's and home region's history and culture, critical attitude to current social events, awareness of belonging to Homeland's culture; conscious partaking in the social and political activities of the school and the community; readiness to defend the 					

Table 2. Characteristics of the civil values awareness formation degree in senior students

		teacher:	Homeland and for military
		3) male senior graders	service by male students
		realize their Army-service	
		duty	
Emotional	 aim at achieving personal goals; no socially-meaningful value guidelines; situation-derived emotional experience when facing some social issues/problems 	 balanced job- and family-oriented attitude; ability to define one's attitude to socially important values; understanding of social issues and trends taking place in the society 	 conscious aim at individual and creative values; ability to independently evaluate the degree to which the democratic ideals have taken root in the society; ability to consciously plan
			one's acts in inordinary social situations
Activity- oriented	 no feeling of responsibility for one's acts; explicit initiative and self-reliance exclusively in familiar activities; lack of conflict-free team-work experience, unsubstantiated evaluation of one's own professional skills 	 ability to analyze one's own acts; evident self-reliance in the process of social and political activity, while self- organization is not so highly developed; ability for team work, ability to justly judge one's professional skills 	 awareness of the role as a citizen and a voter; independence, self- reliance and high self- organization in social and political activities; possession of efficient team-work skills, creativity, set life priorities

The analysis of the results, obtained after the first stage, demonstrated a number of trends, existing in both the experimental and control groups: the values issue is of importance to senior graders. They are interested in both the values issues and their practical implementation, which is of extreme importance for students' self-determination as citizens. At the same time, the students' values preferences demonstrated their bias towards individualism, while their civil values guidelines remained unformed. 55 % of the students demonstrated a lack of desire to take part in social and political activities. 77 % of the students were doubtful of their participation in solving social problems being able to improve their lives. Tests demonstrated that senior students have inadequate information of political events taking place in the country. The results of the ascertaining experiment have proven the importance of the study that we undertook. It has also been demonstrated that there is a need for some special work to test the model for the civil values awareness formation in the educational process in senior grade students.

The educational activity was formed with the emphasis on the civil content of academic disciplines and the use of their axiological potential (study of history and culture of the native town/city, reflexive analysis of its social and economic development). We have created an educational medium, capable of inducing emotional feelings in the students, of introducing them to the world of universal human, National/State and democratic values. Additionally, we have attempted to solve the following tasks: development of senior students' critical thinking based on their handling various information sources; introduction of students to historic roots, grooming their respect for their historic past. In our educational activities we have widely used the project technique and the technique of critical thinking.

In organization of extracurricular activities we have created conditions for the development of the students' independent creative activities. The civil values awareness formation in the students has been based on our "The Future Of Russia Is In The Hands Of Her Citizens" teaching unit, including the following blocks: civil law, local history, military and patriotic, science, economic, and political ones. The Unit Objectives to be reached are the following: love for the Motherland, readiness to defend Her, respect for the State Symbols, tolerance, patriotism and civism, experience of socially beneficial activities. We used the following forms of activities: lectures at the Museum of public education history of the city of Kirov, educational excursions (visits to the editorial office of a local newspaper, to the Employment center, and the Kirov statistics office), talks with interesting people. The lectures were drawn and delivered by the students themselves under the guidance and supervision of the Museum employees. We used both the imitative (the Star rain, the Lawyer Unto Myself role games) and dialog (talks, disputes, press-conferences, etc.) techniques (Vakhrusheva, 2005).

The extra-curricular activity: the supplementary classes at the TRIZ association significantly raised the students' level of civil competency. The objective of the supplementary classes is to train a senior grade student to practically use human rights defense mechanisms, to facilitate students' creativity and civil self-determination.

The formative experiment demonstrated substantial changes in the senior students' system of values during the formation of their civil values awareness. Among the students of the experimental group we registered an increased interest in the history of their country, more motivated desire to abide by the law, and a more pronounced wish for honest labor. Our technology has boosted the students' creative potential. Those facts were confirmed by the quality of the reports on the students' own creative research, delivered by themselves at scientific conferences of school and city levels.

The pedagogical conditions of effective civil values awareness formation in senior pupils are as follows: 1) taking into consideration the axiological component in all the elements of the curriculum; 2) development of senior students' independent activities; 3) use of civil values awareness formation model as the basis in the senior students' education; 4) involvement of students in specially organized by the teacher values-oriented activities.

Students of the experimental group took part in the Global Democracy Dialogues international program as a part of the formative experiment. The program was designed by the education research programs foundation supported by the US Department of Education. The Program Objectives were to deepen the student's knowledge of the democratic organization of the participant countries; improve Russian students' command of the English language; cultivate democratic thinking in students. Partners of the Russian students were students of La Crescenta High School, CA, USA and Lithuanian students from Raseiniai. The Program agenda presupposed senior students discussing various democratic issues. Every week the participants were offered several questions united by a certain issue. The questions were discussed in the classroom, then the collective answers were e-mailed to other participants in the project. Within five weeks of the project the students discussed such issues as the rights of the individual, freedom of speech and freedom of religion, tolerance towards people of other nationalities, responsibilities and duties of the citizen. Upon completion of the project, students had a chance to participate in a video conference and talk to their peers online.

During the formative experiment we used the social project technique, which we view as an effective educational tool for the formation of the students' necessary social skills and value guidelines.

Students of the experimental group took part in realization of two social projects: Old Vyatka (foreign languages – history), and Tourism Industry Development In The Kirov Region (foreign languages – social studies – economics). The objective of the Old Vyatka social project was to create students' sustainable interest in the history of the home city and the fates of famous fellow-citizens. The project required the senior students to compile information on the still-existing old buildings, and the fates of people, who owned them. The of objective of the What Do Kirovites Think Of The Future Of Russia was to get to know the attitude of Kirovites to the fate of their Motherland and define their civil position in the matter. The students' answers clearly demonstrate that participation in the society's political life becomes a need for the children. Thus, the social activity, presupposed by the project, facilitated understanding of civil and democratic values by the senior students.

3. Results

The evaluation of the senior students' civil values awareness formation results can be done by assessment of the percentage of students at any given stage (reproductive, initiative, and creative), as well as by the Mean Value (MV), enabling us to evaluate the dynamics of the process.

The Mean Value (MV) of the senior students' civil values awareness formation degree is

calculated by the following formula:

MV=
$$\frac{a+2b+3c}{100}$$
 (1)

where a, b, c is the percentage of senior students currently being at the reproductive, initiative, and creative stages of civil values awareness formation (Shakeeva, 1998).

We evaluated the effectiveness of individual pedagogical conditions by the efficiency coefficient (EC) which is calculated by the formula:

$$EC = \frac{MV(e_2)}{MV(e_1)}$$
(2)

where MV (e_1) is the Mean Value of the civil values awareness formation in the experimental group at the start of the experiment; MV (e_2) is the Mean Value of the civil values awareness formation in the experimental group at the end of the experiment [ditto]. Table 3 represents the obtained results of the students' civil values awareness formation dynamics at the start and at the end of the experiment; as well as effectiveness of individual pedagogical conditions in the formation process.

Table 3. The obtained results of the students' civil values awareness formation dynamics at the start (SE) and at the end (EE) of the experiment

Degree	School 36		TR	SIZ	School 34 Grade 10 B		Fu time/corr e local sch	Scho Grade	ol 34 e 10 A	
	Traditional educational process (%)		Excluding 1st pedagogical condition (%)		Excluding 2nd pedagogical condition (%)		Excluding 3rd pedagogical condition (%)		Effect of the complete pedagogical conditions complex (%)	
	SE	EE	SE	EE	SE	EE	SE	EE	SE	EE
Reproductiv e	55.1	33.4	53.3	29.6	56.2	30.9	51.4	28.4	54.9	5.0
Initiative	40.2	57.5	42.6	42.7	39.4	46.8	42.3	44.2	40.1	37.5
Creative	4.7	9.1	4.1	27.7	4.4	22.3	6.3	27.4	5.0	57.5
MV	1.49 6	1.75 7	1.50 8	1.98 1	1.48 2	1.914	1.549	1.990	1.501	2.52 5
EC	-	-	1.00 8	1.12 7	0.99 1	1.08 9	1.035	1.133	1.00 3	1.43 7

The data in the table explicitly demonstrate that the only way to effectively form senior students' civil values awareness is the integrated use of pedagogical conditions.

In addition, the effectiveness of the proposed approach to the formation of senior students' civil values awareness was assessed using the Wilcoxon and Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney criteria. The experiment involved 382 people, the experimental group included 285 students, the control group – 97 students.

An assessment of the significance of the changes in the observed features in the experimental and control groups during the experiment was carried out using the Wilcoxon test at a confidence level of 95 %. Critical values of statistics are calculated using the following formulas:

$$W(\alpha/2) = \frac{n(n+1)}{4} + \varphi(\alpha/2) \cdot \sqrt{\frac{n(n+1)(2n+1)}{24}}$$
(3)

$$W(1 - \alpha/2) = \frac{n(n+1)}{2} - W(\alpha/2)$$
 (4)

Here $\varphi(\alpha)$ is the quantile of the normal distribution for the significance level α . In our study $\alpha = 0,05$ with a confidence level of 95 %. The value $\varphi(\alpha)$ is found from the statistical tables for the normal distribution and in the case of the bilateral criterion considered $\varphi(\alpha/2) = 1,96$.

To test the statistical hypothesis of the one-sided Wilcoxon test, the differences compiled for the bilateral criterion $d_i = y_i - x_i$, the number (n) of non-zero differences, the ranks of absolute values $|d_i|$, and the values of the statistics of the criterion T, equal to the sum of the ranks of positive differences d_i and T₁, equal to the sum of the ranks of the negative differences d_i .

Critical values of statistics are calculated using the following formulas:

$$W(\alpha) = \frac{n(n+1)}{4} + \varphi(\alpha) \cdot \sqrt{\frac{n(n+1)(2n+1)}{24}}$$
(5)
$$W(1-\alpha) = \frac{n(n+1)}{2} - W(\alpha)$$
(6)

Here $\varphi(\alpha)$ is the quantile of the normal distribution for $\alpha = 0.05$ (with a confidence level of 95 %). The value $\varphi(\alpha)$ is found from the statistical tables for the normal distribution and in our case $\varphi(\alpha) = 1.64$ is equal to the one-sided criterion. The results of calculations are presented in Table 4.

	The calculated value of the Wilcoxon criterion statistics (experimental group)	Critical si of the sta the Wilcoxon	gnificance atistics of bilateral criterion	Critical value of the statistics of the one- sided Wilcoxon criterion		
	Т	W(a/2)	W(1-a/2)	W(a)	W(1-a)	
Experimental group					18093,6	
	34751,50	23106,94	17648,06	22661,32	8	
Conclusion	$T > W(\alpha/2) > W(\alpha)$	A statistically significant shift towards improved				
		indicators				
Control group	3662,50	2921,212	1831,788	2832,279	1920,721	
Conclusion	$W(1-\alpha/2) < T <$	There are no statistically significant changes in				
	<w(a 2)<="" td=""><td colspan="4">the indicators studied</td></w(a>	the indicators studied				

Table 4. Comparison of the experimental and control groups during the experiment

According to the results of a statistical study of the experimental data the following conclusions can be drawn: in the experimental group statistically significant improvements in the studied parameters are observed, while in the control group there are no significant changes.

Comparison of the experimental and control groups by the test characteristics at the beginning of the experiment and at the end of the experiment was carried out using the Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney criterion. Critical values of statistics are calculated using the following formulas:

$$W(\alpha/2) = \frac{n_1 n_2}{2} + \varphi(\alpha/2) \cdot \sqrt{\frac{n_1 n_2 (n_1 + n_2 + 1)}{12}}$$
(7)
$$W(1 - \alpha/2) = n_1 n_2 - W(\alpha/2)$$
(8)

Here the value $\varphi(\alpha/2)$ is found from the statistical tables for $\alpha = 0.05$ (with a confidence level of 95 %). In our case for a two-sided criterion $\varphi(\alpha/2) = 1.96$.

Critical values of statistics are calculated using the following formulas for one-sided criteria where $\varphi(\alpha) = 1,64$. The results of calculations are presented in Table 5.

$$W(\alpha) = \frac{n_1 n_2}{2} + \varphi(\alpha) \cdot \sqrt{\frac{n_1 n_2 (n_1 + n_2 + 1)}{12}}$$
(9)
$$W(1 - \alpha) = n_1 n_2 - W(\alpha)$$
(10)

Table 5. Comparison of the experimental and control groups at the beginning of the experiment and at the end of the experiment

	Thecalculatedvalueof	Critical si of the st	gnificance atistics of	Critical value of the statistics of the one-		
	Wilcoxon-Mann- Whitney criterion	the Wilcovon-	bilateral Mann-	sided V Mann-Whit	Vilcoxon-	
	statistics	Whitney c	riterion	criterion		
	Т	W(a/2)	W(1-a/2)	W(a)	W(1-a)	
Experimental group						
	13581,50	15663,58	11981,42	15363	12282	
Conclusion	W(1- α/2) <t<< td=""><td colspan="4">Groups are statistically indistinguishable by the</td></t<<>	Groups are statistically indistinguishable by the				
	<w(a 2)<="" td=""><td colspan="4">features under study</td></w(a>	features under study				
Control group	19649,00	15663,58	11981,42	15363	12282	
Conclusion	$T > W(\alpha)$	The experimental group is much better than the				
		control group				

It should be noted that at the entrance of the experiment the experimental and control groups for the parameters studied were not statistically different, while at the end of the experiment the differences between the groups became significant: the parameters of the experimental group were significantly better than those of the control group.

The senior students of the experimental group are undeniably superior to those of the control group in all the criteria. This fact favorably characterizes the conceptual model of civil values awareness formation in senior students, and it is this very model which is the basis for the formation algorithm.

4. Discussion

The matter of civil values awareness formation in the younger generation has always been and remains of vital importance for the Russian society. It should be noted that the study of this matter has found it reflection in published works by T.Kh. Deberdeeva (2005), L. Farafonova (2006), N.V. Nalyvaiko (2008), A.K. Bykov (2011), L.V. Ardasheva (2012) (Ardasheva, 2012), and I.F. Yarullin (2015) (Yarullin, 2011). These authors consider the civil values awareness formation in high-school and university students of utmost importance in the students' education and training.

At the same time, recent studies treat the issue of introducing the younger generation to civil values as, basically, the values of the integral educational system. Currently, certain aspects of civil education of high-school and university students remain underdeveloped. Such aspects are those concerning principles, technology, and content of education. In this regard, the problem of civil values awareness formation in the younger generation requires further consideration and correction in the context of the modern pedagogical theory.

5. Conclusion

The results of testing the pedagogical model of civil values awareness formation in the senior students have proved the efficiency of our techniques in forming the senior students' civil values awareness. The techniques we used were the following ones: the project technique, the imitation technique, the dialog technique, and the one of critical thinking. The test outcome has demonstrated that the only way to effectively form a senior student's civil values awareness is the integrated use of pedagogical conditions.

Moreover, the results of the experiment have confirmed that civic education of high school senior students through interactive forms and methods is becoming the basis of the education process in general, and the apparent necessity for school and the society as a whole. Merging the civil awareness formation process in senior students with the practice of civil conduct, we solve the task of combining the theory and practice of legitimate conduct of a senior grade student in the society, accumulating certain social experience and self-determination in the system of values.

References

Abulkhanova-Slavskaya, 1991 – *Abulkhanova-Slavskaya, K. A.* (1991). Strategiya zhizni [The strategy of life]. M.: Mysl'. 299 p.

Allport, 1998 – *Allport, G.V.* (1998). Lichnost' v psikhologii [Personality in Psychology]. SPb.: Yuventa. 345 p.

Ardasheva, 2012 – Ardasheva, L.V. (2012). Formirovaniye sistemy dukhovno-nravstvennogo i grazhdansko-patrioticheskogo vospitaniya podrastayushchego pokoleniya na osnove traditsiy i tsennostey otechestvennoy i mirovoy kul'tury [Formation of the system of spiritual and moral and civic-patriotic education of the younger generation on the basis of traditions and values of the national and world culture]. *Municipal education: innovations and experiment*, 5: 24-29.

Astashova, 2001 – Astashova, N.A. (2001). Aksiologicheskoye obrazovaniye sovremennogo uchitelya: metodologiya, kontseptsiya, modeli i tekhnologii razvitiya [Axiological education of modern teacher: methodology, concept, models and technologies of development]: avtoref. dis. ... doktora ped. nauk. Bryansk. 52 p.

Bolotina, 2002 – *Bolotina, T.V.* (2002). Grazhdanskoye obrazovaniye: metodologiya, soderzhaniye i metody obucheniya [Civic education: methodology, content and methods of teaching]. M.: APK i PRO, 2002. 166 p.

Civil education ... – Grazhdanskoye obrazovaniye v sovremennoy shkole: opyt realizatsii mezhpredmetnoy modeli [Civil education in modern school: the experience of implementing an intersubject model]. Izdatel'stvo N. Bochkarevoy, 2001. 200 p.

Gershunsky, 2003 – *Gershunsky, B.S.* (2003). Kontseptsiya samorealizatsii lichnosti v sisteme obosnovaniya tsennostey i tseley obrazovaniya [The concept of an individual's self-realization in the system of values substantiation and goals of education]. *Pedagogika*, 10: 3-7.

Gurova, 2000 – *Gurova, R.G.* (2000). Sovremennaya molodezh': sotsial'nyye tsennosti i nravstvennyye oriyentatsii [Modern youth: social values and moral orientations]. *Pedagogika*, 10: 32-38.

Kagan, 1997 – *Kagan, M.S.* (1997). Filosofskaya teoriya tsennosti [Philosophical theory of value]. SPb.: Petropolis. 205 p.

Kiryakova, 1996 – *Kiryakova, A.V.* (1996). Teoriya oriyentatsii lichnosti v mire tsennostey [Theory of personality orientation in the world of values]. Orenburg. 188 p.

Lebedeva, 2004 – *Lebedeva, O.V.* (2004). Grazhdanskoye obrazovaniye v Rossii: istorikopedagogicheskoye issledovaniye [Civil education in Russia: historical and pedagogical research]. M.: Sfera. 242 p.

Lisovsky, 2000 – *Lisovsky, V.T.* (2000). Dukhovnyy mir i tsennostnyye oriyentatsii molodezhi Rossii: ucheb. posobiye [The Spiritual World and Value Orientations of Russian Youth: Textbook]. SPb. : SPbGUP. 519 p.

Maslow, 1999 – *Maslow, A*. (1999). Novyye rubezhi chelovecheskoy prirody [New frontiers of human nature]. M. : Smysl. 425 p.

Redina, 1999 – *Redina, I.V.* (1999). Formirovaniye tsennostnykh oriyentatsiy podrostkov v usloviyakh sovremennogo rossiyskogo obshchestva [Formation of value orientations among teenagers in the modern Russian society]: avtoref. dis. ... kand. sotsiol. nauk. M. 20 p.

Shakeeva, 1998 – Shakeeva, Ch.A. (1998). Tsennostnyye oriyentatsii i samochuvstviye molodezhi v novykh obshchestvenno-ekonomicheskikh usloviyakh [Value orientations and wellbeing of youth in the new socio-economic conditions]. M.: In-t prakt. Psikhologii. Voronezh: NPO "MODEK". 186 p.

Shkrobova, 2001 – Shkrobova, M.A. (2001). Grazhdanskoye vospitaniye podrostkov na uroke i vo vneurochnoy deyatel'nosti [In-school and extracurricular civil education of teenagers]: dis. ... kand. ped. nauk: 13.00.01. M. 225 p.

Vakhrusheva, 2005 – Vakhrusheva, I.V. (2005). Formirovaniye grazhdanskikh tsennostnykh
oriyentatsiy starsheklassnikov v obrazovatel'nom protsesse [Formation of civic values orientations of high school students in the educational process]: dis. ... kand. ped. nauk: 13.00.01. Kirov. 20 p.

White, 1996 – White, P. (1996). Civic Virtues and Public Schooling: educating citizens for a democratic society. N.Y.: Teachers College Press.

Yarullin, 2011 – Yarullin, I.F. (2011). Formirovaniye grazhdanskoy otvetstvennosti studentov pedagogicheskikh vuzov [Formation of civil awareness among the students of pedagogical universities]. Kazan': Tatarskoye Respublikanskoye izdatel'stvo «Kheter». 183 p.

Yashchenko, 1996 – Yaschenko, E.F. (1996). Pedagogicheskiye usloviya formirovaniya tsennostnykh oriyentatsiy u uchashchikhsya: na primere literaturno-khudozhestvennogo razvitiya [Pedagogical conditions for the formation of value orientations in students: the example of literary and artistic development]: dis. ... kand. ped. nauk: 13.00.01. Chelyabinsk. 265 p.



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 554-565 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.554 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Investigation of Organizational Silency Levels by Teachers According to Some Demographic Variables

Gizem Saygili^{a,*}

^a Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Turkey

Abstract

In this research, it was aimed to examine the organizational silence levels of primary and secondary school teachers according to some demographic variables. A total of 609 teachers, 309 women and 300 men, who were teaching at primary and secondary schools participated in the research. The Organizational Silence Scale developed by Van Dyne et al. (2003) and adapted to Turkish by Erdoğan (2011) was used in determining the level of organizational silence that teachers had. SPSS 22.0 data analysis program was used for statistical analysis of the data obtained in the research. Descriptive statistics were used to calculate teachers' demographics and the scores they gained from the scale. MANOVA analysis, which is a parametric analysis method, was used to compare the scale scores according to the demographic characteristics of the teachers. The level of significance in the MANOVA analyzes was determined as p <0.05. At the end of the research, it was determined that the organizational silence levels of the teachers were "moderate". When analyzed according to demographic variables, it was determined that organizational silence levels of teachers did not show statistically significant differences according to school type, education status, settlement type, duty type (teacher/manager status) and branch variables (p >0.05). On the other hand, it was determined that organizational silence levels of the teachers showed statistically significant differences according to gender, marital status, age group and occupational seniority variables (p < 0.05). As a result, it was found that the demographic characteristics partially affected the teachers' perceptions of organizational silence, and the findings were in accordance with the literature.

Keywords: Education, teaching profession, organizational silence.

1. Introduction

According to the Turkish Language Association, the silence is "to be silent". To be silent means to be silent and to remain silent. Occupational silence, silence and silence are used

* Corresponding author E-mail addresses: salman.gizem@gmail.com (G. Saygili) synonymously in working life. According to psychology science, closing into silence is generally regarded as a negative situation like social silence in sociology, like the sign of unspecifiedness (Çakıcı, 2007: 147). Organizational silence is the situation in which occupants do not react jointly and deliberately to problems or issues encountered in organizations; Or do not share their feelings and thoughts with others "(Ülker, Kanten, 2009: 111). According to another definition, organizational silence is defined as "deliberately suppressing the thoughts, feelings and knowledge of employees in order to improve their jobs and the institution they work with" (Kahveci, Demirtas, 2013: 178).

Although organizational voice is an important force in the change of organizational performance (Bowen, Blackmoon, 2003; Burris and Bartel, 2014: 1013), employees in organizational structure generally prefer to be quiet (Beheshtifar et al., 2012; Milliken et al., 2003: 1453; Premeaux and Bedeian, 2003: 1537; Van Dyne et al., 2003: 339; Panagi et al., 2012: 735; Erigue et al., 2014: 1359). Organizational silence emerges when employees can not speak freely about the organization (Bowen, Blackmoon, 2003). Organizational silence is a common problem in organizations (Pinder, Harlos, 2001: 331) and there are many factors that cause organizational silence (Kahveci, Demirtas, 2013: 169). In general, the factors that cause organizational silence are divided into various classes such as individual, social (Henriksel, Dayton, 2006: 1539), administrative and organizational factors (Karaca, 2013: 38). Managerial attitudes play an important role in the organizational elements that cause organizational silence. Evaluating the silence as approval, consent or satisfaction increases the silence in organizations (Cakici, 2007: 160). According to Swords and Harbalioğlu (2014: 330), there are fear and worries among the workers at the beginning of the elements that cause organizational silence. In the research carried out by Çakici (2008: 117), it was determined that organizational silence was mainly caused by administrative and organizational factors, work related fears, lack of experience, fear of isolation and fear of harming relations.

Organizational silence brings some problems in managerial, individual and social aspects (Simşek, Aktas, 2014: 123), organizational silence has some consequences on both organization and employees (Bagheri et al., 2012: 51). It has been pointed out that organizational silence causes many negative effects especially on employees (Shojaie et al., 2011: 1733). According to the model developed by Morrison and Milliken (2000), at the beginning of the organizational results of silence, the intellectual contributions of employees are not used, avoid negative feedback, filter information and become unresponsive to problems. At the beginning of the results of the silence, it is stated that the individual feels that he/she is feeling weak because he/she is openly talking about his/her problems and worries about his/her workplace, such as lack of loyalty, belongingness, trust, appreciation and support, lack of job satisfaction and intention to leave work. Again according to the developed model, it is emphasized that the silence in the organizations is the lack of feedback, information and alternative opinions and at the same time the employees are preparing the motivation for lack of motivation (Akt: Barçın, 2012: 34).

Despite the fact that silence is common in organizations (Alparslan, Kayalar, 2012: 136; Simsek and Aktas, 2014: 123), there is not enough research in the literature on the structure, components and effects of organizational silence (Yapici, 2007: 145; Vakola, Bouradas, 2005: 441; Constructor, 2008: 118). For this reason, as organizational silence is investigated, different aspects of organizational silence will be revealed (Kahveci, Demirtas, 2013: 170). As a result of the literature review, it has been seen that the studies on the organizational silence levels of the teachers, especially in the educational institutions, are very limited in the literature. A good knowledge of the factors affecting teachers' organizational silence levels will help to prevent organizational silence formation, as well as to minimize the negative effects of organizational silence in teachers. According to Kahveci and Demirtas (2013: 168), teachers' silence and the inability to express their problems comfortably prevent them from exhibiting high performance in business life. This situation underlines the fact that the school objectives can not be achieved adequately. Therefore, the factors that affect teachers' perceptions of organizational silence are also important in terms of achieving the aims of the education system. In this study, it was aimed to examine the organizational silence levels of the teachers according to some socio-demographic variables.

2. Materials and methods Research model

In this study, a scanning model was used from descriptive research models. As is known, screening researches are descriptive studies aimed at determining the characteristics (age, gender, marital status, educational status, etc.) of research subjects of large sample groups.

The Universe and Sampling of the Study

The universe of the research is composed of primary, secondary and high school teachers in the city of Isparta. The sample group of the study consisted of 609 teachers, including 309 women and 300 men, who were working in primary, secondary and high school in Isparta in the academic year of 2016-2017. Findings related to the demographic characteristics of the teachers of the study sample group are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Frequency and Percentage Distributions of Participants Demographic Information

Variables	Sub-variables	f	%	
Condor	Woman	309	50.7	
Genuer	Man	300	49.3	
Monitial status	Married	538	88.3	
Warniar status	Single	71	11.7	
	Pre-school	12	2.0	
School type of the	Primary school	223	36.6	
task	Middle-school	197	32.3	
	High school	177	29.1	
	Manager	20	3.3	
Task type	Assistant director	36	5.9	
	Teacher	553	90.8	
	Associate	51	8.4	
Education status	Lisence	513	84.2	
	Graduate	45	7.4	
	1-5 yıl	69	11.3	
	6-10 yıl	124	20.4	
Ducforgional	11-15 yıl	99	16.3	
Professional	16-20 yıl	89	14.6	
semonty	21-25 yıl	98	16.1	
	26-30 yıl	88	14.4	
	30+ yıl	42	6.9	
	18-25 yaş	14	2.3	
	26-30 yaş	101	16.6	
Age groups	31-40 yaş	251	41.2	
	41 - 50 yaş	171	28.1	
	50+ yaş	72	11.8	
Living gottlomont	Town centre	430	70.6	
Living settlement	District centre	123	20.2	
type	Town-village	56	9.2	
	Class teacher	188	30.9	
	Mid-school Branch	199	32.7	
	High scool Branch	165	27.1	
Dronch	Occupational course	13	2.1	
Dranch	Guadiance and Psycholohical	10	0.1	
	counseling	13	2.1	
	Special education	5	.8	
	Pre-school	26	4.3	

Data Collection Tool

Survey was used as data collection tool in the research. The first part of the questionnaire used is a personal information form. The personal information form aims to determine the demographic characteristics of the participants. In the second part of the questionnaire used, there is a scale aiming to determine organizational silence levels of the participants. "Organizational Silence Scale" was used in determining the organizational silence levels of the teachers participating in the research. The scale developed by Van Dyne and others (2003) was adapted to Turkish by Erdoğan (2011). The scale consisting of a total of 27 items is of the likert type of 5 and responses to scale items are rated in the range of I definitely do not participate (1) and strongly agree (5) (Tayfun, Çatır, 2013: 121). Besides, there are 6 sub-dimensions related to organizational silence on the scale. The sub-dimensions are the silence for the benefit of the organization, the voice for the benefit of the organization, the silence for defensive purposes, the voice for defense, the accepted silence and the accepted voice. The reliability coefficients of sub scale of organizational silence scale and total scale score in the survey are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Results of Reliability Analysis on Organizational Silence Scale Factors

Factors	Item numbers	Cronbach's Alpha
Silent for the benefit of the organization	5	.810
Voice for the organizational benefit	4	.881
Defensive silence	6	.862
Defensive voicing	5	.844
Accepted silence	4	.660
Accepted voice	3	.755
Whole schale	27	.824

As shown in Table 2, the reliability coefficient for the entire organizational silence scale, 824, the reliability coefficients for the scale subscales vary from 660 to 881. According to these findings, it is seen that the reliability coefficients of the scale and subscales used in the research are high.

Statistical analysis

SPSS 22.0 program was used in the analysis of the obtained data. MANOVA analysis, which is a parametric analysis method, was used to compare the scale scores according to the demographic information of the participants, since the data related to the Organizational Silence Scale showed normal distribution. The level of significance in the MANOVA analyzes was determined as p < 0.05. Descriptive statistics were used to determine frequency and percentage distributions of demographic information of participants and to determine the mean and standard deviations of scale scores.

Limitation of the study

This study limited the group of 609 teachers, who were working in primary, secondary and high school in Isparta in the academic year of 2016-2017.

3. Results

Table 3.	Descriptive	Statistics of	f Participants'	Organizational	Silence Scores
----------	-------------	---------------	-----------------	----------------	----------------

Factors	Ν	X	Ss
Silent forthe benefit of the organization	609	3.43	.744
Voice for organizational benefit	609	3.99	.816
Defensive silence	609	2.19	.817
Defensive voicing	609	2.11	.881
Accepted silence	609	2.42	.797
Accepted voice	609	3.07	.760

When the Table 3 is examined, it is seen that the participants have a moderate level of silence and organizational benefits for the organization, moderate defense scores, defensive voice and accepted silence scores, and accepted voice scores are moderate.

Table 4. MANOVA Table for Comparison of Participants' Organizational Silence Situations by Sex

Gender		Silent fort he benefit of the organization	Voice for organizational benefit	Defensive silence	Defensiv e voicing	Accepted silence	Accept ed voice
Mon	Х	3.42	4.03	2.21	2.18	2.43	3.10
Wall	Ss	.813	.824	.894	.960	.856	.767
Women	X	3.44	3.95	2.17	2.04	2.42	3.03
	Ss	.667	.808	.729	.788	.733	.752

As shown in Table 4, there was no statistically significant difference between the organizational silence cases according to the gender of participants (Wilks' Lambda = 0.987; F (6.602) = 1.311; p > 0.05)

Table 5. MANOVA Table on Participants' Comparisons of Organizational Silence Situations According to Their Marital Status

Marritial statutes		Silent fort he the benefit of the organizati on	Voice for organizational benefit	Defensive silence	Defensive voicing	Accepted silence	Accepted voice
Manniad	Х	3.43	3.99	2.20	2.10	2.45	3.09
Married Ss	Ss	•754	.819	.834	.883	.801	.767
Circal a	Х	3.45	3.97	2.09	2.22	2.20	2.90
Single	Ss	.662	.799	.670	.872	.734	.686

As shown in Table 5, there was no statistically significant difference between the organizational silence cases according to the marital status of participants (Wilks' Lambda = 0.973; F (6.602) = 2.776; p >0.05).

School type		Silent fort he the benefit of the organizati on	Voice for organizatio nal benefit	Defensiv e silence	Defensive voicing	Accepted silence	Accepted voice
Pro sebool	Х	3.40	3.96	1.99	2.10	2.40	2.83
rie-school	Ss	.734	.897	•757	.968	.829	.785
Primary	Х	3.37	3.94	2.15	2.10	2.41	3.06
school	Ss	.764	.859	•754	.864	.824	.763
Midddle	Х	3.51	4.01	2.20	2.11	2.51	3.07
school	Ss	.708	.730	.857	.915	.826	.763
High school	X	3.43	4.03	2.24	2.13	2.35	3.09
	Ss	•755	.849	.852	.866	.722	•755

Table 6. MANOVA Table on the Comparison of the Organizational Silence Situations of the Participants According to Their School Activities

As shown in Table 6, there was no statistically significant difference between the organizational silence cases according to the school attended by the participants (Wilks' Lambda = 0.976; F (18.1697) = 0.798; p >0.05).

Table 7. MANOVA Table on Comparing Participants Accordingto Their Tasks of Organizational Silence

Task		Silent fort he the benefit of the organization	Voice for organization al benefit	Voice for organizational benefit	Defensive voicing	Accepted silence	Accepted voice
D'	Х	3.34	3.91	2.40	2.46	2.59	3.25
Director	Ss	.844	.971	1.039	1.113	·954	.954
Asistant	Х	3.23	3.85	2.16	2.20	2.12	2.77
director	Ss	.647	.899	•745	.927	.970	.816
Toophor	Х	3.45	4.00	2.19	2.09	2.44	3.08
reacher	Ss	.745	.805	.813	.868	.776	.745

As shown in Table 7, there was no statistically significant difference between organizational silence cases according to the duties of the participants (Wilks' Lambda = 0.971, F (12.1202) = 1.498, p > 0.05).

Table 8. MANOVA Table on Comparing Participants' Situations of Organizational Silence According to Their Educational Status

Educationa l status		Silent fort he the benefit of the organization	Voice for organizational benefit	Defensive silence	Defensive voicing	Accepted silence	Accepted voice
Dro licordo	Х	3.39	3.88	2.25	2.31	2.55	3.07
rie-licelise	Ss	.851	.927	.778	.998	.733	.671
Liconso	Х	3.45	4.00	2.19	2.10	2.43	3.07
License	Ss	.721	.813	.822	.870	.800	.772
Graduate	Х	3.24	4.06	2.16	2.04	2.22	3.01
	Ss	.848	.723	.806	.867	.819	.726

As shown in Table 8, there was no statistically significant difference in organizational silence cases according to the educational status of the participants (Wilks' Lambda = 0.981; F (12.1202) = 0.957; p >0.05).

Professional seniority		Silent for thr benefit of the organizatio n	Voice for organization al benefit	Defensive silence	Defensive voicing	Accepted silence	Accepted voice
1 5 22	Х	3.40	4.01	2.22	2.06	2.29	3.05
1-5 yli	Ss	.587	.702	.678	.649	•794	.657
6 10 17	Х	3.42	4.03	2.01	1.90	2.40	3.11
6-10 yii	Ss	.803	•777	.682	.766	•734	.664
11 15 22]	Х	3.43	3.93	2.12	2.03	2.33	2.99
11-15 yii	Ss	.613	.770	.786	.799	.768	.825
16.00 ml	Х	3.36	3.98	2.15	2.08	2.42	3.00
10-20 yii	Ss	.771	.892	.790	.832	•749	.762
01.05 yrl	Х	3.47	3.84	2.27	2.15	2.43	3.06
21-25 yii	Ss	.671	.981	.921	1.008	.736	.829
	Х	3.38	4.10	2.43	2.39	2.61	3.28
20-30 yii	Ss	.942	.781	.950	1.032	.938	.728
0.0 ·1	Х	3.70	4.12	2.26	2.43	2.56	2.83
30+ yn	Ss	.692	.663	.863	.971	.925	.840

Table 9. MANOVA Table on Participants' Comparisons of Organizational Silence Situations According to Occupational Ages

As shown in Table 9, the participants 'silence, defensive voice, and accepted silence factor scores differed statistically by occupational seniority, but there was no statistically significant difference in other organizational silence factors according to the occupational seniority of the participants (Wilks' Lambda = 0.890; F (36. 2624) = 1.957; p >0.05).The difference in the defensive silence factor stems from the fact that the scores of the participants with professional seniority 26-30 years were higher than the participants with professional seniority 6-10 years. The difference in defense voice scores is due to the fact that the scores of participants with professional seniority of 26-30 years and occupational seniority of 30+ years were higher than participants with occupational seniority of 6-10 years. The difference in the accepted voice factor is due to the fact that the scores of the participants with occupational seniority of 6-10 years.

Table 10. MANOVA Table on the Comparison of Participants' Situations of Organizational Silence According to the Number of Children

Number of children		Silent for the benefit of the organization	Voice for organizational benefit	Defensive silence	Defensive voicing	Accepted silence	Accepted voice
No	Х	3.46	4.00	2.06	2.03	2.23	2.99
children	Ss	.687	.783	.737	.812	.817	.685
1 kid	Х	3.39	4.02	2.19	2.10	2.50	3.15
1 Klu	Ss	.756	•777	.799	.912	•775	.693
o kida	Х	3.43	3.96	2.22	2.14	2.45	3.06
2 Klus	Ss	.745	.822	.828	.876	.818	.811
o kida	Х	3.42	4.06	2.21	2.08	2.39	3.03
3 KIUS	Ss	.801	.849	.815	.909	.684	.786
4 bida	Х	3.69	3.93	2.48	2.40	2.54	3.00
4 Klus	Ss	.718	1.152	1.152	.997	.858	.791

As shown in Table 10, there was no statistically significant difference between the organizational silence cases of the participants according to the number of children (Wilks' Lambda = 0.967; F (24.2090) = 0.852; p > 0.05).

Table 11. MANOVA Table on the Comparison of Participants' Age Groups with OrganizationalSilence

Age group		Silent for the benefit of the organization	Voice for organizatio nal benefit	Defensive silence	Defensive voicing	Accepted silence	Accepted voice
18-25	Х	3.63	4.16	2.31	2.36	2.30	2.69
years	Ss	.508	.886	.691	.874	.674	.423
26-30	Х	3.32	4.00	2.09	2.01	2.32	3.08
years	Ss	.737	.568	.692	.719	.733	.698
31-40	Х	3.41	3.95	2.13	1.99	2.38	3.04
years	Ss	.693	.867	.730	.801	.760	.721
41-50	Х	3.46	4.02	2.32	2.22	2.49	3.12
years	Ss	.782	.824	·954	.971	.841	.829
FOLVOORS	Χ	3.53	4.03	2.22	2.35	2.61	3.07
50+years	Ss	.856	.902	.903	1.050	.898	.843

As shown in Table 11, participants' scores for defensive vocalization factor differ statistically by age groups, Wilks' Lambda = 0.935, F (24.2090) = 1.682, p <0.05). However, there was no statistically significant difference in the other organizational silence factors according to the age groups of the participants. The difference in the defensive voice factor is due to the fact that the scores of the participants in the 50+ age group are higher than those of the participants in the 31-40 age group.

Table 12. MANOVA Table on Participants' Comparisons of Organizational Silence Situations

 According to Their Place of Residence

Settlement		Silent for the benefit of the organization	Voice for organizati onal benefit	Defensive silence	Defensive voicing	Accepted silence	Accepted voice
City center	Х	3.43	4.00	2.21	2.13	2.44	3.05
-	Ss	.754	.800	.805	.901	.804	•757
	Х	3.47	3.98	2.12	2.06	2.40	3.08
District center	Ss	.724	.895	.900	.880	.801	.807
Town-	Х	3.40	3.94	2.22	2.13	2.36	3.12
villagge	Ss	.718	.772	.713	.732	.743	.683

As shown in Table 12, there was no statistically significant difference between the organizational silence cases according to the residents living there (Wilks' Lambda = 0.992; F (12.1202) = 0.392; p >0.05).

Branch							
Class toachor	Х	3.40	3.96	2.26	2.25	2.46	3.08
Class teacher	Ss	.783	.846	.827	.937	.852	.811
Branch	Х	3.45	3.99	2.06	1.98	2.43	3.03
(middle-school)	Ss	.707	.773	•754	.830	.786	.724
Branch (high	Х	3.43	4.02	2.26	2.16	2.36	3.07
school)	Ss	.760	.844	.873	.893	.730	.749
	Х	3.22	3.98	2.21	2.12	2.52	3.18
Vocational courses	Ss	.826	.844	.496	.728	.657	.753
guidance and	Х	3.58	3.88	2.32	1.86	2.25	2.92
psychological counseling	Ss	.420	.583	.699	.713	.842	.564
Special	X	3.00	4.05	2.03	1.90	2.15	3.00
education	Ss	.938	.512	.803	.548	1.055	.667
Pre-school	Х	3.63	4.05	2.26	1.92	2.65	3.17
110-501001	Ss	.659	.927	.956	.848	.892	.871

Table 13. MANOVA Table on Participants' Comparisons of Organizational Silence Situations According to Branches

4. Discussion and Conclusion

It was found that the teachers who participated in the research were found to have a higher level of silence and organizational benefit than medium level for the benefit of the organization, defensive purpose silence, defense purpose voice and accepted silence scores were below the middle level and accepted voice scores were moderate.Similar research findings on public employees and teachers in the literature reveal that the organizational silence levels of employees are at the middle level (§imşek, Aktaş, 2014: 128; Sezgin-Nartgül, Kartal, 2013: 55; Çiçek-Sağlam, Yüksel, 2015: 325). In this context, it can be said that the findings obtained in the research are in parallel with the literature.

It was determined that the levels of organizational silence of the teachers participating in the study did not show any significant difference according to the gender variable. It was determined that organizational silence levels of the male and female teachers showed similarity according to the findings obtained. When it is considered according to the gender variable, it is seen that the research findings in the literature show contradictory results.As a matter of fact, it has been found that in some researches, gender variable is an important determinant of organizational silence (Çınar et al., 2013: 319; Çiçek-Sağlam, Yüksel, 2015: 325) and in some studies organizational silence did not show any significant difference according to gender (Kılıçlar ve Harbalıoğlu, 2014: 336; Sezgin-Nartgül ve Kartal, 2013: 47). The reason for the lack of significant differences in the level of organizational silence between the teachers and the sexes is that the preference of both female and male teachers to meet with organizational problems and to be silent in the face of the problems faced by both male and female teachers in parallel can be considered.

It was found that the scores of the teachers who participated in the study showed a significant difference according to the marital status variable and the accepted silence levels of the married teachers were found to be higher when compared to the single teachers according to the findings obtained. It was determined that the scores obtained from the other sub-dimensions related to organizational silence did not show any significant difference according to the marital status of the teachers. In the research conducted by Kılıçlar and Harbalıoğlu (2014: 337), the levels of organizational silence of individuals working in the tourism sector were examined according to the marital status variable and the level of organizational silence of married employees was found to be higher when compared to single employees at the end of the research.Generally speaking, married teachers have a high level of organizational silence compared to single teachers, married teachers have a high level of work life, high family responsibilities outside work life, and therefore they can be thought to be insensitive to organizational problems in a busy life.

It was determined that the levels of organizational silence of the teachers participating in the research did not show any significant difference according to the type of school they were working on. The outcome of this outcome can be thought of as the reasons for the similarity of organizational problems encountered in schools, the similarities between school administrations and teachers, the similarity of management systems, the similar level of organizational commitment of teachers, and the similar organizational climate and cultural heritage.Research findings in the literature also show that organizational climate, organizational commitment, and relationships with managers in educational institutions have a significant effect on organizational silence (Yaman, Ruçlar, 2014: 36; Qazelvand, Shahtalebi, 2016: 105;Karabag-Köse, 2014: 28).

It was determined that the level of organizational silence of the teachers participating in the research showed significant difference according to the age groups and that the teachers who were in the age group of 50 and above according to the findings were found to have higher defense levels than the teachers in the age group of 31-40 years. At the basis of this result, it can be considered that the higher the professional experience of the teachers in the older age group, and accordingly the higher the motivation to defend themselves in the matters that they are right in the organizational structure.

Another reason for the differences in the level of defense voices according to age groups of teachers is the fact that the causes of the teachers' silence in age groups are different from each other. In researches in the literature, it has been found that the subjects who are silent in the organizational structure show significant differences according to age groups (Çakıcı, 2008: 127; Yaman and Ruçlar, 2014: 39).

It was determined that the levels of organizational silence of the teachers who participated in the research did not show any significant difference with respect to the settlement area where they lived (city center, district center, town – village). As it is known, administrative and organizational elements are at the head of the basic elements that cause organizational silence in employees (Çakıcı, 2008: 130). In this context, it can be considered that the level of organizational silence of the teachers participating in the research does not differ according to the place where they are working, and that the schools in the settlements have similar organizational and administrative structures.

It was determined that organizational silence levels of the teachers participating in the research did not show any significant difference according to the branches. As is known, there are managerial, organizational and business related factors at the beginning of the walls that cause organizational silence in educational institutions (Cemaloğlu et al., 2013: 112; Celep, Kaya, 2016: 233). In this context, it can be considered that the organizational silence levels of the teachers are similar to the branch variables, the similarities of the problems faced by the teachers towards their branches in the schools, the similarity of the organizational commitment levels of the branch teachers and the managerial attitudes towards the branch teachers. On the other hand, it can be said that the approach of school administrations within the framework of management understanding similar to all branch teachers contributed to this result.

As a result, it was determined that the levels of organizational silence of the teachers participating in the research did not show any significant difference according to the type of school, the place of employment, educational status and branch variables. It is thought that the fact that the schools they work in have the similar organizational culture and management forms in the emergence of these results. It has been shown that the vast majority of participants have the same educational status as the reason why organizational silence levels are similar according to their level of education. In addition, it was determined that organizational silence levels of teachers were significantly different according to gender, marital status, age and occupational seniority variables, and these results were found to be in parallel with the literature. As is known, the levels of organizational silence of teachers influence both the performance of the work and the productivity of the education system. Therefore, it can be said that the researches on the factors affecting teachers' organizational silence levels should be increased

References

Alparslan, Kayalar, 2012 – Alparslan, A.M., Kayalar, M. (2012). Organizational Silence: Silence Behaviors and Organizational and Individual Effects. *Mehmet Akif Ersoy University Journal of Social Sciences Institute*, 4 (6), 136–147. Bagheri et al., 2012 – *Bagheri, G., Zarei, R., Aeen, M.N.* (2012). Organizational Silence (Basic Concepts and Its Development Factors). *Ideal Type of Management*, 1 (1), 47–58.

Barçın, 2012 – Barçın, N. (2012). A Research on Organizational Commitment and Effect on Job Satisfaction of Organizational Silence in Organizations. Master Thesis. Cukurova University Social Sciences Institute. Adana.

Beheshtifar et al., 2012 – Beheshtifar, M., Borhani, H., Moghadam M.N. (2012). Destructie Role of Employee Silence in Organizational Success. International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences, 2, 11, 276.

Bowen, Blackmon, 2003 – *Bowen, F., Blackmon, K.* (2003). Spirals of Silence: The Dynamic Effects of Diversity on Organizational Voice. *Journal of Management Studies*, 40 (6), 1393-1417.

Can, 2014 – *Can, A*. (2014). Quantitative Data Analysis in the Scientific Research Process with SPSS.2nd Edition. Ankara: Pegem Academy.

Celep, Kaya, 2016 – Celep, C., Kaya, A. (2016). The Reasons of Organizational Silence According to the Views of Primary Teachers. *Trakya University Journal of Education Faculty*, 6 (2), 233–246.

Cemaloğlu et al., 2013 – *Cemaloğlu, N., Daşcı, E., Şahin, F.* (2013). The Reasons for Teachers Living in Primary Education Institutions to Live Organizational Silence: A Qualitative Study. *Journal of Academic Social Research*, 1 (1), 112–124.

Çakıcı, 2007 – Çakıcı, A. (2007). Silence in Organizations: The Theoretical Foundations and Dynamics of Silence. *CU Journal of Social Sciences Institute*, 16 (1), 145–162.

Çakıcı, 2008 – Çakıcı, A. (2008). A Study on the Causes of Silence and the Perceived Results of Silent Topics in Organizations. *CU Journal of Social Sciences Institute*, 17 (1), 117–134.

Çınar et al., 2013 – Çınar, O., Karcıoğlu, F., & Alioğulları, Z.D. (2013). The relationship between organizational silence and organizational citizenship behavior: a survey study in the province of Erzurum, Turkey. Procedia- Social and Behavioral Sciences, 99, 314–321.

Cicek-Sağlam, Yüksel, 2015 – Cicek-Sağlam, A., Yüksel, A. (2015). Opinions of Teachers and Executives on Organizational Silence in High School. International Periodical For Languages, Literature and History of Turkish or Turkic, 10 (7), 317–332.

Erdoğan, 2011 – *Erdoğan E.* (2011). Organizational Silence and Performance Relation.Unpublished Master Thesis. Institute of Social Sciences, Gebze Advanced Technology Institute.

Erigue et al., 2014 – Erigue, G., Ozer, O., Turac, I. S., Songur, C. (2014). Organizational Silence among Nurses: A Study of Structural Equation Modeling. International Journal of Business, Humanities and Technology, 4 (1), 150–162.

Fast et al., 2014 – *Fast, N. J., Burris, E. R., Bartel, C.A.* (2014). Managing to Stay in the Dark: Managerial Self-Efficacy, Ego Defensiveness, and The Aversion to Employee Voice. Academy of Journal, 57 (4), 1013–1034.

Henriksen, Dayton, 2006 – *Henriksen, K., Dayton, E.* (2006). Organizational Silence And Hidden Threats To Patient Safety. *Health Services Research*, 41 (4), 1539–1555.

Kahveci, Demirtas, 2013 – *Kahveci, G., Demirtas, Z.* (2013). Development of Organizational Silence Scale for Teachers. *Electronic Journal of Social Sciences*, 12 (43), 167–182.

Karabağ-Köse, 2014 – *Karabağ-Köse, E.* (2014). Relations Between Teacher 's Organizational Commitment and Organizational Silence in Disadvantaged Schools. *International Journal of Turkish Educational Science*, 2 (2), 28–36.

Karaca, 2013 – *Karaca, H.* (2013). An Exploratory Study on the Impact of Organizational Silence in Hierarchical Organizations: Turkish National Police Case. *European Scientific Journal*, 9 (23), 38–50.

Kılıçlar, Harbalıoğlu, 2014 – Kılıçlar, A., Harbalıoğlu, M. (2014). The Relationship Between Organizational Silence and Organizational Citizenship Behavior: A Research on Five Star Hotel Operations in. *Journal of Business Research*, 6 (1), 328–346.

Milliken et al., 2003 – *Milliken F.J., Morrison E.W., Hewlin P.F.* (2003). An Exploratory Study of Employee Silence: Issues that Employees Do not Communicate Upward and Why. *Journal of Management Studies*, 40 (6): 1453–1476.

Morrison, Milliken, 2000 – Morrison, E.W., Milliken, F.J. (2000). Organizational Silence: A Barrier to Change and Development in a Pluralistic World. *The Academy of Management Review*, 25, 706–725. Pinder, Harlos, 2001 – Pinder, C. C., Harlos, K. P. (2001). Employee Silence: Quiescence and Acquiescence as Responses to Perceived Injustice. *Research in Personnel and Human Resources Management*, 20, 331–370.

Panahi et al., 2012 – Panahi, B., Veiseh, S. M., Divkhar, S., Kamari, F. (2012). An Empirical Analysis on Influencing Factors on Organizational Silence and Its Relationship with Employee's Organizational Commitment. *Management Science Letters*, 2, 735–744.

Premeaux, Bedeian, 2003 – *Premeaux, S.F., Bedeian, A.G.* (2003). Breaking the Silence: The Moderating Effects of Self-Monitoring in Predicting Speaking Up in the Workplace. *Journal of Management Studies*, 40 (6): 1539–1562.

Sezgin-Nartgün, Kartal, 2013 – Sezgin-Nartgün, Ş., Kartal, V. (2013). Teachers' Views on Organizational Cynicism and Organizational Silence. Bartin University Journal of Education, 2 (2), 47–67.

Shojaie et al., 2011 – Shojaie, S., Matin, H. Z., Barani, G. (2011). Analyzing the Infrastructures of Organizational Silence and Ways to Get Rid of it. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 30, 1731–1735.

Simsek, Aktas, 2014 – *Simsek, E., Aktas, H.* (2014). Personality and Life Satisfaction with Organizational Silence: A Research in the Public Sector. *Anadolu University Journal of Social Sciences*, 14 (2), 121–136.

Tayfun, Çatır, 2013 – *Tayfun, A., Çatır, O.* (2013). A Research on the Relationship between Organizational Silence and Employee Performance. *Journal of Business Research*, 5 (3), 114–134.

Ülker, Kanten, 2009 – Ülker, F., Kanten, P. (2009). A Research on the Silence Climate, Occupational Silence and Organizational Commitment in Organizations. *Aksaray University Journal of İİBF*, 1 (2), 111–126.

Vakola, Bouradas, 2005 – *Vakola, M., Bouradas, D.* (2005). Antecedents and Consequences of Organic Silence: An Empirical Investigation. *Employee Relations*, 27 (5), 441–458.

Van Dyne et al., 2003 – Van Dyne, L., Ang, S., Botero, I.C. (2003), Conceptualizing Employee Silence and Employee Voice as a Multidimensional Construct. *Journal of Management Studies*, 40, 1359–1392.

Qazelvand, Shahtalebi, 2016 – *Qazelvand, R., Shahtalebi, B.* (2016). Organizational Silence and Organizational Commitment of Junior Secondary and Senior Teachers of Azna City. *Review of European Studies*, 8 (2), 105–113.

Yaman, Ruçlar, 2014 – *Yaman, E., Ruçlar, K.* (2014). Organizational Silence in Universities as a Predictor of Organizational Culture. *Journal of Higher Education and Science*, 4 (1), 36–50.



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 566-580 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.566 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Approaches to Teaching Geometry in Kazakhstan Schools Using Information Computer Resources for Educational Purposes

Nurgali K. Ashirbayev ^a, Yerlan Z. Torebek ^a, ^{*}, Nurlibay K. Madiyarov ^a, Marzhan A. Abdualiyeva ^a

^a South-Kazakhstan State University named after M. Auezov, Kazakhstan

Abstract

In the context of rapid technological changes and modernization of society, the issue of ensuring adequacy of content in secondary education based on the use of advanced information technologies (ICT) is being updated. The necessity of an appropriate level of primary intellectual activity development in a person in terms of the current trends in society has been determined. In this regard, the goal of the article is to argue advantages of using software products in geometry lessons in the secondary education system of the Republic of Kazakhstan (RK). By the method of expert assessments, criteria for effectiveness of using ICT in geometry lessons have been developed to form applied geometric competencies in students. Functional advantages of certain software product types in the process of teaching geometry in secondary education have been substantiated. A set of practical tasks with the use of ICT for the academic discipline of geometry has been developed. Based on a pedagogical experiment, the effectiveness of using such ICTs in geometry lessons as Microsoft PowerPoint, Microsoft Excel and AutoCAD ensuring applied orientation of the academic discipline has been substantiated and proved. The main problems of introducing ICT in the educational process in the current context have been identified. A set of practical measures has been presented that would contribute to effective and extensive ICT absorption in the process of teaching geometry in secondary education. The presented scientific research findings will contribute to implementation of the advanced education concept and its computerization under the conditions of information society development.

Keywords: secondary education system, geometry, geometric competencies, computer information technologies, learning process technology.

1. Introduction

The quality of education is assessed by the level of knowledge gained, by formation of creative personal qualities and practical competencies aimed at performing social and professional

* Corresponding author E-mail addresses: <u>ytorebek@yandex.ru</u> (Y.Z. Torebek) functions (Herppich et al., 2017). What should rank first in general scholarship of an intellectual is their geometric education and formed geometric competencies (Pervushkina, Efimovich, 2015). This owes to the fact that people live in a substantial world that is structurally geometric. However, in the course of time, new areas of spatial perception are formed (virtual spaces, multidimensional spaces, digital technologies, etc.), production and industrial technologies change as well (Suh, Prophet, 2018). With all these changes, the main provisions of the very discipline "Geometry" are not only preserved without losing their relevance, but are also developing (Mammarella et al., 2017). Pursuant thereto, geometry leaning goals and technologies and, accordingly, geometric education in the secondary education system of the Republic of Kazakhstan based on the use of information and computer technologies should change (Nazarbayev, 2012; Almaty Education Department, 2013).

Any teaching technology is information technology, as the basis of technological learning process is formed by acquisition and transformation of information (Heitink et al., 2016). Formation of new information technologies within subject geometry lessons enhances the need for creation of new courseware aimed at qualitative improvement of lesson effectiveness (Heitink et al., 2016). Therefore, for successful and purposeful use of information technology in the educational process, secondary education teachers should know a general description of operation principles and didactic scope of software applications and then, based on their experience and recommendations, use them in the educational process. Such an approach contributes to formation of practical geometric competencies in students by means of learning process individualization, students' independent work intensification and training differentiation (Rambousek et al., 2015).

In this regard, the goal of the research is to substantiate the effectiveness of introducing ICT in the geometry teaching process using the example of eleven graders in Lyceum No. 9 named after O. Zholdasbekov in Shymkent with advanced study of mathematics and physics. Within the framework of the research, the following tasks of scientific cognition have been solved: the main problems in the geometry teaching process in secondary education of Kazakhstan have been identified; the most effective ICTs for formation of applied geometric competencies in students in the process of teaching geometry have been determined and the advantages of their use in the educational process based on the pedagogical experiment have been argued; a set of practical measures to increase the effectiveness of ICT use in geometry lessons has been substantiated.

2. Materials and methods

The methodological basis of the research is the following scientific cognition methods.

A pedagogical experiment is a set of logically arranged research operations aimed at a purposeful observation of the educational process in the context of regulated changes in certain characteristics of its progress conditions (Massyrova et al., 2015).

The pedagogical experiment implementation in this study involves the following successive steps:

1. Justification of criteria for comparing software products. Proof of the criteria system representativeness (equations 1, 2);

2. Comparative analysis of software products applicable for geometry studies in school, selection of the most effective ones in terms of feasibility of mathematical operations;

3. Determination of the selected programs use indicating didactic goals and objectives that are to be solved by means of these programs and examples of the software use;

4. Formation of a control and experimental group of students to assess the effectiveness of ICT use;

5. Teaching a class according to a Geometry Training Program using ICTs by areas of activity to the experimental group and the same class without using ICTs to the control group;

6. Development of assignments to diagnose the students' level of knowledge following the classes given. Evaluation of an assignment quality: reliability (equation 3) and validity (equation 4);

7. Assessment of the students' knowledge in the control and experimental groups. A test of statistical significance of differences in the students' level of knowledge obtained in the control and experimental groups (equation 5);

8. Calculating the ICT use effectiveness index in geometry lessons (equation 4), proof of ICT feasibility for geometry studies.

The experiment was carried out on eleven graders in Lyceum No. 9 named after O. Zholdasbekov in Shymkent with advanced study of mathematics and physics, with a total of 188 students (96.4 % of all the eleven graders in the school).

Expert assessment method. This statistical method was used to define effectiveness criteria certain software products use in geometry lessons in terms of their feasibility in the educational process in the form of a generalized opinion of professionals (experts).

To substantiate representativeness of the criteria for comparing software products and assessing feasibility of their introduction in the educational process for geometry studies, an expert group was formed. It included: Deputy Director for Studies and Educational work, four math teachers of Lyceum No. 9 in Shymkent, through the example of which the feasibility of ICT introduction in the educational process in geometry studies is assessed, and two computer science teachers.

The competence of the expert group on ICT introduction in teaching geometry is confirmed by higher teacher education of the experts, the teaching of mathematics and computer science, and over 10 years' work experience in the teaching profession.

The method of individual scoring was applied, whereby the experts were asked to assess the representativeness of each criteria separately (the applicability of each criterion in evaluation) and the entire proposed criteria system on a scale from one to ten (how much the proposed system is able to characterize the feasibility of ICT introduction in geometry teaching process). Score o indicates the lack of representativeness in a criterion, 10 stands for the maximum representativeness and the possibility to assess ICT feasibility by this criterion.

The representativeness coefficient is calculated by the formula (Astfalck et al., 2018):

 $R = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \dot{a_i}} \cdot 100\%,$

(1)

where *R* is the representativeness coefficient of a criterion (criteria system), as %;

 a_i is the estimate of representativeness by an expert;

 \dot{a}_i is the maximum possible estimate by an expert (10 points);

n is the number of experts.

The use of individual expert assessment makes it possible to level out the influence of other experts, thereby ensuring unbiased opinions.

Consistency of expert opinions is indicated by the value of variation coefficient (<10 %) (equation 1) (Rousseau et al., 2018):

 $v = \frac{\sigma}{\bar{x}} * 100 \%,$ (2)

where v is the variation coefficient of the expert estimates, as %;

 σ is a standard deviation of the experts' estimates;

 \bar{x} is the arithmetic mean deviation of the expert estimates.

Interpretation of the results is as follows:

 $v \leq$ 10 % indicates that the expert estimates are characterized by low variability and a high degree of consistency;

10 < $v \le 20$ % indicates that the expert estimates are characterized by an average degree of variability;

v > 20 % indicates that that expert estimates are characterized by a high variability and the degree of expert consistency is low.

The quality of test assignments (stereotyped level), their feasibility for assessing students' knowledge has been evaluated by reliability (3) and validity (4) indices (Ryabinova, Bulanova, 2016).

$$K_r = \frac{n}{n-1} \cdot (1 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n p_i q_i}{S^2}),$$
(3)

where *n* is the number of test assignments;

 p_i is the ratio of correct answers to the –th assignment;

 q_i is the ratio of incorrect answers to the –th assignment;

 S^2 is the variability of the scores obtained.

$$K_{\nu} = \frac{(\overline{X_1})_i - (\overline{X_0})_i}{S} \cdot \sqrt{\frac{(N_1)_i \cdot (N_0)_i}{N(N-1)}},\tag{4}$$

where $(\overline{X_1})_i$ is the average value of individual scores of the students (the average grade in geometry in the past year) who completed the task correctly;

 $(\overline{X_0})_i$ is the average value of individual scores of the students(the average grade in geometry in the past year) who did not complete the task correctly;

S is a standard deviation of individual points;

 $(N_1)_i$ is the number of students who completed the task correctly;

 $(N_0)_i$ is the number of students who did not complete the task correctly;

N is the number of students tested.

The reliability indicator characterizes the invariance of the test under the effect of random variables. The test is feasible at $K_r \ge 0.7$.

Validity is a test applicability index showing the possibility to use it for a specific purpose (in this case, to assess the level of geometry knowledge). The validity index in the range [-1; +1] is measured, where -1 means there is no correlation between students' performance level in geometry and the test results; +1 means all students with a high performance level gave the correct answers to tests, while incorrect answers were given by those with a low level of academic achievement. If the validity coefficient value is < 0.3, the test has low validity and is not applicable for knowledge assessment; if over the range [0.3; 0.6), it has the average validity; if [0.6; 1], it has high validity (Ryabinova, Bulanova, 2016).

To test the statistical significance of differences in the level of knowledge in the control and experimental sample of students, Pearson's chi-square test is used (χ^2 -test). χ^2 -test is calculated by the formula (Nabiulina, 2015):

 $\chi^{2}_{\text{pacy}} = \frac{N \cdot (|n_{1k} \cdot n_{0e} - n_{0k} \cdot n_{1e}| - \frac{N}{2})^{2}}{N_{k} \cdot N_{e} \cdot (n_{1k} + n_{1e}) \cdot (n_{0k} + n_{0e})},$

(5)

where *N* is the number of students tested;

 N_k is the number of students in the control group;

 N_e is the number of students in the experimental group;

 n_{1k} is the number of correct answers to tests among the control group students;

 n_{1e} is the number of correct answers to tests among the experimental group students;

 n_{0k} is number of incorrect answers to tests among the control group students;

 n_{0e} is the number of incorrect answers to tests among the experimental group students.

When $\chi^2_{calc} > \chi^2_{tab}$, the null hypothesis of no difference between the values of sample characteristics is rejected, whereas at $\chi^2_{calc} < \chi^2_{tab}$ it is accepted.

The effectiveness of ICT use in geometry lessons is calculated by the formula (Massyrova et al., 2015):

 $\eta = \frac{AS_e}{AS_k},$

(6)

where AS_e is the average score of test results for the experimental group;

 AS_k is the average score of test results for the control group.

The value of $\eta > 1$ indicates the feasibility of ICT, whereas $\eta \le 1$ indicates its unfeasibility.

3. Findings

Learning goals should be consistent with public demands, that is, with those problems that society poses for education. Under the current conditions in Russian schools, geometry syllabus is covered from the perspective of two subdisciplines: plane geometry dealing with planar figures and their properties; solid geometry dealing with solid figures and their properties. Application of plane geometry is essential to the development of such disciplines as physics, chemistry, geography, and others based on understanding the connection between solid figures and the three-dimensional world around. However, given the fact that the geometry course contents are too simplistic, they do not adequately reflect the relationship of geometry is terminologically and practically substantiated for math teaching method (Pervushkina, Efimovich, 2015), yet, a scientifically grounded methodical technology to implement this relationship with due regard to achievement age and cognitive abilities of students, as well as teaching principles (scietificity, comprehensibility, etc.) remains in progress.

In addition, a destructive factor in the learning process is a distribution of periods when studying geometry areas. Solid geometry studies begin only in the 10thgrade, whereas many students can interrupt their training after the 9thgrade. In other words, students leave school without studying solid geometry.

At the math curricula level in general education school, this problem has found a certain partial solution only as the following changes in the programs:

an increased scope of instruction material in geometry studied at the propaedeutic level in the 5th-6thgrades;

the geometry teaching in the middle school is completed with the area "Solid Geometry Elements", whereas only the first solid geometry lessons in the 10th grade provide an insight into polyhedra, solids of revolution and their plane in the sections (Ministry of Education..., 2017).

Another important problem in geometry studies in the secondary education system is applied orientation of the training course inextricably linked with the problem of geometric competency formation in students. Thus, analysis of the most commonly used geometry textbooks in Kazakhstan schools for the 10th-11thgrades has shown that the ratio of learning activities in textbooks for the 10th grade ranges from 23.1 % to 44.8 %, and for the 11th grade it ranges from 25.6 % to 62.8 % (Figure 1), whereas there are 2 % to 7 % of applied problems therein out of the total task material, with the volume of illustrative material not exceeding 22.5 % for the 10th grade and 26.1 % for the 11thgrade (Figure 1). The current situation indicates an insufficient level of applied nature of procedural guidelines for geometry lessons in the secondary education system.



Fig. 1. Correlation of tasks and visual information in geometry textbooks for the 10th-11th grades by the most commonly used authors in the system of secondary education of the Republic of Kazakhstan

Applied orientation of a geometry course is implemented in ways to apply school geometry knowledge in everyday life, in industries and in science. The applied orientation techniques of solid geometry course are focused on formation of students' ability to study the surrounding phenomena in mathematical terms, to analyze, to create mathematical models, that is, they equip students with knowledge and skills that are indispensable in solving problems practically. In this regard, given the shortcomings existing in the process of forming geometric competence in school students, it seems expedient and necessary to mainstream information computer technologies (ICT) in the educational process.

In Kazakhstan, continuous efforts are also taken to digitalize training to fit the times. Within the framework of e-learning, 41 metropolitan educational institutions were included in the experiment, including 32 schools and 9 vocational educational institutions. Project "School of the Future Today" has been implemented in 17 schools of the city. In an interactive studio of the Department of Education, online lessons and educational events were held (Ministry of Education..., 2015). At the same time, in 2015, Astana Innovations JSC launched new pilot project "Smart School", with its performance specifications being almost identical to those of the "School of the Future Today" system (Electronic Office Systems, 2015). Within the government program "Digital Kazakhstan" for 3rd-4th grades, the subject "Information and Communication Technologies", which forms general basic skill to operate modern information technologies for their effective use in learning and everyday life, has been introduced. 372 groups on robotics have

been founded to teach the general basics of programming within the robotics framework. The aim of the project is to organize joint project activities of students and teachers by means of modern and emerging technologies (The Prime Minister..., 2017).

It is planned to set up a specially equipped BilimBook room in schools of three Kazakhstan regions. Bilimbook contains four educational resources in Kazakh, Russian, and English languages – universal educational platform BilimLand, virtual training simulator for UNT (Unified National Testing) and CTA (Complex Testing of Applicants) iTest, full elementary school curriculum in the Kazakh language iMektep, a kit of more than 1,500 absorbing educational films Twig-Bilim. Within the framework of this project, the schools will be equipped with a newly modified room – an interactive whiteboard with a projector and a safe box with 18 touch-screen laptops-transformers. BilimBook is designed for individual use by a student in order to enhance the learning motivation and to stimulate their cognitive activity (Bilim Media Group, 2017).

In addition, specialized package Geometre's Sketchpad, version 3.1, developed by Key Curriculum Press, has been created to study basic geometrical figures and their characteristics (Mukminova, 2016). The program ensures student activity in the field of analysis, problem solving, theorem proving, allows them to reveal trends in geometric phenomena, to formulate theorems for subsequent proving and to develop skills to comprehend them. The package is recommended for use in math lessons in the 6th-9th grades and is widely used in schools of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

ICTs have quite a diverse range of uses in educational process, of which the main ones are: the use of ICT as a computing device and multimedia tools, to simulate various phenomena and processes, as a means for reinforcing the competences developed by students (Olmedo-Torre et al., 2017; Rambousek et al., 2015; Gastelú et al., 2015). Therefore, within the framework of the research, a pedagogical experiment was conducted to determine priority ICTs when studying geometry in schools, as well as the effectiveness of their use.

The pedagogical experiment advantage in this study is the possibility to actively influence the formation of geometric competencies in students by providing new conditions. In this study, new conditions are the use of appropriate ICTs in geometry lessons.

Within the framework of the research, analysis of those main software products has been carried out that are feasible in geometry studies, are of applied nature and contribute to the geometric competence formation.

The results of evaluating the criteria informativeness based on the expert assessment results according to equations 1 and 2 are presented in Table 1.

Criterion	Average representative ness rate, as %	Standard deviation in expert estimates	Variation coefficient of expert estimates, as %
Applicability in plane geometry studies	100	0.0	0.0
Applicability in solid geometry studies	100	0.0	0.0
Option to work with spreadsheets	84	0.5	6.3
Option to work with ready-made geometric figures	93	0.8	8.1
Option to model geometric figures to high precision	96	0.5	5.6
Availability of predefined templates of geometric objects	86	0.5	6.2
Option to design complex real systems	87	0.8	8.7

Table 1. Representativeness indices of the criteria for assessing the feasibility of ICT introduction in the learning process when studying geometry

According to the results of expert evaluation, the most representative criteria are: applicability in plane geometry studies and applicability in solid geometry studies (100 %). The average representativeness rate of all the criteria exceeds 84 %, that is, in 84 % of cases these criteria are applicable for assessing the feasibility of ICT introduction.

The representativeness of the proposed criteria system as a whole is 82 %. The part of unrecorded criteria that can be used to assess the feasibility of ICT introduction is 18 %.

These criteria system allows for an overall assessment of the applicability and feasibility of a certain software product in school geometry studies according to their functional purpose.

The results of comparative analysis of software products based on the expert opinions are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Comparative analysis of software products for formation of geometric competency in secondary education of the Republic of Kazakhstan

	Software product							
The effectiveness criterion of use in the educational process	Gran-2D	Gran-3D	GeoGebra	Microsoft Excel (Open Office Calc, LibreOffice Calc)	Microsoft PowerPoint	AutoCAD	MatLAB, Mathcad	Statistica
Applicability in plane geometry studies	+	I	+	+	+	+	+	+
Applicability in solid geometry studies	I	+	+	-	+	+	+	+
Option to work with spreadsheets	I	I	I	+	-	I	+	+
Option to work with ready-made geometric figures	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Option to model geometric figures to high precision	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
Availability of predefined templates of geometric objects	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	-
Option to design complex real systems	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+
Share of positive estimates by the criteria,%	57.1	57.1	71.4	57.1	42.9	85. 7	85.7	85.7

The school curriculum in geometry, as already mentioned, consists of two parts: "Plane Geometry" (studied in the 7th-9th grades) and "Solid Geometry" (for the 10th-11th grades), therefore, the main criteria for software products comparison are feasibility of their use when studying these areas of geometry. Out of the programs presented in Table 1, the possibility of studying plane geometry is offered by all the programs with the exception of "Gran-3D", which is used to model geometric figures in three-dimensional space. In turn, Gran-2D, Microsoft Excel (Open Office Calc, LibreOffice Calc) are inapplicable for studying solid Geometry.

The use of spreadsheets when studying a geometry course allows one to solve the areas and volumes of geometric figures, to find the length of segments, sides, the grade measures of angles, thereby simplifying work with large data arrays. The most common spreadsheet editor aimed at work with spreadsheets is Microsoft Excel (Open Office Calc, LibreOffice Calc) (Grech, 2018). It also allows one to work with Statistica spreadsheets.

Thus, from the comparative analysis (Table 2), all the software products listed above offer the option to work with ready-made geometric figures: their representation in different planes, a stageby-stage demonstration of their construction process, a visual illustration of differences in properties of geometric figures. In addition, all the programs on this list, except for Microsoft PowerPoint, allow one to model geometric figures. Microsoft PowerPoint is a program for creating and viewing presentations demonstrating ready-made geometric figures and texts that characterize basic properties of these figures and formulas, and their scope of application. Microsoft PowerPoint allows one to build simple geometric figures, although without high accuracy, because this program provides no opportunity to specify, for example, such data as coordinates of vertices, lengths of sides, angles, etc. (Pate, Posey, 2016).

Gran-2D, Gran-3D, GeoGebra, AutoCAD are specialized programs designed to construct geometric figures, they have ready-made templates.

The possibility to engineer complex real systems is given by software products AutoCAD, MatLAB, Mathcad, and Statistica. They include a wide range of tools for modeling real systems and solving complex technical, economic, environmental, educational, psychological, and other problems by using and reinforcing geometric knowledge and skills.

Based on the results of comparing software products by the proposed criteria, program products AutoCAD, MatLAB, Mathcad, and Statistic are characterized by the highest percentage of positive expert estimates (85.7%). Yet, given their performance specifications, it can be argued that AutoCAD is the most effective for geometry studies (Liu et al., 2017). This stems from the fact that it provides the most extensive functionality for 3D modeling of geometric objects as compared to MatLAB, Mathcad, Statistica.

Also, it should be noted that it is expedient to use this program in studying both plane geometry and solid geometry, since it allows one to work with figures on two- and threedimensional planes, to model new figures and to demonstrate those already formed. Applied skills to work in this very program in geometry lessons would lay the groundwork for development of the future competence to model complex real systems used in the higher education system and professional activity.

However, it should be noted that in some cases, additional use of Microsoft Excel to compute and Microsoft PowerPoint to present theoretical material is advisable. It is complementary and integrated use of these software products that will ensure applied nature of the academic discipline "Geometry" and will promote development of geometric competence in secondary school students.

Based on the functionality of Microsoft PowerPoint, Microsoft Excel, and AutoCAD, topic "Cylinder Volume" was developed according to the Geometry Training Program. ICTs were used to develop the following areas of the topic, taking into account attainment of the didactic aim of geometry lessons (Table 3).

Software product	Didactic aim	Issues to be addressed
Microsoft PowerPoint	Theoretical material delivery, visualization of knowledge	The concept and properties of a cylinder. Types of cylinders, their features. Formulas for solving the area of a cylinder base, finding a cylinder volume, height, and cross- sectional area. Applications of cylinders in engineering
Microsoft Excel	Consolidation of the delivered theoretical material, reinforcement of skills in solving geometric problems	Finding a cylinder volume, height, cross- sectional area, base radius
AutoCAD	Consolidation of the delivered theoretical material, modeling geometric objects	Construction of a cylinder with specified characteristics: the base radius, the height. Representation of a geometric figure from different projections. Cross section of a cylinder. Building real object models

Table 3. Scope of ICT use when studying the topic "Cylinder Volume" in geometry lessons for eleven graders of Liceum N° 9, Shymkent

Microsoft PowerPoint enables the user to visually demonstrate the model of a cylinder in different planes and draw a parallel with similar reality objects (mechanical parts, buildings) to communicate the practical significance of the topic to students. This would contribute to the

formation of knowledge about the properties of a geometric figure, the ability to determine it in space, the ability to practically apply knowledge and skills. In addition, the use of presentation material enables students to repeatedly return to the material studied on their own, which will improve the perception of the material.

Microsoft Excel is proposed to be used to find a cylinder volume, height, cross-sectional area, base radius. Using spreadsheets allows one to speed up the process of solving similar problems; to sort and filter geometric objects by the following criteria: radius, area, height; to conduct a comparative analysis of objects according to these criteria; to identify the relationship between the height of a cylinder and the cross-sectional area, between the base radius and the cross-sectional area, between the grade measure of an arc that the section plane intercepts and the cross-sectional area. Consequently, the main goal is achieved, which is formation of the ability to solve computational stereometric problems, as well as the skills of operating databases: sorting, filtering, and the use of subtotals. The variety of tasks solved improves perception and acquisition of educational material.

Software product AutoCAD is used for practical consolidation of the delivered theoretical material and modeling of geometric objects (cylinders). This program makes it possible to construct a cylinder by the base radius and the height (Figure 2), to change its parameters by elongating and rotating, to draw a section plane (Figure 3), to create more complex objects consisting of cylinders (Figure 4).







Fig. 2. Constructing a cylinder in AutoCAD



Fig. 3. Cross section of the cylinder from different projections





The use of ICTs when studying the topic "Cylinder Volume" makes it possible to attain such didactic aims of the lesson as: formation of knowledge about the characteristics and properties of a cylinder; familiarity with the cylinder construction technology in AutoCAD; acquisition of skills to construct a cylinder with specified parameters; formation of abilities to cube a cylinder, to find the base radius and the cross-sectional area.

For the cognitive development purposes, the following tasks are solved: development of spatial awareness in students; development of logical thinking, the ability to generalize and concretize; development of attention and the ability to observe and consolidate knowledge; formation of the ability to compare, to find similarities and differences; development of computer skills, and so on.

To confirm the effectiveness of ICT use in geometry studies, a pedagogical experiment was conducted, whereby eleven graders of Lyceum No. 9 in Shymkent were requested to solve the tasks of two complexity levels: stereotyped tasks by the standard algorithm proposed by the teacher and described in geometry textbooks; heuristic tasks that do not have a standard solution algorithm and require the use of complex geometry knowledge.

The use of tasks of two complexity levels has made it possible to assess the formedness level of baseline competencies (the ability to solve computational stereometric problems), as well as creative, analytical, spatial problems.

Stereotyped problems

Task 1. As a result of a cylinder section, a square is obtained. At what distance from the axis of the cylinder is the section plane drawn? The cylinder height measures 10 cm, the base radius is 6 cm, and the section plane is parallel to the cylinder axis.

Possible answers:

a.	4 cm;	с.	$\sqrt{11}$ cm;
b.	$\sqrt{16}$ cm;	d.	9 cm

Task 2. A plane is drawn through a cylinderaxis. Calculate the diagonal of the rectangle resulting from the section if the cylinder base radius measures 7 cm and the height measures 4 cm. Possible answers:

a.	8 cm;	с.	14 cm;
b.	2√53cm;	d.	12√7cm

Task 3. The diameter of a cylinder base (*d*) is equal to its height (*h*). d = h = 10 cm. In the cylinder, points in the circumferences of the lower (point K) and upper (point N) bases are connected in such a way that the angle between the radii drawn to these points is $\alpha = 60^{\circ}$. What is the angle between the straight line connecting points K and N and the cylinderaxis?

Possible answers:

a.	$arctg \frac{1}{2};$	с.	30°;
b.	$\arccos \frac{2}{3}{8};$	d.	45°•

European Journal of Contemporary Education, 2018, 7(3)

Task 4. A line is drawn through points A and B lying in the circumference of the lower and upper bases of a cylinder, respectively. The angle between the straight line and the cylinder diameter is 45°. What is the total surface area of the cylinder if its height measures 5 cm?

Possible answers:

a.	$28.3 \mathrm{cm}^2$	с.	53.8 cm ² ;
b.	$31\sqrt{2}$ cm ² ;	d.	37.5 cm².

Heuristic problems

Task 1. If a cylinder filled with water deflects by an angle α , 1/8 of the water flows out. If the cylinder deflects by an angle 2α , another quarter of the remaining water will flow out. Find angle α .

Task 2. A cylinder with radius R stands in a horizontal plane. Another one with radius r (r < R) is placed on a larger cylinder, as shown in Figure 1.

Describe the space locus where point A can appear.



Points B, C, D are adherent points of the cylinders.

Figure 1

Criteria for assessing practical assignments

The correct answer to a stereotyped task is estimated at 1 point. The assessment range of heuristic tasks is 0-4 points:

1 point – the task is not solved, but basic formulas necessary to solve the problem are given, a graphic layout of the task is drawn;

2 points – the task is half-solved: a graphic layout of the problem is drawn, basic formulas necessary to solve the problem are given, calculations for solving the problem are made partially;

3 points – the task is solved correctly but not fully justified;

4 points – the task is solved correctly, fully justified and proved, with a graphical representation of the decision result.

In order to conduct the pedagogical experiment and evaluate the effectiveness of ICT use in the educational process, a control group (students who studied the topic "Cylinder Volume" without using ICT) and an experimental group (students who studied the topic using Microsoft PowerPoint, Microsoft Excel, AutoCAD) were formed. In order to ensure the experimental outcome integrity, the control and experimental groups were formed in such a way that the average level of students' progress in geometry was approximately the same for both groups (Berlinski, Busso, 2017).

The index of stereotyped problems reliability for knowledge assessment on the "Cylinder Volume" topic, calculated by formula 3, is 0.77; the validity index (formula 4) is 0.71, which testifies of this test applicability to students' knowledge assessment.

The validity index was also calculated for heuristic problems. At the same time, the correct answer to such a task scored 4 points. The validity coefficient for was 0.97 the first heuristic task and 0.99 for the second one. Consequently, the proposed test is applicable for assessing the level of students' knowledge in the "Geometry" discipline when studying the topic "Cylinder Volume".

The average score of the students' knowledge test results in the control and experimental groups was 7.4 points for the control group and 8.9 points for the experimental group.

As shown by the pedagogical experiment, a significant difference in the levels of knowledge between the two groups of students was observed when solving heuristic tasks: 3.9 points (control group), 5.1 points (experimental group).

The coefficient of ICT use effectiveness calculated by formula 6 was 1.09 for solving stereotyped problems and 1.31 for heuristic ones.

To test statistical significance of the differences in the level of knowledge gained by the students in the control and experimental samples, Pearson's chi-square test (χ^2 -test) was used (equation 5). Based on the calculation results, an excess of the χ^2 -test calculated value (7.73) over the tabulated one (3.84 at a significance level of 0.05) has been determined, which indicates statistical significance of differences in the level of knowledge of the control and experimental group students.

4. Discussion

Thus, the effectiveness of using such software products as Microsoft PowerPoint, Microsoft Excel, AutoCAD in the process of teaching geometry in the secondary education system has been confirmed by the outcome of the pedagogical experiment, especially in terms of formation of creative, analytical, and spatial competencies in students. The average grade in geometry in the experimental group of students exceeds its level in the control group by 1.5. The use of ICT has proved to be especially effective in performing heuristic geometry tasks, whereby the level of the experimental group knowledge exceeds the level of the control group by 1.2 points.

An essential advantage of using Microsoft PowerPoint, Microsoft Excel, and AutoCAD in the process of forming geometric competency is to ensure applied nature of learning as the main problem of studying geometry in the present day Russian secondary education system. Its applied nature is ensured by individualization of learning and intensification of students' independent work, an expansion of the assignments scope in class and of information flows when using the Internet. In other words, the use of ICT contributes to a more intensive study of the academic discipline over the standard time allocated for geometry studies. This approach can solve such an existing problem as teaching the fundamentals of solid geometry in preceding grades, for example, in the 8th-9thgrades.

The use of ICT gives new opportunities to the teacher, allowing them together with the student to enjoy fascinating cognitive process, to delve into a vivid colorful world by means of advanced technologies. Such an activity causes emotional uplift in children; even slow learners are willing to work with computers (Mukminova, 2016).

Integration of a regular geometry class with ICTs, in particular, with software products Microsoft PowerPoint, Microsoft Excel, AutoCAD allows the teacher to shift part of their work to the computer, thereby making the learning process more interesting, diverse, and intense. In particular, the process of writing down definitions, theorems, and other important material is speeded up, since the teacher does not have to repeat information several times (instead, they screen it), whereas the student does not have to wait until the teacher repeats exactly the fragment they need.

This approach to teaching provides many advantages for teachers: it helps them to better assess children's abilities and knowledge and to understand them, encourages them to look for new, unconventional forms and methods of teaching, and stimulates professional growth and further development of ICTs in the teaching process (Heitink et al., 2016).

The use of computer tests and diagnostic kits in class would provide an insight for teachers into the level of the studied material acquisition by all students in a short time and to adjust it in a timely manner. At the same time, it is possible to select the complexity level of a task for a particular student

In lessons integrated with ICTs, students acquire computer literacy and learn to use one of the most powerful modern universal tools, a computer, to work with geometry material, whereby they solve equations, construct graphs and diagrams, prepare texts and drawings for their papers. This is an opportunity for students to show their creative potential (Rambousek et al., 2015). It means that the use of an interactive geometric environment contributes to a student's personality development: inuring self-control and self-reflection in students, changing their role in the educational process from being passive observers to becoming active researchers. The quality of mathematical training also increases through the development of logical, heuristic, algorithmic thinking and spatial awareness in students.

However, along with the positive aspects of ICT use in the process of teaching geometry in the secondary education system, there are various problems both in preparation for such lessons and in class. One of the main problems of effective ICT use in teaching school students is the facilities and equipment in Kazakhstan schools that are not sufficient for teaching such classes. As of 2017, Kazakhstan ranks 75th in the world in terms of ICT use in education (Almaty Education Department, 2013). Computer availability in schools of the country is 25 %, which means one computer per 12 students (Ministry of National..., 2018). An exit strategy for the current situation could be implementation of the following measures:

-teachers forming a geometry training agenda in computer classrooms for a semester or for the entire academic year by reference to time necessary to use computers for educational purposes;

-heightened interest in the use of information technology in learning other disciplines, not just mathematical ones by organizing and demonstrating lessons using ICT, developing creative assignments, publishing information about grade and school achievements online, organizing various competitions using multimedia and useful software products.

The next factor restraining ICT introduction in the learning process is strict compliance with sanitary-engineering standards for a personal computer use in geometry classes. Since a prolonged computer use is quite harmful for the child's body, it is necessary to fix optimal time limits for its usage (Miidla-Vanatalu, 2014). In this case it will be expedient:

-for the teacher to specify a list of geometry topics, the study of which is a priority with the use of ICT;

-to involve a wide range of programs in the learning process without requiring additional programming knowledge;

-to accurately plan geometry lesson stages using ICTs as much as possible according to the permissible standards of computer usage time by students (Miidla-Vanatalu, 2014).

Also, a significant destructive factor in extensive ICT use in training is a competition with the conventional learning technology. First of all, this problem is accounted for the lack of a major teacher interest in the use of computer technology in class. In this regard, it is necessary to take a purposeful action in respect to teachers: to ground them in computer literacy; to introduce them to specialized software intended for the educational process; presentation of the advantages of ICT use in geometry classes, in particular, of such software products as Microsoft PowerPoint, Microsoft Excel, AutoCAD; preparation for testing (for example, the Unified State Examination) using computers; centralized inclusion of certain sections or tasks that require the use of ICT in geometry textbooks, and other.

An immature student culture of operating a personal computer also leads to negative implications in the ICT-based learning process. Currently, the main purpose of using a computer by students is leisure activities: online networking, games of various kinds and so on. It is the main teacher's role to demonstrate the usefulness of a computer and various software products in the learning process. Therefore, the following seems expedient for the teacher to do: to clearly set learning objectives for students before starting work on a computer; to demonstrate an extensive use of computers and ICTs as supporting aids in teaching.

5. Conclusion

Thus, the following inferences can be drawn based on the empirical investigation:

1. The key problems of geometry studies in the present day secondary education system in the Republic of Kazakhstan are the following: the lack of a fundamental educational base for studying solid geometry in the form of a logical connection with plane geometry for secondary school students and an insufficient level of applied orientation of the training course. These destructive factors reduce the level of students' comprehension of the connection between solid geometric figures and the surrounding three-dimensional world, as well as the applicability of school geometry knowledge in practice.

2. The established effectiveness criteria for software products use have led to the conclusion that Microsoft PowerPoint, Microsoft Excel and AutoCAD are the most appropriate in studying geometry in the secondary education system. Integrated use of ICT data ensures applied nature of the academic discipline "Geometry" and contributes to the most complete formation of the geometric competency in students.

3. Advanced planning of geometry lessons in computer classrooms, accurate planning of ICT lessons, increased level of teachers' computer literacy and fostered motivation for ICT use in

teaching geometry will help to eliminate competition with conventional learning technologies and to mainstream effective software products into the educational environment. It will ensure intensification of independent and creative work of students in the learning process as a factor in formation of practical geometric competencies.

References

Almaty Education Department, 2013 – Almaty Education Department. (2013). Strategy of the Republic of Kazakhstan's Education System Informatization until 2020 [Electronic resource]. URL: http://edualmaty.kz/ru/2017-02-14-10-40-51/reglamenty-gosudarstvennykh-uslug/24стратегия-информатизации-системы-образования-республики-казахстан-до-2020-года (accessed: 25.06.2018).

Astfalck et al., 2018 – *Astfalck, L.C., Cripps, E.J., Gosling, J.P., Hodkiewicz, M.R., Milne, I.A.* (2018). Expert elicitation of directional metocean parameters. *Ocean Engineering,* 161: 268–276.

Berlinski, Busso, 2017 – *Berlinski, S., Busso, M.* (2017). Challenges in educational reform: An experiment on active learning in mathematics. *Economics Letters*, 156: 172–175.

Bilim Media Group, 2017 – *Bilim Media Group*. (2017). Bllimbook Training Device: Quality Education Available to Everybody [Electronic resource]. URL: https://bilimland.kz/ru/blog/ obuchayushee-ustrojstvo-bilimbook-kachestvennoe-obrazovanie-dostupnoe-vsem (accessed: 15.06.2018).

Electronic Office Systems, 2015 – Electronic Office Systems. (2015). Kazakhstan: new Smart Astana projects launched [Electronic resource]. URL: https://www.eos.ru/eos_delopr/news/9738/ (accessed: 15.06.2018).

Gastelú et al., 2015 – *Gastelú, C.A.T., Kiss, G., Domínguez, A.L.* (2015). Comparison of the ICT literacy level of the Mexican and Hungarian students in the higher education. *Procedia* – *Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 174: 137–142.

Grech, 2018 – *Grech, V.* (2018). WASP (Write a Scientific Paper) using Excel-10: Contingency tables. *Early Human Development*, 121: 65–68.

Heitink et al., 2016 – Heitink, M., Voogt, J., Verplanken, L., van Braak, J., Fisser, P. (2016). Teachers' professional reasoning about their pedagogical use of technology. *Computers & Education*, 101: 70–83.

Herppich et al., 2017 – Herppich, S., Praetorius, A.-K., Förster, N., Glogger-Frey, I., Südkamp, A. (2017). Teachers' assessment competence: Integrating knowledge-, process-, and product-oriented approaches into a competence-oriented conceptual model. *Teaching and Teacher Education*.

Liu et al., 2017 – *Liu, Zh., Wu, H., Cao, L.* (2017). Geometry pretreatment method for the 3D modular characteristic method based on AutoCAD. *Annals of Nuclear Energy*, 109: 440–450.

Mammarella et al., 2017 – Mammarella, I.C., Giofrè, D., Caviola, S. (2017). Learning geometry: The development of geometrical concepts and the role of cognitive processes. Acquisition of Complex Arithmetic Skills and Higher-Order Mathematics Concepts, 221–246.

Massyrova et al., 2015 – *Massyrova, R., Sandibayeva, N., Kaptagai, G., Kopenbayeva, A., Aidarbekova, A.* (2015). Formation of the creative activity of students on the basis of educational experiment in physics. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 177: 440–444.

Miidla-Vanatalu, 2014 – *Miidla-Vanatalu, M.* (2014). Working and rest time [Electronic resource]. URL: https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=8&cad=rj a&uact=8&ved=oahUKEwi2irKtrd_bAhXBFZoKHfPmCxcQFghmMAc&url=https%3A%2F%2Fww w.ti.ee%2Ffileadmin%2Fuser_upload%2FToo_ja_puhkeaeg_RUS.pdf&usg=AOvVawoG5poTXD7 Teg2pKeZrQTeZ (accessed: 14.06.2018).

Ministry of Education..., 2015 - Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Kazakhstan. (2015). Report on the implementation of the State Program of Education Development Republic of of Kazakhstan for 2011-2020 [Electronic resource]. the URL: https://www.google.com.ua/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=3&cad=rja&uact=8&ve d=oahUKEwjQ34q77u7bAhVLjywKHccpCxkQFggsMAI&url=http%3A%2F%2Fedu.gov.kz%2Fuplo ad%2FFiles%2F4094e78d5d13e3eb2c435d581f843f17.docx&usg=AOvVaw08xQ10AFSpjV7NkEl1p dUT (accessed: 15.06.2018).

Ministry of Education..., 2017 – Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Kazakhstan. (2017). About features of the organization of educational process in general education

schools of the Republic of Kazakhstan in 2017-2018 academic year. Instructional and methodical letter [Electronic resource]. URL: http://5.ai.kz/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/инструктивнометодическое-письмо-2017-2018-учебный-год.pdf (accessed: 15.06.2018)

Ministry of National..., 2018 – Ministry of National Economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Committee on Statistics. (2018) [Electronic resource]. URL: http://stat.gov.kz/faces/wcnav _externalId /publicationsPage?_afrLoop=2392253932680656#%40%3F_afrLoop%3 D2392253 932680656%26_adf.ctrl-state%3Dqzsy9chnc_74 (aAccessed: 15.06.2018)

Mukminova, 2016 – Mukminova, Yu.N. (2016). Teoreticheskie i prakticheskie aspekty` ispol`zovaniya informacionny`x texnologij pri distancionnom obuchenii matematike v srednej shkole [Theoretical and practical aspects of information technology use in mathematics distance teaching in secondary school] [Electronic resource]. URL: www.surgpu.ru/media/uploads /2016/02/25/__4.doc (accessed: 15.06.2018). [in Russian]

Nabiulina, 2015 – Nabiulina, L.M. (2015). Ispol`zovanie kriteriya χ^2 (xi-kvadrat) dlya provedeniya statisticheskoj obrabotki danny`x pedagogicheskogo e`ksperimenta [Using χ^2 test (chi-square) for statistical processing of the pedagogical experiment data] [Electronic resource]. URL: https://ipi1.ru/s/196-ispolzovanie-kriteriya-2-khi-kvadrat.html (accessed: 15.06.2018). [in Russian]

Nazarbayev, 2012 – *Nazarbayev, N.A.* (2012). "The strategy "Kazakhstan-2050" – a new political course of the established state". Message to the people of Kazakhstan [Electronic resource]. URL: www.bnews.kz (accessed: 25.06.2018).

Olmedo-Torre et al., 2017 – Olmedo-Torre, N., Farrerons Vidal, O., Lapaz Castillo, J., Bermúdez Rodríguez, F. (2017). The influence of ICT on learning in graphic engineering. Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences, 237: 737–744.

Pate, Posey, 2016 – *Pate, A., Posey, S.* (2016). Effects of applying multimedia design principles in PowerPoint lecture design. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 8(2): 235–239.

Pervushkina, Efimovich, 2015 – *Pervushkina, E.A, Efimovich, J.A*. (2015). One of ways of realization of competence-based approach to training of geometry at school. *Young Scientist*, 14: 513–517.

Rambousek et al., 2015 – *Rambousek, V., Štípek, J., Wildová, R.* (2015). ICT competencies and their development in primary and lower-secondary schools in the Czech Republic. *Procedia* – *Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 171: 535–542.

Rousseau et al., 2018 – *Rousseau, R., Egghe, L., Guns, R.* (2018). Statistics. In Becoming metric-wise (p. 67-97). Oxford: Chandos Publishing.

Ryabinova, Bulanova, 2016 – Ryabinova, E.N., Bulanova, I.N. (2016). Monitoring of student performance through pedagogical tests. Science Vector of Togliatti State University. Series: Pedagogy, Psychology, 4(27): 16–20.

Suh, Prophet, 2018 – Suh, A., Prophet, J. (2018). The state of immersive technology research: A literature analysis. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 86: 77–90.

The Prime Minister..., 2017 – The Prime Minister of the Republic of Kazakhstan. (2017). State program "Digital Kazakhstan" [Electronic resource]. URL: https://primeminister.kz/ru/page /view/gosudarstvennaya_programma_digital_kazahstan (accessed: 15.06.2018).



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 581-597 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.581 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Developing Cognitive Independence of Future Informatics Teachers by Multimedia Tools

Nataliya V. Yakymchuk ^{a,*}, Victor V. Kazachenok ^b

^a I. Zhansugurov Zhetysu State University, Taldykorgan, Kazakhstan ^b Belarus State University, Minsk, Belarus

Abstract

Future Informatics teachers need to have skills and abilities to continuously improve their knowledge in the field of both modern Information Technologies and modern methods of teaching Informatics. Specialists should constantly self-study because of the rapid pace in development of Informatics and Information Technologies. Thus, the high level of cognitive independence gives students real opportunities to integrate into the world information space, operating information resources presented in various forms. A new learning technology based on subject- and problem-oriented computer training programs and, in particular, multimedia programs is one of the ways to train highly qualified specialists. The programs help to improve the efficiency of learning technology, to intensify educational process, to improve the quality of training. At the same time, it is the role of an Informatics teacher that is significantly increasing. However, modern courses of Informatics do not adequately reflect the issues related to the theoretical and practical aspects of multimedia technology. This article describes our experiment on developing the components of cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers through learning, development and practical use of multimedia tools and gives the details of the used diagnostic material.

Keywords: cognitive independence, multimedia, diagnostics, Informatics teacher, motivation, experiment.

1. Introduction

Pedagogical education is modernized in order to provide high professionalism, pedagogical and professional culture of a specialist who receives a bachelor's degree in accordance with the modern requirements of information society and the demands of pedagogical practice (Ministry of Education et al., 2010). Rapid constant changes in the content of the subject "Informatics" determine changes in professional university training of a future Informatics teacher.

* Corresponding author

E-mail addresses: jakim79@mail.ru (N.V. Yakymchuk)

At the same time, not just a well-educated specialist is in demand in the labour market, but a specialist who has qualities necessary for continuous improvement of knowledge in addition to professional skills (Abrami et al., 2015; Delen, Liew, 2016). Future Informatics teacher needs knowledge both in the field of modern Information Technologies and methods of their pedagogical application (Novković-Cvetković, Stanojević, 2017). A future teacher needs to adapt to a rapidly changing environment because of the limited possibility of mastering the new content of the subject at a faster pace in the university (Torabi et al., 2013). It means that it is necessary to master the skills of continuous self-learning (Arsić, 2014; Zanden et al., 2018).

Thus, the high level of cognitive independence gives students real opportunities to integrate into the world information space and participate in professional information processes, operating information resources presented in various forms, and use multimedia tools of presenting information for self-expression (Kazachenok, 2017; Milková, 2012; Rusakov et al., 2017).

The powerful computer multimedia systems and interactive computer programs have become the basis for intensive development of the content and principles of creating electronic textbooks, training programs, their usage on the basis of mobile devices (Sakibayev, Yakimchuk, 2017; Folley, 2010), tablets (Duran, Aytaç, 2016; Chen, Sager, 2011) for self-education of students, as well as their use in blended (Dalal, 2014; Yap et al., 2016) and distance learning (Kazachenok, Mandrik, 2011; Kazachonak, Mandrik, 2009).

Simultaneously, a number of researchers develop some issues related to a cognitive load in multimedia education (Mayer et al., 2004; Sorden, 2005; *Davies, Cormican*, 2013; Kalyuga, 2013), principles of multimedia education (Mayer, Moreno, 2003), as well as the use of multimedia technologies in the university pedagogical process (Kalyuga, 2013; Schnotz, Rasch, 2005) and their impact on formation and development of learning motivation (Folley, 2010; Vanslambrouck et al., 2018) and individualization of learning (Schnotz, Rasch, 2005; Casillas et al., 2016).

In these circumstances, it is of paramount importance for future specialists to develop the need in constant renewal and updating of knowledge in Informatics, and skills to meet this need (Milková, 2015; Dalal, 2014). Mastering new content of the subject area "Informatics" is possible only when all components of cognitive independence develop as a whole. Therefore, in the experimental part of our study we tested the process when future Informatics teachers were developing the components of cognitive independence, and the level of the education content that students were acquiring. We identified informative, operational, motivational, emotional-volitional and reflexive components in the structure of cognitive independence.

2. Materials and methods

To diagnose the levels of cognitive independence, we have developed a set of indicators, control and ascertaining materials (tasks, tests).

The indicator is considered as a component of a criterion, i.e. a specific indicator of qualities of a process or phenomenon (Borodin et al., 2015). For example, we chose the indicators of the operational component for measurements based on the skills of creative activity listed by the authors N.V. Bordovskaya and S.I. Rozum (Bordovskaya, Rozum, 2011) in combination with the features of creative achievement of the goals by a teacher, distinguished by V. Ye. Peshkova (Peshkova, 2015).

Table 1 shows the totality of all indicators on the informative, operational, motivational, emotional-volitional and reflexive components of cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers.

Table 1. Indicators of the selected components of cognitive independence

 of future Informatics teachers

Components	Indicators				
Informative	General professional knowledge (psychological, pedagogical,				
component	methodological).				
	The amount of knowledge acquired by students in Information Technologies				
	and Informatics (general, special).				
	The system of knowledge acquired by a student about the ways and method				
	of using multimedia tools for cognition, self-education.				

Operational	The ability to form a problem, set a goal, suggest a rational, original solution					
component	in professional activity					
_	The ability to transfer the acquired knowledge and methods of activity to					
	life and include the acquired knowledge and methods of activity to					
	different situations (analogous, partially modified, completely new ones).					
	Operative and independent reproduction of knowledge.					
	The ability to effectively use multimedia learning tools.					
Motivational	Cognitive interest in the object of professional activity.					
component						
	The need for self-improvement and self-education in the field of multimedia					
	tools.					
	The need to overcome difficulties in learning.					
Emotional-	Strong-willed efforts to complete educational and cognitive activity.					
volitional						
component	Striving to overcome difficulties in learning.					
	Willingness to adopt and implement independent solutions.					
	Making independent decisions in both standard and non-standard					
	pedagogical situations.					
Reflexive	Self-assessment of the level of professional competence.					
component	Analysis and correction of cognitive activity.					
	The ability to change oneself for achieving success in independent cognitive					
	activity (analysis and improvement of the relationship between goals, means					
	and consequences of actions).					
	Self-monitoring of the use of multimedia tools and the result of his/her					
	cognitive activity					

To measure each indicator, diagnostic materials (tests and tasks for execution) have been developed.

We have identified three levels of cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers: high, medium, low for each of the components.

When characterizing each level, we used such a concept as the degree of acquirement (V.N. Bespalko gives the term – the level of assimilation in his work (Bespalko, 1995), which implied the student's ability to perform certain purposeful actions for solving a certain class of problems associated with the use of the object of study.

In our study, the method of expert assessments was used to determine the completeness, consistency, awareness of knowledge (Dneprov et al., 2017). Experts, measuring the degree of development of the studied quality, assessed in accordance with three levels. The experts were teachers-methodologists of the Informatics and Methods of Teaching Informatics Department, the Department of Information Technologies and the Department of Pedagogy and Psychology, I. Zhansugurov Zhetysu State University (ZhSU) (http://zhgu.edu.kz/).

When carrying out the differential analysis, we used a "biparadigmatic" approach, which allows combining quantitative test results with survey data, study of activity products, as well as with the results of oral questioning and interviews. We used statistical methods to empirically confirm the validity of the study results.

During the courses "Introduction to pedagogical profession", 'Informatics", etc., students were tested to check the development of cognitive independence on the first and second indicators of **the informative component**, questioned on availability (absence) of additional knowledge in the field of multimedia tools.

To achieve the greatest objectivity and reliability of information, we offered test tasks from each section of the courses. 500 test questions were developed and proposed covering all the topics studied for control and experimental groups for each course. 40 test questions to diagnose each student were selected by random sampling with the help of the software developed by us.

We divided into the levels in accordance with the assessment policy adopted in I. Zhansugurov Zhetysu State University in terms of the credit education system (Table 2). According to the grading scale, the following quantitative indicators were determined for the low,

medium and high levels: the high level is 90-100 points (excellent); the medium level is 75-89 points (good); the low level is up to 75 points (unsatisfactory, satisfactory).

Table 2. Grading scale

Letter scale grade	Numerical scale grade	Points	Traditional Grade System
А	4.0	95-100	Excellent
A-	3.67	90-94	
B+	3.33	85-89	Cood
В	3.0	80-84	Good
В-	2.67	75-79	
C+	2.33	70-74	
С	2.0	65-69	
C-	1.67	60-64	Satisfactory
D+	1.33	55-59	
D	1.0	50-54	
F	0	0-49	Unsatisfactory

To determine the level of development of **the operational component**, we used:

• a method for analyzing the products of respondents' activity;

• a questionnaire to identify students' abilities to use the multimedia tools in education;

• the methodology for compiling a test material by students.

We were able to identify the level of *the fourth indicator* using the questions of the questionnaire "Multimedia tools in Education". Here are some of the questions in this questionnaire:

• Are you familiar with training computer programs? (A lot and constantly, insufficiently, no)

• Do you have any application programs, information technologies? (Sufficiently, only the simplest ones, insufficiently)

• Could you optimally combine traditional and innovative (active methods of teaching, the newest models in organization of educational process) methods and means of teaching during the period of pedagogical internship? (A lot and constantly, differently, insufficiently)

• Do you know how to use the Power Point program capabilities when completing SIS assignments (students' independent study) and in preparation for other forms of study? (To a high degree, sometimes, very rarely)

• Do you use the capabilities of other, not listed above, various software products when completing SIS assignments (students' independent study) and in preparation for other forms of study? (to a high degree, sometimes, very rarely)

We evaluated each answer as follows: to a high degree -2 points; sometimes -1 point; very rarely -0 points. The levels of the fourth indicator were distributed according to the points scored (the high level is 16-22 points, the medium level is 11-16 points, the low level is less than 11 points).

The boundary levels of all the studied indicators were selected in accordance with the recommendations of Ye. Sidorenko to identify differences in the level of the feature studied (Sidorenko, 2002, chapter 2).

We used the assessment based on the analysis of the students' project products (presentations, thematic booklets, sites) according to the requirements for multimedia projects to determine the levels of the *second and first indicators* of the operational component of students' cognitive independence.

Project-oriented tasks were developed and proposed for students in each course (Programming, Programming C ++, Computer Architecture, Computer Graphics, Modeling Basics in 3D MAX, Non-traditional methods of teaching Informatics). Here are some of the tasks:

1. Demonstrate how the inkjet printer devices function using the capabilities of 3D MAX program.

2. Develop and simulate animation materials on the topic "The principles of building local computer networks" by the tools of PowerPoint 2010.

3. Using C ++ language, develop and write a program that displays an animated model of the map of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

4. Record a mini-video lecture on the topic: "Basic methods of array sort".

Moreover, we adhered to the requirements proposed by the authors N.K. Solopova and O.V. Vyazovova (Solopova, Vyazova, 2010), which included an assessment of the technological, informative and ergonomic levels of the project (20 points, 50 points, 15 points according to each level).

Quantitative indicators for the low, medium and high levels are selected as follows: the high level is 57-85 points; the medium level is 29-56 points; the low level is up to 28 points.

To determine the levels of *the third indicator* (operational and independent reproduction of knowledge), we used the diagnosis of students by compiling tasks in a test form for each unit of educational material. The methodology of students' participation in test compilation encouraged them to independence and self-development. At the same time, the student's learning success was evaluated without comparison with others. It gave an opportunity to self-evaluate the learning success (Maltseva, 2002). Table 3 presents criteria evaluation for compiling test tasks. The quantitative indicators for the low, medium and high levels are as follows: (based on criteria evaluation according to a 10-point scale) the high level is 9-10 points; the medium level is 7-8 points; the low level is up to 6 points inclusively.

Criteria	Maximum number of points
Completeness of the task performed (15-20 questions on the	1
topic covered)	
Compliance of the test material with the topic studied	1
Coverage of all the concepts and definitions of the topic	1
studied	
Identical plausibility of answers to the test task, i.e. incorrect	1
answers should be plausible	
Maximum clarity of the text (no discrepancy)	1
Brevity (up to 12 words)	1
Simple stylistic layout	1
All answers, correct and incorrect, should have approximately	1
the same number of words	
Associations facilitating selection of the right answer are	1
excluded	
The extra words ("in the figure above", 'from the examples	1
listed") are excluded	
Total	10

Table 3. Criteria evaluation for compiling test tasks

Also, to determine the levels of *the third indicator*, SIS assignments were analyzed and evaluated in accordance with the grading scale of the credit education system (Table 2).

We used questionnaires "Diagnostics of the level of partial readiness for professional and pedagogical self-development" (Fetiskin et al., 2002) and "The demand for self-improvement and self-education in Information Technologies and multimedia tools" to evaluate **the motivational component** of cognitive independence and to determine the levels of the component's indicators. Here are some of the questions from this questionnaire:

1. Does the learning process at a university have a significant influence on formation of your demand to acquire knowledge in the field of multimedia tools?

2. What role in training future teachers do you assign to new information technologies?

3. Do you use new information technologies independently in your learning process?

4. Do you need to acquire new knowledge in multimedia tools?

We evaluated each answer as follows: highly is 2 points; sometimes – 1 point; very rarely – 0 points).

To measure the level of indicators of the **emotional-volitional component**, we used the questionnaires "Diagnostics of the level of partial readiness for professional and pedagogical self-development" (Fetiskin et al., 2002) and the methodology "Diagnosis of communicative and organizational inclinations (COI-2)" (Fetiskin et al., 2002: 184). This method is designed to identify communicative and organizational inclinations of an individual (the ability to clearly and quickly establish business and friendly contacts with people, the desire to expand contacts, participate in group activities, the ability to influence people, etc.). The tools that diagnose the indicators of the emotional-volitional component were chosen due to the fact that these techniques, developed specifically to identify the indicators we are considering, have the full scope of their content.

To measure the level of indicators of **the reflective component**, we used the test "Reflection on self-development" according to diagnostics of the level of self-development and professional-pedagogical activity by L.N. Berezhnova (Fetiskin et al., 2002). Quantitative indicators for low, medium and high levels were determined according to the processing and interpretation of results on the scales "Level of aspiration for self-development", "Self-evaluation of one's personality", "Self-assessment of the level of ontogenetic reflection", "Diagnostics of implementation of needs for self-development", proposed by the authors of the test.

We used the presented diagnostic materials and methods to measure the level of the studied quality development both at the stating stage of the experiment and at all stages of the forming experiment with small adjustments.

Students majoring in Informatics, who were studying at the Faculty of Physics and Mathematics from 2011 to 2017, participated in the experiment. In total, there were 150 participants including 76 students in the control group, where the traditional teaching method was practiced, and 74 students in the experimental group, where experimental methods were used in teaching. 30.7 % of male and 69.3 % of female students participated in the experiment.

The students were divided into experimental and control groups in two stages.

At the initial stage, first year students, who participated in the experiment (more than 95 % of them enrolled the university right after school or college), were divided into three clusters: 1) graduates of privileged educational institutions (lyceums); 2) graduates of urban secondary schools and secondary schools-gymnasiums; 3) graduates of colleges and rural schools.

At the second stage, students were distributed to the experimental and control groups for each cluster, if possible, evenly, by random selection, and separately for boys and girls. The name of each applicant was recorded into a private card. After mixing the cards, we randomly took the necessary number of cards. The students, whose names were on the selected cards, were distributed to the experimental group, the rest – to the control group.

Identification of the initial conditions was based on the following parameters: the students of the experimental and control groups studied at the same university (identity of technical support), the subject was taught by one teacher according to a single program approved by the ZhSU Academic and Methodological Council. In addition, initial teaching of Informatics students was identified by preventive activities that took place in the course of studying the courses "Informatics", "Introduction to the pedagogical profession" before the experiment began.

Before the beginning of the experiment, the characteristics of the initial training state for these courses in the experimental and control groups coincided with the significance level of 0.05 according to Fisher's statistical criterion (a detailed description of the methodology for applying the criterion is described below).

In particular, the number of students with a high and average score in the control group was 35 (46.1 %), in the experimental group - 34 (46.0 %).

We proposed the introduction of an appropriate methodology for developing cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers by multimedia tools to improve the quality of their teaching in the field of modern Informatics.

To determine the most effective forms and methods of teaching, taking into account the specifics of multimedia tools (Mayer et al., 2004; Mayer, Moreno, 2003) and the specifics of the

major "Informatics" (Dalal, 2014, Majherová, Králík, 2017), a forming experiment was conducted with these groups of students. The experiment was conducted on the premises of I. Zhansugurov Zhetysu State University.

The purpose of the forming experiment was to test the effectiveness of the developed methodology described below.

To achieve this goal, the following tasks had to be solved:

• to compare the results of the initial state analysis and the results of the forming experiment;

• to reveal dynamics of results of developing students' cognitive independence by multimedia tools;

• to conduct a differential analysis on effectiveness of formation of the studied quality by statistical methods;

• to draw conclusions and make recommendations on the further use of the developed methodology.

Next, we briefly outline the content of the appropriate methodology, implemented in the teaching and educational process of the university by stages (**theoretical**, **integrating**, **practical ones**). The first stage (theoretical) lasted two semesters (3, 4 semesters) of the second year, the second stage (integrating) lasted two semesters of the third year (5, 6 semesters), the third stage (practical) lasted two semesters of the fourth year of study (7, 8 semesters).

The purpose of the methodology is to develop cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers by multimedia tools: to deepen and systematize students' knowledge base in the field of multimedia; to shape a positive attitude to the use of multimedia, to develop skills to create multimedia tools with the help of computer programs and it is advisable to apply various types of multimedia products in their future teaching activities.

At **the theoretical stage** of the methodology, conscious motivation is developing to use multimedia in the process of students' independent cognitive activity by using various types of multimedia support. The main task of the **integrating stage** is to give knowledge and develop skills by major subjects by developing multimedia tools. The final stage in developing cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers is the **practical stage**, when students can apply multimedia technologies in pedagogical activities.

The experimental group students used updated academic programs of basic and major courses, as well as a special course and a program of pedagogical internship. The renewed topics of the courses under study did not break the logics of main topics, harmoniously merged into their content; in addition, the titles of main topics and the total number of hours according to the curriculum were not changed. Details of each innovation will be described below by the implementation stages. The control group was taught using traditional forms, methods and techniques of teaching; the topics of subjects were not changed in academic programs.

When choosing methods and means for the purposeful developing cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers, we used the experience of applying blended learning technology to improve the quality of teaching (Folley, 2010; Yap et al., 2016; Vanslambrouck et al., 2018). In contrast to the control groups, in addition to the traditional means, forms and methods of teaching, students of experimental groups did SIS assignments using different multimedia tools that we developed and tested (electronic textbooks on the subjects studied, lessons for interactive whiteboard, interactive schemes, etc.). In particular, multimedia educational and methodical complex (MEMC) "Multimedia in education", as well as renewed teaching methods and techniques. We will give their description and clarify the peculiarities of their application at different stages of developing cognitive independence of future Informatics teacher. The control group was provided only with traditional data storage media (methodological aids, textbooks, problem books, etc.).

Theoretical stage of developing cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers.

Teachers who taught the experimental group had a seminar "Multimedia support for SIS assignments" at the first year of study. The topics of the academic programs on the courses Programming (2^{nd} year, 3^{rd} semester) and Programming C ++ (elective course) (2^{nd} year, 4^{th} semester) were updated. For example, the following topics of the course "Programming" are

supplemented with multimedia content: "Graphics in Pascal language", "Graphic and multimedia information display", etc.

Multimedia tools: At this stage we used electronic multimedia textbooks "Programming", "Programming C ++" intended for students to independently master theoretical and practical units of courses using up-to-date computer visualization tools that contain various level practical tasks. The text material of each topic is supplemented by video and audio materials.

Besides textbooks and problem books on traditional media, students of experimental groups used 7 independent lessons developed for an interactive whiteboard in order to support practical and laboratory lessons (Molina, Sampietro, 2015; Yakimchuk, 2009). Each lesson concerns a certain topic on programming.

In addition to these textbooks for additional multimedia support of lecture classes, we developed a set of mini-lectures on the above course s (Folley, 2010; Whatley, Ahmad, 2007). Each video file lasting 10-15 minutes is a "screencast" for studying the most difficult for understanding parts of the theoretical material of course s, for example, on the topics "Recursion", "Sorting arrays", etc.

Methods and techniques of the theoretical stage: Along with traditional methods and techniques, we actively used associative methods at various stages of classes: actualization of knowledge, independent study of new material, checking the studied material in the form of SIS (students' independent study) assignment. The methodological purpose to apply associative methods (intelligence maps, associograms, etc.) was students' independent application of complex knowledge in their interrelationship, development of the skills of graphical representation and structuring of knowledge.

The integrating stage of developing cognitive independence of a future Informatics teacher.

The topics of academic programs on the courses "Computer Architecture" (3rd year, 5th semester), "Computer Graphics" (3rd year, 6th semester) were updated. For example, the topic "Multimedia systems" was included in the unit "Specialized computers" of the standard program of the course "Computer architecture", and the topic "Adobe Photoshop tools for creating animations" was included in the academic program of the course "Computer graphics".

Multimedia tools: we used the electronic multimedia textbook "Computer Graphics", designed for students to self-study such units of the course as "Raster Editor Adobe Photoshop" and "Vector Editor CorelDRAW". The textbook includes materials in video, audio, and text formats.

The set of mini-lectures or screencasts lasting 10-15 minutes was developed as an supplementary tool for studying the most difficult practical techniques of working with computer graphics editors, for example, "Creating lines in Corel DRAW object model", "Masks of complex Adobe Photoshop objects", and so on.

Taking into account the necessity and importance of gaming activities in learning (Veličković, 2013; Gómez, Barujel, 2017), during studying the course "Computer Architecture", we used a multimedia teaching game developed in the Delphi programming environment (Yakimchuk, 2011). This is a full-fledged computer game, which has its own storyline, script and game world.

Methods and techniques of the integrating stage: at this stage we used the method of the thematic multimedia portfolio. At the beginning of the semester students received the topic and, during the course, collected multimedia materials that they were developing (screencasts, flash animations of various directions, presentations, etc.). Using this method, students could apply knowledge and skills acquired in previously studied courses, such as, for example, web technologies and Internet programming. They could finalize the portfolio at the end of the semester and present interconnected web pages with multimedia content.

The practical stage of developing cognitive independence of a future Informatics teacher of computer science.

At this stage, the topics of the academic program on the course "Fundamentals of Modeling in 3D MAX" (4th year, 7th semester) were updated; a specialized course "Non-traditional methods of teaching Informatics" and a program of pedagogical internship (4th year, 8th semester) were developed and tested.
Multimedia tools: We used the electronic textbook "Fundamentals of Modeling in 3D Max" at all types of lessons, along with full (50 minutes) video lectures on study of lecture material (tools and program commands). The textbook contains screencasts for performing thematic laboratory tasks, and a set of ready-made three-dimensional models.

The specialized course "Non-traditional methods of teaching Informatics" was supported by MEMC "Multimedia tools in teaching". The MEMC gave opportunities for students to acquire professional knowledge both under teachers' supervision and independently, so it was used both in a classroom and for SIS and TSIS (students' independent study and students' independent study with teacher) as required by the credit education system. When developing multimedia tools, we made an emphasis on students' independent study, their team work, mini-research of various levels, activation of cognitive activity. It should be noted that the developed MEMC combined the properties of an ordinary textbook, reference book, laboratory manual and an expert of the acquired information.

Methods and techniques: We used an innovative Case study method in teaching Informatics combining it with other methods. The Case study method perfectly complements traditional methods at seminars and TSIS in developing independent cognitive activity skills of future Informatics teachers in study of multimedia technologies for their future pedagogical activity.

At the preliminary stage, the teacher distributed case studies describing the mechanism for further work, clearly defined goals, tasks and the rules of work for each stage; the questions to be answered, the criteria and principles of evaluation were called.

The Case study method was based on students' independent study. Firstly, students received information on the case (specific learning "problem", which is described in a specific period of time, revealed and clearly formulated with the aim of diagnosing and self-decision), its analysis and interpretation, and then they searched for possible solutions to the situation. After students formed an independent view of the situation and found solutions, they were united in small groups and shared the results of independent work, received feedback, developed the optimal solution to the problem, presented their results to other small groups. At the end of this work the teacher summed up with a few comments and remarks directly on the content of the situation (solutions, key provisions of the pedagogical situation, problems) and on other aspects (e.g., interesting points of presentations, creative findings, and analytical thinking). At the end of the lesson, each member of the group was evaluated, their grades were explained.

The method of projects was the leading method of performing independent work at this stage (Fernández et al., 2013). The choice of the educational project topic and the beginning of its implementation were organized in parallel with the laboratory and practical classes. The project was implemented in parallel with study of the course: at the current lesson students studied the material on implementation of a certain stage of the corresponding project. In the course of the experiment, on the basis of the analysis of the curriculum for the major "Informatics", variants were developed for the content of projects from different subject areas, taking into account interdisciplinary connections, in which elements of the fundamentals of multimedia technologies can be studied.

At this stage of experimental work with students, during pedagogical internship, one of the main and most effective forms of work on developing the motivational component of students' cognitive independence was the interest group' program for schoolchildren "The World of Multimedia." Students supervised the sections of the interest group: "Web-masters", "Researcher", "Computer graphics and animation".

3. Findings

Thus, the method of developing informative independence of future Informatics teachers by multimedia tools has the following **unique features**: firstly, we relied on the use of different types of multimedia support as a source of training materials, learning tools, and so on; secondly, the use of multimedia tools as the teaching method indirectly – as a final product of students' work in acquiring knowledge and skills in various courses.

The role of multimedia as a means of teaching is expanding at each subsequent stage in developing the cognitive independence of future Informatics teacher. At *the initial stage* it is a means of visual presentation of educational material. At the *integrating stage* students learn the

technology of creating various multimedia tools (including interactive ones) in addition to using multimedia as a means of visual representation. At *the practical stage*, future Informatics teachers carry out creative multimedia projects, both group and individual ones, during the course "Non-traditional methods of teaching Informatics". The projects were later used in teaching practice in classrooms and supervising schoolchildren's interest groups. For this, students use all the knowledge and practical skills acquired at the previous stages.

This distribution of the role of multimedia tools in the process of training the future specialist allows us to achieve the goal of each stage of the methodology for the formation of the desired personal education.

Table 4 indicates the results of the final assessment after three stages of the experiment (where IS is initial state, E is the results of experimental groups, C is the results of control groups). The integrative indicator shows the arithmetical average of the numerical values of all five components of cognitive independence.

	High level			Medium level			Low level		
Components	IC	Ε	С	TC	Ε	С	IS	Ε	С
	15	3	3	15	3	3		3	3
Motivational	14,0	24,3	17,11	35,2	63,5	40,79	50,8	12,2	42,11
Informative	15,4	33,8	26,32	40,1	58,1	47,37	44,5	8,1	26,32
Emotional- volitional	4,1	12,16	6,58	44,9	78,38	50,00	51,0	9,46	43,42
Operational	9,9	27,03	18,42	21,5	60,81	30,24	68,6	12,16	51,32
Reflexive	3,1	12,16	6,58	44,9	78,38	51,32	52,0	9,46	42,11
Integrative indicator	9,30	21,89	15,00	37,32	67,84	43,94	53,38	10,27	41,06

Table 4. The results of developing components of cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers by multimedia tools (in %).

According to the analysis, the results of developing cognitive independence components are interdependent in the experimental group using the Pearson correlation coefficient (Grabar, Krasnyanskaya, 1977). The analysis showed their statistically significant pair correlation (significance level 0.05). Such a result was not observed in the control group.

Let us consider the results of effectiveness analysis in developing *the motivational component* of the future Informatics teachers' cognitive independence. The results of effectiveness analysis in developing emotional-volitional and reflexive components, as well as the third indicator of the informative component and the fourth indicator of the operational component are similar.

In order to determine the significance level of differences in the effectiveness of training students in the control and experimental groups, we carried out research and statistically processed the results of observations. We assumed as a null hypothesis (H^o) that the offered method of developing components of cognitive independence of future Informatics by multimedia tools does not give advantages in comparison with the traditional method of teaching future Informatics teachers at university. An alternative hypothesis (H¹) corresponded to the assumption that the offered method of developing components of cognitive independence of future Informatics by multimedia tools has advantages in comparison with the traditional method of teaching future Informatics teachers at university.

To compare the results of the final assessment we used the Fisher criterion φ , designed to compare two samples according to the frequency of the occurring effect (Novikov, 2004). The criterion estimates reliability of the differences between the percentages of the two samples in which the feature of interest is registered. To obtain quantitative estimates, let us specify the hypotheses formulated above:

H^o: studies in the experimental group do not help achieve the high and medium levels, that is, the quality of knowledge is not higher than in the control group.

H¹: studies in the experimental group help to achieve the high and medium levels, that is, the quality of knowledge is higher than in the control group. The data are given in Table 5.

Table 5. The results of the experiment

Group	The number of students tested (<i>n</i>)	High and medium level (the number)	Percentage share
Е	74	65	87,8
С	76	44	57,9

Using statistical tables, we determine the values of φ , corresponding to the percentage of each group: φ_1 (87.8) = 2.43, φ_2 (57.9) = 1.73. We calculate the empirical value of φ^o by the formula 1:

$$\varphi^0 = \left| \varphi_1 - \varphi_2 \right| \cdot \sqrt{\frac{n_1 \cdot n_2}{n_1 + n_2}}.$$

(1)

(2)

In this case we receive $\phi^{0} = 4.27$. To assess the significance of psychological and pedagogical effects, a level of statistical significance was used, p<0.05, at which ϕ^{0} (min) = 1.64. As a result, we receive $\phi^{0} > \phi^{0}$ (min) with a significance level of p< 0.05.

Thus, reliability of the differences in the characteristics of the compared samples is 95 %. It allows us to state that hypothesis H¹ is proved: studies in the experimental group help to achieve the high and medium levels of the integrative indicator.

The dynamics of developing the first two indicators of the *informative component* of the future Informatics teachers' cognitive independence was checked by comparing the results of the final assessments at the end of each stage of the forming experiment.

The coefficient's average value of complete mastering the content of knowledge in Informatics and multimedia (q^*) was used as a measurement tool. This coefficient was determined at each mid-year assessment on the basis of the operational analysis developed by A.V. Usova. We adapted it to teaching in ICT (Menchinskaya, 1989):

$$q^* = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i}{na} \cdot 100,$$

where *n* is the number of students performing work,

 q_i is the number of correctly performed tasks by the *i* -th student at the corresponding stage of the experiment,

q is the maximum number of the tasks that must be performed.

Figure 1 shows the results of a comparative analysis.

The presented results visually testify to positive changes in a level of indicators of the *informative component* of future Informatics teachers' cognitive independence, which is much higher in the experimental groups, than in the control groups.



E is the experimental groups; C is the control groups

Fig. 1. Comparative characteristics of indicators of the informative component of future Informatics teachers' cognitive independence in the experimental and control groups (%)

In order to confirm the significance of differences in the effectiveness of teaching students in the control and experimental groups, a study was carried out and the results of observations were statistically processed.

To compare the results, we used Student's *t*-test (Klochko, 2003). The experimental data are given in Table 6. Here, the standard deviation was calculated according to the formula 3:

$$\sigma = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\frac{q_i}{q} \cdot 100 - q^*)^2}.$$
(3)

Table 6. The results of the experiment for indicators of the informative component of cognitive independence

Group	The nu students	umber of tested (<i>n</i>)	The coefficient's value q^st			Standard deviation σ			
			1 st stage	2 nd stage		3 rd stage	1 st stage	2 nd stage	3 rd stage
EG	74	53	63	72	12	2 13	16		
CG	76	52	57	59	12	15	19		

The significance criterion for testing the null hypothesis was based on computing sample statistics

$$t = \frac{q_1^* - q_2^*}{\sqrt{\frac{\sigma_1^2}{n_1} + \frac{\sigma_2^2}{n_2}}},$$
(4)

where q_1^*, σ_1, n_1 correspond to the experimental group, and q_2^*, σ_2, n_2 – to the control group;

 $v = n_1 + n_2 - 2 = 148$ is the number of degrees of freedom.

As a result of the calculations using the cognitive independence indicators for the first stage, we obtained t = 0.51. In this case, the table value t (tab) = 1.97 with a significance level of 0.05. For the second stage, we received t = 2.62, and for the third stage, t = 4.54

Comparison of the calculated values of t with the tabulated value at the corresponding significance level shows that if knowledge was approximately the same at the first stage in the experimental and control groups, then it was significantly different at the second and third stages.

It is worth noting that the preliminary verification of the null hypothesis about the normal

 $\frac{q_i}{100}$

distribution of values q at the significance level $\alpha = 0.05$ was carried out using Pearson's

agreement criterion χ^2 according to the formula:

$$\chi^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{(m_{i} - np_{i})^{2}}{np_{i}} , \qquad (5)$$

Where m_i are frequencies,

 p_i are theoretical probabilities,

 $n = n_1 \text{ or } n = n_2$, k = 10.

Similar results were achieved for the second and third indicators of the *operational component* of cognitive independence.

4. Discussion

The findings of the ascertaining experiment showed a fairly low initial level of development of students' cognitive independence. The teaching methods used earlier did not allow to provide a high level of the desired personal education.

Thus, the components of students' cognitive independence had to be purposefully developed through the use of specialized forms, methods and means of teaching used in study of basic and major disciplines and in pedagogical internship.

We developed and tested multimedia tools: interactive multimedia programming lessons for interactive whiteboards, a multimedia game, short video clips and animations in subjects (10-15 minutes), full video lectures (50 min) on topics, interactive schemes and multimedia textbooks on the above disciplines.

It should be noted that multimedia textbooks have proved to be the most effective means for studying subjects within practical classes and SIS. The textbooks have full-scale (50 min) video materials that provided methodological support to students when they did practical assignments. However, using video to support lectures, short animation fragments and "screencasts" (10-15 min) turned out to be more effective. We used them when studying material at various stages of classes.

We used the results of a study by Janice Whatley and Amrey Ahmad (Whatley, Ahmad, 2007) who experimented with different types of video lectures. When developing video fragments, the authors found out that eye contact with the lecturer should be encouraged during video recording by providing a direct view of the lecturer to the camera for most of the time. According to the results of their experiment, lectures recorded in a separate room exceeded those recorded in a classroom directly at the lecture due to the possibility to rehearse, improve the sound and remove extraneous noise.

In accordance with this, we used video fragments that were recorded both with the help of video capture programs from the screen, and with the help of a video camera with the possibility of rewriting and editing. In addition, using Adobe Flash software, we developed short (5-7 min) animation clips where some abstract notions of disciplines were visualized. These clips also proved their effectiveness.

In particular, we used such animation to visualize the programming techniques: "Sorting arrays", "The Tower of Hanoi problem", etc. Various authors have experimentally proved the effectiveness of using multimedia software to develop students' algorithmic thinking (Milková, 2015; Milková, 2012), to use robotic virtual environments in teaching future Informatics scientists programming (Majherová, Králík, 2017), etc. Also our experiment justified and proved the efficiency of multimedia software for study of the courses "Programming", "Programming C ++ ", "Fundamentals of programming for Robotics" (Yakimchuk, 2008; Yakimchuk, 2017).

A multimedia training game for the discipline "Computer Architecture", which was programmed in the Delphi environment, was the most laborious in terms of software development. Researchers (Veličković, 2013; Gómez, Barujel, 2017) emphasize that effective learning takes into account various psychological processes, such as attention, memory, motivation, emotions, etc. Educational games stimulate critical thinking, creative approach to problem solving and teamwork (Sampedro, McMullin, 2015). Thus, educational video games become an effective tool if applied to achieve the ultimate goal of the learning process. Due to the fact that our multimedia game had its own storyline (script, characters) and the game world, it had a significant impact on developing the motivational component of the future Informatics scientists' cognitive independence when studying in combination with other multimedia and scientific and methodological support.

Thus, we proved the effectiveness of the developed methodology by analyzing the process of forming components of future Informatics teachers' cognitive independence to improve the quality of their teaching in modern Informatics.

5. Conclusion

The positive dynamics of the experiment's results allows us to state that students systematically, completely and consciously acquire theoretical knowledge and develop their pedagogical skills due to the purposeful consistent work on teaching future Informatics teachers.

To effectively **implement** the methodology for developing cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers in terms of the credit system of education, we have identified the following **pedagogical conditions**:

• scientific and methodological support, development of a new content of education, taking into account the use of multimedia tools;

• development of future Informatics teachers' cognitive independence on the basis of modular technology, which allows students to independently achieve the goals of educational and cognitive activity;

• development and implementation of multimedia support for developing the cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers, which allows to provide an individual trajectory of its development.

Students could form the whole picture of new information technologies and multimedia thanks to a seminar for teachers and introduction of educational, methodological and multimedia support. Also they could improve necessary knowledge and skills to use them independently in professional activities.

The tests, questionnaires, and other methods for diagnosing the levels of cognitive independence of future Informatics teachers listed in the article were used to measure the individual components of the quality in question: informative, operational, motivational, emotional-volitional, and reflexive ones. The proposed tools are adapted as a whole to train future Informatics teachers to use multimedia in their activities. Currently, the specialized course that we developed and multimedia support of disciplines are widely used in the learning process of the university. The materials of the article can be useful to researchers involved in improving the quality of university education, as well as practicing teachers as a tool for determining the level of cognitive independence of future teachers in the learning process.

Thus, the experiment's results prove the effectiveness of the methodology that we developed. The received results of the research testify to the positive dynamics of improving the quality of their training in modern Informatics on the basis of developing components of cognitive independence, which proves the expediency of introducing the methodology that we developed s into the university learning process.

References

Ministry of Education et al., 2010 – Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Kazakhstan (2010). State Program of Education Development in the Republic of Kazakhstan for 2011-2020. URL: http://best-school.kz/documents/statutory/Gosprogramma_na_2011-2020_gody.pdf

Abrami et al., 2015 – Abrami, P.C., Bernard, R.M., Borokhovski, E., Waddington, D.I., Wade, C. A., Persson, T. (2015). Strategies for teaching students to think critically: A meta-analysis. Review of Educational Research, 85(2): 275–314.

Delen, Liew, 2016 – Delen, E., Liew, J. (2016). The Use of Interactive Environments to Promote Self-Regulation in Online Learning: A Literature Review. European Journal of Contemporary Education, 15(1): 24–33.

Novković-Cvetković, Stanojević, 2017 – Novković Cvetković, B., Stanojević D. (2017). Educational needs of teacher for introduction and application of innovative models in educational work to improve teaching. International Journal of Cognitive Research in Science, Engineering and Education (IJCRSEE), 5(1): 49–56.

Torabi et al., 2013 – Torabi, N., Aslani, G., Bahrami, A. (2013). A study on self-directed learning among preliminary school teachers in Esfahan. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences. 83: 219–223.

Arsić, 2014 – Arsić, Z. (2014). Intellectual independence of students in the process of gaining knowledge. *International Journal of Cognitive Research in Science, Engineering and Education (IJCRSEE)*, 2(2): 83–86.

Zanden et al., 2018 – van der Zanden, P.J., Denessen, E., Cillessen, A.H., Meijer, P.C. (2018). Domains and predictors of first-year student success: A systematic review. *Educational Research Review*, 23: 57–77.

Kazachenok, 2017 – *Kazachenok, V.V.* (2017). Informatsionnyie tehnologii kak ob'ekt i sredstvo sovremennogo obrazovaniya [Information technologies as an object and means of modern education]. *Narodnaya asveta*, 9: 3–7. [in Russian]

Milková, 2012 – Milková, E. (2012). Multimedia application supporting self preparation to develop algorithmic thinking. In: Recent Advances in Computer Engineering Series, Proc. of 3rd International Conference on Applied Informatics and Computing Theory (AICT'12), WSEAS Press, Barcelona, Spain, 155–159.

Rusakov et al., 2017 – Rusakov, A. A., Kazachenok, V. V., Mandrik, P. A., & Puzinouskaya, S. G. (2017). Strategy of hi-tech environment development for information technology training. Informatizatsiya obrazovaniya – 2017: materialyi mezhdunarodnoy nauchnoy konferentsii, Russia, Cheboksaryi, 222–227.

Sakibayev, Yakimchuk, 2017 – Sakibayev, S.R., Yakimchuk, N.V. (2017). Pedagogical benefits of using mobile environments in educational process. Bulletin of the Zhetysu state university named after I. Zhansugurov, 4: 183–189.

Folley, 2010 – *Folley*, *D*. (2010). The Lecture is Dead Long Live the e-Lecture. *Electronic Journal of e-Learning*, 8 (2): 93–100.

Duran, Aytaç, 2016 – Duran, M., Aytaç, T. (2016). Students' Opinions on the Use of Tablet Computers in Education. *European Journal of Contemporary Education*, 15(1): 65–75.

Chen, Sager, 2011 – *Chen, F., Sager, J.* (2011). Effects of Tablet PC Use in the Classroom on Teaching and Learning Processes. *Journal of Learning in Higher Education*, 7(2): 55–67.

Dalal, 2014 – *Dalal, M.* (2014). Pilot impact of Multi-media Tutorials in a Computer Science Laboratory Course – An Empirical Study. *Electronic Journal of e-Learning*, 12(4): 366–374.

Yap et al., 2016 – Yap, W., Neo, M., Neo, T. (2016). Learner-Centred Teaching Contributes in Promising Results in Improving Learner Understanding and Motivation: A Case Study at Malaysia Tertiary Education. *The Electronic Journal of e-Learning Volume*, 14(4): 266–281.

Kazachenok, Mandrik, 2011 – Kazachenok, V., Mandrik, P. (2011). Open Educational Resources in the Republic of Belarus: Current Situation, Problems and Prospects. *ICT in Teacher Education: Policy, Open Educational Resources and Partnership: Proceedings of International Conference IITE-2010*, St. Petersburg, UNESCO IITE. Moscow, 118–124.

Kazachonak, Mandrik, 2009 – Kazachonak, V.V., Mandrik, P.A. (2009). ICT application in higher education of the Republic of Belarus. In ICT in Higher Education in CIS and Baltic States: State-of-the-Art, Challenges and Prospects for Development: Analitical Survey. UNESCO Institute for Information Technologies in Education. St. Petersburg, 41–56.

Mayer et al., 2004 – Mayer, R.E., Fennell, S., Farmer, L., Campbell, J. (2004). A personalization effect in multimedia learning: Students learn better when words are in conversational style rather than formal style. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 96 (2): 389–395.

Sorden, 2005 – Sorden, S. D. (2005). A cognitive approach to instructional design for multimedia learning. *Informing Science Journal*, 8: 263–279.

Davies, Cormican, 2013 – Davies, W., Cormican, K. (2013). An Analysis of the Use of Multimedia Technology in Computer Aided Design Training: Towards Effective Design Goals. Proceedia Technology, 9: 200–208.

Kalyuga, 2013 – *Kalyuga, S.* (2013). Effects of learner prior knowledge and working memory limitations on multimedia learning. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 83: 25–29.

Mayer, Moreno, 2003 – *Mayer, R.E., Moreno, R.* (2003). Nine ways to reduce cognitive load in multimedia learning. *Educational Psychologist*, 38(1): 43–52.

Schnotz, Rasch, 2005 – Schnotz, W., Rasch, T. (2005). Enabling, facilitating, and inhibiting effects of animations in multimedia learning: Why reduction of cognitive load can have negative results on learning. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 53: 47–58.

Vanslambrouck et al., 2018 – Vanslambrouck, S., Zhu, C., Lombaerts, K., Philipsen, B. & Tondeur, J. (2018). Students' motivation and subjective task value of participating in online and blended learning environments. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 36: 33–40.

Casillas et al., 2016 – *Casillas, S., Cabezas, M. & Martín, J.* (2016). Knowledge Management: Experiences of Collaborative Work Using ICT with Students. *Digital Education Review*, 30: 184–206.

Milková, 2015 – *Milková, E.* (2015). Multimedia Application for Educational Purposes: Development of Algorithmic Thinking. *Applied Computing and Informatics*, 11(1): 76–88.

Borodin et al., 2015 – Borodin, E.M., Krupnova, A.V., Borodina, K.N. (2015). Kriterii, pokazateli i urovni sformirovannosti pedagogicheskogo masterstva [Criteria, indicators and levels of the formation of pedagogical skills]. Nauchno-metodicheskiy elektronnyiy zhurnal «Kontsept». T. 13, 1316–1320. [in Russian]

Bordovskaya, Rozum, 2011 – *Bordovskaya, N.V., Rozum, S.I.* (2011). Psychology and Pedagogy. St. Petersburg. 624. [in Russian]

Peshkova, 2015 – *Peshkova V.E.* (2015). Pedagogy. Part 5. Pedagogical technologies in primary education. Berlin, 438. [in Russian]

Bespalko, 1995 – Bespalko, V.P. (1995). Pedagogy and progressive technologies. Moscow, 221. [in Russian]

Dneprov et al., 2017 – Dneprov, S.A., Sumina, T.G., Venkov, S.S. (2017). Ob'ektivnost ekspertnoy otsenki issledovaniya gotovnosti prepodavatelya SPO k professionalnopedagogicheskoy deyatelnosti [Objectivity of the expert evaluation of the study of the teacher of secondary vocational educationreadiness readiness for professional and pedagogical activity]. *Pedagogicheskoe obrazovanie v Rossii.* 2: 53–60.

Sidorenko, 2002 – *Sidorenko, E.V.* (2002). Methods of mathematical processing in psychology. St. Petersburg: Rech publ, 350.

Solopova, Vyazova, 2010 – *Solopova, N.K., Vyazova, O.V.* (2010). Kriterialnaya otsenka proektnoy deyatelnosti [Criteria assessment of project activities]. URL: http://izhmmc.ru/files/kriterialnaya_ocenka_proekta.pdf.

Maltseva, 2002 – *Maltseva, G.A.* (2002). Testovyie zadaniya po inzhenernoy grafike kak sredstvo povyisheniya uchebno-poznavatelnoy aktivnosti studentov. Kand. Diss. [Test tasks on engineering graphics as a means of increasing the students' learning and cognitive activity. Cand. Diss.]. Moscow. 165. [in Russian]

Fetiskin et al., 2002 – *Fetiskin, N.P., Kozlov, V.V., Manuylov, G.M.* (2002). Sotsialnopsihologicheskaya diagnostika razvitiya lichnosti i malyih grupp [Socio-psychological diagnosis of personality development and small groups]. Moscow: Publishing house of the Institute of Psychotherapy, 490.

Majherová, Králík, 2017 – *Majherová, J., Králík, V.* (2017). Innovative Methods in Teaching Programming for Future Informatics Teachers. *European Journal of Contemporary Education*, 6(3), 390–400.

Molina, Sampietro, 2015 – *Molina, M., Sampietro A.* (2015). Teaching Suggestions for the Use of Internet and the Interactive Digital Board in Bilingual Education Contexts. *Digital Education Review*, 28: 1–18.

Yakimchuk, 2009 – Yakimchuk, N.V. (2009). Ispolzovanie interaktivnoy doski dlya demonstratsii kompyuternoy naglyadnosti [Using an interactive whiteboard to demonstrate computer visibility]. Podgotovka spetsialista XXI veka – nauka, metodika, praktika: Materialyi regionalnoy nauchno-prakticheskoy konferentsii, Taldyikorgan, 166–168. [in Russian]

Whatley, Ahmad, 2007 – Whatley, J., Ahmad, A. (2007). Using Video to Record Summary Lectures to Aid Students' Revision. *Interdisciplinary Journal of E-Learning and Learning Objects*, *3*(1): 185–196.

Veličković, 2013 – *Veličković S.* (2013). The game – a real chance of modern education. *International Journal of Cognitive Research in science, engineering and education*, 1(1): 63–70.

Gómez, Barujel, 2017 – *Gómez, S., Barujel, A.* (2017). The Spanish Teacher in the Creation of Teaching Materials: Educational Videogames. *Digital Education Review*, 31: 176–195.

Yakimchuk, 2011 – Yakimchuk N.V. (2011). Formirovanie professionalnoy samostoyatelnosti studentov sredstvami multimediynyih igr [Formation of professional independence of students by means of multimedia games]. Molodezh i nauka: realnost i buduschee. Materialyi IV mezhdunarodnoy nauchno-prakticheskoy konferentsii. Nevinnomyissk, 427–428. [in Russian]

Fernández et al., 2013 – Fernández, J., Pulido, M., Esquembre, F. (2013). New challenges in the Degree in Mathematics: applications at work. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 83: 61–64.

Grabar, Krasnyanskaya, 1977 – *Grabar, M.I., Krasnyanskaya, K.A.* (1977). Application of mathematical statistics in pedagogical researches. Non-parametric methods. Moscow: Pedagogy, 136 p. [in Russian]

Novikov, 2004 – *Novikov, D.A.* (2004) Statistical methods in educational research (typical cases). Moscow: Mz-Press Publ, 67 p. [in Russian]

Menchinskaya, 1989 – *Menchinskaya, N.A.* (1989). The problems of learning and mental development of schoolchildren. Moscow: Pedagogika, 224 p. [in Russian]

Klochko, 2003 – *Klochko, I.G.* (2003). Step-by-step control as an alternative to multi-level tasks for assessing the quality of students' knowledge. *Informatization of education*, 3: 67–73. [in Russian]

Yakimchuk, 2008 – Yakimchuk, N.V. (2008). Razrabotka multimediynogo kursa «Programmirovanie na yazyike C++» s uchetom osobennostey vizualnogo myishleniya studentov [Development of multimedia course "Programming in C ++" taking into account the peculiarities of visual thinking of students]. Novyie obrazovatelnyie tehnologii v VUZe i problemyi upravleniya kachestvom podgotovki spetsialistov: Materialyi Respublikanskoy nauchno-metodicheskoy konferentsii. Temirtau, 112–116. [in Russian]

Yakimchuk, 2017 – Yakimchuk, N.V. (2017). Formirovanie professionalnoy samostoyatelnosti studentov pri izuchenii osnov robototehniki [Formation of professional independence of students when studying the basics of robotics]. Fiziko-matematicheskoe obrazovanie: tseli, dostizheniya i perspektivyi: Materialyi Mezhdunarodnoy nauchno-prakticheskoy konferentsii. Minsk, 160–162. [in Russian]

Sampedro, McMullin, 2015 – Sampedro, B.E., McMullin, K.J. (2015). Videogames for the educative inclusion. *Digital Education Review*, 27: 122–137.



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 598-607 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.598 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



The History of Education

Public Education System in the Caucasus Region in the 1850s: Unification and Regulation of Educational Process

Timur A. Magsumov^{a,b,*}, Svetlana F. Artemova^c, Oksana V. Ustinova^d, Evgeniya V. Vidishcheva^e

^a International Network Center for Fundamental and Applied Research, Washington, USA

^bVolgograd State University, Volgograd, Russian Federation

^c Penza state university of architecture and construction, Russian Federation

^d Tyumen Industrial University, Tyumen, Russian Federation

^eSochi state university, Russian Federation

Abstract

This article considers the public education system in the Caucasus region in the 1850s, i.e. at the time when unification and regulation of the educational process was taking place within educational institutions.

Statutory documents describing the public education system in the Caucasus during the middle of the 19th century were used as study materials. For example, such statutory documents include the Provisions on the Caucasus Educational District and, educational institutions reporting to it. In addition, the authors used compilations of published documents as well as specialist literature.

When resolving research tasks, the authors used both general scientific methods (analysis and synthesis, specialization, generalization) and conventional methods of historical analyses. The historical and situational method, which involves studying historic evidence in the context of the surveyed period in conjunction with the neighboring events and facts, is of extreme importance.

In conclusion, the authors note that the Caucasus region in the 1850s underwent educational process unification and regulation. Time of chaotic operations at gymnasiums and secondary schools ended and the population of the region was increasingly understanding the benefits of

* Corresponding author E-mail addresses: nabonid1@yandex.ru (T.A. Magsumov) education. As the result, Caucasian schools were becoming increasingly similar to their counterparts in the inland areas of the Russian Empire. Nevertheless, evolution of the public education system in the Caucasus was taking place in view of the ongoing Caucasian War in the region. That is why mosque schools enjoyed a practically autonomous status, for the Russian Administration tried not to provoke the local Muslim population. In addition, the Caucasus region didn't have any mixed schools. That was also a regional feature of this area.

Keywords: public education system, Caucasus, Caucasus Educational District, directorates, the 1850s.

1. Introduction

As is known, the public education system of the Caucasus region in the 19th century underwent the process of its establishing and development. All schools available in the Caucasus region were united into a special school district in 1848, which was called the Caucasus district. This newly established district reported directly to the Sovereign's Vicegerent in the Caucasus region. Temporary Provisions and Staff Chart of the Caucasus School District were also issued in 1848. A number of activities were planned for the three following years to merge educational institutions of the Caucasus District with those of the internal provinces of the Russian Empire.

2. Materials and methods

Statutory documents describing the public education system in the Caucasus of the middle of the 19th century were used as study materials. For example, such statutory documents include the Provisions on the Caucasus Educational District and educational institutions reporting to it. Compilations of published documents (Complete collection of laws of the Russian Empire; Collection of statistical information, 1869), special literature (Historical overview, 1902; Materials on history, 1942) were also used in addition.

When resolving research tasks, the authors used both general scientific methods (analysis and synthesis, specialization, generalization) and conventional methods of historical analysis. Historical and situational method, which involves studying historic evidence in the context of the surveyed period in conjunction with the neighboring events and facts, is of extreme importance.

3. Discussion

Proceeding with a historiography review, one should immediately give an explanation that it is not notable for multiplicity in view of the narrow time frame of the study. However, this chronological period was occasionally addressed in the studies on broader topics while studying the national public education system in the Caucasus region and in the Russian Empire in general. The most typical example is the work of N.A. Shevchenko, E.V. Vidishcheva, O.V. Emelyanova The Establishment of the System of Public Education in the Caucasus (1802–1917 years): The Characteristic Features (Shevchenko et al., 2016). While considering the national public education system, the authors include the period of time that we study, the 1850s, to the second chronological period (1835-1871). As the authors note, it was the time when the Russian Administration first tried to unify and centralize the educational process at schools in the Caucasus region (Shevchenko et al., 2016: 364, 366).

Legislation of the 1840–1870s in the field of public education in the Caucasus region was considered in the works by Ye.I. Kobakhidze (Kobakhidze, 2015). The author notes that thanks to the unified public education system in the Caucasus region, a class of local officialdom and commercial establishment was formed within a short period of time (Kobakhidze, 2015: 88).

The public education system of the Caucasus region in the 1850s is also reflected in other writings. Thus, for example, this topic was considered in a work by L. Modzalevskii who studied the public education history in 1802–1880. (Modzalevskii, 1880).

4. Results

The Provisions on the Caucasus Educational District and educational institutions reporting to it was approved on October 29, 1853. The Provisions consisted of nine chapters: 1) General rules, 2) On the Caucasus Educational District management, 3) On gymnasiums, 4) On boarding houses at gymnasiums, 5) On higher four-year colleges, 6) On district and county schools, 7) On initial schools, 8) On private boarding schools, private schools and home tutors, 9) Order of employment and dismissal of the employees and advantages of their service (Complete collection of laws of the Russian Empire, volume 28. Part 1. No. 27646).

Administratively, the Caucasus Educational District was divided into four directorates: 1) The Tiflis directorate that included schools of Tiflis, Shemakha and Derbent provinces, 2) The Kutaisi directorate that included Kutaisi and Erivan provinces, 3) The Stavropol directorate that included Stavropol province, as well as schools on the right and left flanks and in the center of the Caucasian line 4) Lands of the Black Sea that included lands of the Black Sea Army and the area in the north-eastern part of the Black Sea coastline.

As of 1853, the Caucasus Educational District included the following educational institutions. The Tiflis Directorate:

1. The Tiflis provincial gymnasium with a boarding house;

2. Higher four-year college in Shemakha;

3. Demesnial commercial school in Tiflis

4. District schools in the cities: Gori, Signah, Telave, Elisavetpol, Nukha, Shusha, Baku, Derbent

5. Initial training schools: Dusheti, Tionet, Kuban, Lenkoran.

The Kutaisi Directorate:

1. The Kutaisi provincial gymnasium with a boarding house;

2. District schools in the cities: Akhalcykh, Alexandropol, Erivan, Nakhhichevan

3. Initial training schools: Ozurgeti (two-class school), Redutkali (two-class school), Kutaisi, Novo-Bayazet, Ordubadi and Racha.

The Stavropol Directorate:

1. The Stavropol provincial gymnasium with a boarding house;

2. District schools in the cities: Stavropol, Kizlyar, Mozdok, Georgievsk and Pyatigorsk.

The Black Sea Army Lands Directorate:

1. The Yekaterinodar military gymnasium with a boarding house,

2. District schools with a boarding house: Poltavskaya, Umansky.

3. District schools: Novorossiysk, Anapa, Yeysk.

4. Initial training schools: Ekaterinodar, Taman, Temryuk, Bryukhovetskaya, Shcherbinovskaya.

It is important to note that the Caucasus Educational District did not include church schools established for the children of the Orthodox and Gregorian-Armenian confessions.

Schools of the Caucasus Linear Cossack Host were also placed under orders of the Caucasus Educational District Administration.

Provisions on the Caucasus Educational District regulated: control procedures of the educational district, purpose and organization of gymnasiums, boarding houses, purpose and organization of higher four-year colleges, purpose and organization of district and county schools, purpose and organization of the initial schools, rules for private boarding schools, private schools and home tutors, as well as the order of employment and dismissal of the employees of the Caucasus Educational District and advantages of their service to the Caucasus school district (Provisions On The Caucasus Educational District, 1853: 32).

The Caucasus Educational District was managed by an Administrator who at the same time was a member of the Transcaucasian Region Head Department Council. The Administrator had an assistant. A public schools inspector, an architect and the secretariat were reporting to him.

The Administrator also managed a Censorship Committee. The Censorship Committee staff and their responsibilities were defined by the General Censorship Statute rules (Complete collection of laws of the Russian Empire volume XIV. P. 147).

The Caucasus Educational District Administrator enjoyed all the rights that were assigned to the Administrators of other educational districts. However, he addressed his proposals not to the Public Education Minister, but to the Sovereign's Vicegerent in the Caucasus region. If there was no Administrator, his duties were performed by the assistant.

The Educational District Council rendered substantial assistance to the Administrator. The Council consisted of a Chairman, who served as Administrator, and the Council member: Assistant Administrator, Public Schools Inspector, Principal of the Tiflis province schools and Principals of other provinces' schools of the District, as well as the Black Sea Host Lands representative when they were in Tiflis for official matters. In addition, members of the Council could include other people who were invited at the discretion of the Administrator. They were becoming full-fledged members after their nomination was approved by the Sovereign's Vicegerent in the Caucasus region.

Gymnasiums were the highest possible form of education in the Caucasus region in the 1850s (Shevchenko et al., 2016: 367). Due to that, gymnasiums were assigned certain duties: conduct training for public service and training of applicants for admission to universities. The total number of schools was four, one school per region. Each of them had an appointed Honorary Trustee. School management relied on the School Principal who had an assistant, i.e. Inspector. Both Principal and Inspector were elected mostly from the people who had a higher education degree. The Inspector was a potential nominee for the Principal's position.

Each gymnasium of the Caucasus Educational District had 7 regular classes and one preparatory class. Regardless of this, special classes could also be established. They were preparing students for the University course.

The Caucasus Educational District gymnasiums admitted children of all individual that had unbound state. Those who wanted to be enrolled to a gymnasium, had to submit their birth and christening certificates as well as their certificate of origin. For Muslims, the birth certificate was replaced by a certificate provided by the local police officers confirming the age of the probationer student. Children of civil officials and army officers submitted statements of service and retirement orders of their fathers.

Students getting enrolled to the gymnasium preparatory class should have been not younger than 8 years old and not older than 12 years old. The 1st grade was for those from 9 to 13 years old, the 2nd grade was for children from 10 to 14 years, the 3rd grade allowed students from 11 to 15, and the 4th grade students had to be aged 12 to 16. Students of grades above the 4th were not admitted to the gymnasiums. Those who exceeded the specified age were allowed to attend the gymnasium classes as non-degree students who reported to the gymnasium administration together with the other gymnasium students. Those students who were leaving gymnasiums were allowed to be enrolled as non-degree student of the grade they had left only.

Each incoming student and non-degree student had to pay an annual fee for the gymnasium: the Stavropol gymnasium charged 5 rubles, and the rest were temporarily charging 3 rubles.

All gymnasiums were teaching the following common subjects:

1. The Orthodox Scripture teachings;

2. The Russian language;

3. Geography;

4. History;

- 5. Mathematics;
- 6. Physics;

7. Mathematical and physical geography;

8. Natural history;

9. Calligraphy;

10. Sketching and drawing.

Nevertheless, the teaching process included the regional features. Thus, the Tiflis gymnasium taught: 1. Gregorian-Armenian and Roman Catholic scripture teachings, Moslem law of Omar and Ali, and for the indigenous dweller students there were 2. The Georgian language, 3. The Tatar language and 4. The Armenian language. The Kutaisi gymnasium was teaching courses of the Roman Catholic scripture teachings, the Georgian and Turkish languages. The Stavropol gymnasium had Gregorian-Armenian scripture teachings for Armenians and Moslem law for Moslems, as well as the Tatar, Circassian and Armenian languages. The Ekaterinodar gymnasium taught Moslem law for the Cherkes students, fencing and gymnastics, military science and the Circassian language.

In addition, there were special subjects:

1) Russian jurisprudence was taught to those who were getting prepared for public service;

2) Those preparing to enter higher and specialized educational institutions had Latin and French (as required);

3) Teachers-to-be, apart from foreign languages, also had didactics and pedagogy.

Apart from the subjects mentioned above, other subjects could have been introduced: elementary agriculture, inter-discipline sciences, practical mechanics and chemistry.

Out of the local languages, the following were mandatory: Georgian and Tatar at the Tiflis gymnasium for all students of the first two grades; as for the senior grades, the students could choose one of those languages; at the Stavropol gymnasium the Tatar language was mandatory for all students and Circassian for the students educated and supported by the state^{*} who were staying at the gymnasium boarding house, as well as for the students educated at the expense of the Caucasus Linear Cossack Host; in Kutaisi the Georgian language was mandatory for all students and Turkish had to be taken by the students supported and educated by the state; in Ekaterinodar, Circassian was mandatory for all students. The Armenian language was taught at all gymnasiums where it was supposed to be taught, but it was mandatory for Armenians only.

Teaching at gymnasiums was performed by senior and junior teachers. Their number was determined by the staffing chart. Senior teachers were teachers of: the Russian language, mathematics and physics, history, jurisprudence, as well as: (a) teachers of natural sciences, agriculture and the Latin language at the Tiflis gymnasium; (b) teachers of natural sciences and agriculture at the Ekaterinodar and Kutaisi gymnasiums; (c) teacher of Latin language at the Stavropol gymnasium.

Junior teachers were the teachers of languages and sciences. Teachers of art and preparatory classes were not considered junior teachers.

4 lessons were held daily from 8am to 2pm according to the schedule. Training course in the Caucasus Educational District gymnasiums began on the 1st of January. Annual tests were taking place from the 15th of November to the 23rd of December. Summer vacations⁺ started from the 1st of July to the 15th of August for the Stavropol gymnasium, and from the 1st of July to the 1st of September for the Ekaterinodar and Transcaucasian gymnasiums.

Schools with boarding houses and noble pensions constituted an important part of school education. Every gymnasium had such boarding houses or noble pensions. Boarding houses and noble pensions were intended to provide free education for the children of the upper class who were unable to pay the tuition fee due to their poverty.

The number of such students was different in every gymnasium: in Tiflis there were 120 students, in Kutaisi and Ekaterinodar there were 120 students in each gymnasium, while in Stavropol they were 182. Out of these students, the following number were being educated and supported by the state: 65 students at the Tiflis pension (30 of whom were merited princes and noblemen of the Tiflis province. 20 decorated Russian officials, mainly gentlemen by birth, living or deceased in the Caucasus, and 15 children of honored upper class Moslems and Armenian meliks^{*}); at the Kutaisi pension there were 60 students (35 of whom were the children of princes and noblemen of the Kutaisi province, 10 children of the Mingrel princes and noblemen, 5 children from the Abkhazian[§] and other tribes and 10 children of decorated Russian officials, also mainly gentlemen by birth, residing or dead on duty in the Caucasus); at the Stavropol pension there were 142 students (30 of whom were children of local Russian noblemen and officials, 65 children of honorable mountain dwellers of the Caucasian line, princes, uzdens and 47 children of the Caucasus Linear Cossack Host officers; the latter were supported by the Host's payments), and at the Ekaterinodar pension there were 35 students from children of the Circassian tribes honorable persons, 25 students educated and supported completely by the state and 35 students with partial state support out of the children of officers and officials of the Black Sea Cossack Host; the latter 60 students were supported by the host's payments. Half-state students were those who received a decreased amount, namely 50 rubles per each student; parents of these students were obliged to pay 40 rubles annually for their uniforms. The remaining vacant places in the pensions were occupied by students consisting of the children of upper class natives paying their own expenses, children of Russian officials and children of hereditary honorary citizens.

^{*} Students educated and supported by the state – within a period from the 17th century to the first half of the 19th century this was the term for students of certain educational institutions educated and supported completely at the state's expense (compared to the students paying their own expenses).

 $^{^{\}scriptscriptstyle \dagger}$ Vacation is a synonym for recess, i.e. time when there are no classes.

^{*} Melik is a title of a reigning feudal lord.

[§] Vacant places assigned to the Mingrel and Abkhazian princes and noblemen could only be occupied at the discretion of the lords of Mingrelia and Abkhazia.

Admission age to the noble pensions at the Caucasus Educational District gymnasiums was defined to be at least 9 years old and no older than 15 years, namely, one could enroll to the gymnasium preparatory class until they are 11 years old. The 1st grade was for children not older than 12, the 2nd grade was for the children not older than 13, the 3rd grade was for the children not older than 14, the 4th grade was for the children not older than 15; those who exceeded the age of 15 were excluded from the nominees list.

An important function of promoting public education in places where there were no gymnasiums was performed by the higher four-year colleges. Such colleges also had boarding houses. There was one single such college in the Caucasus region. It was located in the principal city of the province, Shemakha.

The Shemakha four-year college had a boarding house for 50 students. 25 out of them were permanently supported by the state (20 children came from the families of the Moslem upper class and 5 of them were the children of the decorated Russian officials). Other vacant places were occupied by the students paying their own expenses.

An honorary trustee was in charge of supervising the college. Honorary trustees of the higher four-year colleges were appointed from the upper or noble class. Those willing to be appointed to this title committed to contribute a certain amount to the good of the college, no less than 700 rubles.

The higher four-year college reported directly to the Colleges Directorate.

Higher four-year colleges accepted children of all classes. No fees were required from the students. No special knowledge was required to enroll in the preparatory class. Each student paying their own expenses at the Shemakha pension paid 90 rubles. Moreover, when enrolling, the 30-ruble one-time fee was payable for the possessions to be used.

The college consisted of 4 regular grades and one preparatory class. The curriculum included the following subjects:

1. The Orthodox and Gregorian-Armenian Scripture teachings, articles of faith of their religion for Muslims and reading of the Quran, 2. The Russian language, 3. Geography, 4. History, 5. Mathematics, 6. Natural history, 7. Jurisprudence, 8. The Tatar language, 9. the Armenian language for students of the Armenian origin 10. Calligraphy and technical drawing (Provisions on the Caucasus Educational District, 1853: 50).

The four-year college training course started on the 1st of January, just like at the Caucasus District gymnasiums. Vacation time was from the 1st of July to the 1st of September.

District and county schools of the Caucasus Educational District were one step down. They were in charge of the students' moral training and over the long term they trained teachers for initial and private schools.

District and county schools were managed by a full-time supervisor who was elected from among the teachers who were dedicated to their service, had impeccable conduct and knowledge. Honorary supervisors were also appointed to supervise the district and county schools, as well as the parish and private educational institutions, regardless of the full-time supervisors.

Honorary supervisors were appointed from civilian and military officials serving in the district, or from the noblemen, as well as from all persons of unbound state, known to the school administration. Those willing to be appointed to this position had to contribute a certain amount to the good of the college, no less than 500 rubles.

District and county schools of the Caucasus Educational District consisted of a preparatory class and two district-level classes; the third district-level class could have been established in case of additional financing.

Each district school had a number of teachers implied by the staffing chart. Clergy members were appointed as the Orthodox and Gregorian-Armenian catechists by the county supervisor.

District and county schools taught the following subjects:

1. Scripture teachings, i.e., prayers, a short catechism and a short sacred history;

- 2. The Russian language and Russian grammar;
- 3. A local language;
- 4. Arithmetic;

5. Brief geography, universal and Russian;

6. Brief history of the world, Russian and local history;

7. The initial concepts of geometry, i.e. explanation of lines, planes and objects and their essential properties, and drawing geometric objects freehand;

8. Calligraphy (Provisions on the Caucasus Educational District, 1853: 53).

Apart from the above mentioned subjects, the schools where most of the students belonged to the class of gentlemen by birth or personal nobility, also taught: 9. Forms of proceedings and judicial order with practical exercises and 10. Accounting.

Moslem students studied their faith with the school Mohammedan teacher of religion who also taught the Tatar language.

The Georgian language was considered the local language in the Tiflis province. Local language of other districts of the Transcaucasian region and the Stavropol province was Tatar.

Learning the local language was compulsory for all students of the district schools; the Armenian language, on the opposite, was taught where it was supposed to be taught, to the Armenians only.

The school course was biennial for each of the two higher grades; however, there were oneyear courses for each grade upon opening of the 3rd district grade.

School started on the 1st of January. Vacation time depended on the specific regional peculiarities: in Elisavetpol, Erivan and Nakhichevan vacations lasted from the 15th of June to the 15th of September. As for the Stavropol Directorate colleges, vacation time was from the 1st of July to the 15th of August. The rest of the district were on vacation from the 1st of July to the 1st of September.

No fee was charged for the district and county schooling. No basic knowledge was required to be enrolled in the preparatory class.

The Poltavskaya and Umansky county schools had to have pensions for 20 students each, who were recruited from the children of the Black Sea Cossack Army officers. Orphans and unprivileged children constituted the majority of the pensions' students.

The county school pension admission age was limited to no younger than 8 and no older than 13 years.

The Poltavskaya county school, on top of the military students, had to accept 10 pensioners from Circassian tribes. Their tuition was paid for by the state. Apart from that, if there was room, pensions could accept students from the field officers children paying their own expenses at the rate of 90 rubles per year.

As for initial schools, these were being established as and when necessary with the permission of the Sovereign's Vicegeerent in the Caucasus region. These schools, located on the lands of the Black Sea Army were supported at the expense of the military contributions; in other areas of the Caucasus and Transcaucasian regions they were supported by the communities for which these schools were established. An exception was made for the Racha district of the Kutaisi province, where the state supported schools in the following cities: Kutaisi, Redut-Kale, Ozurgeti, Dusheti, Kuba, Lenkoran, Ordubad, Novo-Bayazet and the village of Tionet of the Tushino-Pshavo-Khevsursky county. Students of the latter school, up to 25 in number, children of the Tushin, Pshav and Khevsur elders, were supported annually with financial resources and food supplies.

Initial schools accepted male children of all social classes no younger than 8 years old. It was strictly prohibited to have children of different genders at the same school.

Those entering initial schools were required neither tuition fees nor basic knowledge.

Initial schools were divided into two types: one-grade and two-grade schools. Two-grade schools allowed establishing of the special sciences courses.

The curriculum included the following subjects:

1) Scripture teachings of the religion practiced by the residents of the settlement; 2) Russian writing and reading, practical knowledge of the Russian everyday language; 3) writing and reading in a local language; 4) four main arithmetic operations (Provisions On the Caucasus Educational District, 1853: 59). These subjects were fixed and later on they were included into the Provisions On Public Schools dated May 25, 1874, with the only addition, that apart from these subjects liturgical chanting could be introduced where it was feasible (Izvestiya Dumy News Of The Duma, 1874: 1234).

The two-grade initial schools also had the following subjects added: brief catechism and brief scripture history, brief Russian grammar. As for arithmetic, there were common fractions and operations with them. Students were also taught calligraphy.

Special courses of the two-grade schools taught: common knowledge of agriculture and horticulture where the population consisted of agricultural workers, and keeping the merchant books envisaged by law where the population was involved in trade; moreover, it was allowed to teach a language of the community for which this school was established.

Teaching Scripture and the local language at the initial schools provided that the population was Christian, was carried out by the local parish priests, while the Moslem population was taught by the local mullahs. Both priests and mullahs were to be approved by the county trustee upon the school principal's recommendation.

The initial school teachers were elected mainly from persons who had completed a gymnasium course, or at least a course at district schools. Military residents were preferably appointed to these positions in the lands of the Black Sea Army.

Time during which the studying process was supposed to take place had been determined with regard to climatic and other regional factors. The same referred to the vacation time. School year began with on the 1st of January.

Supervision over the schools located within the Black Sea Cossack Army lands was confided to a supervisor out of retired Army officers; other initial schools of the Caucasus Educational District had the Russian language teachers as supervisors.

An honored guardian was appointed to every school to render assistance to the school administration. This staffing had to be approved by the Sovereign's Vicegerent in the Caucasus region.

Financial resources were allocated to support the Orthodox church schools in several areas of the district. This referred to the existing and newly established schools in Ossetia, Samurzakan and Svanetia. It is important to note that all such schools, which had been allocated public funds, were under the supervision of the Schools Board of Directors.

Schools that existed at the roman Catholic churches in the cities of the Caucasus and Transcaucasian regions were considered to belong to the initial schools. They taught all subjects assigned to these schools. These schools were reporting to the gymnasium principals if there was a gymnasium in the cities where they were established. In other cities they were reporting to the local in-house supervisors; the closest supervision over these schools was confided to a priest of that church at which this school was established.

Teachers of these schools were being elected school principals out of those students who completed the gymnasium sciences course and belonged to the Roman Catholic religion. They were getting salaries of 200 rubles per year from the temporalities or from the congregation's contribution.

A few words must be said about schools at mosques. Such schools enjoyed special rules. The school principals could only request, through the local authorities, annual information on the number of such schools, names of the mullahs teaching there and the number of students. The mosque schools could be transferred into a category of initial schools with the permission of the Sovereign's Vicegerent in the Caucasus region upon request of the residents and with financial means provided by them.

Completing the review of the Caucasus public education system, private educational and training institutions should be mentioned. Private educational and training institutions established within the Caucasus Educational District for male children were of two types: 1) private pensions^{*} and 2) private pensions at the state educational establishments[†]. Private educational institutions for female children in the Caucasus Educational District could only be of the first kind.

Opening of private pensions was allowed in accordance with the existing rules. Private pensions at the state schools were allowed to be kept by the people of high moral standing. District school teachers were allowed to keep private pensions at the state schools henceforth until a special order.

^{*} Private pensions were institutions where students either resided or were attending them to receive education in those academic subjects that were approved by the program.

⁺ Students resided in the pensions under the supervision of boarding landlords and room guards. The latter accompanied them to the classes of those schools where they were studying.

Teachers at private pensions had to be those persons who had the right to teach. Pension keepers had to inform their superiors in charge of the pension supervision on the teachers' appointment and replacement every time.

Among private schools there were initial schools that were established by private individuals for the children of both genders in the cities and villages to teach spelling, local languages and prayers of their faith. Children of different genders were not allowed to attend the same school, as in public schools.

All private educational institutions, as well as schools were under direct supervision of the school principals in the cities of Tiflis, Kutaisi, Stavropol and Ekaterinodar. In-house supervisors had this duty in other locations.

In order to cover as many students as possible, the Caucasus Educational District Administration was training a certain number of home teachers out of the students educated and supported by the state who completed a course of special gymnasium classes. Home teachers graduating from special gymnasium classes were obliged to remain in this position for at least 6 years. Throughout this whole period of time, home teachers educated in the special classes were under special patronage of the Caucasus Educational District Administration, which was watching over them them guided by the rules, adopted by the administration of the institutions under the supreme patronage of Her Majesty the Empress, when admitting impoverished female students, who completed their education in these institutions, to positions at private homes (Provisions On the Caucasus Educational District, 1853: 67).

5. Conclusion

In summarizing, it is important to note that unification and regulation of educational process was taking place in the Caucasus region in the 1850s. The time of chaotic operations at gymnasiums and secondary schools ended, the population of the region was increasingly understanding the benefits of education. As the result, Caucasian schools were becoming increasingly similar to their counterparts in the inland areas of the Russian Empire. Nevertheless, evolution of the public education system in the Caucasus was taking place in view of the ongoing Caucasian War in the region. That is why mosque schools enjoyed a practically autonomous status, since the Russian Administration tried not to provoke the local Muslim population. In addition, the Caucasus region didn't have any mixed schools. This was also a regional feature of this area.

References

Istoricheskii obzor, 1902 – Istoricheskii obzor deyatel'nosti Ministerstva narodnogo prosveshcheniya. 1802-1902 [The historic overview of the activities of the Ministry of Education. 1802-1902]. Sost. S.V. Rozhdestvenskii. SPb., 1902. 840 p. [in Russian]

Izvestia Dumy, 1874 – Izvestija Dumy (Sankt-Peterburg) [Proceedings of the Duma (St. Petersburg)]. 1874. No. 6.

Kobakhidze, 2015 – Kobakhidze, E.I. (2015). Zakonodatel'stvo 1840–1870-kh gg. v oblasti obrazovaniya kak faktor integratsii kavkazskoi shkoly v rossiiskuyu sistemu narodnogo prosveshcheniya [The legislation of 1840–1870-ies in the sphere of education as a factor of integration of the Caucasian school in the Russian system of public education]. *Istoricheskie, filosofskie, politicheskie i yuridicheskie nauki, kul'turologiya i iskusstvovedenie. Voprosy teorii i praktiki.* No. 10. Ch. 3. pp. 87–90. [in Russian]

Materialy po istorii, 1942 – Materialy po istorii osetinskogo naroda: sbornik dokumentov po istorii zavoevaniya osetin russkim tsarizmom [Materials on the history of the Ossetian people: a collection of documents on the history of the conquest of Ossetians by Russian tsarism]. Sost. V.S. Gal'tsev. Ordzhonikidze, 1942. volume II. 360 p.

Modzalevskii, 1880 – *Modzalevskii, L.* (1880). Khod uchebnogo dela v Kavkazskom krae s 1802 po 1880 god [The course of training in the Caucasus region from 1802 to 1880]. Pamyatnaya knizhka Kavkazskogo uchebnogo okruga na 1880 god. Tiflis. Otd. I. pp. 3–96. [in Russian]

Provisions on the Caucasus Educational District, 1853 – Provisions on the Caucasus Educational District dated October 20, 1853 // ZhMNP. 1853. No. 80. pp. 29–107.

PSZRI – Polnoe sobranie zakonov Rossiiskoi imperii [The complete collection of laws of the Russian Empire].

Sbornik statisticheskikh svedenii, 1869 – Sbornik statisticheskikh svedenii o Kavkaze [The collection of statistical information about the Caucasus]. Sost. N.I. Voronov. Ch. 1. Tiflis, 1869.

Shevchenko et al., 2016 – Shevchenko, N.A., Vidishcheva, E.V., Emelyanova, O.V. (2016). The Establishment of the System of Public Education in the Caucasus (1802-1917 years): the Characteristic Features. *Bylye Gody*. 40(2): 363–372. SZRI – Svod zakonov Rossijskoj imperii [Code of Laws of the Russian Empire].



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 608-614 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.608 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Highland Schools in the Caucasus: Historical Background

Olga V. Natolochnaya^{a,b,*}, Natal'ya V. Miku^c, Teimur E. Zulfugarzade^d, Aude Médico^e

^a International Network Center for Fundamental and Applied Research, Washington, USA ^b Volgograd State University, Volgograd, Russian Federation

^c Penza State University of Architecture and Construction, Penza, Russian Federation

^d Plekhanov Russian University of Economics, Russian Federation

^e University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

Abstract

The article explores the history of the highland schools (Gorskaya shkola) in the Caucasus that covers the period from the 1850s to the 1860s. Established in 1859 and originally planned to function as a pilot project for four years, they proved to be effective, so the experiment continued. This paper also examines the legal status of highland schools.

The desk research was focused on facts derived from official archives of the Ministry of Education published in the 'Journal of Ministry of Education'. Such sources included legal documents, extracts from reports of the Minister of Education and the Trustee of the Caucasus Education District, as well as local findings on operation of the then established schools.

The research methodology is based on principles of historicism, objectivity and systematism that are commonly used in historiography. The study involved the problem-based chronological method to scrutinize certain facts in the history of highland schools' development in the Caucasus, and disclose the highlanders' interest in such institutions which prompted further establishment of other highland schools in the region.

In conclusion, it is important to state that the network of highland schools in the Caucasus allowed not only to satisfy educational needs of children residing in the highland communities, but also to co-educate them with children of the Russian Empire commissioners. Graduates of such schools maintained a wider range of social relationships (through religion, consecrated friendship, comradeship) that helped them to adapt easier to the rapidly changing world and to the rapidly changing situation in the Caucasus.

Keywords: highland school, the Caucasus, the 1850-1860s, the Russian Empire, 'Journal of Ministry of Education'.

^{*} Corresponding author E-mail addresses: natolochnaia@yandex.ru (O.V. Natolochnaya)

1. Introduction

In 1859, when the Caucasian War waging in the eastern part of the Caucasus was about to cease, the Viceroy of the Caucasus, Adjutant General, Duke A.I. Baryatinsky submitted to Emperor Alexander II a concept of establishing special schools with the purpose to educate children of highland indigenous tribes of the Caucasus (Trekhbratova, 2015: 60).

On October 20, 1859, the Russian Emperor approved the draft of the Statute of Highland Schools. An important fact was that Imam Shamil was captured in the Caucasus in the very same year. The Russian administration was proactive at that time and did its best to cool down and stabilize the society by creating a network of highland schools. In accordance with the Statute, these schools were launched as a pilot project that would last for four years. One of the main reasons for establishing these schools was the fact, that in some territories controlled by the Russian military troops for several decades there had not been a single public school for children (neither for civil commissioners, nor for indigenous population). Such territories were: Sukhum, Vladikavkaz, Nalchik, Temir-khan-Shur, Ust-Laba and the Groznaya fortress.

2. Materials and Methods

Our desk research involved the study of documents, derived from official archives of the Ministry of Education, that had been published in the 'Journal of Ministry of Education'. Such materials include legal documents, extracts from individual reports of the Minister of Education and the Trustee of the Caucasus Education District, as well as local findings on operation of the established schools.

The research methodology is based on principles of historicism, objectivity and systematism that are commonly used in historiography. The study involved the problem-based chronological method to scrutinize certain facts in the history of highland schools' development in the Caucasus, and disclose the highlanders' interest in such institutions which prompted further establishment of other highland schools in the region.

3. Discussion

The first written evidence of establishment of highland schools in the Caucasus refers to the period immediately following the formal approval of the draft Statute of Highland Schools, i.e. the pre-revolutionary time. For instance, a report on the establishment of a highland school in Zakataly was published in 1863 (Shkola dlya gortsev, 1863), the school in Sukhum was referred to quite often (Izvlechenie iz otcheta, 1866; Otkrytie zhenskoi shkoly, 1871), some other schools were also mentioned.

A remarkably big amount of publications on highland schools appeared in the modern period, as this topic attracted researchers from national territories in the North and West Caucasus. A number of recent articles discuss Russia's politics in the Caucasus, for example, papers bv T.A. Bekoeva (Bekoeva, 2009), V.A. Sturba (Shturba, 2010) and S.A. Trekhbratova (Trekhbratova, 2015). The topic of education development for Muslims was the scientific interest of M.F. Titorenko, O.G. Shkileva such researchers as (Titorenko, Shkileva. 2008) and R.A. Khachidogov (Khachidogov, 2015). Articles devoted to the history of regional schools can be considered a specific type of papers. For example, the highlanders' schooling in Osetia was studied by E.I. Kobakhidze, N.A. Ladonina (Kobakhidze, Ladonina, 2015; Ladonina, 2015), in Dagestan by D.Z. Ataeva and K.I. Khadzhilaev (Ataeva, 2009; Khadzhialiev, 2011), in Grozny and Nalchik – by T.A. Bekoeva, A.Z. Magamedova, A.G. Kudzaeva (Bekoeva, Magamedova, 2016; Kudzaeva, 2016).

4. Results

The Statute consisted of five Chapters: 1. Number, Aim and Division of Schools; 2. Regional Schools; 3. Primary Schools; 4. Boarding Facilities at Highland Schools; 5. Guidelines on Administration of Highland Schools and Their Boarding Facilities.

The aim of establishment of highland schools was to promote the idea of civic consciousness and education among peaceful highlanders, as well as to provide families of officers and civil commissioners in the Caucasus with education opportunities for their children. The highland schools were founded as district-based first-level educational institutions. The schools were established in the following locations: a) regional schools: in Vladikavkaz, Nalchik, Temir-khan-Shur; b) primary schools: in Ust-Lab, the Groznaya fortress, and Sukhum (Trekhbratova, 2015: 61).

There were four forms in regional schools; including a pre-school program.

Regional schools, like other district and regional educational institutions that were subordinate to the Caucasus Education District, were administrated by full time inspectors appointed by the Commander in Chief of the Caucasus Army and the Viceroy of the Caucasus on request from the Trustee of the region. The inspectors were recruited from amongst the teachers who demonstrated high-level pedagogical skills.

The full-time inspectors were selected mainly from the list of candidates who had obtained a diploma from a university or who had completed a full course at a Pedagogy department of the Stavropol Gymnasium.

Apart from a full-time inspector, personnel of such schools consisted of: teachers of Orthodox religion and Islam, three teachers of sciences and one teacher of a pre-school course; the former two teachers came from the clergy, while teachers of sciences and the pre-school course were graduates of institutions of higher education.

Regional schools were originally founded for indigenous highlanders and for children of Russian officers and public civil commissioners; however, they could also enroll boys coming from other free social classes, irrespective of their religion.

The following subjects were taught at regional schools:

a) Orthodox Religion including praying scripts, a summary of the Manual for catechizing, a short history of religion, as well as the dogmas of Orthodox church service - for children adhering to the Orthodox church;

b) Dogmas of Islam – for Muslim children;

c) The Russian Language and Russian Grammar with practical exercises;

d) Introduction to the World and Russian Geography; the Russian geography covered some statistical information about the national and the Caucasus administrative order;

e) Introduction to the World and Russian History;

f) Arithmetic and Algebra;

g) Introduction to Geometry, including basic concepts of lines, planes and objects, together with their main characteristics, as well as the creation of geometric shapes;

h) Calligraphy and Drawing (Ob uchrezhdenii, 1859: 26; Trekhbratova, 2015: 61).

All these subjects were divided among all teachers, to guarantee equal workload.

Each course at regional schools was to last for one year, as opposed to the pre-school course that could last for two years or longer.

The academic year began on August 15. The summer vacation was scheduled from July 1 to August 15.

Those people wishing to attend the school on a part time basis, had to submit a special application to the full time inspector. The tuition fee for this category of pupils was 5 rubles per year. The Teachers Council and the local Commander in Chief were the only authorities that could allow people in need to attend school free of charge. All the funds collected from pupils were spent as follows: one half was used to pay the teachers' salaries; the other half was divided into two smaller parts. One of them was used to supply under-privileged pupils with textbooks and outfit, the other one was used to improve the content of teaching materials as well as to cover other expenses of the institution.

Graduates of regional schools enjoyed the same rights as graduates of district schools within the Caucasus Education District.

The students who had demonstrated good academic achievements did not have to take any exams to get promoted to the fourth form, if they wanted to be on a state service afterwards.

The full time and part time students who were the first ones to have successfully passed the term exam in their respective classes, could be admitted as boarders at public expense.

The primary school consisted of three forms, including one pre-school course. They were administered by inspectors who were appointed by the Trustee of Caucasus Education District and had obtained a diploma from a university or completed a course offered by the Pedagogy department of the Stavropol Gymnasium. Apart from an inspector, the personnel of such schools consisted of two teachers of sciences, one teacher of Orthodox religion and one teacher of Islam.

Not only children of indigenous highlanders, military men and public civil commissioners were allowed to study at such schools, but also boys coming from other social classes could study there, regardless of their religious views.

The program of primary schools featured the following subjects:

a) Orthodox Religion, including praying scripts, a short history of religion, a short version of the Creed as well as praying scripts stated in the 'Basic Elements of Orthodox Faith' textbook;

b) Dogmas of Islam;

c) The Russian Language, including reading exercises, dictations, the structure of speech;

d) Counting and Introduction to Arithmetic;

e) Basic Characteristics of the Earth, and an Overview of Russian Geography;

f) Calligraphy.

The tuition fee at primary schools was lower than that of regional schools and amounted to 3 rubles per year. Poor people could be exempted from paying such fees on the decision of the Teachers Council and the local Commander in Chief.

The pupils who had demonstrated outstanding academic performance were accepted to the second form of district schools and gymnasiums within the Caucasus Education District without any exams.

No uniform was introduced for part time students of highland regional and primary schools; however, the boarders of such schools who displayed academic achievements and good behavior were granted a privilege to wear a just-au-corps.

Boarding facilities were arranged next to highland schools to assist parents in upbringing their children, as well as to better inform the young highlanders about moral values. These moral rules would develop in children's minds a sense of dignity, duty, hard work and order, and get them prepared for the civic life that was the overall aim of the whole educational process.

The boarding schools located in various geographical areas had different numbers of pupils: in Vladikavkaz – 120 people; in Nalchik – 65 people; in Temir-khan-Shurinsk – 65 people; in Ust-Lab – 65 people; in Grozny – 65 people; in Sukhum-Kal – 40 people.

There were always some boarders that were educated at the expense of the state. In Valdikavkaz there were 80 such boarders: 50 children from the most outstanding and prominent families of the Osetia military district and 30 children of Russian military men and public civil commissioners. In Nalchik, there were 25 boarders: 10 children of dukes and noblemen of the Kabarda region and 15 children of Russian military men and public civil commissioners. In Temir-khan-Shirinsk, there were 40 boarders: 25 highlanders' children from honored families of Northern and Southern Dagestan and 15 children of Russian public civil commissioners. In Ust-Lab, there were 40 boarders: 25 children from tribes inhabiting the left bank of the Kuban River and 15 children of Russian public civil commissioners. In Grozny, there were 40 boarders: 25 children from the honored Chechen and Kumyk families and 15 children of Russian public civil commissioners. In Sukhum-Kal, there were 20 boarders: 15 children of the Abkhaz, Tsebelda and Jiget families and 5 children of Russian public civil commissioners (Ob uchrezhdenii, 1859: 30).

The remaining places at schools were shared among: a) boarders who studied at the expense of collective funds (like at the Nalchik school that saw a similar funding pattern for 25 children of dukes and noblemen of the Kabarda region); b) boarders who studied at the expense of funds controlled by the Viceroy of the Caucasus; and c) boarders who paid for studies on their own (termed as 'svoekoshtnye').

The annual fee for accommodation at a boarding facility was 80 rubles.

All students of boarding schools wore a regular dark-green forage cap with a red band as well as a regular dark-green just au corps with a dark-green collar made of woven felt and decorated with red straps and polished copper buttons. In winter, the boarders were dressed in a dark-green coat that had a similar style as a coat of any regular citizen.

The age of a child wishing to be accepted to school and financed by the state (termed as 'kazennokoshtnye') had to vary between 9 and 15. Specifically, the age limit for a pre-school course was 13 years old, for a first form of regional schools -14 years old, and for a second form -15 years old. All children who did not satisfy this age requirement could not be financed by the state.

Every boarder could study in the same form for no more than two years; however, the children who had a nationality other than Russian could remain on a pre-school course for up to three years. The children who at the end of their study programs did not have enough knowledge to move to a higher form, were expelled from school, however, they still had a right to attend classes as part time students.

After the end of the course, the boarders were returned to their parents; the children who performed well throughout the years could be recommended by the military commander to enter a gymnasium and be granted a public subsidy. For this reason, the inspector of every school reported to the regional commander on the excellent performance of students who managed to reach the highest level. They would then be considered as prospective candidates to fill some state positions offered to the students of the Stavropol Gymnasium.

In every boarding school there was a fixed number of non-commissioned officers and common soldiers. Two or three non-commissioned officers had a task to supervise students according to a rotating schedule. While on duty, the officers were at full discretion of the room inspector.

Neither non-commissioned officers nor room inspectors had a right to punish students themselves. The inspector could only make a reprimand or deprive a student of his free time; all other types of punishment could be executed only by the school inspector or in some cases only by the Teachers Councils.

According to the school Statute, the boarding conditions for the students needed to be satisfactory, but not luxurious. The main requirement for food was its good quality; the main requirement for clothes was a smart outlook.

To facilitate the administration of schools, schools were divided into multiple directorates within the Caucasus Education District. The regional schools in Vladikavkaz, Nalchik and Temirkhan-Shur as well as the primary school in Grozny were under the control of the Stavropol Governorate; the primary schools in Ust-Lab formed part of the Chernomorskaya Governorate; the primary schools in Sukhum-Kal were supervised by the Kutais Governorate.

While being directly managed by respective school principals, these institutions were also under the control of the local military administration and its military district commander, in particular. Significantly, the military district commander enjoyed all the rights of the school's trustees. When the commander checked the facilities of his supervised school and detected some defects or malfunctions, he had to immediately inform the school principal about his remarks.

The budget of primary schools differed across various institutions depending on the number of students. For example, the schools in Ust-Lab and Grozny had 7 teachers, including administrative personnel, and 40 students. The total budget of one school in that case was 5,406 rubles per year. However, while the number of teachers and administrative personnel was the same but the number of registered students was 20, the budget of the school in Sukhum was 3,702 rubles (Ob uchrezhdenii, 1859: 38-40).

As for the regional schools, their budget was much higher than that of the primary schools (see Table 1).

School	Number of teachers	Number of students	Total budget (in rubles)	
	personnel			
Primary school	S			
Ust-Lab	7	40	5406.95	
Grozny	7	40	5406.95	
Sukhum-Kal	7	20	3702.70	
Regional schoo	ls			
Temir-khan-	8	40	6272.70	
Shur				
Nalchik	8	25	5306.95	
Vladikavkaz	10	80	9793.90	
Total			35890.15	

Table 1. Highland schools (personnel and budget)

Almost all new schools faced some challenges. The local population was skeptical about sending their children to such schools as they did not fully understand the benefits that education offered in general. To solve this problem, the Russian administration in the Caucasus did its utmost to make it their priority to promote people to a higher position if they had completed a program at one of educational institutions.

New schools were launched in accordance with the approved schedule. The regional school in Temir-khan-Shurin opened in 1861. A boarding house was constructed next to the school that could accommodate the total number of 65 students: 40 children were financed by the state, 25 children came from the honored families of Northern and Southern Dagestan as well as families of Russian public civil commissioners (Khadzhialiev, 2011: 162).

By 1864, the number of teachers at the school in Sukhum was 4, while the number of students was 53. In 1865, the number of teachers remained the same, but the number of students decreased to 47 (Izvlechenie iz otcheta, 1866: 350). The establishment of the first school in Abkhazia led to the creation in 1871 of the first women's boarding school (Otkrytie zhenskoi shkoly, 1871: 773).

The creation of highland schools proved to be a successful project that was extended over a longer period. As a result, a boarding school in Zakataly was opened in 1862. At first, the population did not trust that institution, and only 5 students were admitted to the program, while there were 25 vacancies at the boarding school. However, four months later the situation changed, and all available places were occupied while the administration received hundreds of applications (Shkola dlya gortsev, 1863: 114).

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, it is important to state that the system of highland schools, that was formed in the Caucasus, allowed not only to satisfy the educational needs of the children who lived in the highland region but also to co-educate them together with children of Russian public civil commissioners. Graduates of such schools maintained a wider network of cultural relationships (through religion, consecrated friendship, comradeship) that helped them to adapt easier to the rapidly changing world and to the rapidly changing situation in the Caucasus.

References

Ataeva, 2009 – Ataeva, D.Z. (2009). Dagestanskaya gorskaya shkola i progimnaziya (1861-1880) v kontekste rossiiskogo narodnogo obrazovaniya [The Dagestan highland school and Progymnasium (1861-1880) in the context of the Russian national education]. *Pedagogika*. Nº 2. pp. 83–87. [in Russian]

Bekoeva, 2009 – Bekoeva, T.A. (2009). Proekt sozdaniya gorskikh shkol, opredelenie soderzhaniya obrazovaniya, printsipov i metodov obucheniya rossiiskogo akademika P.K. Uslara [The project of creation of highland schools, the definition of key aims of education, its principles and teaching methods developed by Russian Academic P.K.Uslar]. Vestnik Severo-Osetinskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta imeni Kosta Levanovicha Khetagurova. Nº 4. pp. 49–57. [in Russian]

Bekoeva, Magamedova, 2016 – Bekoeva, T.A., Magamedova, A.Z. (2016). Groznenskaya gorskaya shkola v kontekste rossiiskogo narodnogo obrazovaniya (1863-1917 gg.) [The Grozny highland school in the context of the Russian national education (1863-1917)]. *Izvestiya SOIGSI*. N^o 21 (60). pp. 55–59. [in Russian]

Izvlechenie iz otcheta, 1866 – Izvlechenie iz otcheta glavnogo inspektora uchebnykh zavedenii na Kavkaze i za Kavkazom po vverennomu emu upravleniyu; za 1865 god, predstavlennogo ego imperatorskomu vysochestvu velikomu knyazyu namestniku [Extract from the report of the chief inspector of educational institutions in the Caucasus and of the entrusted institution located outside the Caucasus region; the report covers the year of 1865, was presented to his Imperial Highness the Grand Duke, the Viceroy]. *Zhurnal ministerstva narodnogo prosveshcheniya*. 1866. № 12. pp. 338–354. [in Russian]

Khachidogov, 2015 – *Khachidogov, R.A.* (2015). Rossiiskaya politika v oblasti musul'manskogo obrazovaniya kontsa XIX – nachala KhKh vekov na Severnom Kavkaze [The Russian policy in the field of the Muslim education of the late 19th – early 20th centuries in the North Caucasus]. *Istoricheskaya i sotsial'no-obrazovatel'naya mysl'*. T. 7. № 5-1. pp. 67–71. [in Russian]

Khadzhialiev, 2011 – *Khadzhialiev, K.I.* (2011). Stanovlenie svetskogo obrazovatel'nogo prostranstva Dagestana v kontse XIX – nachale XX veka [Formation of the secular educational space of Dagestan in the late 19th – early 20th century]. *Vestnik Dagestanskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta. Seriya 2: Gumanitarnye nauki.* № 4. pp. 160-165. [in Russian]

Kobakhidze, Ladonina, 2015 – *Kobakhidze, E.I., Ladonina, N.A.* (2015). Uchebnoe delo v Osetii v 60-kh gg. XIX v. v kontekste rossiiskoi obrazovatel'noi politiki [The educational work in Ossetia in the 60's. The 19th century in the context of the Russian educational policy]. *Izvestiya SOIGSI*. Nº 17 (56). pp. 40–50. [in Russian]

Kudzaeva, 2016 - Kudzaeva, A.G. (2016). Okruzhnaya nal'chikskaya gorskaya shkola v sisteme svetskogo obrazovaniya na Severnom Kavkaze v XIX veke [The Nalchik regional highland school in the system of secular education in the North Caucasus in the 19th century]. *Vserossüskie Millerovskie chteniya*. Nº 5. pp. 177–182. [in Russian]

Ladonina, 2015 – Ladonina, N.A. (2015). Realizatsiya pravitel'stvennoi obrazovatel'noi politiki v Osetii v 60-kh gg. XIX v. [The implementation of the governmental educational policy in Ossetia in the 1860s]. Istoricheskie, filosofskie, politicheskie i yuridicheskie nauki, kul'turologiya i iskusstvovedenie. Voprosy teorii i praktiki. Nº 11-1 (61). pp. 95–98. [in Russian]

Natolochnaya et al., 2018 – Natolochnaya, O.V., Korolev, A.A., Ustinova, O.V., Zulfugarzade T.E. (2018). The System of Teaching Literacy in Company Schools of the Russian Army: the 1850–1860s Experience. European Journal of Contemporary Education, 2018, 7(2): 413–419.

Natolochnaya et al., 2018a – *Natolochnaya*, *O.V.*, *Bulgarova*, *B.A.*, *Bragina*, *M.A.* (2018). The Struggle for Literacy in the Russian Troops in the late 1850s – early 1860s. *Bylye Gody*. 47(1): 225–231.

Ob uchrezhdenii, 1859 – Ob uchrezhdenii gorskikh shkol i ustav [On the establishment of highland schools and regulations]. *Zhurnal ministerstva narodnogo prosveshcheniya*. 1859. Nº 104. pp. 23–42. [in Russian]

Otkrytie zhenskoi shkoly, 1871 – Otkrytie zhenskoi shkoly v Sukhume [The opening of the women's school in Sukhum]. *Zhurnal ministerstva narodnogo prosveshcheniya*. 1871. № 10. P. 773. [in Russian]

Shevchenko et al., 2016 – *Shevchenko, N.A., Vidishcheva, E.V., Emelyanova, O.V.* (2016). The Establishment of the System of Public Education in the Caucasus (1802–1917 years): the Characteristic Features. *Bylye Gody.* 40(2): 363–372.

Shkola dlya gortsev, 1863 – Shkola dlya gortsev v Zakatalakh [A school for highlanders in Zakataly]. *Zhurnal ministerstva narodnogo prosveshcheniya*. 1863. № 5. pp. 114-115. [in Russian]

Shturba, 2010 – Shturba, V.A. (2010). Obrazovanie kak element okul'turivaniya gorskikh narodov Kavkaza na zavershayushchem etape Kavkazskoi voiny [Education as an element of moral development and civilization of the highland peoples of the Caucasus at the final stage of the Caucasus War]. Istoricheskaya i sotsial'no-obrazovatel'naya mysl'. T. 5. N^o 3. pp. 5–14. [in Russian]

Titorenko, Shkileva, 2008 – *Titorenko, M.F., Shkileva, O.G.* (2008). K voprosu razvitiya obrazovaniya u musul'man Severnogo Kavkaza v XIX – nachale XX v. [The development of educational process among the Muslims of the North Caucasus in the 19th – early 20th centuries]. *Golos minuvshego. Kubanskii istoricheskii zhurnal.* № 3-4. pp. 26–38. [in Russian]

Trekhbratova, 2015 – *Trekhbratova, S.A.* (2015). Stanovlenie obrazovaniya u gortsev Severo-Zapadnogo Kavkaza (30-50-e gody XIX v.) [Formation of education in the mountaineers of the North-Western Caucasus (30-50-ies of the XIX century.)]. *Kul'turnaya zhizn' Yuga Rossii*. № 3 (58). pp. 57–62. [in Russian]



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 615-622 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.615 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Student Clubs in Siberia at the beginning of the XX century (Adapted from Materials of the Journal «Siberian Student»: 1914–1916)

Yulia V. Putilina ^{a,*}, Vera N. Rodina ^b, Olga V. Kirilova ^c, Konstantin V. Taran ^{d, e}

^a Tyumen regional Academy for professional development, Russian Federation

^b Tyumen Industrial University, Russian Federation

^c Northern Trans-Ural State Agricultural University, Tyumen, Russian Federation

^d International Network Center for Fundamental and Applied Research, Washington, USA

^e Volgograd State University, Volgograd, Russian Federation

Abstract

This paper is devoted to the research of activity features of the student clubs existing in the territory of Tomsk at the beginning of the last century, conducted on the basis of materials of sketches and articles published in the popular periodical of the beginning of the 20th century – «the Siberian Student». Student clubs were often considered in terms of the following thematic blocks:

- a parenthesis with the indication of concrete date or year of club establishment;

- the short description of its activity from indications of events, significant for it, and important dates of functioning up to date of the publication of this or that material;

- the description of achievements, results of the youth organization activity, a positive role in the creative development and association of students;

- emphasis of attention of reader's audience on daily and (or) most current and serious problems which concrete clubs or student clubs in general faced;

- the recommendations of authors about the solution of major problems in the organization and activity of the relevant student's organizations.

Keywords: Siberia, «The Siberian Student», higher educational institutions, Tomsk University, Tomsk institute of technology, students, youth, student clubs.

1. Introduction

At the beginning of the 20th century there were many clubs and unions in Tomsk – the city where the first higher educational institutions of Siberia have been established. An essential part of

* Corresponding author E-mail addresses: putilina-yulia@mail.ru (Y.V. Putilina) them has been established at higher education institutions, and some – at the public and charitable organizations.

The magazine «Siberian Student» was at that time a certain "voicer" of students' thoughts and moods. It was regularly mentioned about the most popular clubs and youth organizations existing in the territory of Siberia in this periodic publication. According to the number of thematic publications, the most popular among student's youth at the beginning of the XX century were: the engineering club, a photography club, an aero club created at the Tomsk institute of technology; a club of the war victims support, the Siberian and economic clubs organized at the Tomsk University.

2. Materials and methods

The research is based on the analysis of materials published at the beginning of the XX century in the Siberian print media. The reports, sketches and articles devoted to the activity of student clubs and unions and published in the popular youth magazine - "The Siberian student" issued from 1914 to 1916 were mainly discussed.

The research was conducted by means of a method of the content analysis by means of which the reports, sketches and articles devoted to the student clubs activity and published on pages of the Siberian press at the beginning of the XX century were studied; the historical and system approach which has allowed to reveal interrelations of various historical events and facts and also to systematize the established data; a narrative method by means of which the elicited facts and events are stated in a consecutive order.

3. Discussion

The activity description of Siberian student clubs functioning at the beginning of the XX century was represented in various historical sources, including the documents of the State archive of the Tomsk region (SATR) and also in the magazine «Siberian Student» published regularly from 1914 to 1916 (Belov, 1914; In a club..., 1915; Zinstein, 1914; Club..., 1914; Mirov, 1915; Petrovich, 1915; Student's..., 1914; Economic..., 1914; Enge, 1914).

These sources contain data on dates of student clubs' organization, their main activities with the description of significant events, achievements and results of work and also major problems which the management and members of given youth organizations faced.

While working on this article the authors used materials of some other periodicals of the studied period in which separate events in activity of clubs were considered, or announcements on behalf of their members were published: "The Siberian life", "The Omsk bulletin", "Morning of Siberia", etc. (Siberian..., 1908; Morning..., 1916; Omsk..., 1912).

Besides historical sources authors studied the scientific works which were published in the Soviet, Post-Soviet and modern periods devoted to the questions connected with the activity of the first Siberian higher education institutions at a turn of before last and last centuries. However in works of this type the activity of student clubs if it was mentioned, then it was done briefly – among the numerous other aspects connected with life and study of the Siberian student's youth at that time (Zaychenko, 1960; History..., 1975; Professors..., 1996; Lozovsky, 1971; Kuzminova, 2005; Vermeer, Van Der Ven, 2003; Dudgeon, 1982; Tolmacheva et al., 2017; Ustinova, Skifskaya, 2017).

4. Results

The Siberian club was rendered as one of the most popular youth organizations functioning in the territory of Tomsk at the beginning of the last century. The reports, articles and notes devoted to the activity of this student's organization were regularly published on pages of Tomsk periodicals (Mirov, 1915: 63-66; Zinstein, 1914: 57-66).

The complex study of Siberia in all of its aspects, including historical, ethnographic, economic and cultural features was the key purpose of the Siberian club. As I. Zinstein paid attention in his report: "The urgent need of association of Siberian students for scientific studying of Siberia in all directions, scientific clarification of real needs of the country and ways of their implementation has become actual and the most important" (Zinstein, 1914: 59).

It is specified in the article that the Siberian studentship organized the "Siberian Club of Tomsk Students" at the beginning of 1907 (the contracted and often used name – the Siberian club). However this youth organization has found the legal status only by the end of 1908.

At the same time initially opening of numerous sections which would specialize in the solution of versatile questions was planned by the club activity, including: rogue classes, colonial policy, a labor question, national education, ethnographic, geographical, archaeological, historical, financial, commerce and industry, agricultural, territorial, classes of the Siberian bibliography, municipal economy and management, etc. (Zinstein, 1914: 61).

However not all plans managed to be realized. As it was noted in one of issues of "The Siberian student", only a few classes were actually organized among which: research into the topic of unemployment in Siberia classes and also studying of economic life of Siberia (1909) under the leadership of Professor M.I. Bogolepova. Since 1910 two more sections under the leadership of professor N.Ya. Novombergsky have been created: regarding territorial and resettlement problems (Zinstein, 1914: 61-62).

Further in I. Zinstein's article there was a list of numerous difficulties and problems which this organization faced. Authors would mention some of such statements:

- "1911 comes – when all student's organizations have stopped their activity, thanks to the known ministerial circular, the serious crisis appears also in the club life ";

- "The Siberian club was directed only by few companions supporting its existence";

- "Although much of efforts ... was not carried out, the first steps are taken, ... our duty is to continue activity", etc.

The significance of the Siberian club occupation, despite all difficulties and problems was repeatedly emphasized throughout of all article written by I. Zinshtein, the strong patriotic epigraph which has ended the narration serving long time as the motto of the popular periodical at the beginning of the XIX century of "National reports" based by the famous diplomat, the traveler and the writter – P.P. Svinyin:

«God appeals to love the Homeland!

And to appreciate the Homeland is the nobility, the admirableness and duty" (Svinyin, 1904: 218-219; Zinstein, 1914: 66).

One more popular club, organized at the Tomsk University, was possible to be recognized as the economic club. It was founded in 1909. Priority tasks of this student's organization are mentioned below:

- self-education by means of a research of political and economic problems;

- the study of the theory of political economy in historical aspect considering features of economic life development.

The main activities of a club were: making reports, thematic papers, its reading and discussion at special meetings.

As appears from materials of the Tomsk student press at the beginning of the 20th century, the head of this organization was the professor M.N. Sobolev from the moment of an economic club organization up to 1911 (Economic..., 1914: 73-74; Petrovich, 1915: 59-62).

It is necessary to notice that in 1911 the club has temporarily finished its activity, and in 1914 it restored its activity. On March 15, 1914 the administrative meeting was held and the board of members an economic club was elected circle. Since this period the board members of this organization became: M.A. Barushkin, N.I. Samoylovich, V.N. Lavrov, N.S. Yurtsovsky and V.V. Kalugin. As candidates for board members have been claimed: A.I. Bakin and S.M. Polushkin. Since the same period Professor P.I. Lyashchenko became the leader of the club. 43 members of an economic club have been registered in 1914 (Economic..., 1914: 73-74; Petrovich, 1915: 59-62).

It should be added that in September, 1914 the charter of one more youth organization – a club of the war victims' support was accepted at the Tomsk University. The special committee of a club was conditionally divided into several sections, responsible for the separate fields of work: section on project finance sourcing and on "intercourse" (that is, to building relations) with other organizations; on inspection and studying of financial situation of families of wounded and reserved; on supporting the necessary help to displaced persons; pedagogical; medical and judicial sections.

The club throughout all time of the existence was engaged in active charity, supported soldiers and their families (Pivovarova, Zubareva, 2017). For example, in "The Siberian student" it was reported that the section on project finance sourcing has organized a charitable performance in cinema "New" and cleared a profit of 258 rubles 63 kopeks. Proceeds have been allocated to the

categories of citizens mentioned above. Also other numerous charity events have been held and widely covered in the Siberian print media (In a club..., 1915: 57-60).

The technical club opened in 1909 at the Tomsk institute of technology was not less popular student's organization operating in the territory of Tomsk at the beginning of the 20th century. As key tasks of the youth organization have been designated:

- self-education and self-development in technical field of knowledge;

- empowerment of more detailed and broad studying of engineering sciences;

- training of students to individual research work;

- financial support to extremely needing members of a technical club;

- the development of amateur activity of students in the technical sphere of knowledge (Enge, 1914: 67).

Reading reports, papers and messages; demonstration of the equipment, devices and experiences; organization and holding trips and excursions; the commercial activity directed to increase financial means of the club; the organization and arrangement of reading room, library, museum and other institutions in compliance with the purposes of a technical club; provision of summer practice to members of the organization; the arrangement of competitions with appointment and issue bonuses to the best of members of a club; edition of the best student's works and also other original and translated works of technical orientation; sale of books and guides, scientific literature in the field of technical science; holding exhibitions of drawings and projects; organization of the plants inspection, etc were distinguished as the main directions of activity.

The analysis of the print media of the beginning of the XX century has allowed authors to reveal key stages and important dates of functioning of this student's organization (Table 1).

The main stages	Event in the club activity			
1909	Establishment			
	Confirmation of a foundation, definition of main objectives and			
	tasks			
1910	The organization of engineering section			
	Adoption of the new charter			
1911 to 1.09.1912	Formation of archeological section			
	Allocation of chemical section			
	Holding of a big summer excursion			
	Opening of a shop by club's members			
From 1.09.1912 to	Holding a big summer excursion			
1.01.1914	Organization and holding of the exhibition			
	Change of the charter			
	Commercial activity expansion			

Table 1. Key stages and events in activity of the student technical club created at the Tomsk institute of technology (Enge, 1914: 69-70).

Besides the description of key stages of activity, the features characterising the current situation and achievements of a student technical club from the moment of its establishment up to date of the publication of the corresponding material in the magazine (Table 2) were also published in "The Siberian student".

No.	Period	Number of club members	Number of reports	Number of books in the library	Number of magazines in the reading	Cash cycle of the club	Expences for the library
					room		
1.	1909	122	12	111	15	157 rubles 55 kopecks	26 rubles 71 kopecks
2.	1910	116	5	199	24	294 rubles 49 kopecks	74 rubles 31 kopecks
3.	from 1911 to 1.09.1912	202	13	330	31	6578 rubles 7 kopecks	96 rubles 12 kopecks
4.	from 1.09.1912 to 1.01.1914	173	18	680	45	14989 rubles 89 kopecks	229 rubles 42 kopecks

Table 2. Some indicators of the state, activities and achievements of the students' technical club, established at the Tomsk Technological Institute in the period from 1909 to 1914 (Enge, 1914: 69-70).

Based on the indicators shown in Table 2, the activities of the students' technical club as a whole can be considered as successful, despite the occasional problems of material equipment and financing. The number of books in the club library for this period increased more than 6 times, and the number of magazines in the reading room tripled. Cash cycle of funds grew significantly: from 157 rubles 55 kopecks up to 14,989 rubles 89 kopecks, that is, more than 96 times.

In 1909, at the Tomsk Technological Institute, a photo club was created, which aroused a special interest among students. In one of the articles published in the "Siberian student", significant peaks of the development and functioning of the photo club were considered through the prism of its material support. The publication indicated the following significant dates for the development of the club:

- from 1909 to 1910 it was the placement and functioning of a photo club in the basement of the chemical building of the Tomsk Technological Institute, where, with the permission and support of the university management, a special dark room and a darkening laboratory with the purpose of working with photographic paper were organized and equipped by the members of the club;

- 1911 the photo club got a separate room on the first floor of the chemical building of the Tomsk Technological Institute;

- by 1914, there were already at the disposal of the club: a special room intended for working with photographic paper, a dark room, two dark laboratories, a separate light laboratory, a room for drying fingerprints, etc. Laboratories of the club were already equipped with gas, water, electricity, the necessary set of "accessories for photographic research" and apparatus (Belov, 1914: 69-70).

The following key objectives and tasks of the photo club were distinguished:

- the promotion of the study of Siberia through photographic documentation of its life;

- obtaining the theoretical knowledge and practical skills in the photographic work;

- filling gaps in teaching the photography at the Tomsk Technological Institute;

- facilitating the club members the "earning a living" by performing the private orders on the basis of acquired knowledge and skills (including reproductions and enlargement of photo images) (Belov, 1914: 77).

There were the main activities and those implemented on the club basis:

- Reading and listening to the lectures and speeches of specialists in photographic work;

- (Participation in practical experiments in specially designated laboratories (toning of photographs, enlargement of images, classes on reproduction, etc.);

- Holding of exhibitions of photographic works;

- Participation in photographic competitions (for example, a contest entitled "The Life of the Institute" with three established awards in nominations: the best photographing, originality, vitality of the plotting);

- Conducting the general administrative meetings;

- Organization of scientific meetings and so-called "comradely conversations" (within the framework of these events, abstracts and reports on photographic subjects were read, camera models, photographic processes, and the results of photographic activity were demonstrated);

- Fulfillment of private orders for photographic work;

- The organization of work and the use of its own library, which contained a large information base on the topics under study, including also periodicals such as "Bulletin of Photography", "Bulletin of the Odessa Photographic Society", "Photographic Sheet", "Photographic News" and etc. among other publications.

By the time of publication of the article published in the "Siberian student" in 1914, the photo club consisted of 64 members, three of which were honorary members of the mentioned organization: Professor Ya.I. Mikhaylenko, R.T. Tyumentsev and B.V. Nedtsvetsky. Professor Mikhailenko was the chairman of the photo club for all time of its existence. The staff of the club was divided into three groups: professors – 3 people; laboratory assistants and teachers who did not have the status of professors - 2 people; students - 59 people (Belov, 1914: 76).

As it was mentioned in the article, the activity of the photo club increased every year in the volume and number of directions, which was confirmed by specific figures (Table 3).

Table 3. Indicators of the activities of the photo club established at the Tomsk Technological Institute (Belov, 1914: 77)

Indicators	Years			
	1910	1913		
Number od members, people	38	64		
Incoming, rubles	269	526		
Expense, rubles	257	466		
Purchased inventory for the amount of, rubles	164	181		
Spent on the purchase of supplies for the	70	247		
photographic work, rubles, including:				
Reactives, rubles	28	84		
Paper, rubles	42	106		
Photographic plates rubles	-	57		

As A. Belov pointed out in his review, the laboratories of the photo club were never empty and were open from morning till late in the evening. In addition, they were often crowded with visitors. Often it was necessary to conduct long lines of students who expressed a desire to work with reproductive magnification devices (Belov, 1914: 77).

Among other successes, the high popularity and attendance of exhibitions organized by the forces and members of the Tomsk photo club were especially mentioned. In the paper of A. Belov, information is provided that only at the first exhibition of this student' organization more than 1,500 visits were officially registered. The second exhibition, in comparison with the first one, was even more equipped with various exhibits. Also, it was distinguished by a great variety of processing of papers and photographic plates, that is why people wishing to attend the event did not decrease, but, on the contrary, they only increased (Belov, 1914: 78).

Also the aero club, founded at the Tomsk Technological Institute in 1910 enjoyed the great popularity among Siberian student youth. As a key goal of the work of this student organization, it was stated the increasing of students' knowledge in the aviation field. Among the key work areas and activities implemented within the club, there were:

- lectures and reports on aviation;

- the organization and participation in exhibitions of models of flying machines;

- attempts to assemble an airplane by the members of the club;

- collection of funds for the functioning and development of the mentioned organization, including those through the organization of students' evenings and screenings of cinematography;

- organization of work and use of a library containing the literature on aviation issues, etc.

Among the successes and achievements of the aero club in the magazine there were indicated:

- acquisition of its own airplane in 1913;

- conducting several flights on an airplane;

- high attendance of speeches and reports on aviation subjects, which reading was more than 200 people often attended by (Students'..., 1914: 77-78).

However, the successful club work had undergone serious failures over time. As the author of one of the articles, published under the pseudonym "Fail-aviator", noted in the "Siberian student", at one time the period came when the members of the club stopped flights because of the airplane failure. "There is an airplane and we would only fly, but, it is a small obstacle. One wing is broken, and no one wants to fix it, and we sit by the sea and wait for the weather ... it is unknown what will happen next," wrote "Fail-Aviator" in his note (Students' ..., 1914: 78).

Besides articles describing the purposes, tasks and important events in the activity of concrete student clubs, individual sketches and notes describing the general characteristic of the youth organizations position were also quite often published on pages of "The Siberian student". One of typical statements occurs in the article written by B. Yeniseiskiy where the following lines are given:

"The studentship experienced so heavy loss of strength that even scientific clubs began to suffer anemia. There was no wish either work, nor to think, it was so dark around, was so heavy, disturbing in soul. The spirit of ideological proximity and support has been expelled from various organizations" (Yeniseiskiy, 1915: 35).

5. Conclusion

Summing up the result, it is possible to note that the articles published at the beginning of the 20th century in «The Siberian Student», in whole or in part devoted to student clubs' activity more often contained criticism of their current situation, complaint to the shortage of material benefits, the equipment and facilities.

Nevertheless, the significant mission, noble purposes and tasks formulated initially by organizers of clubs and their members were also emphasized almost in all articles of this thematic series. As a rule, authors of materials appealed student's youth not to lose courage, and, despite all difficulties and problems, to continue to study the native land, to be engaged in creative and scientific activity for the sake of the Homeland, public wellbeing and prosperity.

References

Belov, 1914 – Belov, A. (1914). Fotokruzhok. Sibirskii student: ezhemesyachnyi zhurnal, izdayushchiisya v gorode Tomsk. №1 (mai). Stb. 75–78. [in Russian]

V kruzhke..., 1915 – V kruzhke pomoshchi zhertvam voiny. *Sibirskii student: ezhemesyachnyi zhurnal, izdayushchiisya v gorode Tomsk.* 1915. №3-4 (noyab.-dek.). Stb. 57–60. [in Russian]

GATomO – Gosudarstvennyi arkhiv Tomskoi oblasti. [in Russian]

Eniseiskii, 1915 – *Eniseiskii, B.* (1915). Studenchestvo o samom sebe. *Sibirskii student: ezhemesyachnyi zhurnal, izdayushchiisya v gorode Tomsk.* N $^{\circ}$ 3-4 (noyab.-dek.). Stb. 35. (33–38). [in Russian]

Zaichenko, 1960 – *Zaichenko, P.A.* (1960). Tomskii gosudarstvennyi universitet imeni V.V. Kuibysheva. Ocherki po istorii pervogo sibirskogo universiteta za 75 let (1880-1955). Tomsk: Izd-vo Tomskogo universiteta. 480 p. [in Russian]

Zinshtein, 1914 – Zinshtein, I. (1914). Sibirskii kruzhok: ocherk deyatel'nosti sibirskogo kruzhka Tomskikh studentov. Sibirskii student: ezhemesyachnyi zhurnal, izdayushchiisya v gorode Tomsk. N $^{\circ}1$ (mai). Stb. 57–66. [in Russian]

Istoriya ..., 1975 – Istoriya Tomskogo politekhnicheskogo instituta v dokumentakh. T.1. 1896-1917. Sbornik dokumentov i materialov. Tomsk: Izd-vo Tomskogo universiteta, 1975. [in Russian].

Kuz'minova, 2005 – *Kuz'minova, E.F.* (2005). Sibirskie vysshie zhenskie kursy v Tomske v obshcherossiiskom dvizhenii za pravo zhenshchin na obrazovanie. Tomsk-400. Sud'ba regional'nogo tsentra Rossii. Tomsk: TGU, 2005. pp. 165–168. [in Russian]

Lozovskii, 1971 – *Lozovskii, I.T.* (1971). Tomskomu ordena Trudovogo Krasnogo znameni politekhnicheskomu institutu imeni S.M. Kirova 75 let. Tomsk: izd-vo Tomskogo universiteta. 18 p. [in Russian]

Mirov, 1915 – *Mirov, V.* (1915). V Sibirskom kruzhke. *Sibirskii student: ezhemesyachnyi zhurnal, izdayushchiisya v gorode Tomsk.* №3-4 (noyab.-dek.). Stb. 63–66. [in Russian]

Omskii..., 1912 – Omskii vestnik. Omsk. Vyp. ot 10 iyunya 1912 goda. [in Russian]

Petrovich, 1915 – Petrovich, I. (1915). Zaglokhshii kruzhok (ob ekonomicheskom kruzhke pri yuridicheskom fakul'tete). Sibirskii student: ezhemesyachnyi zhurnal, izdayushchiisya v gorode Tomsk. №3-4 (noyab.-dek.). Stb. 59–62. [in Russian]

Professora..., 1996 – Professora Tomskogo universiteta. Biograficheskii slovar'. Vypusk I. 1888-1917. Tomsk: Izdatel'stvo Tomskogo universiteta, 1996. 228 p. [in Russian]

Svin'in, 1904 – Svin'in Pavel Petrovich. / Russkii bibliograficheskii slovar' / Red. A.A. Polovtsov. SPb., 1904. T.18. pp. 218–221. [in Russian]

Sibirskaya..., 1908 – Sibirskaya zhizn'. Tomsk. Vyp. ot 2 dekabrya 1908 goda. pp. 3–4. [in Russian]

Studencheskii..., 1914 – Studencheskii aerokruzhok (staťya opublikovana pod psevdonimom «Gore-aviator»). *Sibirskii student: ezhemesyachnyi zhurnal, izdayushchiisya v gorode Tomsk.* 1914. №1 (mai). Stb. 77–78. [in Russian]

Sulimov, 1995 – Sulimov B.C. (1995). Ocherki po istorii narodnogo obrazovaniya Zapadnoi Sibiri. Tyumen'. [in Russian]

Utro..., 1916 – Utro Sibiri. Tomsk. 1916. [in Russian]

Ekonomicheskii..., 1914 – Ekonomicheskii kruzhok. *Sibirskii student: ezhemesyachnyi zhurnal, izdayushchiisya v gorode Tomsk.* 1914. №1 (mai). Stb. 73–74. [in Russian]

Enge, 1914 – Enge (1914). Studencheskii tekhnicheskii kruzhok. *Sibirskii student:* ezhemesyachnyi zhurnal, izdayushchiisya v gorode Tomsk. Nº1 (mai). Stb. 65–70. [in Russian]

Dudgeon, 1982 – Dudgeon, R.A. (1982). The Forgotten Minority: Women Students in Imperial Russia, 1872-1917. *Russian History*. Vol. 9. Is. 1. pp. 1–26.

Pivovarova, Zubareva, 2017 – *Pivovarova, I.V., Zubareva, U.V.* (2017). The role of students in secondary and elementary schools of Siberia in volunteer and charitable activities during the first world. *Bylye Gody*. 2017. Vol. 45(3): 1102–1109. [in Russian]

Tolmacheva et al., 2017 – *Tolmacheva*, *S.V.*, *Ustinova*, *O.V.*, *Zubareva*, *U.V.* (2017). Sports and Patriotic education of students the middle and lower schools of Siberia in the late XIX – early XX centuries. *Bylye Gody*. 2017. Vol. 44(2): 560–567. [in Russian]

Vermeer, Van Der Ven, 2003 – Vermeer, Paul, Van Der Ven, Johannes (2003). Moral Consciousness of Secondary School Students. *Journal of Empirical Theology*. Vol. 16, Is. 1, pp. 51–71.

Ustinova, Skifskaya – Ustinova, O.V., Skifskaya, A.L. (2017). The Siberian students in research, cultural and social life of the region in the late XIX – early XX centuries. *Bylye Gody*. 2017. Vol. 43(1): 153–161. [in Russian]



Copyright © 2018 by Academic Publishing House Researcher s.r.o. All rights reserved. Published in the Slovak Republic European Journal of Contemporary Education E-ISSN 2305-6746 2018, 7(3): 623-629 DOI: 10.13187/ejced.2018.3.623 www.ejournal1.com

WARNING! Article copyright. Copying, reproduction, distribution, republication (in whole or in part), or otherwise commercial use of the violation of the author(s) rights will be pursued on the basis of international legislation. Using the hyperlinks to the article is not considered a violation of copyright.



Development of Primary Public Education System in Serbia in 1832–1882

Goran Rajović^{a,b,*}, Mikhail Zuev^c, Alla G. Vazerova^d, Milica Trailovic^e

^a International Network Center for Fundamental and Applied Research, Washington, USA ^b Volgograd State University, Volgograd, Russian Federation

^c Peoples' Friendship University of Russia (RUDN University), Moscow, Russian Federation

^d Penza state university of architecture and construction, Penza, Russian Federation

^e University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

Abstract

The article examines the history of the system of primary education in Serbia from the time of the organization of public schools in 1832 to the introduction of general primary education in 1882. The dynamic of the opening of schools and the number of students in schools is presented in the study.

Scientific and reference literature on the research topic was used as materials. The methodology used a set of scientific methods: multi-factor and integration methods, periodization, typology, comparison, etc., which in unity ensure the reliability of the results on the studied problem. This is an interdisciplinary research, based on the comparativistic principle, which allows revealing various informative sources.

In conclusion, the authors note that during the period of 1832 – late 1890's the primary school in Serbia experienced a period of its dynamic development, from its formation till the introduction of general primary education. This period was a difficult one, as it was necessary to overcome not only the complexity of the financing of primary education, but also a part of Serbia often became a place for political and military conflicts. Along with these reasons were purely domestic ones – the unwillingness of parents to send their children to school. The work of the Serbian Ministry of Public Education was focused on these difficulties, and the majority of this work was completed by the end of the 19th century.

Keywords: public education, elementary schools, Serbia, primary education, 1832–1882.

* Corresponding author

E-mail addresses: dkgoran.rajovic@gmail.com (G. Rajović), arzumi@mail.ru (M. Zuev), history@pguas.ru (A.G. Vazerova)

1. Introduction

Serbia entered the XIX century without a system of public education. The Ottoman Empire, which controlled Serbia for nearly 400 years, did not introduce any school education and was limited only by Muslim religious schools. In this regard, the Serbian priests and monks tried to develop education in monasteries. Almost every monastery conducted work in the field of education, but this work was specific. According to Vuk Karadžić, the reformator of the "new Serbian Principality": "The majority of those who studied in monasteries could not even write and count after 4-5 years of studies" (Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870: 259). The main reason for this was that the students did not read any books in 2-3 years, but they studied rural life in practice: they plowed, sowed, mowed, chopped wood for the monastery, etc. In the remaining two years, the learning process took place only in the winter, and the summer months again were devoted to field work. In addition to the monasteries, priests opened schools for village children, but the number of students there almost never exceeded 3. There was one more type of school – master's schools, called so because teachers in them were called masters. In master's schools students were taught religious literature and the basics of writing.

2. Materials and methods

Scientific and reference literature on the research topic was used as materials. The methodology used a set of scientific methods: multi-factor and integration methods, periodization, typology, comparison, etc., which in unity ensure the reliability of the results on the studied problem. This is an interdisciplinary research, based on the comparativistic principle, which allows revealing various informative sources.

3. Discussion

Various aspects of the history of the system of primary education in Serbia in the period of the XIX century began to be considered since the 1870's. One of the first publications on this topic were the works of Rozen-Chudnovskii (Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870; Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870a). The author analyzed the system of primary and secondary education in Serbia in 1830-1860.

L. Trgovčević studied women's education in Serbia (Trgovčević, 2011). It is important to note that, along with women's education, the researchers turned to the topic of academic and intellectual exchanges of Serbs with the representatives of the other peoples of Europe (Stoianovich, 1959).

The pedagogical problems of Serbian innovators, published in the XIX century (Bakic, 1878; Bakic, 1897), researches in the field of school education (Cunkovic, 2016; Nikolova, 2017), as well as works on the formation of the Serbian intelligentsia (Karanovich, 1998; Paunic, 1998) can be mentioned among other problems covered within the research.

4. Results

The situation with the system of public education began to change fundamentally only in 1804, during the first Serbian uprising, when Serbia became independent. At this time, the Serbian voivode Kara-Georg Petrovich established several state elementary schools. The teachers from these schools became officials and received salaries from the treasury. In 1808 Kara-Georg Petrovich founded the so-called "Great School", similar to the Lyceum. Unfortunately, after the suppression of the first Serbian uprising in 1813, the school was closed.

Until the early 1830's the initiative in the field of public education belonged to private investors or to rural and urban societies. In 1830, in Serbia, the first school was opened in Kragujevac (Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870a: 241). In 1832, Prince Milosz, in addition to the gymnasium in Kragujevac, established 26 state elementary schools, and also provided support to the existing schools. As a result, in 1835/1836 there were 72 schools in Serbia, with a total of 2,514 students.
N⁰	Districts	Number of	Number of
		schools	students
1	Belgradsky (with the city of Belgrade)	6	282
2	Valevsky	6	126
3	Shabachky	9	278
4	Podrinsky	1	32
5	Uzhichky	4	76
6	Chachansky	2	88
7	Rudnichky	1	42
8	Kraguevachky	9	253
9	Smedrevsky	4	173
10	Pozharevachky	8	222
11	Krainsky	5	216
12	Tsernorechky	2	67
13	Bansky (Gurgushevachky - Aleksinachky)	5	190
14	Chupriysky	3	211
15	Yagodinsky	9	146
16	Krushevachky	3	112
Tota	al	72	2514

 Table 1. Distribution of colleges by districts in 1835 (Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870: 261)

Table 1 shows that the number of children in schools ranged from 16 people in Jagodina district to 70 people in Ćuprija district. There were 34.9 people on the average per school in 1835.

All 72 schools in Serbia were divided into three categories: state-owned (26), social (27) and private (19). The administration of the public education system was carried out by the chief administrator.

ABC, the Psalter, the first four rules of arithmetic, the study of prayers, the sacred history and writing were in the curriculum. Catechism with Slavic grammar was studied only in a few schools.

Because of the state crisis in Serbia in 1837, state schools were transferred under rural society administration. It should be noted that rural societies were in a lack of finances, and this affected the financial provision of teachers, whose payments were constantly short of funds. As a result, the teachers began to resign and the education system entered a period of stagnation.

Nevertheless, the problem of public education required attention. On September 23, 1844, the government of Prince Alexander Kara-Georgievich (the son of voivode Kara-Georg Petrovich) adopted the "Law of school establishment". In fact, it was the first legislative act of the system of public education in Serbia. The goal of public education according to the law was that it would provide the state with "good Christians, respectable people and useful citizens" (Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870: 263). The Austrian school system was used as an example (Cunkovic, 2016: 63).

The Guardianship of Education (similar to the Ministry of Education) was responsible for the opening of colleges in Serbia. Actively lobbying the idea of increasing the number of schools, the Guardianship faced the first legislative problems. The fact is that the law stated that only 400 households had the right to demand the establishment of a school, that the school building should be only made of stone, and only some city societies could open 4-grade schools, but almost all schools were limited to 3 years.

These legislative restrictions were bound to inevitably slow the spread of literacy in Serbia, for the following reasons:

1) The Serbian villages in their majority were similar to Russian ones; 400 households in one village were a rarity. Consequently, with the establishment of one school for 400 households, children from 4-6 villages had to go to the same school, which presented a significant inconvenience for the students, both for educational and hygienic reasons;

2) The economic situation of villages in Serbia was in a decline and it was difficult and often even impossible to raise money for building a stone school. Many families couldn't send their children to school for this reason; 3) There were a small number of gymnasiums in Serbia and all of them were located at considerable distances from each other. Therefore, for most children, education was limited to primary schools (Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870: 264).

It should be noted that at that time Serbia was very limited in financial means and the problem of public education could not be solved easily. However, even these measures gave a positive result. In 1845/1846 school years in Serbia there were more than 200 schools with 6 thousand students (Table 2).

Table 2. Distribution of schools by districts in 1845 (Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870: 264-265)

N⁰	District	Number of	Number of
		schools	students
1	City of Belgrade	7	399
2	Belgradsky	13	225
3	Valevsky	20	560
4	Shabachky	23	657
5	Podrinsky	10	369
6	Uzhichky	7	254
7	Chachansky	6	216
8	Rudnichky	5	158
9	Kraguevachky	21	561
10	Smedrevsky	9	327
11	Pozharevachky	26	784
12	Kraynsky	8	245
13	Tsernorechky	9	145
14	Gurgushevachky	4	105
15	Aleksinachky	6	189
16	Chupriysky	12	362
17	Yagodinsky	9	376
18	Krushevachky	6	149
19	Private schools	12	120
Tota	al	213	6201

From the data in Table 2 it follows that the number of children in schools in 1845 ranged from 16 in Tsernorechky district, to 57 in the city of Belgrade. The very minimum indicator of the number of pupils was in private schools, only 10 pupils per school. On average, in one school in 1845, there were 29.1 people, that is, this indicator declined in the first decade.

According to the data in Table 2, during the 10 years of the operating of the public education in Serbia, the city of Belgrade became a separate educational unit, in addition, the Bansky District was divided into two – Gurgusovachky and Aleksinachky Districts and separate private schools were singled out.

The total number of teachers was 213 people, that is, one teacher per school. Thus, in 10 years the number of teachers increased by 141, and the number of students by 3687 people. On one hand, this result was satisfactory, but on the other hand, the population of Serbia, in 1816, was 980 thousand people. In developed European countries, no less than 10 % of the population attended schools, which meant that the number of students in Serbia should not be less than 98 thousand.

The schools were divided into 3-category and 4-category ones, the differences were in the subjects. Serbian and Slavic languages, ABC, the first four rules of arithmetic, the study of prayers, sacred history, catechism, geography, church singing and all-round knowledge were taught in 3-category schools. In 4-category schools, in addition to the above mentioned subjects the Serbian grammar, the history of the Serbian people and the triple rule of arithmetic were added to the 4th grade curriculum.

A serious problem for the public education system in Serbia was the lack of pedagogical staff. Almost all of the teaching staff was represented by young people who could hardly write and read. There were no professors-instructors, no educational literature, no organization. The system was completely lacking the technique of teaching.

Nevertheless, the system of public education in Serbia continued to develop.

In 1855/1856 school years, the number of schools exceeded 330, with almost 10 thousand students (Table 3).

Table 3. Distribution of schools by district in 1855 (Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870: 266-267)

N⁰	District	Number of schools	Number of students
1	City of Belgrade	14	639
2	Belgradsky	35	317
3	Valevsky	22	595
4	Shabachky	27	966
5	Podrinsky	13	349
6	Uzhichky	16	536
7	Chachansky	14	392
8	Rudnichky	13	341
9	Kraguevachky	28	830
10	Smedrevsky	23	587
11	Pozharevachky	34	927
12	Krainsky	23	849
13	Tsernorechky	17	479
14	Gurgushevachky	11	357
15	Alexinachky	8	318
16	Chupriysky	15	459
17	Yagodinsky	18	555
18	Krushevachky	12	367
19	Private schools	4	108
Tota	al	337	9971

From the data in Table 3 it follows that the number of children in schools in 1855 ranged from 9 in the Belgrade District to 39.7 in the Aleksinachsky District. On average, in the same school in 1855, there were 29.5 people, that is, during the decade this indicator remained practically unchanged.

Comparing the data of 1855 with the data for 1845, we find an increase in the number of schools by 132 and the number of pupils by 3802 people. At the same time, out of 337 schools in Serbia, there were already 18 girls' schools for 846 girls. The establishment of schools for girls in Serbia was long overdue, as the woman here played an important role in family and social life. The first girls' school was established in Serbia in 1840 in the city of Belgrade, but this institution was private and only for the girls from the upper class of the capital's society. In addition to women's crafts, they were taught the Serbian and German languages and geography.

The law of September 23, 1844 stated that girls have the right to attend primary schools, and in the villages boys and girls could attend one school, and in the cities girls' schools were to be established (Trgovčević, 2011: 7). The law also stated that girls could study at school only until they turned 10 years old. The first public school for girls was opened in Belgrade only in 1846, and even later in the other cities.

Girls' schools had 3 grades as they were of the third category. The only difference in the curriculum were women's crafts, all the other subjects were similar to boys' schools.

Some changes in the system of public education in Serbia towards improving education took place by 1855. The teachers began to use special methods to improve the pedagogical process, thus helped to spread the literacy. This was preceded by establishing intellectual ties between Serbian and German youth. Visiting fairs and exhibitions in Europe, participating in academic exchanges, they brought to Serbia, as M. Nikolova notes, a part of German culture (Nikolova, 2017: 4).

In 1858, the number of girls' schools in Serbia reached 30 (Trgovčević, 2011: 8)

In September 1863, Serbia issued a new law on primary schools. The new law improved the previous legislation on public education. So, the law didn't allow one school for 400 households,

and allowed any society to open a school, with at least 25 students. The new law eliminated the demand of the stone school building, replacing it with a spacious and light building. In addition, each school received the right to independently decide on the opening of the 4th grade (Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870: 270).

Due to the introduction of the new law in Serbia, there has been a sharp increase in the number of students and a slight reduction in the number of schools, through the merging of schools (Table 4).

Table 4. The number of students in the districts in 1862/1863 and 1865/1866 (Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870: 271)

N⁰	District	1862/1863	1865/1866
1	Alexinsky	530	683
2	City of Belgrade	597	844
3	Belgradsky	951	1011
4	Valevsky	732	1027
5	Knyazhevachky (ex. Gurgushevachky)	550	664
6	Kraguevachky	1158	1462
7	Krainsky	929	1037
8	Krushevachky	431	631
9	Podrinsky	407	400
10	Pozharevachky	1716	2752
11	Rudnichky	508	579
12	Smedrevsky	715	1004
13	Uzhichky	837	964
14	Tsernoretsky	660	704
15	Chachansky	433	648
16	Shabachky	1167	1238
17	Chupriysky	670	850
18	Yagodinsky	608	909
19	Girls' schools in cities	1862	2400
Tota	al	15461	19807

In 1865, one school on the average had 61.7 people, that is, over a decade since 1855, this figure doubled.

By 1865 the number of schools in Serbia reached 321, 289 for boys and 32 for girls. The teaching staff numbered 406 people (356 male teachers and 50 female teachers). Since that time, a teacher's training school at the gymnasium in Kragujevac was established in Serbia (Nikolova, 2017: 4). In addition, in 1864 two state schools (boys' and girls') for the Jews of the city were opened in Belgrade.

In 1882, Serbia passed a law on general education. By this time, the Serbian People's School had been divided into primary school with a 4-year education and a high school with a 2-year education. In addition to public schools, there were private schools in Serbia. In 1893-1894, Serbia had a population of 2288259 people with 914 elementary schools, 1505 teachers (929 male teachers and 576 female teachers) and 77175 pupils (65846 boys and 11329 girls) (Ehntsiklopedicheskii slovar' Brokgauza i Efrona, 1897: 741).

By 1893, one school in Serbia had 84.4 students, that is, after the introduction of general primary education, the number of students in schools increased by more than 2.5 times.

This data clearly demonstrates that by the end of the 19th century, the number of women among the pedagogical staff in Serbia had increased dramatically. This number was 38.4 %, while in 1865 this percentage did not exceed 12.5. Nevertheless, despite the introduction of general primary education, the percentage of girls enrolled in schools remained small. The reason for this was in the low awareness in the need of primary education for the girls.

In conclusion, we would like to present the dynamics of the opening of primary schools in Serbia during the studied period in the summary table (Table 5).

Years	1835	1845	1855	1862	1865	1893
Number of schools	72	213	337	-	321	914
Number of students	2514	6201	9971	15807	19807	77175
Average number of students per school	34,9	29,1	29,5	-	61,7	84,4

Table 5. Summary data on the development of the primary education systemin Serbia in 1832-1894

From the data in Table 5 it follows that in the period from 1855 to 1865, there was a reduction in the number of schools with a simultaneous increase in the number of students. This reduction was due to the introduction of the law of 1863 "On primary schools", which clearly stated the minimum number of pupils per school.

5. Conclusion

Thus, during the period of 1832 – late 1890's the primary school in Serbia experienced a period of its dynamic development, from its formation till the introduction of general primary education. This period was a difficult one, as it was necessary to overcome not only the complexity of the financing of primary education, but also a part of Serbia often became a place for political and military conflicts. Along with these reasons were purely domestic ones – the unwillingness of parents to send their children to school. The work of the Serbian Ministry of Public Education was focused on these difficulties, and the majority of this work was completed by the end of the 19th century.

References

Bakic, 1878 – *Bakic, V.* (1878). Nauka o vaspitanju [Science of Education]. Belgrade: Government printing press. [in Russian]

Bakic, 1897 – Bakic, V. (1897). Opsta pedagogija [General pedagogy]. Belgrade: Teacher society. [in Russian]

Cunkovic, 2016 – *Cunkovic, S.* (2016). Skolstvo i prosveta u Srbiji u XIX veku [Schools and education in Sebian in XIX century]. Belgrade: Educational museum. [in Russian]

Ehntsiklopedicheskii slovar' Brokgauza i Efrona, 1897 – Ehntsiklopedicheskii slovar' Brokgauza i Efrona. V 86 т. Т. 40. SPb., 1897. [in Russian]

Karanovich, 1998 – *Karanovich, M.* (1998). The Development of Education in Serbia and Emergence of its Intelligentsia (1838-1858). Eastern European Monographs, Boulder.

Nikolova, 2017 - Nikolova, *M*. (2017). The pedagogues educated abroad and their impact on the education in Serbia in the late 19th and the first half of the 20th century. *Espacio, Tiempo y Educación*, 4(1): 1–18.

Paunic, 1998 – Paunic, D. (1998). Emilijan Josimovic 1823-1897 in "Spomenica Matematickog Fakulteta" CD-Rom published by the Mathematics Faculty, University of Belgrade.

Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870 – Rozen-Chudnovskii (1870). Istoricheskii ocherk elementarnykh uchilishch v Serbii [Historical review of elementary schools in Serbia]. Zhurnal ministerstva narodnogo prosveshheniya. 1870. № CXLX: 259–274. [in Russian]

Rozen-Chudnovskii, 1870a – *Rozen-Chudnovskii* (1870). Istoricheskii ocherk srednikh uchebnykh zavedenii i velikoi shkoly v Serbii [Historical essay of secondary schools and the great school in Serbia]. *Zhurnal ministerstva narodnogo prosveshheniya*. 1870. CXLXI: 240–259. [in Russian]

Stoianovich, 1959 – *Stoianovich, T.* (1959). The Pattern of Serbia Intellectual Evolution, 1830-1880. *Comparative Studies in Society and History*, 1(3): 242–272.

Trgovčević, 2011 – *Trgovčević, L.* (2011). The Professional Emancipation of Women in 19th-Century Serbia. *Serbian Studies: Journal of the North American Society for Serbian Studies.* 25(1): 7–21.